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Welcome aboard the 2019 
Annual Report of Turkish 
Airlines  - the airline 
company that serves the 
most destinations around 
the globe... 

A large highly-skilled crew will be on 
duty at all times, remaining helpful 
and prioritizing customer satisfaction 
during your journey. 

In-flight internet service and an 
enhanced selection of media 
offerings are available on our aircraft. 

Now sit back, turn the pages and 
view the 2019 performance and 
future plans of Turkish Airlines, 
a company that measures success 
by the satisfaction of its customers. 
 



We completed the Great Move to the airport 
boasting the largest terminal under one 
roof in the world. We welcome and host our 
passengers, whom we call our guests, at our 
impressive new home, Istanbul Airport. We are 
committed to making our passengers happy 
at each step of their flight, from check-in to 
baggage delivery. 
 

ISTANBUL AIRPORT
OUR NEW HOME



As a brand embracing its corporate values, 
we introduce our passengers to the pleasant 
aspects of Turkish culture, such as warm and 
gracious hospitality. By building bridges across 
continents, people and cultures, we are also 
making a significant contribution to further 
develop tourism in Turkey. 
 

HOSPITALITY IS 
A CORNERSTONE OF 
OUR CULTURE  



A combination of Turkish hospitality and 
technological innovations delivers a unique, 
popular and widely sought-after travel 
experience. We transform air travel into 
moments of joy, starting from the new  
check-in points on the ground to in-flight 
internet service in the sky.  

WE TAKE ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY
TO THE NEXT LEVEL 



WE ACHIEVE GROWTH WITH 
NEW DESTINATIONS

Turkish Airlines flies to the largest number 
of international destinations worldwide. 
We expand further each day with new 
destinations soon to be launched, like 
Newark, Osaka and Haneda. We plan to 
further bolster our fleet in 2020  - with 
Airbus A350-900s alongside new generation 
Boeing 787-9 Dreamliner aircraft  - because 
everyone deserves to be happy and 
comfortable in the skies! 



Our primary task is to make our 65,000+ employees 
happy and be an exemplary employer. Because 
happiness in the skies originates from our teams in 
the first place. We will continue making a difference 
with our team, who has helped us achieve ambitious 
goals on the ground and in the sky, in business and 
economy classes, from the USA to Asia.
 

WE SOAR TO ACHIEVE 
NEW TARGETS WITH OUR 
DEDICATED TEAM 
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We are bridging
continents, people

and cultures

Dear Esteemed Shareholders, 
Customers, Business Partners and 
Employees,
At Turkish Airlines, we navigated 
a year of turbulence in the global 
economy and aviation sector with 
a historic success. With the “Great 
Move” that took place in April, we 
relocated to Istanbul Airport, our 
new home. This unprecedented 
large-scale operation – unique in the 
history of aviation – was undertaken in 
record-breaking time. We completed 
our mega move in only 33 hours, 
rather than the scheduled 45-hour. 
The Great Move was immediately 
followed by continuation of our flight 
operations without any disruption 
in the Turkish Airlines service quality. 
As a result, we provided the familiar 
comfort and quality of Turkish Airlines 
to our passengers, whom we consider 
our guests, at Istanbul Airport without 
interruption. This massive relocation 
effort was an unrivaled success and 
one for the record books of world 
civil aviation history. At our new 
home, one of the world’s largest 
and most modern airports, we now 
have a magnificent infrastructure for 
healthy and sustainable growth free 
of capacity limitations. I congratulate 
and thank everyone who played a 
role in realizing this ambitious mega 
project, notably the President of the 
Republic of Turkey, H.E. Recep Tayyip 
Erdoğan, Ministry of Transportation 
and Infrastructure, Ministry of 
Treasury and Finance, all the other 
relevant ministries, government 
officials, IGA consortium, engineers 
and workers. 

With the successful transition to 
our new home from Atatürk Airport, 
which well served our brand and 
Turkish aviation for many years, we 
are better positioned to realize 
our mission of bridging continents, 
people and cultures. We have already 
observed many benefits of one of the 
largest and most modern facilities 
in the world throughout the year. 
On-time departures and passenger 
satisfaction are both markedly 
improved. Full capacity utilization 
of our new home as of year-end 
2019 will further boost the rise of 
Istanbul in the world aviation sector. 
With increased momentum, Istanbul 
will duly serve as the nexus of our 
extensive flight network consisting of 
318 destinations in 126 countries. 

Aviation Sector in 2019 
This was a turbulent year for aviation. 
Our industry demonstrated its 
sensitivity to global economic growth 
and developments in commerce 
and tourism. The aviation sector was 
affected by escalating trade wars 
between the US and China as well as 
slowing global growth. The industry 
also had to combat squeezed profit 
margins brought about by ongoing 
intense competition. The prolonged 
period of uncertainty experienced 
in the lengthy Brexit process, 
heightened geopolitical tensions in 
our region, and social unrest around 
the world also caused downward 
revisions in annual profit expectations 
for the aviation sector. 

M. İlker AYCI
Chairman of the Board and 
the Executive Committee

Message from the Chairman

IN 2019, WE MADE A DIFFERENCE 
WITH OUR AWARD-WINNING 
SERVICE QUALITY AND 
CONTINUED IMPROVEMENT

NET PROFIT

788
USD MILLION 
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8.3
126Average fleet age of 

Turkish Airlines 

Number of countries 
served by Turkish Airlines

In addition, the grounding of the 
Boeing 737 MAX aircraft as a result of 
two tragic accidents and uncertainty 
surrounding their return to service 
negatively impacted airlines with 
these aircraft in their fleets. We 
managed to overcome this crisis, 
which was experienced by many 
other major airlines, with minimal 
losses. We quickly implemented 
prudent capacity management and 
entered into an agreement with 
Boeing. Our wish is for the safe and 
immediate return of these airplanes 
to service; a total of 24 aircraft in 
our fleet with the new deliveries. In 
addition, specific to our Incorporation, 
the delayed delivery of A321 NEOs by 
Airbus and unscheduled maintenance 
needs arising for some of our Boeing 
777s affected our operations this 
reporting year.

2019 was also a year when steps 
taken by the aviation sector against 
global climate change came to the 
forefront. Minimizing the impact 
of carbon emissions from aviation 
on the environment is among the 
top priorities of the sector. Global 
airlines are forced to be proactive 
on this issue since passengers are 
aware of this issue and taking it into 
consideration with their choice of 
travel, especially in the European 
market. We can proudly say that 
Turkish Airlines commenced efforts in 
this area years ago. Today, we are far 
ahead of the competition in terms of 

Our Incorporation 
recorded an annual 
revenue of USD 
13 billion, up 
2.9% y-o-y, with 
the successful 
performance in Q4.

Message from the Chairman

WE ARE UPGRADING OUR 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
IN LINE WITH DEVELOPMENTS 
IN THE AVIATION INDUSTRY

carbon emissions and sustainability 
issues. Boasting one of the youngest 
fleets in Europe, we continue to 
expand our fleet with next generation 
wide-body aircraft with long range 
and low carbon emissions, such as the 
Boeing 787 and Airbus A350. Turkish 
Airlines successfully implements 
measures to further boost fuel 
efficiency. We fully support the Zero 
Waste Project, launched in 2017 by 
the Ministry of Environment and 
Urbanization under the auspices of 
Esteemed First Lady Emine Erdoğan. 
This effort aims at efficient use of our 
country's resources and prevention 
of waste. By supporting this high 
profile initiative, Turkish Airlines 
demonstrates its environmental 
awareness while reducing carbon 
emissions equivalent to the planting 
hundreds of thousands trees. 

We Maintained Our Profitability 
during a Tough Year
Turkish Airlines closed the fiscal 
year 2019 profitably, despite rising 
operational costs after the Great 
Move, Boeing 737 MAX crisis, a tough 
competitive environment and 
regional instability. We boosted net 
profit to USD 788 million, up 4.6% 
over the prior year’s USD 753 million. 
Turkish Airlines reported an annual 
revenue of USD 13.2 billion, up 2.9% on 
2018, thanks to strong performance 
in Q4.

Despite the global and regional issues 
afflicting the industry, we completed 
2019 without significant declines in 
passenger numbers. Our passenger 
load factor is estimated as 81.6%, 
down 0.3 points while 74.3 million 
passengers were carried, down 1%. Of 
these 43.8 million were international 
passengers, up 3.8% year-on-year. 

Our EBITDAR amounted to USD 3.1 
billion, while the EBITDAR margin 
stood at 23.5%. In 2019, EBITDAR 
fell 7.2% and the EBITDAR margin 
declined 2.6 points year-on-year 
due to increased operational 
and personnel costs as a result 
of moving to Istanbul Airport. In 
addition, fixed expenses rose due 
to issues stemming from aircraft 
manufacturers, pushing these 
indicators down. In return for the 
state-of-the-art Istanbul Airport 
investment, we gained new lounge 
areas, increased the number of 
counters and boosted passenger 
bridge utilization rates, resulting in 
enhanced customer satisfaction. 

One of our sub-brands, Turkish Cargo, 
maintained strong growth in 2019 
with a view toward becoming one of 
the world’s top five cargo companies 
by 2023. Turkish Cargo expanded 
its total carried cargo by 9.2% over 
the prior year to 1.54 million tons. 
Meanwhile, cargo revenues rose 3.5% 
year-on-year to USD 1.72 billion in 
2019.

Despite intense global challenges, 
the future outlook of the aviation 
industry is bright. Air travel has 
become highly popular in the Asia-
Pacific market, a key region driving 
economic growth. Young people, 
classified as the Millennials and 
Generation Z, have a remarkable 
enthusiasm to explore the world. 
These current trends indicate that 
aviation will record positive growth 
globally. 

For 86 years, Turkish Airlines has been 
providing award-winning high quality 
service with the comfort and joy of 
Turkish hospitality to its passengers, 
who are considered valued guests. We 
aim to accompany future generations 
in their ambitions to explore the 
world as the airline flying to more 
countries than any other. 

Our Flight Network and Fleet 
are Expanding
Turkish Airlines boasts one of the 
youngest and most modern fleets 
in Europe. Our young, modern fleet 
plays a major role in achieving our 
exceptional service quality, which 
is regularly recognized with awards 
from leading global organizations 
and competitions. Our aircraft had 
an average age of 8.3 years while our 
fleet totaled 350 aircraft at year-end 
2019. 

In June 2019, we started to take 
delivery of the Boeing 787-9 
Dreamliners that we ordered last year. 
More of these aircraft are scheduled 
to join the fleet in summer 2020. 
In addition, with a series of Airbus 
A350-900 scheduled to join the fleet 
in summer 2020, our fleet of new 
generation wide-body aircraft will 
expand. Turkish Airlines aims to have 
a fleet of 450 aircraft by 2023 and 
provide our award-winning service 
quality with an environmentally-
friendly approach while offering 
maximum passenger comfort. 

Our unrivaled flight network – with 
its center in Istanbul, our main 
hub – expanded further to cover 
126 countries by year-end 2019. 
Meanwhile, the number of airports 
we fly to climbed to 321. We added 
several new destinations to our 
flight network; namely, Uşak, Siirt, 
Çanakkale, Zonguldak as domestic 
destinations and Sharjah (UAE), 
Marrakech (Morocco), Strasbourg 
(France), Port Harcourt (Nigeria), Bali/
Denpasar (Indonesia), Pointe Noire 
(Republic of Congo), Mexico City 
and Cancun (Mexico), Luxor (Egypt), 
Rovaniemi (Finland) and Xi’an (China) 
as international destinations. We plan 
to further expand our flight network 
in the coming year. Osaka (Japan), 
Newark (New Jersey, USA), Vancouver 
(Canada) and Malabo (Equatorial 
Guinea) are among the new 
destinations Turkish Airlines targets 
for 2020.
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Message from the Chairman

WINNER OF THE “FIVE-STAR 
GLOBAL AIRLINE" AWARD FOR 
THREE YEARS IN A ROW 
AT THE APEX/IFSA AWARDS

As the national flag carrier of Turkey, 
the shining star of world tourism, we 
launched the Direct Tourism Initiative 
in collaboration with the Ministry 
of Culture and Tourism during the 
summer. With direct flights from 
major population centers of Europe 
and the Middle East, we significantly 
contributed to the tourism industry in 
achieving record-breaking results for 
the year. 

In the summer months of 2019, 
Turkish Airlines facilitated scheduled 
flights from the country’s tourism 
centers – including Antalya, Bodrum 
and Dalaman – to Europe and the 
Middle East. This effort was the most 
important step of the Direct Tourism 
Initiative launched in collaboration 
with the Ministry of Culture and 
Tourism. The initiative aims to make 
our country an attractive center for 
tourism throughout the year, not just 
for summer. As the Turkish Airlines 
family, we are committed to making 
our home country a center for world 
tourism. Turkey offers a wide variety 
of attractive holiday options beyond 
sea, sun and sand. The country 
features winter sports, highlands, and 
is distinguished in gastronomy, faith, 
congress and health care tourism. 

Turkish Airlines will 
continue its efforts 
to transform Turkey 
into a global tourism 
center.

Our communication 
campaigns are shared 
across the most-
viewed global media 
platforms. We reach 
hundreds of millions 
of people with our 
invitation to travel and 
explore, in line with our 
mission statement. 

CARGO REVENUE

1.72
USD BILLION 

Innovations in Our Brand Experience 
Turkish Airlines continuously improves 
the passenger experience, innovating 
our products and services in line with 
the dynamism of the aviation sector. 
These changes sometimes consist 
of behind-the-scene operational 
improvements. Other times they take 
the shape of changes in our visual 
brand elements and contact points. 

In 2019, we introduced many 
innovations to enhance the Turkish 
Airlines brand experience. The 
elegance of our cabin, cockpit and 
ground services teams serving our 
passengers was complemented 
with new uniforms. The redesigned 
uniforms feature a distinct look and 
feel and reflect our corporate culture, 
embodying the "Flow" concept. We 
entered a new era at our new home 
with a holistic brand visual identity. 
Our brand was also updated with 
numerous other innovations. As a 
result, our brand experience was 
recognized for its excellence with 
honorifics and awards from renowned 
organizations and institutions in our 
industry. At the APEX/IFSA (Airline 
Passenger Experience) Awards, held 
in Los Angeles with the participation 
of global travel experts, Turkish 
Airlines was named a "Five Star 
Airline” for the third consecutive year. 
Among the awards presented by 
Global Traveler, one of the leading 
travel journals in the USA, based on 
readers' ratings, we received the "Best 
Corporate Travel Program” award for 
the second time and “Best Airline 

for Business Passengers” award for 
the third time in a row while also 
garnering the “Best Airport Personnel” 
designation. Turkish Airlines was also 
named the "Turkey’s Most Valuable 
Brand" once again by Brand Finance, 
an international brand assessment 
agency. 

Our Communication Efforts and 
Support for Sports
As a global brand, Turkish Airlines 
promotes its brand experience 
outside the aviation sector via 
sports and cultural activities. With 
these efforts, we further expand our 
mission of building bridges between 
continents, cultures and people in 
different areas of society. 

Our communication campaigns are 
shared with hundreds of millions 
of people across the world’s most 
viewed media platforms. Our short 
film "The Journey," shot by one of 
Hollywood’s most famous directors, 
Ridley Scott, was broadcast during 
the Super Bowl, the most viewed 
sports tournament in world TV history. 
This was one of the most significant 
efforts we undertook in 2019 to boost 
our global brand recognition. 

Spreading its wings over the world, 
Turkish Airlines is a brand bolstered 
by the ancient civilizations originating 

in its home country and we bring 
the exceptional brand experience 
we deliver to our passengers to 
sports fans as well. Last year the 
Turkish Airlines EuroLeague Final 
Four was played in Spain under our 
sponsorship with the participation 
of two Turkish basketball teams, 
Fenerbahçe Beko and Anadolu 
Efes. Turkish Airlines EuroLeague 
transcended the European continent 
with its thrilling sports competition. 
Our brand emphasizes its support for 
sports and the values it represents 
while reaching basketball fans across 
the world with events and activities 
organized under the tournament 
umbrella. At the Turkish Airlines Open 
2019, another sports event bearing 
our name, we hosted world famous 
sportsmen and sportswomen in 
Antalya and helped Turkey’s beauty 
shine even brighter as a world-class 
golf destination. We maintained 
our support for golf throughout the 
year with Turkish Airlines World Golf 
Cup, the world’s biggest amateur 
golf tournament. With our efforts we 
reached thousands of golfers across 
101 of our flight destinations. 

Continuous Growth Despite 
Challenges
Turkish Airlines closed the fiscal 
year 2019 with profit and achieved 
significant success during a 
challenging period for the aviation 
sector. According to our strategic 
plan, we aim to capture the lion's 
share of future growth expected 
in the Asian and Far East market 
with increased capacity and slot 
advantages provided by our new 
home, Istanbul Airport. 

As a family exceeding 65,000 
members with all its affiliates, 
Turkish Airlines wishes to continue its 
successful journey, soaring to the top 
of the aviation sector with increasing 
momentum in 2020. We hope to add 
new achievements to our illustrious 
history in the coming year. I would like 
to thank our employees in particular, 
our most valuable asset, in addition 
to our business partners, shareholders 
and passengers for the courtesy they 
showed for us. Lastly, I wish to close 
2020 with even bigger and more 
ambitious achievements. 
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Turkish Airlines At A Glance

Established in 1933, the main business 
line of Turkish Airlines is domestic 
and international air transportation 
of passengers and cargo. Of the 
Incorporation shares, 50.88% are 
publicly traded, 49.12% are owned by 
Turkey Wealth Fund, and one C Class 
share is Owned by Republic of Turkey 
Ministry of Treasury and Finance 
Privatization Administration. The 
paid-in capital of the Incorporation is 
TL 1.38 billion. The Incorporation owns 
five subsidiaries and 11 joint ventures, 
adding up to 16 in total. 

As the airline flying to the most 
countries and international 
destinations in the world, Turkish 
Airlines flies to a total of 321 
destinations as of 2019, of which 

Turkish Airlines – flying to 
321 destinations as of 2019. 

321
DESTINATIONS 

52 domestic and 269 international. 
Turkish Airlines increased the number 
of aircraft in its fleet by 17.1% in the 
last 5 years to 350 by the end of 2019, 
of which 97 are wide-body aircraft, 
230 are narrow-body aircraft and 23 
are freighters. 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines recorded 74.3 
million passengers, up 1.2% over the 
previous year. Number of passengers 
on domestic flights decreased 
7.6% while those on international 
flights increased 3.8% year-on-year. 
The number of passenger aircraft 
landings decreased 1.4% to 486,894. 
Besides cargo and mail carried 
1,543,028 tons with an increase of 
9.2%. 

TURKISH AIRLINES PARTNERSHIP 
STRUCTURE

Massive increase 
 in the aircraft 

 number in the fleet 

74.3
Number of passengers in 2019 

million

Increase rate in aircraft 
number in the last 5 years 

17.1% 
GROWTH

350 Aircraft
The Turkish Airlines fleet includes 97 wide-body 
aircraft, 230 narrow-body aircraft and 23 freighters.

Established in 
1933, Turkish 
Airlines’ main 
fields of activity 
are all types of 
domestic and 
international 
passenger 
and cargo air 
transportation.

A GLOBAL POWER FLYING 
TO HIGHEST NUMBER OF 
COUNTRIES AROUND THE WORLD  

Other (Publicly Traded)

50.88%
Turkey Wealth Fund

49.12%
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Our First Year in Our New Home 
In 2019, Turkish Airlines achieved 
its target passenger load factor 
and profit margin despite various 
challenging developments. The 
challenges during the year included 
halted flights of Boeing 737 MAX 
aircraft due to technical reasons 
by civil aviation authorities which 
turned into a global aviation issue, 
the successful move to Istanbul 
Airport with great excitement as 
well as tremendous effort, delays 
in aircraft deliveries by Airbus, 
unscheduled maintenance needs 
arising for some Boeing 777 and 
Boeing 737 aircraft. The relocation 
to Istanbul Airport went down as the 
most successful and rapid move in 
global aviation history. Turkish Airlines 
gradually reached the capacity it 
had at Atatürk Airport and started 
to welcome passengers at Istanbul 
Airport. The new airport facility 
provided operational benefits such 
as improved on time departures and 
increased passenger satisfaction. 
Istanbul Airport also resulted in 
increased airport expenses compared 
to the previous year due to the 
significantly larger operational space. 
Understanding that an effective cost 
structure is its greatest advantage 
in regional and global competition, 
Turkish Airlines implemented a 
series of cost-cutting measures as of 
second half 2019 in order to control 
rising cost items. This cost saving 
initiative started to yield results in 
the last quarter of 2019. In addition 
to operational improvements in 
the last months of 2019, operating 

profit was positively affected by the 
compensation taken from Boeing for 
losses experienced in 2019 due to the 
Boeing 737 MAX problem. 

Despite the operational difficulties, 
Turkish Airlines boosted its operating 
profit to USD 876 million in 2019. Net 
income after tax increased 4.6% year-
on-year to USD 788 million. In 2019, 
passenger revenues rose 2.3% to 
USD 11.2 billion; meanwhile, cargo 
revenues increased 2.5% to USD 1.7 
billion. Total revenues climbed 2.9% 
over the prior year and reached 
an all-time high of USD 13.2 billion. 
Passenger revenues accounted for 
84% of total revenue, while the share 
of cargo revenues increased to 13% in 
2019. 

The 4% capacity increase publicly 
disclosed as guidance at mid-year 
remained limited to 3.1% due to 
the ongoing MAX problem, delays 
in Airbus aircraft deliveries and 
unplanned maintenance operations. 
Total capacity reached to 187.7 billion 
ASK for the year. In 2019, the number 
of passengers carried decreased 
1.1% to 74.3 million. International 
passengers carried increased 3.8% 
while domestic passengers carried 
declined 7.5%. Flight cancellations 
due to the capacity constraints led to 
a contraction in passenger numbers. 
The total passenger load factor came 
in at 81.6%, down 0.3 points year-on-
year. The international passenger 
load factor declined 0.4 points to 81%, 
while the domestic passenger load 
factor rose 0.9 points to 86.2%. 

Turkish Cargo, which is the fastest 
growing air cargo carrier in the world 
with its carried cargo, added new 
flight destinations to its network 
and freighters to its fleet in 2019 as 
well.  It continues to deliver services 
to customers in 126 countries at 
Turkish Airlines quality to increase its 
share in the world air cargo market. 
In 2019, Turkish Cargo expanded its 
share of the world air cargo market by 
increasing its total carried cargo ton 
by 9.2% to 1.5 million tons. 

Journey to Our New Home 
2019 was a standout year of new 
beginnings for Turkish Airlines and 
Turkish aviation history. The move 
to Istanbul Airport was completed 
in April and the capacity we had 
at Atatürk Airport was achieved 
rapidly. The massive relocation 
effort, which was successfully 
accomplished in a short period of 
time, made history due to its scale 
and efficiency. Istanbul Airport 
provided improvements in terms 
of operational efficiency such as 
expanded aircraft utilization and 
reduced fuel consumption. This year 
was a period of adaptation for Turkish 
Airlines to its new home. 

In 2019, Turkish 
Airlines boosted 
passenger revenues 
by 2.3% while cargo 
revenues increased 
by 2.5%. 

Financial Analysis

SALES REVENUE

13,229 
USD MILLION 

Passenger Revenue Cargo Revenue Other Revenue

10,522

1,069

-77

223

753

788

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

9,792

10,958

12,855

13,229

REVENUE DISTRIBUTION BY CATEGORIES (USD MILLION)

NET PROFIT (USD MILLION)

9,368 935

8,590 996

2015

2016

1.3179,4032017

10,918 1.6472018

11,167 1.6882019

A YEAR FULL OF FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATIONAL ACHIEVEMENTS
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THYAO: Most Traded Share 
Since 1990, Turkish Airlines shares 
have traded on Borsa Istanbul under 
the ticker THYAO. The free float rate 
of our Company’s stock increased to 
50.88% after the secondary public 
offerings conducted in the fiscal 
years 2004 and 2006. Turkish Airlines 
regularly figures among the top 
Turkish stock of choice for investors. 
In 2019, Turkish Airlines registered 
the highest trading volume and was 
the second most traded share on 
Borsa Istanbul with a trading volume 
of TL 280 billion, thanks to its high 
liquidity and broad investor base. The 
Company’s trading volume climbed 
11% year-on-year. The THYAO stock 
price underperformed the BIST 100 
due to negative issues adversely 
affecting the aviation industry, 
including the grounding of Boeing 
MAX aircraft, postponing delivery of 
Airbus Neo aircraft, among others. As 
a result, Turkish Airlines stock price 
declined 10% during 2019, even as 
the BIST 100 increased 25%. Despite 
the negative developments during 
the year, Turkish Airlines market 
capitalization totaled TL 19.9 billion at 
year-end. 

Diversified Revenue Portfolio
Turkish Airlines’ vast flight network 
allows for diversified revenue flow, 
creating a natural hedge mechanism 
against regional risks. Europe 
accounts for the largest share in 
the regional distribution at 29%. 

New flight destinations of Uşak, 
Siirt, Çanakkale, Sharjah, Marrakech, 
Zonguldak, Strasbourg, Port Harcourt, 
Bali/Denpasar, Pointe-Noire, Mexico 
City, Cancun, Luxor, Rovaniemi and 
Xian have further diversified our 
revenue portfolio. Meanwhile, Far East 
and America increased their share 

in revenues by 1 percentage point 
over the last year. Sales originating 
in Turkey constituted 81% of total 
sales. This revenue mix provides 
a significant amount of foreign 
currency inflow not only for Turkish 
Airlines but also for our home country.

Financial Analysis

Sustainable Cash Generation
In 2019, EBITDAR – a key indicator 
of cash generation potential – 
decreased 7.2%, to USD 3.1 billion. 
Turkish Airlines increased its EBITDAR 
margin by 23.5% over the 2019 
revised budget target. Despite that 
decline, profitability outperformed 
the aviation sector average. Turkish 
Airlines utilizes its internal resources 
and potential in the most effective 
and productive way in order to 
finance its future investments and 
sustainable growth. 

Cost Savings Measures 
After a quick assessment of first 
half 2019 results, Turkish Airlines 
took necessary steps to reduce the 
costs due to the move to the new 
airport, to minimize the impact of 
capacity constraints and to increase 
the revenues in second half of 2019. 
In light of these actions, Turkish 
Airlines not only achieved to limit cost 
increase but also gave a boost to its 
revenues. In 2019, unit costs rose 4.9% 
while unit cost increase excluding fuel 
was limited to 7.4%. Turkish Airlines 
maintained a low unit cost advantage 
globally during the year again. 

2015-2019 AVERAGE EBITDAR MARGIN: 22.8%

EBITDAR (USD Million) EBITDAR Margin (%)

2015

2,580

24.5%

2016

1,628

16.6%

2017

3,016

27.5%

2018

3,349

26.1%

2019

3,107

23.5%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

6.74
6.42

5.875.95
6.42

1,07

3,40

1,96

1.09
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1 IATA forecasts USD 29.3 billion net profit for airlines in 2020.
2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
3 Aviation Week & Space Technology Aerospace & Defense 2020

Sector Developments and 2020 Expectations

SIGNIFICANT GROWTH 
IN OVERALL AVIATION 
INDUSTRY REVENUES 

OVERVIEW OF THE AVIATION 
INDUSTRY

Due to rising global uncertainties 
and slowing world economic 
growth in 2019, passenger and 
cargo transportation revenue fell 
behind expectations. The civil 
aviation industry faced difficult 
times stemming from the economic 
slowdown, shrinkage in international 
trade and ongoing trade wars, political 
tensions, uncertainties caused by 
Brexit, unpredictable cash-flow, high 
level of indebtedness, uncertainty 
in capacity growth. As a result, many 
performance outcomes were revised 
downward during the year.1, 2, 3 

According to IATA, total revenue 
of the aviation industry amounted 
to USD 838 billion in 2019, up 3.2% 
year-on-year. The total value of trade 
conducted via airlines was USD 6.7 
trillion, down 0.3%. A workforce of 
70.4 million was created in the supply 
chain, up 2.4%.2 In 2020, total revenue 
of the aviation industry is expected 
to reach USD 872 billion, an increase 
of 4.0%. Meanwhile, the total value 
of trade conducted via airlines is 
projected to rise to USD 7.1 trillion, 
up 5.1%; a workforce of 72.0 million is 
forecast for the whole supply chain of 
the aviation industry, up 2.3% year-on-
year.2 

In 2019, the civil 
aviation industry 
demonstrated 
a favorable 
performance, 
recording net profit 
of USD 25.9 billion 
and thus generating 
a profit for the 10th 
consecutive year.

Aviation industry 
growth continued with 
the positive effects 
of Turkey’s economic 
expansion outpacing 
expectations and 
key sectors such as 
tourism. 

AVIATION INDUSTRY 
REVENUE

838
USD BILLION 

In 2019, negative statements from 
some high-profile airlines impacted 
the industry while many other airlines 
were coping with the sector tough 
conditions. Although net profit of the 
industry fell by 5.1%, the civil aviation 
sector recorded USD 25.9 billion net 
profit, achieving profitability for the 
10th consecutive year. In 2020, net 
profit of USD 29.3 billion is forecasted 
for the sector. The North America 
region is expected to achieve the 
highest profitability rate in 2020, as in 
the prior year.2 

During the year, the number of total 
scheduled passengers rose 3.7% to 
4.5 billion. Passenger traffic growth 
has outperformed the capacity 
increase since 2017; passenger traffic 
has increased 4.2% and capacity has 
expanded 3.5% during that period. In 
2019, the passenger load factor grew 
for seven consecutive years, climbing 
to 82.4%, the highest level to date.2

In 2020, the number of scheduled 
passengers carried is expected 
to surpass 4.7 billion, up 4.0%, with 
available capacity rising 4.7%. 
Passenger traffic is forecasted to 
increase 4.1% while passenger load 
factor is projected at 82.0% in line with 
the increasing capacity.2 

The economic slowdown decreased 
energy demand in 2019. The average 
oil price hovered around USD 65 per 
barrel (Brent) for the year. The unit 
fuel oil price increased 1.3% while the 
unit price excluding fuel rose 0.5%. 
Fuel cost accounted for 23.7% of 
total expenses. In 2020, sector-wide 
unit prices are expected to decrease 
by 1.1% whereas unit cost excluding 
fuel will rise 1.1%. Unit fuel cost is 
forecasted to decline 7.4% while fuel 
cost is projected to account for 22.1% 
of total expenses.2

In 2019, growing competition in the 
aviation sector, declining operational 
margins and expanding capacity in 
some regions caused cutbacks in 
unit passenger revenues. Passenger 
unit revenue, which has declined for 
eight consecutive years, continued 
its downtrend and fell 3.0% in 2019, 
thus corresponding to a total of 32.2% 
decrease since 2012. In 2020, unit 
passenger revenues are expected to 
fall a further 1.5% due to intake of new 
aircraft in the sector.2,4,5 

Aviation industry growth continued 
with the positive effects of Turkey’s 
economic expansion outpacing 
expectations and key sectors 
such as tourism. The domestic 
market contracted by 11.3% due to 
operational factors and passengers 
carried amounted to 50.1 million. 
International passengers carried 
advanced 11.4% thanks to the positive 
impact of tourism activities. In 2019, 
total passengers carried in Turkey 
climbed to 159 million, up 2.9%. 2020 
is expected to be a dynamic year 
for Turkish civil aviation driven by 
economic and environmental factors. 
Total passengers carried is projected 
to exceed 171 million, up 7.6%.6

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
4 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Industry Statistics December 2019)
5 IATA Slowing Demand and Rising Costs Squeeze Airline Profits (June 2019)
6 DHMI, Aircraft, Passenger and Load Traffic Statistics of Airports in Turkey 2002-2019 (Estimated  

by dividing internal passenger numbers and domestic cargo transport amounts by two)
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Sector Developments and 2020 Expectations

AIR CARGO CONTINUED TO 
EXPAND ITS CAPACITY IN 2019 

Traditional cargo 
is growing slowly 
and makes up a 
declining share 
of total air cargo 
transport. Meanwhile, 
e-commerce accounts 
for an ever-expanding 
share of total air cargo.

Posting 20% 
compound annual 
growth since 2005, 
e-commerce is 
expected to total 
USD 4.8 trillion  
in 2019.

TOTAL AIR FREIGHT 
TONS

61.2
MILLION TONS 

AIR CARGO OVERVIEW

There is a direct correlation between 
air cargo and global trade, industrial 
production, and economic reliability. 
Political crises and tensions, the 
USA-China trade war, and economic 
uncertainties during the year affected 
world trade and consequently air 
cargo transport. 

Along with these developments, 
demand growth slowed in 2018, 
expanding at a pace below 2016 
and 2017. The market began to 
contract as of December 2018. Due 
to the significant contraction which 
occurred throughout 2019, cargo 
traffic declined 3.3% and dramatically 
underperformed the projected 
positive growth of 3.7%, which was 
forecast at the start of the year. 4, 7 In 
2019, total global cargo fell 3.3% to 61.2 
million tons. Asia-Pacific, accounting 
for the largest regional share of air 
cargo traffic at around 35%, recorded 
a 5.7% contraction overall and a 6.4% 
decline in the interregional market.8

In 2019, air cargo expanded its 
capacity by 2.1%, with this figure 
steadily increasing in recent years. 
However, air cargo capacity expansion 
far outpaced demand due to 
fluctuations in global trade, leading 

to declining air freight rates and 
passenger load factor.⁸ Air freight 
rates fell 5%, while passenger load 
factor dropped around 2.6 points.2,4 
During the year, total global air cargo 
revenues decreased 8.1% to USD 102.3 
billion, accounting for 12.2% of total 
revenue of airlines.4

Air cargo is primarily the transport of 
drugs, perishable goods, industrial 
machine parts, e-commerce, 
technological and electronic 
products. Traditional cargo is growing 
slowly and makes up a declining share 
of total air cargo transport. Meanwhile, 
e-commerce accounts for an ever-
expanding share of total air cargo. Air 
cargo transport accounts for 80% of 
business-to-consumer e-commerce 
driven by growing online initiatives 
and expanding internet use. Posting 
20% average annual growth each year 
since 2005, the e-commerce sector 
is forecast to climb to USD 4.8 trillion 
in 2021. Express cargo is expected to 
register positive growth and increase 
its impact on the air cargo industry 
with its expanding volume.9 

During the year, central banks 
generally cut interest rates to boost 
trade. In addition, the US and China 
announced that they had come to an 
initial agreement in the first phase of 

80%
Total air cargo transport’s 
share of business-to-
consumer e-commerce

their trade wars. These developments 
brought about gradual improvements 
in trade and provided a positive 
outlook for 2020. Consequently, 
forecasts for the air cargo industry 
brightened: a 2% increase is expected 
in air cargo traffic for 2020.2 

According to 2019 data from the 
General Directorate of State Airports 
Authority (DHMI), air cargo load 
(baggage + cargo + mail) traffic 
decreased 11.9% overall, with domestic 
traffic declining 7.5% in Turkey; 
meanwhile, international traffic 
declined 11.3%.10

² IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
4 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Industry Statistics December 2019)
⁷ IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Industry Statistics December 2018)
⁸ IATA Air Freight Market Analysis (December 2019)
⁹ IATA Air cargo and e-commerce enabling global trade

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
10 DHMI Airports Comparative Statistics December 2019



2928 To Our Shareholders Turkish Airlines Annual Report 2019

FRANCE

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:
STRASBOURG

REGIONAL REVIEWS

Against this backdrop, major 
European airlines continued to cut 
costs and shift capacities to their 
sub-brands in narrowing markets to 
be able to effectively compete with 
low cost airlines. Some airlines entirely 
left their domestic market to their 
sub-brands while others shifted their 
secondary hubs to their sub-brands. 

Despite stake purchases and 
collaborations between regions in 
2019, consolidation continued to 
be a topic that European airlines 
approached quite conservatively 
according to broad-based critiques. 

The 2020 outlook is more optimistic in 
terms of aviation growth expectations 
although coupled with caution in 
parallel to the region’s economy. In 
the coming year, almost half of the 
additional profit in the sector will 
originate from European airlines with 
an estimate of USD 7.9 billion (+27.4%) 
total profit. European airlines are 
expected to continue their capacity 
discipline and record cautious growth 
and by doing so passenger traffic 
is projected to expand 3.8% with a 
capacity increase of 3.7%.2

In 2019, many factors affected airline 
transportation in Europe including 
the B737 - MAX crisis, delays in aircraft 
deliveries, bankruptcies, slowing 
economic growth of the EU region 
due to trade tensions, among others. 

Approximately 16 % of MAX aircraft 
that could not be used belong to 
European airlines' fleet. As a result, 
growth of the affected airlines 
was restricted. In addition, airlines 
that ceased operations hampered 
the region’s growth in 2019. With 
the negative effect of these 
developments, Europe recorded a 
capacity increase of 3.9% for the year, 
well under the forecast of 6.1% for 
2019. Meanwhile, passenger traffic 
grew 4.5%, underperforming the  
5.5% forecast. Consequently, 
profitability was also impacted. 
Europe region airlines recorded total 
profit of USD 6.2 billion in 2019, down 
USD 1.2 billion from the expectations. 
Net profit per passenger decreased 
34% to USD 5.21 year-on-year.2

Low cost carriers (LCC), which 
account for about 33.1% of the 
European market, reported 4.1% seat 
capacity growth in 2019. Although this 
figure represents the lowest growth 
rate of the last 10 years, LCCs are 
posting more growth than network 
carriers over the last decade, which 
network carriers recorded just 2.6% 
growth this year.11 

The Africa region is characterized 
by political instability, economic 
problems, inadequate infrastructure, 
security concerns and governments' 
protectionist tendencies, 
all negatively impacting air 
transportation. 

Some airlines cannot enter certain 
markets due to security issues. 
Inadequate infrastructure causes 
airline operations to fall short in terms 
of optimum operational performance. 

Liberalization in the aviation market 
progresses very slowly despite 
SAATM (Single African Air Transport 
Market), which commenced in 2018. 
Protectionist government policies 
bring about additional financial 

Europe

Africa

NIGERIA

PORT HARCOURT
The airline that flies to more countries than any other

now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

Accordingly, load factors continued 
to decline. Africa has the lowest 
passenger load factor worldwide. 
In 2019, regional airlines increased 
capacity by 4.2% while passenger 
traffic rose 3.7%. In 2020, capacity 
is expected to expand 4.9% while 
passenger traffic is forecast to rise 
3.8%. Thus passenger load factor is 
projected to fall further in the coming 
year.²

African airlines are subjected to 
structural problems such as a high tax 
burden. Excessive taxes constitute 
30% to 50% of some African airlines’ 
costs. African airlines’ jet fuel costs 
are significantly above the global 
average, negatively impacting their 
cost structure.12 As a matter of fact, 
African airlines, which have not been 
successful in terms of profitability 
over the last 15 years, have total losses 
of 200 million USD in 2019. A similar 
situation is expected to continue for 
African carriers in 2020.2 

In case this loss cannot be recovered, 
certain national airlines will likely be 
privatized over the long term. In 
addition, joint ventures, shareholdings 
and collaborations between airlines 
are expected to rise, motivated by the 
desire to combine forces to overcome 
challenges together.13 

Low cost carriers continue to increase 
their market share in Africa as in 
many other regions. Over the last 
seven years, including 2019, seat 
capacity of low-cost carriers in Africa 
have expanded more than the seat 
capacity of network carriers. In 2019, 
LCCs boosted seat capacity by 13.3% 
while hub-based traditional network 
carriers increased seat capacity 
by 2.6%. LCCs accounted for 17.5% 
share of total capacity in 2019, up 
from 16.1% in 2018 and 9% in 2009. 
This growth trend is expected to 
continue in 2020.13

burdens for airlines, making entering 
new markets and increasing flight 
frequency more difficult. Markets are 
quite divided due to protectionist 
policies. Passengers must travel via 
long transfer hubs instead of taking 
direct flights for short distances. The 
Africa region does not demonstrate 
sufficient development due to 
complications and difficulties faced 
by airlines. Thus this emerging gap is 
filled by foreign (outside the region) 
airlines. Non-African airlines have 
approximately 30% of total scheduled 
flight seat capacity in Africa. More 
than 60% of seat capacity in flights 
from Africa to other continents are 
held by non-African airlines. 

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance 
(Report December 2019)

11 Official Airline Guide (OAG)

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
11 Official Airline Guide (OAG)
12 BBC World Business Report: The challenge of expanding airlines in Africa
13 Center For Aviation Airline Leader - Issue 52

Sector Developments and 2020 Expectations
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The Middle East was one of the 
lesser impacted regions from the 
MAX crisis, which negatively affected 
civil aviation worldwide. Even so, the 
Middle East region recorded growth 
of 2.6% in passenger traffic, lower 
than projections from the start of the 
year. This underperformance was due 
to adverse impacts from capacity/
profit optimization of regional airlines, 
and negative effects of political 
and economic developments in the 
region on the civil aviation sector. 
Passenger traffic growth in 2019 was 
significantly lower than the double-
digit rates from 2010 to 2016 and 5% 
level in subsequent years. In 2019, the 
Middle East region posted a capacity 
increase of 1.9%, also well short of start 
of the year projections. In 2020, the 
market is expected to progress at 
a similar pace, with 2.5% passenger 
traffic growth and 3.2% capacity 
increase projected for the year.4 

Low cost carriers (LCCs) of the Middle 
East account for a growing share 
of total capacity. The international 
seat capacity of the region’s network 
airlines declined 0.6% while LCCs 
increased international seat capacity 
by 14% in 2019. As a result, the 
international seat capacity of low 
cost airlines increased by 1.8 points to 
14.7% in 2019. 13 Network airlines in the 
Middle East are expected to step up 
their collaborations with LCCs. 

Middle East

As a matter of financial position, in 
2019, Middle East airlines recorded 
total losses of USD 1.5 billion. In 2020, 
losses are expected to improve to 
USD 1 billion. Loss per passenger in 
the region was USD 6.48 in 2019; this 
figure is forecast to improve to a loss 
of USD 4.48 in 2020.4 

UAE

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

North America

Thanks to next generation fuel 
efficient aircraft – medium range 
aircraft such as Airbus A321XLR and 
long-range aircraft such as Boeing 
787 and Airbus A350 – direct flights 
were made more economically 
efficient in the Trans-Atlantic market, 
one of the most important markets 
in international traffic. By year-end 
2020, European airlines are expected 
to have launched direct flights to at 
least five secondary airports in North 
America. By 2025, Trans-Atlantic 
flights to medium-size airports in 
North America are expected to 
become routine flights.16 

In 2019, North American aviation was 
adversely impacted by the US-China 
trade wars, MAX aircraft crisis, and 
additional taxes applied on Airbus 
as a European aircraft manufacturer. 
Meanwhile, the industry benefited 
from positive developments such 
as lower than expected oil prices 
and higher than expected demand 
growth of 4.5%, especially for 
domestic flights in the USA. 

The USA-China trade conflicts, which 
started in the second half of 2018, 
continued throughout 2019. Although 
the first phase of the USA-China 
trade agreement was signed at 
end-of-year 2019 by the concerned 
parties, uncertainties regarding 2020 
persisted. 

Before the trade wars, airlines were 
forced to rearrange their Hong 
Kong tariffs when protests in Hong 
Kong were added to the challenges 
experienced by the airlines due to 
excess capacity in the Trans-Pacific 
market.13 

Another significant development 
affecting the regional market as 
well as world aviation in 2019 was the 
grounding of Boeing 737 MAX aircraft. 
This event caused the global aviation 
industry to lose USD 4.1 billion in 
revenues in 2019. Revenue loss of US 
airlines alone amounted to around 
USD 600 million.15 Many airlines 
removed MAX aircraft from their 
tariffs until June 2020, indicating that 
the negative impact of grounding 
MAX type aircraft will continue in 
2020. There are concerns that the 
rapid increase in capacity with the 
recommissioning of these aircraft will 
create pressure on ticket prices.13 

4 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Industry Statistics December 2019)
13 Center For Aviation Airline Leader - Issue 52
14 Aerotime Hub, Middle East aviation market set on further growth, Boeing says.

13 Center For Aviation Airline Leader - Issue 52 
15 Official Airline Guide (OAG) B737 Max - Maximum Aviation Xpense
16 BCD Travel Industry Forecast (2020)

Finally, internal dynamics – such as 
an enlarging middle class, growing 
youth population, expanding newly 
established low cost airlines and 
increasing tourism – boost the 
aviation sector in the Middle East. 
Meanwhile, simmering political 
tensions, contracting economies and 
erupting military conflicts within the 
region negatively impact the aviation 
industry.14

USA

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

In 2019, America’s economic vibrancy 
kept demand for business travel 
robust. Major airlines in the domestic 
US market set up secondary hubs, 
especially in the western region, to 
feed their international passenger 
traffic. As a result, American airlines 
opened new routes and expanded 
their capacity on existing routes. 

Sector Developments and 2020 Expectations

REGIONAL REVIEWS
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Another uncertainty for US carriers 
in 2020 concerns additional customs 
taxes applied by the US government 
to the Airbus company in October 
2019 at the rate of 10%.17 As of 
year’s end 2019, 39% of US' plane 
orders consisted of Airbus aircraft; 
these orders are affected by the 
additional taxes. Meanwhile, Airbus’s 
manufacturing facility in Alabama was 
excluded from the additional tax levy. 
Some US based airlines see this facility 
as a way to alleviate the impact of the 
tax.18 

Low cost carriers account for an ever-
growing share of capacity in North 
America international lines. In 2019, 
LCCs had a 19.2% share of capacity 
in North America international lines, 
up from 9.4% in 2010, registering 8.2% 
average annual growth. The total 
capacity share of LCCs – domestic 
and international lines – was 26.2% 
in 2010, which rose to 30% in 2017, 
remaining at that level in 2018 and 
2019.11

INDONESIA

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

Airlines in North America recorded a 
strong financial performance in 2019, 
much like the prior year. The region’s 
airlines reported net operating profit 
after tax of USD 16.9 billion and profit 
per passenger of USD 16.81. In 2020, 
North American airlines are projected 
to post net operating profit after 
tax of USD 16.5 billion and profit per 
passenger of USD 16.

MEXICO

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

Asia-Pacific 

On the other hand, orders for 
narrow-body aircraft by Asia-Pacific 
low cost carriers are nearly double 
those of network airlines. These new 
generation long-distance narrow-
body aircraft will enable LCCs to 
provide services not only within Asia-
Pacific, but also to Eastern Europe.13 

In 2019, the fastest growth in the 
capacity from Asia-Pacific to other 
regions was in Europe with 7.1%.13 This 
growth is expected to continue with 
airlines in the region increasing their 
seat capacity to Europe. 

Airlines in Asia-Pacific also attract the 
attention of other foreign carriers in 
the sector. As a result, stake purchases 
and bilateral strategic partnership 
agreements are executed, due to 
rising LCC competition in the region, 
airlines in the region are expected to 
continue entering into partnership 
agreements and developing their 
own sub-brands in 2020. 

In 2020, moderate recovery in world 
trade and air cargo are forecast to 
positively boost the financial results 
of Asia-Pacific carriers. According to 
IATA data, Asia-Pacific is projected to 
record a 4.8% increase in passenger 
traffic in 2020. Airlines in the region 
are expected to post a total of USD 
6.0 billion net profit in the coming 
year.16 

In addition, the 2020 Olympics, to be 
held in Tokyo, the capital of Japan, is 
expected to boost tourism to that 
country in the coming year.13 The 
Tokyo Olympics is projected to have 
positive impact on passenger traffic 
in the Asia-Pacific region. However, 
international traffic is expected to 
be significantly affected in the first 
half of 2020, particularly in China, 
as a result of the newly emerging 
outbreak there. This is expected to 
negatively impact growth rates in the 
region.

Over the last five years (2014-2018), 
Asia-Pacific airlines have expanded 
their seat capacity by an average 
annual rate of 9.7%11. In 2019, the 
region’s airlines recorded passenger 
traffic growth of 4.7%. This figure was 
well below the growth forecast of  
7.5% due to slowing business  
activity from the tension caused 
by USA-China trade wars, ongoing 
protests in Hong Kong, and 
underperforming economies.2 

Despite the significant slowdown in 
its growth rate, Asia-Pacific was still 
one of the fastest growing regions in 
passenger traffic in 2019. However, the 
region’s airlines recorded lower than 
expected profitability. During the year, 

In 2019, airlines expanded their 
capacity by 2.3% while passenger 
traffic increased 3.8%; as a result, 
average passenger load factor rose to 
65.4%, up from 64.9% in 2018. In 2020, 
North American airlines are forecast 
to expand their capacity by 5.1% while 
passenger traffic is projected to rise 
3.8%. As a result, passenger load factor 
is expected to decline to 64.8%, below 
that of 2018.2 

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019).
11 Official Airline Guide (OAG).
17 Ministry of Commerce: Announcement Regarding Countervailing Duty Imposed by the US to EU. 
18 Reuters Airbus plant in Alabama spared fallout from U.S. tariffs.

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
11 Official Airline Guide (OAG)
13 Center For Aviation Airline Leader - Issue 52
16 BCD Travel Industry Forecast (2020) 

Asia-Pacific airlines reported total net 
profit of USD 4.9 billion, ranking third 
among the world’s regions on this 
metric.16 

Seat capacity in the Asia-Pacific 
region has nearly doubled over the 
last 10 years, with low cost carriers 
expanding nearly six times faster 
than network carriers. In 2019, LCCs 
increased their seat capacity by 7.8% 
(network carriers: +2.4%), expanding 
their share of total seat capacity to 
28.6%. While low cost carriers are more 
concentrated on intra-region traffic, 
LCCs account for about 8% in Asia 
Pacific’s outbound traffic.33 

By year-end 2020, 
European airlines are 
expected to have 
launched direct 
flights to at least 
five secondary 
airports in North 
America.

Sector Developments and 2020 Expectations

REGIONAL REVIEWS
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MEXICO

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:

upward. The capacity need arising in 
certain country markets in 2019 will 
be supported by intercontinental 
capacity expansion, newly established 
airlines and partnerships in the 
coming year. In addition, diminishing 
social unrest across the region and 
positive economic developments 
in key areas such as inflation and 
investment are projected to 
positively impact consumer 
purchasing power.19, 20 

According to IATA, South and Central 
America airlines recorded a loss of 
USD 400 million in 2019, halving its 
USD 800 million loss in 2018. After 
declaring losses for two consecutive 
years, a regional economic recovery 
is expected to yield net profit of 
USD 100 million in 2020. In 2019, the 
region recorded a slowdown in both 
passenger capacity and traffic growth; 
capacity expanded by 3.0% and traffic 
grew 4.2% for the year. In 2020, South 
and Central America airlines are 
projected to post capacity growth of 
over 4.6% and traffic growth of 4.3%.2 

In the South and Central America 
region, various issues such as 
poor economic performance 
of some countries, social and 
political instability, and inadequate 
infrastructure, hampered demand for 
airline transport.13,16,19 

South and Central America’s airlines 
continue to focus on intra-region 
growth. A negative outlook on the 
region’s economy caused changes 
in scheduled infrastructure projects. 
Low cost carrier operations have 
expanded across the region in 
recent years, especially in light of 
economic developments. Full service 
carriers entering the market caused 
ticket prices to fall due to increased 
competition. 

Financial problems of regional airlines 
had a significant impact, especially 
on their domestic capacities. Issues 
related to technical-operational 
capabilities and aircraft delivery in the 
region created capacity uncertainty 
for airlines. In addition, South and 
Central America saw numerous 
consolidations, stake purchases 
and partnerships during the year. 
These efforts attempted to develop 
regional aviation and strengthen the 
connection between Latin America, 
and North America and Trans-Atlantic. 

In 2020, South and Central America 
is expected to face the same 
challenges while economic growth 
across the region is forecast to trend 

South and Central 
America 

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
awaits you in the world’s new aviation center

JOURNEY TO 
THE NEW HOME OF TURKISH AIRLINES

ISTANBUL AIRPORT

2 IATA Airline Industry Economic Performance (Report December 2019)
13 Center For Aviation Airline Leader - Issue 52
16 BCD Travel Industry Forecast (2020)
19 Aviation Week & Space Technology Aerospace & Defense 2020
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Board of Directors

MEHMET İLKER AYCI
Turkish Airlines
Chairman of the Board and  
the Executive Committee
M. İlker Aycı, born in Istanbul in 1971, is 1994 
alumni of Bilkent University’s Department of 
Political Science and Public Administration. After 
completing a research stay on political science  
at the Leeds University in the UK in 1995,  
Mr. Aycı completed International Relations 
Master’s program at the Marmara University in 
Istanbul in 1997.

In his professional career which started in 1994, 
Mr. Aycı held a variety of positions at Kurtsan 
Medicine, Universal International Trade, and the 
Metropolitan Municipality of Istanbul, where, as 
an advisor to the then Mayor of Istanbul, H.E. 
Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, he took part in a number 
of development projects realized in Turkey’s 
largest city. In the insurance sector, Mr. Aycı 
became the General Manager of Başak 
Sigorta in 2005. After the company’s successful 
privatization, Mr. Aycı took over the management 
of Güneş Sigorta, one of the largest insurance 
companies in Turkey, in 2006. As the General 
Manager until 2011, he considerably increased 
both the value and size of the company.

In 2011, Mr. Aycı became the President of the 
Investment Support and Promotion Agency of 
Turkey (ISPAT), the only official national body 
to promote Turkey’s investment environment 
globally and to assist international investors in 
their investment projects. Between 2013 and 
2015, Mr. Aycı also held first the Vice Presidency 
and then, the Presidency of the World 
Association of Investment Promotion Agencies 
(WAIPA), the umbrella organization of over 
170 investment promotion agencies from 130 
countries.

Since 2015, Mr. Aycı is the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors and of the Executive Committee 
of Turkish Airlines. Currently, Mr. Aycı is also the 
Chairman of the Service Exporters' Association 
of Turkey and serves as a board and audit 
committee member of the Turkish Football 
Federation, the chair of the board of Turkish 
Airlines Sports Club. 

Mr. Aycı is also the Turkish Airlines representative 
of the Turkey-USA, Turkey-Canada, Turkey-Brazil 
and Turkey-UK Business Councils, as well as an 
Executive Board member of the Turkey-USA, 
Turkey-Brazil, and Turkey-UK Business Councils 
under the Foreign Economic Relations Board of 
Turkey (DEİK). Additionally, Mr. Aycı held positions 
at different capacities in several organizations 
including the Insurance Association of Turkey, the 
Turkey-China Business Council, Vakıf Emeklilik, 
and Güneş Sigorta Sports Club. Mr. Aycı speaks 
English and Russian.

PROF. DR. MECİT EŞ  
Member of the Board
Prof. Dr. Mecit Eş was born in Samsun in 1953 
and received his undergraduate degree from 
Istanbul University, School of Economics in 1974. 
After working in the public sector, he continued 
his academic career and received his Ph.D. in 
1985. Dr. Mecit Eş became Associate Professor 
in 1990 and Professor in 1996. Having worked in 
the Faculty of Economics and Administrative 
Sciences at Dumlupınar University in the field of 
Public Finance between 1992 and 2012, Dr. Eş 
has since been Professor of the Academy of 
Commercial Sciences at Istanbul Commerce 
University. During his career, he has published 
many books and articles. Dr. Eş is a father of three 
children.

ARDA ERMUT
Member of the Board and  
the Executive Committee
Born in 1980 in Karaman, Mr. Arda Ermut 
graduated from Boğaziçi University’s 
Department of Politics and International 
Relations in 2004 and started his professional 
career in 2005 as a Media and Public Relations 
Advisor at the Turkish Prime Minister’s Office in 
Istanbul. 

He then continued his career at the Turkish 
Prime Ministry serving in various roles at the 
Investment Support and Promotion Agency of 
Turkey (ISPAT), with essential contributions to  
the establishment of the organization itself.  
Mr. Ermut started working at ISPAT as an 
Assistant Project Director in 2007, and served 
in multiple senior positions before he was 
appointed the Head of the Public-Private 
Partnership Department, and then the President 
of ISPAT in 2015. During the transition period to 
Turkey’s Executive Presidential System, Mr. Ermut 
took part in positioning the Investment Office 
under the auspices of the Presidency of the 
Republic of Turkey. During his tenure as President 
of ISPAT and now the Investment Office, he has 
actively taken part in bringing various foreign 
direct investments into Turkey.

In addition to his current post as a Board 
Member on the Turkey Sovereign Wealth Fund, 
Mr. Ermut also serves as the Turkish Basketball 
Federation. 

Mr. Ermut is fluent in English, and is married with 
one child. 

BİLAL EKŞİ
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Bilal Ekşi graduated from Yıldız Technical 
University, Department of Electronics and 
Communications Engineering in 1989. Starting his 
career in 1989, Mr. EKŞİ worked as an Electronics 
and Communications Engineer at Turkish State 
Railways and thereafter, he was assigned to the 
position of Workshop Manager at Istanbul Ulaşım 
A.Ş., and he played an active role in realization of 
significant transport projects.

As the Head of Overhaul Workshops at Turkish 
Airlines Inc., Mr. Ekşi carried out the duty of 
maintenance of aircraft engines, landing gears 
and all components between 2003-2005. In 
2005, he has been assigned as the Chief Ground 
Operations Officer at Turkish Airlines Inc. Mr. Ekşi 
accomplished significant projects, particularly 
in improvement of the on-time departure 
performance during his tenure.

Mr. Ekşi served as Chief Production Officer at 
Turkish Technic from 2008 to 2009; General 
Manager of Cyprus Turkish Airlines as part of 
the reorganization of Cyprus Turkish Airlines in 
2010; and Executive Vice President at Turkish 
Engine Center (TEC), established by the 
joint venture of Pratt Whitney, the American 
Engine manufacturer, and Turkish Technic Inc. 
between 2010 and 2011. Mr. Ekşi was appointed 
Director General of Civil Aviation in April 2011. 
During his tenure as the Director General of 
Civil Aviation, Turkey has been reelected as a 
member of Council of International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) 66 years later its previous 
membership and has become one of the 36 
members in ICAO’s decision-making platform.

Mr. Ekşi was appointed as Chief Executive Officer 
and Chairman on October 21, 2016.

MİTHAT GÖRKEM AKSOY
Member of the Board
He was born in 06.06.1977 in Antalya. He 
started his pilotage training in 1996 in Turkish 
Aeronautical Association. Graduating in 1998, 
he worked in Turkish Aeronautical Association 
until 2001. In 2001, he resigned from the Turkish 
Aeronautical Association and transferred to 
private airways. After working in various private 
airline companies, in 2007, he started to work at 
Turkish Airlines. He served in G4, G550, B737 and 
Airbus A330/340 fleets. In 2006, he was appointed 
as the Senior Vice President, General Aviation VIP 
Aircraft Operations, he still serves as the active 
commander pilot in Turkish Airlines. Since 2018, 
He has being member of the board of Turkish 
Airlines Inc. and Turkish Technic Inc.

ORHAN BİRDAL
Member of the Board
Mr. Birdal was born in Kemah, Erzincan in 1958 
and completed his primary and high school 
education in Istanbul. In 1980, he graduated 
from Istanbul Academy of Economics and 
Commercial Sciences, College of Journalism 
and Public Relations. Mr. Birdal completed his 
graduate degree from the Social Sciences 
Institute of Marmara University in 1990.

In 1982, Mr. Birdal entered the aviation sector 
as Air Traffic Controller at Atatürk Airport, 
incorporated under the General Directorate of 
State Airports Authority (DHMI). Subsequently, 
he held various positions in the sector, including 
Air Traffic Controller and Airport Manager at 
Erzincan, Directorate of Nevşehir Kapadokya, 
Trabzon and Izmir Adnan Menderes Airports, and 
Senior Vice President of the Airport Operation 
Department at DHMI. After working as the 
Deputy Director and Member Of the Board 
of Directors of DHMI in 2003, he assumed the 
position of General Manager and Chairman of 
the Board Directors of DHMI between 2007-
2015. Following his position in DHMI, Mr. Orhan 
Birdal was appointed to the Undersecretariat of 
the Ministry of Transport, Maritime Affairs and 
Communications. By the end of 2015, he started 
to serve as Deputy Undersecretary responsible 
for Aviation and Railroads. During his tenure as 
General Manager at DHMI, Mr. Birdal also served 
as Member of the Board of Directors and Audit 
Committee at Turkish Airlines from 2008 until 
2012. In addition, he served as Vice President of 
the Turkish Civil Aviation Council at the Union of 
Chambers and Commodity Exchanges of Turkey 
(TOBB).

Having worked as a senior manager in the 
aviation sector for many years, Mr. Birdal, carried 
out many successful projects. IGA is one of these 
projects as the world’s greatest build-operate-
transfer project. He also held high level positions 
in 17 different build-operate-transfer projects 
related to several airports in Turkey. Mr. Birdal 
actively participated in the commission of the 
Domestic Aircraft Project in Turkey. He also 
served as Chairman of the Aviation Sector and 
Moderator in the 10th and 11th Transportation 
Council. Mr. Birdal has received numerous 
prestigious awards including “Bureaucrat of 
the Year” and “Government Executive of the 
Year” from both domestic and international 
institutions.

Mr. Birdal speaks English and is married with four 
children.
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To become the preferred leading European 
air carrier with a global network of coverage 
thanks to its strict compliance with flight 
safety, reliability, product line, service quality 
and competitiveness, whilst maintaining its 
identity as the flag carrier of the Republic of 
Turkey in the civil air transportation industry. 

To become an air carrier with;
• A continued growth trend over industry average,
• Zero major accidents/crashes,
• Most envied service levels worldwide,
• Unit costs equating with low cost carriers,
• Sales and distribution costs below industry 

averages,
• Loyal customers, who book and issue tickets and 

check in by themselves,
• A personnel constantly developing their 

qualifications with the awareness of the 
close relationship between the benefits for 
the company and the added value that they 
contribute,

• An entrepreneurship that creates business 
opportunities for fellow members in the Star 
Alliance and takes advantage of the business 
potential provided by them,

• A staff well adapted to modern governance 
principles by observing the best interests of not 
only shareholders but also stakeholders.

Board of Directors Mission 

VisionOGÜN ŞANLIER 
Independent Member of the Board
Ogün Şanlıer was born in 1974 and graduated 
from Marmara University, Faculty of 
Economics and Administrative Sciences, Public 
Administration in French in 1999. He served as 
Export Specialist at Anadolu Isuzu Otomotiv San. 
Tic. A.Ş. between 1999 and 2001, and Regional 
Export Manager at Feniş Dış Ticaret A.Ş. from 
2002 to 2007. Mr. Şanlıer also served in different 
executive positions in Metropolitan Municipality 
of Istanbul Department of Subsidiaries Halk 
Ekmek A.Ş. from 2007 until 2013. He is currently 
the Chairman of the Board at İstanbul Medya 
Akademisi A.Ş. Mr. Şanlıer speaks English, German 
and French and is married with two children. 

MUZAFFER AKPINAR 
Independent Member of the Board
Mr. Akpınar was born in 1962 and graduated from 
Saint-Michel French High School and Boğaziçi 
University, Faculty of Administrative Sciences. 
He started his professional career in 1986 when 
he became the founding shareholder of Penta 
Textile. In 1993, Mr. Akpınar was appointed CEO at 
KVK Mobil Telefon Hizmetleri A.Ş. Subsequently, 
he served as CEO at MV Holding A.Ş. and played 
an active role in the founding of Fintur Holding 
BV. Between 2002 and 2006, Mr. Akpınar served 
as CEO at Turkcell. He remains an entrepreneur 
and investor in the fields of renewable energy, 
technology, chemicals and construction. 
Muzaffer Akpınar is currently Chairman of the 
Board at KVK Teknoloji A.Ş., Dost Enerji A.Ş. and 
Portmobil A.Ş.; Vice Chairman of the Board at MV 
Holding A.Ş. and Kimya Teknik A.Ş.; and President 
of Muzaffer Akpınar Foundation. Mr. Akpınar is 
married and has two children. 

DR. FATMANUR ALTUN
Independent Member of the Board
Altun is the Chairman of the Executive Board of 
Turkish Youth and Education Service Foundation 
(TÜRGEV) as well as a member of the Executive 
Board of Turkish Airlines (THY) and Women and 
Democracy (KADEM) Foundation.

She took her Master's Degree in Sociology 
and Anthropology from Marmara University's 
Institute of Middle East and Islamic Countries 
Studies with her thesis titled "The Role of 
Discourse of Greater Middle East Project in 
Formation of Post 2000 Turkish Nationalism.” 

Starting her doctoral studies at the same 
department in 2014, she earned her Ph.D. Degree 
in 2018 with her dissertation titled “The 'Social 
Benefit' Approach of Secular and Faith-Based 
Non-Governmental Organizations in Turkey: 
Case Studies of the Association for Supporting 
Contemporary Life and Turkish Youth and 
Education Service Foundation."

Working in the publishing sector as a translator 
and editor since 2000, Altun served as the 
department editor of Anlayış Magazine from 
2005 to 2010 and as a columnist for the news 
portal World Bulletin from 2006 to 2011. Since 
2015, she has been working for Marmara 
University. Currently an academic in the 
Sociology Department of Marmara University, 
Altun has copyright and translation works. She 
conducts seminars and conferences on different 
platforms and her articles are regularly published 
in various media. 
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Strategic Focus Areas

AN APPROACH THAT PRIORITIZES 
PASSENGER SAFETY AND 
COMFORT 

1. SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND 
PROFITABILITY 

Turkish Airlines aims to have one 
of the largest and modern fleets 
worldwide by 2023, featuring more 
than 500 economically-efficient 
but also environmentally-friendly 
aircraft equipped with state-of-
the-art technology while prioritizing 
passenger comfort and safety. 

With its new “TAKE-OFF” initiative, 
AnadoluJet is planning a revamp 
to boost the competitive power of 
the brand. This effort aims to make 
AnadoluJet more efficient and 
competitive while unleashing the 
sub-brand’s ability to add significantly 
more value to the Turkish Airlines 
brand. 

Upon the advantages to be brought 
along by “Istanbul Airport” which 
started to operate in 2018, Turkish 
Airlines plans to further expand 
its flight network and maintain its 
position as the airline flying to the 
most international destinations 
around the world. In addition, Turkish 
Airlines aims to boost its network 
quality by increasing frequency depth. 

Demonstrating strong growth in 
cargo transport, Turkish Airlines aims 
to expand its market share in air 
cargo transport around the globe 
by planning to take its success in air 
cargo to a higher level with cargo 
investments at Istanbul Airport.

Turkish Airlines 
moves steadily 
toward sustainable 
success as one of 
the most preferred 
airlines today with 
its extensive flight 
network and high-
quality service. 

Thanks to efforts to 
reduce its carbon 
footprint, Turkish 
Airlines’ flights are 
20% more fuel 
efficient today 
compared to a 
decade earlier. 

2. BRAND RECOGNITION AND 
PREFERABILITY 

Turkish Airlines moves steadily toward 
sustainable success as one of the 
most preferred airlines today with its 
extensive flight network and high-
quality service. 

Continuously investing in its brand, 
Turkish Airlines conducts advertising 
and promotional activities in various 
areas, specifically via sponsorships. 

3. CUSTOMER FOCUS 

Turkish Airlines formulates its 
strategies in consideration of 
customer sensitivity toward 
price, time, and service quality. 
Recognition of our service quality with 
international awards also increases our 
motivation. 

Customer satisfaction is aimed to 
be bolstered with operational and 
technological innovations after the 
launch of Istanbul Airport.

4. CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY 

Turkish Airlines conducts all its 
business operations in a socially, 
economically and environmentally 
responsible manner due to being 
bonded by heart to its goal of 
making a contribution to sustainable 
development. Therefore, with the 
voluntary contributions of our 
employees, various groups and in 
particular to children are supported 
via a wide range of activities both at 
domestic and abroad.

As part of environmental protection 
efforts and the fight against climate 
change, Turkish Airlines executes 
numerous initiatives to enhance fuel 
efficiency and reduce its carbon 
footprint. Thanks to these efforts, 
Turkish Airlines’ flights are 20% more 
fuel efficient today compared to a 
decade earlier. By 2023, the Company 
aims to further mitigate its carbon 
and noise emissions by the help of 
planning to add new generation 
aircraft with 15% higher fuel efficiency 
to its fleet. 

5. BUSINESS EXCELLENCE AND 
EFFICIENCY

Turkish Airlines adopts a continuous 
improvement approach to meet 
all domestic and international 
requirements. Committed to 
maintaining a high level of 
productivity, Turkish Airlines aims 
to further boost its investments in 

information and communication 
technology systems, reduce its fleet’s 
average age and implement effective 
process management and projects. 

6. EMBRACING INNOVATION 

Cutting-edge projects are initiated 
in artificial intelligence, Internet of 
Things, virtual reality, augmented 
reality, and other advanced 
technology areas. As part of its digital 
innovation efforts, Turkish Airlines 
will continue to conduct projects 
to develop its internal business 
processes in addition to enhance 
customer satisfaction. 

7. ADDING VALUE TO EMPLOYEES 

At Turkish Airlines, ensuring that its 
staff members work with motivation 
and satisfaction is a top priority. To 
this end, Turkish Airlines creates 

value for employees by offering 
an optimal working environment, 
social benefits, career opportunities, 
and training programs delivered 
in cooperation with domestic and 
foreign institutions. 

8. ADDING VALUE TO 
STAKEHOLDERS

Committed to transparency, fairness, 
responsibility and accountability 
in all its business activities, Turkish 
Airlines encourages its stakeholders to 
embrace the brand’s goals and values. 
Turkish Airlines continuously develops 
good corporate governance practices. 
As  a world class concern, Turkish 
Airlines plans to expand the number 
of projects delivered in cooperation 
with its stakeholders and improve 
collaborations in line with its vision of 
adding value to stakeholders.

Responsibility 
toward society and 

the environment 
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Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures

GLOBAL BRAND IDENTITY 
STRENGTHENED WITH THE 
SUPPORT OF GROUP COMPANIES 

Bolstering its global brand identity 
to become a leader in the world 
aviation sector with its top-caliber, 
experienced staff and Group 
companies, Turkish Airlines has a total 
of 16 subsidiaries and affiliates. Thanks 
to subsidiaries and affiliates, Turkish 
Airlines provides flexibility, quality, 
and productivity across its operations, 
while reducing costs. As a result, the 
Company increased its competitive 
power and efficiency. 

Thanks to Group 
companies, Turkish 
Airlines provides 
flexibility, quality 
and efficiency across 
its operations, while 
reducing costs.

While underpinning the development 
of aviation and the Turkish aircraft 
industry, Turkish Airlines’ companies 
also served other clients in the sector. 
Consequently, the Incorporation 
has become a profit center 
that significantly contributes to 
consolidated profit and shareholder 
value creation. 

Turkish Airlines and its Group 
companies will continue to be a major 
source of employment for the nation, 
as a vast family comprising more than 
65 thousand employees as of year-
end 2019. 

SUN EXPRESS 
AVIATION INC.

TURKISH AIRLINES 
INTERNATIONAL 

INVESTMENT AND 
TRANSPORT INC.

TURKISH OPET 
AVIATION FUELS INC.

TURKISH AIRLINES 
AIRPORT REAL ESTATE 

INVESTMENT AND 
MANAGEMENT CO.

TURKISH GROUND 
SERVICES INC.

TAX REFUND AND 
INTERMEDIATION

GOODRICH TURKISH 
TECHNIC SERVICE 
CENTER CO. LTD.

TURKISH CABIN INTERIOR 
SYSTEMS INC.

CORNEA AVIATION 
SYSTEMS INDUSTRY AND 
COMMERCE

WE WORLD EXPRESS 
LIMITED

AIR ALBANIA SHPK

TURKISH TECHNIC INC.

PRATT&WHITNEY 
TURKISH ENGINE 
CENTER CO. LTD.

TURKISH DO&CO 
CATERING SERVICES INC.

TSI AVIATION SEATS INC. 

TURKISH FLIGHT 
TRAINING AND AIRPORT 

OPERATIONS
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Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures

TURKISH TECHNIC INC.

Turkish Technic Inc. delivers 
maintenance, repair and technical 
support services in a total enclosed 
area of 586 thousand m² at five 
different locations to more than 
100 domestic and foreign airline 
companies, primarily Turkish 
Airlines. Established in 2006 as a 
100%-owned subsidiary of Turkish 
Airlines, Turkish Technic merged with 
Turkish Airlines HABOM Inc. in June 
2015. With nearly 9,250 employees 
and various affiliate companies, 
Turkish Technic aims to become a 
major technical maintenance hub in 
aviation. To this end, Turkish Technic 
offered maintenance services to 
4,531 aircraft in total in 2019, while 
delivering maintenance to 12 aircraft 
per day on average. Currently 
serving as a major player in the 
MRO industry, Turkish Technic Inc. 
executes various projects at home 
and abroad to increase the number 
of international airlines served and 
grow market share. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 1,225

2019 1,292

9,250
Number of Employees

TURKISH GROUND SERVICES INC.

Turkish Ground Services (TGS) 
delivers ground handling services 
at nine stations: Istanbul Airport, 
Istanbul Atatürk Airport, Istanbul 
Sabiha Gökçen Airport, Ankara 
Esenboğa Airport, Izmir Adnan 
Menderes Airport, Antalya Airport, 
Adana Airport, Milas-Bodrum Airport 
and Dalaman Airport. Established 
as a 50%-50% partnership between 
Turkish Airlines and Havaş 
Havaalanları Yer Hizmetleri A.Ş., 
TGS has been operational in the 
industry since January 1, 2010. TGS 
has delivered services to more than 
200 airlines, Turkish Airlines and Sun 
Express in particular. In 2019, TGS 
served 711 thousand flights at  
world-class standards with nearly  
15 thousand employees. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 286 

2019 358

14,723
Number of Employees

TURKISH DO & CO CATERING 
SERVICES INC.

Turkish DO & CO delivers catering 
services to over 80 domestic and 
international air carriers, particularly 
Turkish Airlines. The company was 
established in 2006 as a 50%-50% 
partnership between Turkish Airlines 
and DO & CO AG based in Austria. 
Turkish DO & CO provides catering 
services with kitchens located at 
nine locations across Turkey, offering 
more than 240,000 dishes each 
day; every dish is carefully prepared 
by the chefs of Turkish DO & CO. 
The company started providing 
services at the new airport as of 
April 2019. Turkish DO & CO served 
46.2 million dishes on-board aircraft 
that departed from Istanbul Airport 
in 2019. The company maintains 
excellent quality, much higher than 
typical international standards today. 
Turkish DO & CO serves in-flight 
catering and CIP lounge services of 
Turkish Airlines after the change of 
the main airport hub. Turkish DO & 
CO aims to provide new, innovative 
solutions to the industry in the 
coming period. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 285

2019 344

5,708
Number of Employees

PRATT&WHITNEY TURKISH ENGINE 
CENTER CO. LTD.

Turkish Engine Center delivers 
engine maintenance, repair and 
overhaul services to customers 
located in Turkey and neighboring 
regions. It was founded in 2008 as 
a 49%-51% partnership between 
Turkish Airlines and Pratt & Whitney, 
a subsidiary of United Technologies. 
Established over a 25 thousand 
m² area at Istanbul Sabiha Gökçen 
Airport, Turkish Engine Center’s 
advanced technology, eco-friendly 
facility has the capability to provide 
maintenance to around 200 aircraft 
engines per year at full capacity.

Revenue USD Million 

2018 542

2019 399

443
Number of Employees

SUN EXPRESS AVIATION INC.

Market leader of charter flights 
between Germany and Turkey, Sun 
Express was established in 1989 as 
a 50%-50% partnership between 
Turkish Airlines and Lufthansa. 
Founded and headquartered in 
Antalya, Sun Express is serving as a 
double hub in recent years with by 
also getting operational in Izmir. Sun 
Express conducted its first flight in 
1990. After operating for many years 
in the charter market, Sun Express 
initiated Antalya-Frankfurt flights in 
2001, thus becoming Turkey's first 
private airline to organize scheduled 
flights abroad. Together with Sun 
Express Germany established 
in Frankfurt in 2011, Sun Express 
operates a fleet of 72 aircraft. The 
Company is conducting flights to 
90 destinations in 30 countries in 
total and employs more than 4,500 
employees serving more than 10 
million passengers each year. As 
of end-2019, Sun Express Turkey's 
18 aircraft conduct AnadoluJet 
operations. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 1,479 

2019 1,567

4,667
Number of Employees

TURKISH OPET AVIATION FUELS INC.

Turkish OPET provides jet fuel 
storage and refueling services 
in domestic airports, primarily at 
Istanbul Atatürk Airport. It was 
established in 2009 as a 50%-50% 
joint venture between Turkish 
Airlines and OPET Petrolcülük 
A.Ş., Turkish OPET commenced 
operations on July 1, 2010 and now 
boasts the largest integrated jet 
fuel facility in Turkey. Turkish OPET 
can deliver refueling service to 
customers at all airports across 
Turkey. In 2019, Turkish OPET is 
among the leading industrial 
companies with 1.8 million m³ of jet 
fuel sales. The Company has started 
providing “into plane” service in 2019 
at Istanbul New Airport.

Revenue USD Million 

2018 2,291 

2019 977

501
Number of Employees
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Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures

GOODRICH TURKISH TECHNIC 
SERVICE CENTER 

Goodrich Turkish Technic Service 
delivers high quality maintenance 
and repair service for aircraft 
engine nacelle and reverse thrust 
systems at Istanbul Sabiha Gökçen 
Airport facilities. It was established 
in 2010 as a 40%-60% partnership 
between Turkish Airlines and TSA 
Rina Holdings B.V., an affiliate of 
Goodrich. After the company was 
acquired by its overseas partner 
United Technologies Corp., its name 
was changed to UTC Aerospace 
Systems in 2012. Lastly, it was 
acquired by Rockwell Collins in 2019, 
now known as Collins Aerospace. 
The company started operating 
with the “Turkish Nacelle Center” 
brand in 2019. During the year, 
the company completed 378 
maintenance works and targets 460 
nacelle maintenance works in 2020. 
Goodrich Technic Service Center 
aims to become a key player in the 
sector by providing high quality 
services at world class standards 
to domestic and international 
customers, Turkish Airlines in 
particular. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 18

2019 24

68
Number of Employees

TURKISH CABIN INTERIOR 
SYSTEMS INC.

Turkish Cabin Interior Systems 
was established in 2011; Turkish 
Airlines owns a 30% stake, Turkish 
Technic holds a 20% stake, and 
Turkish Aerospace (TUSAŞ - TAI) 
owns a 50% stake. TCI conducts the 
design, production, logistic support, 
modification and marketing of 
aircraft cabin interior products 
and components. TCI started to 
receive international orders due 
to its inclusion in the worldwide 
"Approved Supplier Company" list for 
Boeing 737 aircraft by Boeing. The 
Company primarily meets the needs 
of primarily Turkish Airlines with the 
aircraft cabin interior systems that 
it manufactures. In 2019, 57 projects 
were delivered including specifically 
B737 Galley, Stelia B787 and A350 
Monument projects. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 9

2019 13

205
Number of Employees

TSI AVIATION SEATS INC.

TSI Aviation Seats is engaged in 
aircraft seat design, manufacturing, 
spare parts manufacturing and 
retrofitting, marketing and sales 
activities. It was established in 2011; 
Turkish Airlines owns a 45% stake, 
Turkish Technic holds a 5% stake, 
and Assan Hanil Group owns a 50% 
stake. TSI Aviation Seats became 
operational at end-2013. In 2019, 
the company delivered 37 projects, 
mainly for Airbus A321 and Boeing 
737-800; it aims to boost this figure 
to 74 in 2020. TSI Aviation Seats 
earned the privilege to appear 
in the Airbus BFE catalogue in 
November 2019. TSI Seats' Skysofa 
and Epianka model economy class 
seats will be listed in the catalogue 
from first quarter 2020; Royalux, 
the first Business Class product, will 
appear in the catalogue after the 
first certification stage is completed. 
TSI Aviation Seats aims to design 
and manufacture aircraft seats, as 
well as produce, modify and sell 
spare parts to many airlines in the 
future.

Revenue USD Million 

2018 14

2019 30

131
Number of Employees

TURKISH FLIGHT TRAINING AND 
AIRPORT OPERATIONS

Turkish Flight Training and Airport 
Operations was established in 2012 
as a 100%-owned subsidiary of 
Turkish Airlines to operate Aydın 
Çıldır Airport and provide aviation 
training, organize sports and training 
flights, and conduct passenger 
transport services with fleet 
types suitable to runway length. 
Turkish Flight Training and Airport 
Operations continues to deliver 
trainings at the academic facilities 
of Aydın Çıldır Airport. The trainings 
are performed with 25 training 
aircraft in the company’s fleet, 3 
flight simulators, 6 classrooms and 
31 trainers. Since its inception, the 
company has trained 674 graduates 
and currently offers training services 
to 189 students. Turkish Flight 
Training and Airport Operations 
plays a crucial role in filling the pilot 
deficit of Turkish Airlines and the 
aviation industry. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 11

2019 13

63
Number of Employees

TAX REFUND AND INTERMEDIATION

Tax Refund and Intermediation 
provides intermediation services 
for the return of VAT paid for 
goods bought in Turkey before 
travelling abroad. It was established 
in September 2014; Turkish Airlines 
holds a 30% stake, VK Holding A.Ş. 
owns a 25% stake and Maslak Oto 
A.Ş. holds a 45% stake. Tax Refund 
and Intermediation intermediates 
in the return of VAT paid by non-
Turkish resident passengers for 
goods that they purchase in Turkey 
to take abroad with them. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 1

2019 1

20
Number of Employees

TURKISH AIRLINES AIRPORT 
REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT AND 
MANAGEMENT CO.

Turkish Airlines Airport Real Estate 
Investment and Management Co. 
was established in November 2017 
as a 100%-owned subsidiary of 
Turkish Airlines to engage in airport 
management and investments.
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Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures

TURKISH AIRLINES INTERNATIONAL 
INVESTMENT AND TRANSPORT INC.

Turkish Airlines International 
Investment and Transport was 
founded in September 2018 as a 
100%-owned subsidiary of Turkish 
Airlines in order to invest in the 
aviation ecosystem, especially 
overseas cargo transport. The 
Company represents Turkish Airlines 
Group as having 45% shares of We 
World Express company founded  
in 2019. 

WE WORLD EXPRESS LIMITED

18
Number of Employees

AIR ALBANIA SHPK

Air Albania SHPK was established 
in 2018; Turkish Airlines owns a 
49% stake, MDN Investment holds 
a 41% stake, and Albcontrol owns 
a 10% stake. Based in Tirana, the 
airline commenced Tirana-Istanbul 
flights in April 2019; daily flights are 
operated twice a day. In September 
2019, Air Albania SHPK started daily 
flights to Rome, Milan and Bologna. 

49
Number of Employees

CORNEA AVIATION SYSTEMS 
INDUSTRY AND COMMERCE

Cornea Aviation Systems Industry 
and Commerce was founded in 
October 2019 to operate mainly in 
the area of in-flight entertainment 
systems and internet connectivity. 
The company is a joint venture of 
Turkish Technic, owning an 80% 
stake, and Havelsan, which holds a 
20% stake. The company provides 
technological services for the 
in-seat entertainment system, 
wireless entertainment system and 
tablet entertainment system in 
regional and international markets, 
primarily for Turkish Airlines. 
Cornea, headquartered at Istanbul 
Sabiha Gökçen Airport facilities, 
offers design, production, repair, 
maintenance, marketing, sales and 
after purchase services of in-flight 
entertainment systems.

36
Number of Employees

 
December 
2019 Staff

Shareholding 
Structure 

Business Line

1
Güneş Ekspres Aviation 
(Consolidated)

4,667
THY 50% -

 Lufthansa 50% 
Passenger and 

Cargo Transport

2 Air Albania SHPK 49
Turkish Airlines 49% - 

41% MDN Investment 
Albcontrol 10% 

Passenger and 
Cargo Transport

3
Turkish Airlines 
International Investment 
and Transport Inc. 

- Turkish Airlines 100% 
Cargo and Courier

Transport

4 We World Express Inc. 18
THY 45% - ZTO 45% - 

Pal Air 10%
Cargo and Courier

Transport

 
Passenger and Cargo 
Transport Total

4,734   

5 Turkish Technic 9,250 Turkish Airlines 100% 
Aircraft Maintenance 

- MRO

6
Pratt&Whitney THY 
Turkish Engine Center 
Co. 

443
P&W 51% -  

Turkish Technic 49%
Engine Maintenance 

- MRO

7
Goodrich Technic 
Service Center

68
Goodrich 60% - 

Turkish Technic 40%
Reverse Thrust and 

Engine Nacelle - MRO 

Maintenance, Repair 
and Overhaul (MRO) 
Group Total

9,761   

8
Turkish Cabin Interior 
Systems Inc.

205
Turkish Airlines 30% - 

Turkish Technic 20% - 
TAI 50%

Manufacturing
and Trading Cabin

Interior Accessories

9 TSI Aviation Seats Inc. 131
Turkish Airlines 45% - 
Turkish Technic 5% - 

Assan Hanil 50%

Manufacturing 
and Trading Aircraft

Seats

10
Cornea Aviation Systems 
Industry and Commerce 
Ltd. 

36
Turkish Technic 80%- 

Havelsan 20%

In-flight
Entertainment 

Systems 

 
Cabin Interior 
Manufacturing Group 
Total

372   

11
Turkish OPET 
(Consolidated)

501
Turkish Airlines 50% - 

Opet 50% 
Aviation Fuel 

Trade

12
Turkish DO & CO 
Catering Services Ltd.

5,708
Turkish Airlines 50% - 

Do&Co 50% 
Catering

13 Turkish Ground Services 14.723
Turkish Airlines 50% - 

Havaş 50% 
Aviation Ground

Handling Services 

14
Turkish Airlines Flight 
Academy

63 Turkish Airlines 100% 
Turkish Flight Training

and Airport
Operations

 
Support Services Group 
Total

20,995   

15
Tax Refund and 
Intermediation Inc.

20
Turkish Airlines 30% - 

Maslak Oto 45% - 
VK Holding 25%

Tax Refund 
Intermediation 

16
Turkish Airlines Airport 
Real Estate Investment 
and Management Co.

- Turkish Airlines 100% 
Airport Management 

and Investments

 Other Group Total 20   

     

 Subsidiaries Total 35,882   

SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES IN 2019

We World Express Limited is a Hong 
Kong headquartered joint venture 
company founded in January 
2019. Commencing operations in 
April 2019, the world cargo/courier 
company provides door-to-door 
logistics services with a focus on the 
global e-commerce market. Turkish 
Airlines International Investment 
and Transport, a 100%-owned 
subsidiary of Turkish Airlines, 
holds a 45% stake, Hong Kong 
headquartered ZTO Express (Hong 
Kong) Limited owns a 45% stake 
and Hong Kong headquartered 
PAL Air Limited has a 10% stake in 
the company. In 2020, We World 
Express plans to expand its number 
of offices and become one of the 
major players in the international 
package delivery market. 

Revenue USD Million 

2018 92019 3
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Traffic Figures

DESTINATIONS FLOWN AND  
INCREASING INTERNATIONAL-
TO-INTERNATIONAL TRANSFER 
PASSENGER NUMBERS 

The total number of passengers went 
down from 75.2 million in 2018 to 74.3 
million in 2019, in a 1.2% decrease. The 
increase in the number of passengers 
is 7.6% in domestic flights and the 
increase is 3.8% in international flights. 

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (RPK) 
rose from 149.2 billion in January-
December 2018 to 153.2 billion in the 
same period of 2019, up 2.7%. RPK 
decreased 6.0% in domestic flights 
and increased 4.1% in international 
flights. 

The number of transfer passengers 
between international flights went up 
5.4%, while passenger load factor rose 
0.3 points. 

Total Available Seat Kilometers (ASK) 
went up from 182 billion in January-
December 2018 to 187.7 billion in the 
same period of 2019, displaying a 
3.1% increase. ASK declined to 6.9% in 
domestic flights and increased 4.6% in 
international flights. 

The number of landings, which was 
511,064 in January-December 2018, 
declined 0.7% to 507,314 in the same 
period of 2019; while the number of 
destinations rose from 310 to 321. 

Cargo and Mail jumped 9.2% from 
1,142.423 tons in January-December 
2018 to 1,543,028 tons in the same 
period of 2019. 

REVENUE PASSENGER 
KILOMETERS

153.2
BILLION
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Total Traffic Results 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Revenue Passenger (thousand) 74,276 75,168 68,617 62,759 61,248

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 187,696 182,031 173,073 170,092 153,209

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 153,186 149,169 136,947 126,815 119,372

Passenger Load Factor (%) 81.6 81.9 79.1 74.6 77.9

Flight Destinations 321 310 303 298 287

Number of Landings 507,314 511,064 483,312 475,303 462,767

Distance Flown Kilometers (thousand) 926,177 866,630 826,048 825,561 777,161

Cargo+Mail (tons) 1,543,028 1,412,423 1,122,697 887,164 720,440

Excess Luggage (tons) 11,725 7,717 6,904 6,677 7,601

International 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Revenue Passenger (thousand) 43,838 42,224 38,487 35,457 34,944

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 165,309 157,994 150,712 149,328 133,594

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 133,898 128,660 118,148 109,768 103,001

PassengerLoad Factor (%) 81.0 81.4 78.4 73.5 77.1

Flight Destinations 269 258 252 247 236

Number of Landings 308,155 290,634 275,691 279,781 271,267

Distance Flown Kilometers (thousand) 800,009 730,047 698,488 705,668 660,328

Cargo+Mail (tons) 1,472,450 1,333,325 1,052,026 832,126 668,189

Excess Luggage (tons) 7,439 4,489 4,107 3,943 4,772

Domestic Traffic Results 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Revenue Passenger (000) 30,438 32,944 30,130 27,301 26,304

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 22,387 24,037 22,361 20,764 19,615

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 19,288 20,510 18,798 17,046 16,370

PassengerLoad Factor (%) 86.2 85.3 84.1 82.1 83.5

Flight Destinations 52 52 51 51 51

Number of Landings 199,159 220,430 207,621 195,522 191,500

Distance Flown Kilometers (thousand) 126,167 136,583 127,560 119,893 116,833

Cargo+Mail (tons) 70,579 79,098 70,671 55,038 52,251

Excess Luggage (tons) 4,287 3,227 2,797 2,734 2,828

TOTAL TRAFFIC FIGURES

INTERNATIONAL

DOMESTIC

Traffic Figures

EVOLUTION IN ASK AND RPK (MILLION)

Available Seat Kilometers (Million) Revenue Passenger Kilometers (Million)

153.2092015

119.3722015

170.0922016

126.8152016

173.0732017

136.9472017

182.0312018

149.1692018

187.6962019

153.1862019

INTERNATIONAL LINE 
PASSENGER NUMBER*

42.4
MILLION 

AVAILABLE SEATS KILOMETERS

187.7
MILLION 

DISTRIBUTION OF TOTAL PASSENGER IN 2019 

61.248

62.759

68.617

75.168

74.276

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

REVENUE PASSENGER (THOUSAND)

42,429,039

30,280,449

1,174,518

392,196

INTERNATIONAL

DOMESTIC

CHARTER

HAJJ-UMRAH

57.1%

40.8%

1.6%

0.5%

*Scheduled+additional flights used as a base.
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TURKISH AIRLINES 
FLEET AGE 

8.3
YEARS 

Established in 1933 with a fleet of 
five aircraft, Turkish Airlines has 
expanded and rejuvenated its fleet, 
especially with breakthroughs in the 
2000s. Consisting of 65 aircraft at the 
beginning of 2004, Turkish Airlines’ 
fleet has registered more than 430% 
growth as of 2019. Turkish Airlines flies 
to the most countries and controls 
the fourth largest flight network in the 
world. As of end-2019, Turkish Airlines 
is the 10th largest airline in the world 
with 350 aircraft.1 

Turkish Airlines takes important 
steps towards strengthening its 
brand by acquiring new fuel-saving, 
eco-friendly aircraft, equipped with 
state-of-the-art technology with 
passenger comfort and safety in mind 
to accommodate growing passenger 
traffic and meet varying customer 
needs.

FLEET AGE: 8.3

Committed to expanding and 
rejuvenating its fleet, Turkish Airlines 
moves forward with confidence 
continuously towards its goal of 
having the youngest and the most 
modern fleet in Europe. As of end-
2019, the average fleet age of Turkish 
Airlines stands at 8.3 years. 

Turkish Airlines, being 
the 10th largest airline 
in the world with 350 
aircraft, moves forward 
with confidence every 
day towards its goal 
of operating the 
youngest and the 
most modern fleet 
in Europe.

In line with its long-term fleet 
projections, Turkish Airlines placed 
firm orders for 25 Airbus A350-900 
and optional orders for five, along 
with firm orders for 25 Boeing 787-9 
and optional orders for five in 2018. 6 
B787-9 aircraft were delivered in 2019 
while the delivery of A350-900 aircraft 
will start in 2020. The delivery of all 
these wide-body aircraft orders are 
planned to be taken by 2024. Once 
these aircraft join the fleet, Turkish 
Airlines will inaugurate new lines and 
expand the frequency of existing 
ones, stepping up its growth in  
long-haul flights.

In addition to these wide-body 
aircraft, 14 of the 92 new-generation 
narrow-body A321 NEO aircraft 
that had been ordered in 2013 were 
delivered in 2019 and all the remaining 
deliveries are planned to be taken 
by year-end 2023. Furthermore, 12 of 
the 75 new generation narrow body 
B737MAX aircraft ordered in 2013 were 
delivered until the grounding of these 
aircraft in line with the instructions 
given by the aviation authorities. 
Following the grounding instructions, 
no aircraft were delivered and the 
operations of the already delivered 
aircraft were suspended. As per the 
agreement made with Boeing, the 
12 aircraft that were planned to be 
delivered in 2019 and the 24 aircraft 

that were planned to be delivered 
in 2020 will be delivered gradually in 
2021 and in the following years. Thus, 
the delivery of all orders is planned 
to be completed by the end of 
2025. With the aim of meeting the 
increased capacity needs due to the 
delivery deferrals, actions to lease 
aircraft from the market were taken 
in 2019 and it has been decided to 
lease 15 B737-800 aircraft. For any 
additional needs, the leasing of the 
aircraft is planned to be completed by 
the summer of 2020. 

In line with the growth targets in the 
cargo operations, one of the three 
B777F cargo aircraft, which were 
ordered in 2018, was delivered in 2019 
and the remaining two aircraft will 
be delivered in 2020. Furthermore, 
one B747-400F aircraft was leased, 
in addition to three B747-400F 
aircraft, the lease period of which was 
extended in 2018.
 
At the end of each year, Turkish 
Airlines updates its fleet projections 
pursuant to its strategy of seizing 
emerging market opportunities, 
performing risk management, 

embracing sustainability, conducting 
dynamic capacity planning, 
expanding the size and the intensity 
of the flight network.

15% FUEL SAVINGS

Turkish Airlines ordered 92 new 
generation A321 NEO and 75 new 
generation B737MAX aircraft in 2013. 
These aircraft started to join the fleet 
in 2018, yielding an average of 15% 
in fuel savings compared to their 
counterparts. According to plans, all 
these aircraft will have been joined 
the fleet by 2025, resulting in a 
significant saving in fuel consumption 
per seat in the narrow-body aircraft 
fleet by 2025. 
 
Besides the narrow-body aircraft, the 
fuel consumption per seat of the 
new generation wide-body aircraft, 
that had been ordered in 2018 and 
planned to be delivered by end-2024, 
is expected to be 13% lower than the 
existing wide-body aircraft. As such, 
the new aircraft that will join the 
wide-body fleet will also boost fuel 
efficiency.

Fleet

ACQUISITION OF NEW GENERATION, 
ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY 
AIRCRAFT PRIORITIZING 
PASSENGER COMFORT

In 2019, in line with 
its goal of expanding 
cargo operations, 
Turkish Airlines took 
delivery of one of 
the three B777F 
aircraft that had been 
ordered in 2018.

* WATS 2019
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Fleet

NARROW BODY (230 AIRCRAFT) WIDE BODY (97 AIRCRAFT) CARGO (23 AIRCRAFT)

A319-100 6 Aircraft A330-200 18 Aircraft A310-300F 2 Aircraft

A320-200 17 Aircraft A330-300 40 Aircraft A330-200F 10 Aircraft

A321-200 68 Aircraft B777-300ER 33 Aircraft A300-600F 1 Aircraft

A321NEO 14 Aircraft

B737-700 1 Aircraft B777-200F 6 Aircraft

B737-800 97 Aircraft

B737-8MAX 11 Aircraft

B737-9MAX 1 Aircraft

B737-900ER 15 Aircraft

B787-9 6 Aircraft B747-400F 4 Aircraft

TOTAL NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT

350 
AVERAGE FLEET AGE

8.3
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WE FLY TO MORE COUNTRIES
THAN ANY OTHER AIRLINE

Flight Network

LARGE DESTINATION 
NETWORK REACHING 
126 COUNTRIES 318 CITIES

Change in ASK 3.6%

Change in RPK 2.1%

Change in Number of Passengers 4.1%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

35

MIDDLE EAST

Change in ASK 7.2%

Change in RPK 5.9%

Change in Number of Passengers 3.6%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

59

AFRICA

Change in ASK 5.2%

Change in RPK 3.5%

Change in Number of Passengers 4.4%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

117

EUROPE

Change in ASK 0.2%

Change in RPK 1.1%

Change in Number of Passengers 1.2%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

11

NORTH AMERICA

Change in ASK 6.8%

Change in RPK 6.6%

Change in Number of Passengers 7.0%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

39

FAR EAST

Change in ASK 20.7%

Change in RPK 22.1%

Change in Number of Passengers 18.4%

FLIGHT DESTINATIONS

8

CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA

*Scheduled+additional flights used as a base.
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Flight Network

As the airline flying to the most 
countries worldwide, Turkish Airlines 
further widened the world to its 
passengers in 2019 by adding 
15 new destinations to its flight 
network. Together with the newly 
launched routes, Turkish Airlines 
now reaches 126 countries, 318 cities 
and 321 destinations worldwide. By 
connecting numerous destinations 
across Turkey and the world, Turkish 
Airlines allows passengers hassle-free 
experiences to go anywhere they 
wish around the globe. In 2019, Turkish 
Airlines offered unique experiences 
to its passengers with the addition of 
these exciting destinations: Sharjah 
in United Arab Emirates, Marrakech 
in Morocco, Strasbourg in France, 
Port Harcourt in Nigeria, Bali in 
Indonesia, Pointe-Noire in Republic 
of Congo, Mexico City and Cancun in 
Mexico, Luxor in Egypt, Rovaniemi in 
Finland, Xi'an in China, and Uşak, Siirt, 
Çanakkale, Zonguldak in Turkey. 

THE AIRLINE THAT CONNECTS 
THE MOST DESTINATIONS 
AROUND THE GLOBE 

INTERNATIONAL PASSENGER DISTRIBUTION BY REGION 

55.9%

14.8%

13.9%

5.6%

1.1%

8.6%

EUROPE

MIDDLE EAST

FAR EAST

NORTH AMERICA

CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA

AFRICA

REVENUE DISTRIBUTION BY REGION (%)

*All flights are taken as a basis.

31.4%

21.8%

12.0%

EUROPE

FAR EAST

MIDDLE EAST

2.3%CENTRAL AND SOUTH AMERICA

9.7%AFRICA

11.8%NORTH AMERICA

11.0%TURKEY

MEXICO

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:
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KEY CUSTOMER REVENUE 

433.9
USD MILLION

Turkish Cargo, a Turkish Airlines brand 
offering air cargo carrier services, 
has achieved over 10 years of strong 
growth despite this year's poor 
market conditions. 

With a decision taken in 2017, Turkish 
Cargo formulated its 2023 vision and 
strategic plan. The company aims to 
rank among the top five air cargo 
carriers in the world in 2023 under its 
strategic plan. A detailed road map 
and action plan were developed to 
achieve the 2023 strategic targets. 

Turkish Cargo also 
achieved significant 
growth in regional 
terms with its 
extensive network 
and increasing 
frequency.

Cargo revenues amounted to USD 
1.72 billion in 2019, up from USD 1.66 
billion in 2018, an increase of 3.5%. This 
performance outpaced the overall 
market which shrank by 11.5% on the 
basis of revenues. Similarly, carried 
cargo increased to 1.54 million tons in 
2019, up from 1.41 million tons in 2018, 
demonstrating growth of 9.2%. 

In 2019, the air cargo sector did not 
register positive growth on a tonnage 
basis in any region globally. Turkish 
Cargo, on the other hand, achieved 
significant growth by region with 
its extensive network structure and 
increased frequency. On a tonnage 

Cargo

UNINTERRUPTED GROWTH 
FOR OVER 10 YEARS 

basis, Turkish Cargo realized growth of 
16.4% in the North and South America 
region, 12.5% in the Far East and 10% 
in the Africa region. The company also 
significantly boosted its market share 
in these regions. 
 
In 2020, Turkish Cargo targets 
boosting turnover to USD 1.85 billion, 
up 7.6% from USD 1.72 billion in 2019. 
Special cargo, which constituted 34% 
of total turnover in 2019, is expected 
to reach 36.8% in 2020, with an 
increase of 2.7 points. 

In 2019, Turkish Cargo’s special cargo 
revenues increased as follows: 3.5% in 
live animal cargo, 19.4% in perishable 
cargo, 30.5% in valuable cargo, 26.1% in 
dangerous goods, 40.7% in medicine 
and health products, 15% in electronic 
and vulnerable cargo, 30% in courier 
cargo, and 21.5% in mail. Total special 
cargo revenue went up from USD 461 
million in 2018 to USD 566 million in 
2019, demonstrating growth of 23%. 
 
Turkish Cargo aims to establish long-
term strategic collaborations with 
key customers. The company focuses 
on sustaining these collaborations 
in order to provide regular and 
continuous growth in the partnership's 
business and market volume. In 2019, 
Turkish Cargo increased its customers' 
turnover to USD 433.9 million, up from 
USD 413.5 million in 2018. 

Conducting pharmaceutical product 
transport in line with international 
standards, Turkish Cargo renewed 
its IATA CEIV (Centre of Excellence 
for Independent Validators) 
Pharma certification in 2019 while 
obtaining the same certificate for 
the new airport facility. IATA CEIV 
certification processes were initiated 
for live animal and perishable cargo 
shipments; these processes will be 
completed in February 2020. Turkish 
Airlines became the first airline brand 
to obtain IATA CEIV certification in 
three different areas. 

Continuing the construction of 
SmartIST – one of the world’s 
largest and most modern air cargo 
facilities – Turkish Cargo commenced 
operations at its satellite building at 
Istanbul Airport as part of the "Great 
Move" in addition to its ongoing 
operations at Atatürk Airport. As of 
this date, Turkish Cargo successfully 
operates as a dual hub company. 
Conducting trailer truck operations 
between airports and facilities for 
connecting services, Turkish Cargo has 
operated safely on its 45-kilometer 
route without incident from day one. 
 

Based on January-December data, 
tonnage in the overall air cargo 
market contracted 4.4% in 2019. 
Key Accounts revenue decreased 
14.3% in their own markets for the 
year. Meanwhile, Turkish Cargo’s key 
customers achieved positive growth 
of nearly 5%. Key Accounts chargeable 
weight (CW) shrank 7% in their own 
markets while Turkish Cargo’s key 
accounts CW posted growth of nearly 
11%. 

In addition to infrastructure 
investments during the year, Turkish 
Cargo expanded its fleet to 23 aircraft 
in 2019. The company increased its 
cargo plane generated capacity in 
terms of kilometer measurement 
(ACTK) by 44%. Additionally, aircraft 
belonging to Hong Kong Airlines are 
used on the Hong Kong line pursuant 
to the ACMI codeshare agreement. 
Aiming to enlarge its cargo fleet 
in 2020 in proportion with Turkish 
Airlines' passenger fleet, Turkish Cargo 
plans to add two Boeing 777F aircraft 
and one wet lease 747F aircraft to its 
fleet. With the inclusion of four new 
points as OPO, SVO, KUL, AMD to the 
flight network in 2019, 88 points now 
receive direct cargo flights. 
 

CARGO REVENUE

1.72
USD BILLION 

WORLD AIR CARGO MARKET AND TURKISH AIRLINES MARKET SHARE

World Air Cargo Market (Million Tons) Turkish Cargo Market Share (%)
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Cargo

FAB RATIO

88.9%

SmartIST is scheduled for completion 
in the first quarter of 2021. 
Infrastructure preparations required 
for all Turkish Cargo operations are 
underway, especially requirements for 
special cargos and special products, 
in line with higher quality and service 
standards according to the plan. With 
the installation of automated storage 
systems at SmartIST, all technical 
and functional works required for 
the transition to the work order 
and optimization system are fully 
underway. These systems integration 
efforts will boost productivity, 
speed and quality. Completion of 
the first phases of many advanced 
technology projects is scheduled in 
2020. These include the metal collar's 
participation in employment with 
RPA robots, integration of human-
machine interactions into business 
processes with augmented reality 
technology, and three-dimensional 
pallet utilization systems. 
 

As part of digitalization efforts, 
charge claims sent by the sales 
team via electronic mail will now 
be sent through the Cargo Charge 
Claim Portal via the "Cargosmart" 
application, where all workflow is 
processed online. In addition, the TK 
Subrates inquiry portal launched for 
up-to-date controls of SPA and truck 
charges on a single platform. 

The Air Cargo RM project was 
initiated; the project's RFP (request 
for proposal) was largely completed 
in 2019. With the purchasing process 
scheduled for completion by end-
June 2020, the project is expected 
to go live in May 2021. Sales planning 
efforts commenced with the 2019 
summer schedule and continued 
with the 2019 winter schedule. Turkish 
Cargo participated in global tenders 
of four key customers. 

Tracking companies that provide 
services at international stations 
via scorecards, correctly direct 
international teams in line with 
given targets and penalty delays via 
signed service level agreements. As 
a result, Turkish Cargo reduced its 
international delay rate to 7.58% in 
2019. Thanks to storage and ramp 
process improvements, the company’s 
FAB ratio rose to 88.9% in 2019, up 
from 86% a year earlier. Operational 
service quality levels of handling 
companies that provide service at 
international stations were improved 
by 11.5% during the year. This 
improvement was the result scorecard 
efforts conducted at 93 stations which 
account for 84% of total tonnage. 
Service level agreements enabled 
target standards to be achieved and 
sustained. 

To boost customer satisfaction and 
foster loyalty in cargo transport, 
Turkish Cargo started using 
compensation methods that would 
benefit the partnership in January 
2019. In addition, the General Cargo 
Transport Contract was prepared and 
introduced in March 2019 to protect 
the interests of the partnership to the 
fullest extent legally in relations with 
customers and other parties. 

Turkish Cargo obtained ISO 
10002:2018 certification in September 
2019. This effort aims to standardize 
Cargo Customer Feedback 
Management processes and ensure 
customer satisfaction and loyalty. 
Turkish Cargo is now one of the 
leading brands in the air cargo sector 
with this certification. 

During the year, Turkish Cargo started 
to receive outsourced services 
from one of the leading companies 
in the call center sector. With this 
effort, the company aims to create a 
more professional structure for call 
center services, integrate the latest 
technologies into its systems in a short 
period of time and boost customer 
satisfaction. 
 
Developing performance criteria and 
report cards for more efficient cargo 
sales agency management, Turkish 
Cargo continues work on alternative 
cargo sales agency models. The 
company started to update 
regulations in line with this effort. 

As part of its 2019 business 
activities, Turkish Cargo provided 
22 sponsorships and participated 
in 14 expos in order to expand 
its interactions with existing and 

potential business partners in 
domestic and international markets. 
The company also conducted 20 
promotional tours in Turkey and 
abroad. 

In 2019, Turkish Cargo received 
major awards at many competitions 
in recognition of its exceptional 
performance. The company was 
presented with the "Global Air Cargo 
Brand of the Year" and "International 
Air Cargo Marketer of the Year" 
awards at the Air Cargo Africa event 
organized by Star Times; Cargo Airline 
of the Year – Group B award at the 
Third ICN Awards; and "Cargo Airline of 
the Year" award from Air Cargo News, 
which is widely known as the “Oscar” of 
the air cargo industry. 

WE USED OUR EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE TO HELP TRANSPORT
THE ENDANGERED GRIFFON VULTURE DOBRILA TO ITS HOME IN SERBIA.

A NEW HOMECOMING STORY FROM TURKISH CARGO.

Under the #MissionRescue initiative 
launched in 2018, Turkish Cargo 
transports live animals by providing 
the closest conditions to the natural 
habitats of these animals in the air 
as part of this social responsibility 
effort. This year, Turkish Cargo 
further consolidated its expertise in 
transporting various products and 
managing these complex operations. 

Conducting trailer 
truck operations 
between airports 
and facilities for 
connecting services, 
Turkish Cargo has 
operated safely on its 
45-kilometer route 
without incident from 
day one. 
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55,208

ISTANBUL AIRPORT EXPERIENCE

With the move to the new airport in 
2019, Turkish Airlines implemented 
improvements in many of its service 
and contact points. Turkish Airlines 
developed five different check-in 
processes inspired by differentiated 
passenger expectations, launching 
exclusive check-in services for 
Business Class, Miles&Smiles Elite, Elite 
Plus and Turkish Airlines Corporate 
Club passengers. In these dedicated 
areas, where the exclusive check-in 
experience is redefined, passengers 
are offered services developed 
specifically for Istanbul Airport, 
including welcoming, ticket process 
desk, security and flight information 
and social areas. 

Turkish Airlines 
developed five 
different check-in 
processes inspired by 
different passenger 
expectations; 
launching exclusive 
check-in areas for 
Business Class, 
Miles&Smiles Elite 
and Elite Plus, Turkish 
Airlines Corporate 
Club and StarAlliance 
Gold member 
passengers

Designating exclusive ticket services 
for Business Class passengers for the 
first time at Istanbul Airport, Turkish 
Airlines provides comfort and ease 
for Business Class passengers by 
eliminating the need to wait in line. 
Ticket service areas were created 
at customer contact points such as 
check-in counters, Transfer Desks and 
Care Points to provide convenience 
for passengers during the ticketing 
process. 

Customer Experience

TRAVEL EXPERIENCE 
NOVELTIES

ISTANBUL AIRPORT LOUNGE 
EXPERIENCE

Aiming to deliver a more exclusive 
lounge experience for passengers 
at Istanbul Airport, Turkish Airlines 
designed two different lounge 
experiences specifically for Business 
Class, Miles&Smiles Elite, Elite Plus, 
Turkish Airlines Corporate Club 
and StarAlliance Gold member 
passengers. At Lounge Business, 
various privileges are offered 
including a museum space where 
collections from Istanbul Modern 
are exhibited, a changing room, and 
ironing service. Lounge Miles&Smiles 
includes a special movie theatre. A 
total of 38 works from 16 artists are 
exhibited in a 130 m² museum space 
area to promote Turkish modern art 
to the world. This effort is part of the 
collaboration with Istanbul Modern; 
collection selections are updated 
twice a year. 

TRAVELLING WITH PETS

To improve the experience of 
passengers who like to travel with 
their pets, Turkish Airlines undertook 
extensive efforts to improve pets-
related processes. To this end, Turkish 
Airlines revised its pet transportation 
rules as well as cabin cage dimensions. 
Special check-in counters were put 
into service at Istanbul Airport for 
passengers and their pet companions 
to complete the check-in processes 
with ease. In addition, a pet relief area 
was opened on the airport’s ground 
floor by IGA, the operator of Istanbul 
Airport. 

“KUSURSUZ” MOBILE APPLICATION

 “Kusursuz (Flawless)” is a mobile 
application that enables Turkish 
Airlines employees to immediately 
identify flaws in products and services 
within the travel experience. The 
app allows staff to help eliminate 
flaws by forwarding these to the 
responsible units. Thanks to the 
Kusursuz application, a total of 1,896 
flaw notifications were sent in 2019; of 
these, 1,854 flaws were solved and 42 
flaws are in process. 

EXCLUSIVE DRIVE

The Exclusive Drive airport transfer 
service features special drivers for 
Business Class passengers of Turkish 
Airlines flying between 20 prominent 
flight points* plus destinations in 
USA and Canada. In 2019, the service 
started to be offered to Economy 
Class passengers for a fee. 

STOPOVER 

Turkish Airlines passengers who have 
transfer flights with long connection 
periods are offered free of charge 
accommodation services in Istanbul: 
one night at a 4-star hotel for 
Economy Class passengers and two 
nights at a 5-star hotel for Business 
Class passengers. In 2019, Turkish 
Airlines added several countries 
– including Italy, Norway, Sweden, 
Finland, Denmark, United Kingdom, 
Ivory Coast, Ghana and India – to 
its portfolio; 55,208 passengers 
were hosted in Istanbul. 62% of 
passengers who used the stopover 
service indicated that it was their first 
time traveling with Turkish Airlines. 
In addition, 73% of passengers 
mentioned that the stopover 
privilege was an important factor in 
their preference of Turkish Airlines. 
In 2020, the scope of the stopover 
initiative is planned to be further 
extended. 

*Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Doha, Kuwait, Beirut, Tel Aviv, 

Tehran, Cairo, Mumbai, Delhi, Karachi, Lahore, 

Islamabad, Dhaka, Nairobi, Riyadh, Dammam, 

Amman, Jeddah, Bahrain.

NUMBER OF PASSENGERS 
HOSTED IN ISTANBUL WITH 
STOPOVER SERVICE
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Seating benches are placed at all 
entry doors near Assistant Call Points 
at the entrances of Istanbul Airport 
to accommodate disabled and 
passengers with reduced mobility. 

PRESSREADER

The PressReader application gives 
passengers digital access to over 7,000 
newspapers and magazines from 
more than 120 countries, in over 60 
languages. Turkish Airlines passengers 
are directed to the PressReader app 
one day before their flight via e-mail 
or pressreader.turkishairlines.com 
website. As a result, passengers may 
benefit from the app free-of-charge 
for 48 hours via marketing email. 
Passengers may make unlimited use 
of the app during their time spent in 
exclusive passenger lounges. Turkish 
Airlines personnel may also access 
the app without any limitations. With 

the PressReader app, downloaded 
by 202,655 passengers in 2019, 
Turkish Airlines offers a digital and 
environmental-friendly solution for 
readers. 

TSI BC SEATS

Turkish Airlines initiated efforts 
to place business seats from TSI 
Seats, planned to be manufactured 
domestically with local resources, 
in some of its narrow-body aircraft. 
For the design of new Business 
Class seats, a cooperation was made 
with PriestmanGoode under the 
coordination of TSI. The new business 
seats were designed in line with 
feedback collected from market 
research on customer experience 
conducted by Turkish Airlines. 

DIFFERENCES ADD VALUE

Under the Differences Add Value 
initiative, Turkish Airlines carries 
out improvement/experience 
development efforts in the area of 
Disabled Passenger Experience. 

As part of these projects, their 
luggage is tagged with “Priority” 
labels in order to give preference to 
disabled passengers at arrival points 
while retrieving their baggage.

650 of our cabin crew are fluent 
in sign language and are specially 
trained in serving hearing impaired 
passengers. Our inflight safety video is 
also translated into sign language for 
hearing impaired travelers. 

There is a spacious and sterile 
environment, arranged in 
collaboration with a private institution, 
at Istanbul Airport with constant 
doctor supervision where stretcher-
bound passengers can comfortably 
wait for their flights.

Customer Experience

4
Number of New Customer 
Experience Awards 

SKYROAM SOLIS PORTABLE 
WI-FI DEVICE

The Skyroam Solis Portable Wi-Fi 
device may be received by selecting 
the airport for delivery during  
the reservation process on the 
skyroam.com website after purchasing 
Turkish Airlines tickets. The request 
must be made on skyroam.com on 
the Turkish Airlines dedicated page. 

Thanks to its virtual SIM technology, 
Skyroam Solis Portable Wi-Fi device 
provides access to the best wireless 
internet connection in more than 
130 countries. Enabling internet 
connection for five different devices 
simultaneously with 4G LTE speed, 
Skyroam Solis is convenient for use by 
smart phones, tablets, laptops, and 
other devices. In addition, Skyroam 
Solis protects personal data with a 
special encryption method. 

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE AWARDS 

Turkish Airlines achieved success at 
global awards competitions thanks to 
its numerous projects and efforts to 
deliver a passenger travel experience 
at the highest level of comfort and 
privilege.

Turkish Airlines was named the 
Five-Star Global Airline of 2020 by 
APEX (Airline Passenger Experience 
Association).

Turkish Airlines offer 
complimentary 
digital access to over 
7,000 newspapers 
and magazines, 
from more than 120 
countries in over 
60 languages via 
PressReader mobile 
app. 

Turkish Airlines was 
named the Five-Star 
Global Airline of 
2020 by APEX (Airline 
Passenger Experience 
Association).

Turkish Airlines garnered the Silver 
award with Flight Tracker app in 
the “Interactive/Kiosk” category at 
Horizon Interactive Awards, one of the 
world’s most prestigious competitions. 

In recognition of its innovative 
customer contact points at the new 
airport and in-flight experience 
designs, Turkey’s flag carrier airline 
was named the “Best Design Airline 
of Europe in 2019” at The DesignAir 
Awards.

Turkish Airlines was presented with 
the “Customer Brand of the Year” 
designation at the A.L.F.A. Awards 
2019 Ceremony. The competition 
recognizes brands that best manage 
customer experience and establish 
a sustainable relationship with 
customers. Brands that deliver 
the best customer experience are 
evaluated by a jury of consumers.
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Turkish Airlines conducts continuing 
airworthiness management 
activities in line with the Continuing 
Airworthiness Management 
Organization (CAMO) authorization 
with Directorate General of Civil 
Aviation (DGCA) certification that 
it has received for over 330 aircraft 
– including passenger, VIP and 
training aircraft – pursuant to the 
terms set forth in SHY-M. Turkish 
Airlines outsources the maintenance, 
repair, overhaul and tests listed in 
the Air Operator Certificates (AOC) 
for the aircraft and their engines, 
components and other equipment. 
This approach ensures that aircraft 
and its equipment, function in an 
"Airworthy Manner" in both Turkey and 
overseas and conform to continuing 
airworthiness standards. 

Turkish Airlines undertakes the 
responsibility of continuing 
airworthiness and maintenance 
management of all commercial 
aircraft under Air Operator Certificate 
for commercial fleet (SHY-6A Fleet, 
Airbus A320 CEO and NEO series, 
Airbus A330, Boeing 737NG and MAX 
series, Boeing 777 and Boeing 787) 
and the VIP and training aircraft under 
Air Operator Certificate for general 
aviation (SHY-6B Fleet, Cessna 
172S, Diamond DA40 and Diamond 
DA42, Bombardier Challenger 850, 
Gulfstream GV and G550, A318CJ, 
A319CJ, A330CJ, A340CJ and B747BBJ). 
DGCA-approved "Continuing 

Airworthiness Management 
Organization Approval Certificate" has 
been obtained for both fleet types. 
Turkish Airlines is the first Turkish 
incorporation to obtain airworthiness 
review authorization in Turkey for the 
commercial aircraft in its fleet. As 
part of these authorizations, Turkish 
Airlines primarily ensures that its 
aircraft comply with airworthiness 
requirements and safety provisions 
at any time during their operational 
lifespan. In addition, Turkish Airlines 
delivers the following technical 
services: 

• Aircraft selection, from feasibility 
studies at time of purchase or 
leasing decision for aircraft right up 
to its exit from the fleet, 

• Determination of aircraft 
configurations

• Determination of BFE systems 
• Engine selection
• Control of aircraft manufacturing 

processes and aircraft delivery, 
• Execution (signing) of necessary 

maintenance agreements, 
• Ensuring airworthiness of the 

aircraft during Turkish Airlines 
operations, 

• Technical modifications, 
• Installation of in-flight 

entertainment systems to the 
aircraft, 

• Return of aircraft at the end of the 
leasing period. 

Continuing Airworthiness Management

THE HIGHEST STANDARD 
IN CONTINUING AIRWORTHINESS, 
SAFETY AND OPERABILITY 

Turkish Airlines also monitors the 
procured maintenance services 
for compliance with agreements, 
standards and rules, and fully 
performs the continuing airworthiness 
services in line with existing goals.

The Turkish Airlines fleet has attained 
the highest airworthiness, safety 
and operability standards as a result 
of the strong synergy it has forged 
among the highly experienced 
Technical Directorate of Continuing 
Airworthiness Management team; 
its pioneering subsidiary Turkish 
Technic; national and international 
manufacturers; and firms from which 
it receives maintenance and/or 
engineering services.

Turkish Airlines views its top 
priority targets as safety, customer 
satisfaction and productivity. The 
technical standards of the existing 
aircraft or new aircraft to be acquired 
to the fleet are determined in line 
with these targets.

FINLAND

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:
ROVANIEMI
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APPROXIMATE NUMBER OF 
FOOD SERVICE IN 2019 

86.9
MILLION 

DINE ON DEMAND

Turkish Airlines offers Business Class 
passengers on intercontinental 
flights the privilege to enjoy food 
and beverage treats whenever they 
wish. This exclusive service concept, 
implemented by only few airlines 
across the world, gives passengers 
the opportunity to receive a more 
customized service. The service, 
available on all Turkish Airlines 
intercontinental night flights to/from 
Istanbul, allows passengers to decide 
when they will rest and when they will 
dine, thus enjoying a more flexible 
flight experience. 

“AS YOU WISH" 

Deemed worthy of numerous awards 
for its on-board catering service, 
Turkish Airlines has gone the extra 
mile in service quality by allowing 
Business Class passengers to choose 
their dishes prior to the flight. 

With this app, Turkish Airlines Business 
Class passengers travelling on 
intercontinental routes departing 
from Istanbul may visit the web 
site and/or mobile app, view the 
ingredients and visuals of the main 
courses, and make their dining 
choices. Passengers may make their 
selection anytime between one week 
to 48 hours before the date of their 
flight.

Turkish Airlines has 
taken its service to 
a further step by 
materializing its 
project to enable 
Business Class 
passengers to pick 
their dishes prior to 
their flights.

Turkish Airlines 
presents distinguished 
design products and 
tasty treats to its 
passengers on special 
occasions and religious 
festivals. 

FLY GOOD FEEL GOOD

In 2019, Turkish Airlines drew much 
attention with its “Fly Good Feel 
Good” initiative. To deliver an 
exemplary flying experience, “Fly 
Good Feel Good” combines under a 
single umbrella all that needs to be 
done before, during and after a flight 
for an all-round comfortable trip.

"Fly Good Feel Good" aims to breathe 
new life into the flying experience 
with a laser focus on customer 
satisfaction. To more effectively 
address passenger needs, Turkish 
Airlines implemented this effort which 
guides passengers on all issues that 
may have a positive effect on the 
traveling experience – from pre-flight 
preparation to cabin exercises, sleep 
to yoga and meditation. The on-board 
herbal tea service concept was also 
renewed under this initiative.

In addition, as part of Fly Good Feel 
Good project, ER BC Movie Bar offers 
passengers healthy snack options 
such as dried strawberries, dried 
apples, dried apples with cinnamon 
and dried persimmons. 

Catering

UNFORGETTABLE DELIGHTS 
SERVED TO PASSENGERS WITH 
UNIQUE SERVICE CONCEPT

JOURNEY TO THE WORLD CUISINES 
WITH TURKISH AIRLINES

Turkish Airlines continues to innovate 
not only to offer the best catering 
service in the sector as a flag carrier 
airline company, but also to create 
new trends and constantly surprise 
its guests. To this end, passenger 
and cabin feedback sent via in-flight 
entertainment systems and other 
channels (e.g. social media, passenger 
letters, and the like) are assessed, and 
the catering service is continuously 
renewed. Based on requests by 
passengers, priority is given to various 
local cuisines of the world.

Turkish Airlines also renders special 
days unforgettable for its guests 
with unique products and services. 
Passengers are presented with cake if 
they are on-board on New Year's Eve, 
chocolate with cards on Valentine's 
Day, chocolate on the Chinese New 

COMFORT PRODUCTS

In 2019, Turkish Airlines continued 
to refine, innovate and refresh its 
service and product range to boost 
passenger satisfaction to the highest 
level. 
 
As an airline flying to the most 
countries in the world, Turkish Airlines 
modified the comfort travel kits 
offered to Business and Economy 
Class in the second half of 2019. 
 

Year. Besides, Turkish Airlines offers 
specially designed "Moon Cake" 
during the Chinese autumn festival, 
chocolate on religious holidays.

During Ramadan 2019, meals were 
served to passengers in specially 
designed boxes. 

For the routes opened in 2019; Bali, 
Luxor, Marrakech, Mexico City, Cancun, 
Rovaniemi, Sharjah, Strasbourg, Xi'an, 
Turkish Airlines created menu cards in 
keeping with the specific tastes and 
cultural features of those locales. 

In 2020, Turkish Airlines will continue 
to assess the expectations of its 
guests and relentlessly improve its 
catering service quality and concepts. 
These efforts are designed to 
maintain passenger satisfaction at the 
highest level. 
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Turkish Airlines is attentive to present 
travel kits in varying designs during 
arrival or departure flights from/to 
Turkey. Consequently, the Company 
crafted a rich and authentic collection 
in collaboration with Istanbul 
Metropolitan Municipality Culture Co. 
featuring various Turkish motifs. 
 
Travel kits are seen as a key tool 
of communication and way of 
promoting Turkish culture. As a 
result, Turkish Airlines offers travel 
kits designed by taking inspiration 
from the works of Fahrelnissa 
Zeid, on economy flights of five 
to eight hours in duration. Thanks 
to the collaboration with Istanbul 
Modern, Turkey’s first modern and 
contemporary art museum, the 
works of Fahrelnissa Zeid, one of the 
pioneering Turkish female painters, 
appear in economy class travel kits. 
 

As part of its unique and pioneering 
services, Turkish Airlines updated the 
special comfort travel kits designed 
for hajj and umrah travel which 
are highly valued by passengers 
embarking to holy lands. The kits 
provide practical information and 
content to meet the needs of 
prospective pilgrims during their 
journeys and duties of hajj and 
pilgrimage. 
 
To demonstrate that children on 
flights are not forgotten, Turkish 
Airlines started presenting young 
passengers with specially designed 
functional bags created in two 
themes for arrival and departure 
flights in June. 
 
Representing Turkish hospitality in 
the best manner, Turkish Airlines 
redesigned the sleeping set in 
line with its new concept “Flow,” 
referencing the uninterrupted 
service it provides. The sleeping set 
– designed with the dynamic brand 
identity, which combines elegant 
features of the privileged travel 
concept with comfort – is provided 
during inter-continental flights of 
eight hours or more. Turkish Airlines’ 
new concept is also reflected in all 
other textile products, such as blanket 
and pillowcase, in addition to the 
sleeping kit. 
 
On intercontinental flights, Business 
Class passengers are offered Denon 
branded headphones. Meanwhile, on 
all other international flights, Business 
Class passengers receive the standard 
Philips-branded headphones. 
 
In line with its environmental 
sensitivities, Turkish Airlines uses 
biodegradable plastic bags, 
instead of plastic bags, that are 
recoverable through composting and 
biodegradation. Additionally, a natural 
toy concept is embraced to protect 
the health of children, who are our 
future. 
 

To this end, Turkish Airlines conducts 
on-site inspections at its suppliers 
via an expert and independent 
firm – SGS Supervise: Monitoring, 
Surveillance and Control Services – on 
the basis of its corporate standards, 
policies and procedures. 
 
In 2019, Turkish Airlines presented to 
its passengers: 
• 1,268,226 Business Amenity Kits, 
• 11,672,292 Economy Relax Kits 
• 266,620 Umrah Kits 
• 107,730 Hajj Kits, 
• 229,867 Kid Kits, 
• 1,761,600 toys, 
• 3.6 million (Philips) Business Class 

headphones, 
• 41 million Economy Class 

headphones, 
• 905,633 Denon headphones, 
• 10,786,645 blankets, 
• 45 million pillows and pillowcases, 
• 35 thousand hand lotions, hand 

soaps, room fragrance for Business 
Class, 

• 65,210 hand lotions, hand soaps for 
Economy Class. 

IN-FLIGHT ENTERTAINMENT 
SYSTEM AND APPLICATION

In 2019, Turkish Airlines revised the 
media categories of the Planet 
in-flight entertainment system. The 
revision was designed to facilitate 
access to different types of content 
and to highlight the most preferred 
types of content. The quality and 
quantity of new movies, movie classics, 
international movies, TV programs 
and documentaries featured in Planet 
have increased significantly. 
 
Turkish Airlines added content about 
handicrafts and ancient cities to 
the Planet in-flight entertainment 
system in order to promote Turkish 

For Business Class passengers who 
fly inter-continentally for more than 
8 hours, Turkish Airlines presents 
travel kits by Versace, fashion icon and 
creator of timeless and sophisticated 
designs. Custom-design Versace 
travel kits, which reflect the dynamic 
and innovative spirit of Turkish 
Airlines, are specially prepared to 
meet the needs of male and female 
passengers. Meanwhile, Business Class 
passengers with 5- to 8-hour flights 
are treated to branded travel kits by 
Molton Brown – one of the world’s 
leading names of luxury personal care 
products. 
 
Economy class amenities have 
been also modified. Special travel 
kits created in collaboration with 
Mandarina Duck, a renowned brand 
specialized in travel items, are 
presented to passengers on inter-
continental flights exceeding eight 
hours. The bags feature a spectacular 
design and colors that may come in 
handy during and after passenger 
flights. 
 

Catering

culture and tourism while providing 
the best travel experience. To this 
end, short introductory videos were 
prepared specifically for Turkish 
Airlines for each destination to 
promote all flight points. These 
videos were shown to passengers 
via Planet on 93 international and 17 
domestic destination, totaling 110 
flight points. In addition, posts related 
to all content are shared from Turkish 
Airlines' social media accounts. 
 
In 2019, a total of 3,598 different types 
of media content were added to 
Planet. These include 735 new movies 
from Hollywood, world cinema and 
Turkish cinema; 1,902 TV programs 
in different genres, such as local and 
foreign series, documentaries, sports, 
business and lifestyle; 63 audio books; 
and Turkish and foreign 898 different 
music albums.
 
Turkish Airlines passengers enjoyed 
much more pleasant journeys by 
viewing 39,579,096 hours of movies 
and TV programming listening to 
3,966,067 hours of music and playing 
1,994,590 hours of games on Planet in 
2019. 
 
Turkish Airlines started offering 
internet access service not only on 
B777 and A330 wide-body aircraft, but 
also narrow-body aircraft A321NEO 
and B737 MAX. In addition to Wi-Fi 
service, 500 thousand passengers sent 
170 thousand SMS in 2019 via mobile 
data on their phones; 780 thousand 
MB internet was used in total. 
 
Business Class passengers, Elite 
and Elite Plus passengers receive 
free internet service. Miles&Smiles 
member and Classic and Classic Plus 
card holder passengers can use free 
in-flight 10 MB quota of internet. 

In 2019, the number of aircraft 
delivering this service increased 
from 83 to 116. More than 1 million 
passengers accessed the internet 
with their electronic devices via Wi-Fi 
connection.
 
For aircraft that do not have back-seat 
screens, 213 thousand tablets were 
installed in 2019 for Business Class 
passengers during flights of more than 
two hours. These tablets enable access 
to a variety of content, including 
movies, short programs, and music.
 
Developed by Turkish engineers as 
a domestic and national in-flight 
entertainment system, 175 thousand 
passengers could watch hundreds 
of movies, TV programs and listen 
to over one thousand songs via their 
personal devices on this platform. 
 
One of the most important 
developments of the year was the 
access provided for passengers to 
special content created for domestic 
flights by activating the course based 
in-flight entertainment system. 
 
The Companion Entertainment 
application developed for Planet 
was offered for passenger use via 
Android Market or iOS stores in 
2019. Passengers can review content 
provided in the sky pre- or post-flight. 
The app allows users to integrate their 
own mobile devices with the Planet 
platform. Companion Entertainment 
users can view their selected content 
on back-seat screens with this 
application. 
 
In 2019, Turkish Airlines upgraded the 
Planet in-flight entertainment system 
to a revenue generating medium 
capable of broadcasting commercials 
for brands. 

Passenger comfort
comes first
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TURKISH GROUND HANDLING 
SERVICES 

Delivering world-class services 
since its founding, Turkish Ground 
Services continues to raise the bar 
in service quality with practices that 
shape the industry. TGS has made 
significant progress in its corporate 
development and is a standout with 
its unique ground handling service 
perspective. Thanks to its steady 
growth policies, Turkish Ground 
Services has added the world's 
leading airline companies to its 
customer portfolio. As of year-end 
2019, TGS increased the number of its 
contracted airlines to 209. 

Founded as a joint venture between 
Turkish Airlines and Havaş, TGS – 
Turkish Ground Services Inc. joined 
the sector on January 1, 2010. Since 
that time, TGS has successfully 
provided services to 209 contracted 
airlines at a total of eight stations –
Istanbul Atatürk, Ankara Esenboğa, 
Izmir Adnan Menderes, Antalya, 
Adana, Istanbul Sabiha Gökçen, 
Milas-Bodrum and Dalaman 
Airports. Thanks to 2,354 motor-
driven and 5.818 non-motorized 
units of equipment and around 
15,000 employees, TGS provides a 
comprehensive range of ground 
services to nearly 708 thousand 
flights by domestic and foreign airline 
companies at international quality 
standards. Providing passenger 
services, ramp, operation and cargo 
services within the framework of the 
"Airport Ground Handling Services 
Regulation,” TGS pursues an approach 
of excellent service in parallel with 
the company’s essential principle of 
customer satisfaction.

Thanks to its current sustainable 
growth policies, Turkish Ground 
Services is steadily advancing toward 
its goal of becoming a global service 
provider. TGS enhances its role as 
the industry pioneer with innovative 
investments. Over the last nine years, 
TGS has continued on its path to 
global success with growth-oriented, 
large-scale investments. 

Having made a difference in the 
global arena with its service quality 
and with nine highly successful 
years of experience, TGS aims to 
bolster its brand further and support 
sustainable growth and the national 
economy. 

SUCCESS ON GROUND

Adding value to the aviation industry 
with its innovations, Turkish Airlines 
attained an on-time take-off 
performance of 81%. Furthermore, 
Turkish Airlines once again led the 
pack this year with its baggage 
irregularity rate of just 5.0%. 

In 2020, Turkish Airlines aims to climb 
to the top of the sector with Istanbul 
Airport, one of the world's largest 
airports. Turkish Airlines also targets 
sharpening its competitive edge 
by boosting customer satisfaction 
with every innovation that meets the 
requirements of today. To this end, 23 
thousand m² of GSE and workshop 
space, 5 thousand m² of operations 
office space and 40 thousand m² of 
equipment parking area have been 
allocated to TGS in the new airport. 
The necessary infrastructure works 
in these areas have been completed 
to deliver top-notch service to the 
passengers. 

Ground Handling Services

DIFFERENCE CREATED BY 
GLOBAL SERVICE QUALITY AND 
PRACTICES GIVING DIRECTION TO 
THE SECTOR 

2019 MARKET SHARE OF GROUND HANDLING SERVICES REGARDING FLIGHTS

707,856 

191,618

130,298 

TGS

HAVAŞ 

ÇELEBİ

69%

18%

13%

ON-TIME TAKE-OFF RATE

83%

81%

2018

2019

BAGGAGE IRREGULARITY RATE 
(PER 1,000 PASSENGERS)

5.2‰

5.0‰

2018

2019

NUMBER OF PASSENGERS 
SERVED

103
MILLION PASSENGERS 

The market share of 
TGS per flight 69% 
as of 2019. 

In order to deliver 
top-notch service 
at Istanbul Airport, 
one of the biggest 
airports of the world, 
TGS completed 
the necessary 
infrastructure works 
and kept on achieving 
successful operations 
after moving to the 
new airport. 
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has become available. Furthermore, 
with the sharing platform feature 
added to LMS, Turkish Airlines 
employees can access trainers and 
all group members in the groups 
where they can manage the content. 
Additionally they can have Q&A 
sessions, share files, conduct polls 
and get comments, consequently 
get the views of their co-workers to 
improve their products and services. 
With the AKADIMU mobile application 
the contents of the trainings are 
presented as podcasts, always 
available for the employees. 

TRAINING ACTIVITIES

In 2019, Aviation Academy delivered 
3,018 courses to 44,143 trainees while 
325,000 trainees received 519,000 
hours of digital training. In addition, 
2,018 exams, including in-house 
promotion exams, were administered 
to 42 thousand people. Internal 
supplier trainer project was launched 
to use employees’ sector experience 
in the training. Through some efforts 
with public authorities, permissions 
were taken to deliver some class 
training courses remotely, thus by 
minimizing the obligation of the 
employees to participate in classroom 
training, resources are now being used 
in an effective manner. 

NUMBER OF TRAINEES 
PARTICIPATED IN TRAININGS 

44,143

COLLABORATIONS WITH 
UNIVERSITIES

In line with the goal of contributing 
to the development of the civil 
aviation industry, Aviation Academy 
joined forces with Istanbul Technical 
University and Boeing and launched 
the Air Transport Management 
Master’s Program in October 2013. 
The program is currently conducted 
with the collaboration of Ibn Haldun 
University and Airbus. In addition 
to these, the Incorporation signed 
protocols with Istanbul Technical 
University, Marmara University and 
Istanbul University and launched 
Big Data and Business Analytics, 
Psychology of Management and 
Working-Employment and MBA 
master’s programs at the Academy. 

LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT 
TRAINING

The "Leadership Development 
Program" was established to help 
managers improve their managerial 
skills and related trainings have 
started to be delivered in classroom 
environment. Besides, the leadership 
training sessions which are supplied 
from the GE and Boeing companies 
for managers continues within the 
context of international cooperation.

Training

THE MOST PRESTIGIOUS AND 
LEADING TRAINING INSTITUTION 
OF ITS REGION

The "Leadership 
Development 
Program" was 
established to help 
managers improve 
their managerial 
skills and related 
trainings have started 
to be delivered 
in classroom 
environment. 

NUMBER OF INSTRUCTORS 
AT AVIATION ACADEMY

70

TURKISH AIRLINES AVIATION 
ACADEMY

Founded in 1982 to meet the training 
needs of Turkish Airlines – Turkey’s top 
and a major European carrier in civil 
air transportation – Turkish Airlines 
Aviation Academy ranks among the 
leading, most reputable aviation 
training organizations in its region. 
Holding a large number of national 
and international accreditations 
and certifications, the Aviation 
Academy provides training and 
consultancy services for airline and 
cargo companies, travel agencies, 
universities, airport operation firms, 
and other companies in the civil 
aviation sector. 

Aviation Academy 
was founded in 1982 
with the aim of 
meeting the training 
needs of Turkish 
Airlines. 

TRAINING SOURCES

Operating across an expansive area of 
5,800 m², Aviation Academy provided 
services in 2019 with a total of 205 
personnel, 70 of whom are trainers; 22 
classrooms; 1 lecture hall, 1 library and 
one digitalization studio. 

HIGH-TECH TRAINING SOLUTIONS

Activities of the Training Directorate 
are managed through the integration 
of Training Resources Management 
System (FAAL), online exam system 
(HAVAGRAM), distance learning 
portal (LMS) and academy website. 
The Academy made trainings and 
training documents as well as digital 
information notes available in its 
training portal without space and time 
constraints. Besides, distance learning 
compatible with mobile platforms 
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Academy Language Mobile 
Application (AKADIMU) has gone live 
on TKStore. The application includes 
vocational and daily expressions in 6 
languages according to the needs of 
overseas staff, and in-cabin dialogue 
samples and cabin announcements 
in English with a fast and slow audio 
feature for the cabin crew. In addition, 
short podcasts in Turkish and English 
in the topics of aviation and personal 
development were added to the 
application and presented to the 
benefit of all personnel. 

The authorization process of Test 
of English for Aircraft Maintenance 
(TEAM) exam, which was approved 
by DGCA, has been completed 
successfully and started to 
be implemented in May 2019. 
Approximately 150 technicians per 
month take this exam for a fee. 

CABIN SPECIALIZATION TRAINING 
PROGRAM

Turkish Airlines provided career 
development and etiquette training 
program to 1,500 cabin crew in 2019, 
in order to enhance their personal 
and professional competence, who 
are considered as key to airline’s 
competitive advantage in the 
industry. 

"CONQUER YOUR FEAR OF FLYING" 
PROGRAM

The rich content "Conquer your Fear 
of Flying" program is carried out 
with the contributions of technical 
instructor, psychologist, pilot and 
experienced cabin instructor at the 
training locations equipped with the 
latest technologies such as cabin 
simulators, and has continued since 
2007 with a satisfaction rate of over 
98%. 

AUDIO ARTICLES 

Special audio articles are presented 
to the benefit of managers each 
Monday. The articles compiled from 
the books of expert authors are sent 
to mobile phones via SMS. Therefore, 
they are easily accessible and provide 
support in enhancing competences of 
the managers. 

LANGUAGE TRAINING AND 
SERVICES IN AVIATION

In order to facilitate the 
communication of foreign cabin crew 
with Turkish passengers, Turkish for 
Foreigners Training was prepared and 
delivered to the foreign cabin crew 
listed in the request of Cabin Services 
Department. Besides, the computer-
based, in-house Test of English for 
Cabin (iTEC) was created to measure 
the English language proficiency 
level of cabin crew at regular 
intervals. Introduction to General 
English (Cabin) training program 
was launched in order to improve 
the English proficiency level of the 
personnel. Aviation English Basic 
training was designed to be included 
in the cabin basic training process and 
launched in December 2019. 

Each day at the Crew Lounge, an 
instructor from the Language 
Training and Services Department 
conducted English speaking practice 
sessions; therefore, the cabin staff 
waiting for their flight throughout 
the day could get the opportunity of 
face-to-face speaking practice. 

Training

MANAGEMENT SEMINARS

Every Thursday, academicians and 
professionals from the business 
world are hosted at “Live Broadcast 
Management Seminars” launched 
on YouTube account of the Aviation 
Academy. The contents reviewed 
with the speakers are sent to 
managers, and recorded contents 
are always available on the archives. 
Live Broadcasts have become more 
interactive by taking the questions of 
audience. 

TRAINING SERVICES MARKETING 
AND SALES ACTIVITIES

Within the scope of marketing 
activities, potential customers for the 
Aviation Academy, including airline 
companies and logistics firms, were 
visited, current training courses were 
promoted and sales protocols were 
made with these companies. 

IATA training courses that were held at 
Aviation Academy in 2019 contributed 
to the international recognition of 
the Academy with the participation of 
a large number of participants from 
various countries around the world. By 
means of the training services sales 
made to the participants outside 
the Incorporation, USD 756 thousand 
revenue was earned.

In 2019, Turkish Airlines 
provided 1,500 
cabin attendants 
with professional 
development and 
tactfulness training.

Constant support to
personnel training 

USD 756 thousand of 
revenue was obtained 
from the sales of 
training services 
to the trainees 
from outside the 
Incorporation.

The design of Academy website was 
simplified in various ways; a user-
friendly and modern interface was 
created, website traffic was increased, 
online training sales were made 
available via the website. Besides, 
followers of the social media accounts, 
which are on constant growth trend 
each year, have been dramatically 
increased. In parallel with these 
efforts, direct mail marketing has 
been carried out for a big number of 
followers in different platforms with 
updated customer list. 
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FLIGHT TRAINING CENTER

The Flight Training Center is the 
unit in charge of all flight training 
services of Turkish Airlines, in particular 
for flight crew and cabin crew. The 
Center has provided training since 
1994, in accordance with the rules 
and regulations set forth by national 
and international authorities. The 
requirements of flight crew and cabin 
crew trainings expands in parallel with 
the continuous growth of the fleet 
as per Turkish Airlines’ 2023 goals. 
Operational requirements are met by 
undertaking the necessary investment 
in flight training simulators and 
training equipment. The Flight 
Training Center, which boasts 25 years 
of experience, has trained more than 
45 thousand flight crew, cabin crew, 
dispatcher and load-master trainees 
in 2019. 

In 2019, flight crew has been 
supported by 37 different training 
programs. 

Upon completion of its new center, 
now the Flight Training Center 
operates on two separate campuses.

512-Strong Training Staff
The Flight Training Center has 240 
regular staff and 512 trainers, 397 
of whom participate in flight crew 
training and 115 in cabin crew training. 
The training and operation quality 
at the Center improves each day as 
a result of ongoing investments. As 
a result; the Center, which started to 
deliver services in 1995 with a single 
simulator in its current campus, takes 
firm steps towards becoming the 
largest and the most modern training 
center of the region. 

By selling simulator slots and trainings 
to many firms around the world 
primarily in Europe, Middle East, Africa 
and Middle Asia; Turkish Airlines Flight 
Training Center is not only meeting 
the needs of Turkish Airlines but also 
the training needs of other airlines. 
Thus, the Center contributes to the 
Company as a revenue-generating 
profit center as well.

Authorizations from National and 
International Authorities 
• Flight Simulation Training Device 

(EASA FSTD) Organization 
authorization 

• DGCA-approved ATO Training 
authorization

• ATO authorization granted by 
the Civil Aviation Authorities of 
Saudi Arabia, Kuwait, Rwanda and 
Tajikistan

• Cabin Crew Initial Training 
authorization

• European Resuscitation Council-
approved Defibrillator Training 
authorization

• Ministry of Health-approved Initial 
and Recurrent First Aid Training 
authorization

• Authorized Dangerous Goods 
Rules Training approved by the 
General Directorate of Dangerous 
Goods and Combined Transport 
Regulation (TMKTD)

• Ministry of National Education-
approved Train-the-Trainer 
authorization

• DGCA-approved Aircraft Security 
Training authorization

• DGCA-approved SAFA Ramp 
Inspector Training authorization,

• DGCA-approved Dispatcher 
Training authorization

Training

Flight Crew Trainings
The Flight Training Center has 
been authorized by DGCA to act 
as "Approved Training Organization 
(ATO)." All simulators and flight 
training equipment are also 
authorized by EASA. The Flight 
Training Center features 37 different 
training programs of flight crew 
training, including "Conversion,” "Fleet 
Type" and "Recurrent.” 

At the same time, trainings of 
527 foreign flight crew from 66 
different countries employed in the 
Incorporation are delivered at the 
Flight Training Center. 

In 2019, 6,885 trainees in total were 
provided flight crew ground training/
simulator training. Total ground 
training time exceeded 40 thousand 
hours. Simulation utilization time 
exceeding 100 thousand hours in 
total, which is high above the sector 
average, is another success factor 
in regards of efficient use of the 
Incorporation resources. 

Flight Training Center Provides the
Following Trainings to Flight Crew:
• Type Rating Trainings
• Nomination as Commander 

Trainings
• Recurring, Refresher Trainings
• Type Rating Instructor/Type Rating 

Examiner (TRI/TRE) and Synthetic 
Flight Instructor (SFI)/Synthetic 
Flight Examiner (SFE) Training s, 

• MCC Training and MCC Instructor 
Training (MCC/MCCI)

• APS MCC
• Special authorization and licensing 

trainings such as ETOPS, LVO, PBN, 
UPRT, etc.

• Trainings such as Steep Approach 
and Rejected Landing that are 
specially designed to increase 
safety, as demanded by authorities 
and/or operators,

• License Conversion Trainings
• Dangerous Goods Rules Training
• Crew Resource Management (CRM) 

Training and CRMI (CRM Instructor) 
Training

• Ministry of National Education 
approved Trainer's Training

Cabin Crew Training
In 2019, 39,114 persons received 
training at the Cabin Training 
Management in 26 different 
categories. The training categories 
include: Initial, Recurrent, Refresher, 
Re-qualification, Cabin Chief, First 
Aid, Defibrillator, Service Quality and 
Professional Development. 

In 2019, the Flight Training Center 
graduated 1,144 new cabin attendants, 
including 995 persons from Initial, 149 
from Expat. A total of 787 hours of 
training was provided to cabin crew of 
foreign airlines. 

As a result of ongoing 
investments made in 
the Flight Training 
Center, where 512 
instructors and 
240 staff work, the 
quality of training and 
operation is increasing 
every passing day.
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Flight Training Center Provides the
Following Trainings to Flight Crew:
• Initial Training
• Aviation Security Training
• Flight Safety and Emergency 

Procedures Training
• Crew Resource Management 

Training (CRM)
• Dangerous Goods Rules Training 

(DGR)
• Normal Safety Procedures Training
• Fleet Type Trainings (B737, A320, 

B777, A330)
• Recurrent, Refresher Requalification 

Trainings
• Senior Cabin Crew Member 

(Narrow-Body Aircraft)
• Senior Cabin Crew Member (Wide-

Body Aircraft)

• First Aid Initial and Recurrent 
Trainings certified by Provincial 
Directorate of Health

• Control Cabin Chief Position 
Training

• European Resuscitation Council 
Approved Defibrillator Initial and 
Refresher Training

In addition to the trainings above, 
various trainings are provided by 
the Cabin Training Management to 
increase customer satisfaction:
• On-board Announcement Practices 

Training,
• Life in Uniform Training,
• Passenger Needs in Flight 

Operation Training,

• Silence in the Cabin Training,
• Flight Experience from the Cabin 

Crew Perspective Training,
• Initial Services Training,
• Cabin Crew Professional Awareness 

Training,
• ER/BC Specialization Training (B777/

A330),
• ER/BC Specialization Recurrent 

Training (B777/A330),
• B777/A330 Y/C Service Training,
• In-flight Entertainment Systems 

Training (IFE),
• Specialization in Cabin Chief 

Position Training,
• Theory Based Flight Day Training.

Training

Training Infrastructure
The Flight Training Center now 
operates on two different campuses. 
The Flight Training Center has 
reached the capacity of 28 simulators, 
90 classrooms and a conference hall 
within a 47 thousand m²-covered 
space. The Center can serve 2,620 
trainees at the same time.

The Flight Training Center is 
enhancing its flight and cabin 
simulator inventories up to 29, in 
accordance with the projection of 
2023 and so as to meet the demand 
for the flight and cabin crew trainings. 
Accordingly, the following devices and 
updates put into use in 2019: 
• Tests and EASA certification 

processes of 7 simulators has been 
completed and so the number 
of simulators reached 22. (The 7 
simulators: one B737MAX simulator 
of Boeing which operated by the 
Incorporation, 2 A320 CEO/NEO 
simulators purchased from CAE, 
one for each - A330, B787, B777, 
B737MAX and A350 simulators.)

• 4 major updates -2 B737-800 
simulators and 2 B777 simulators 
-were done and the devices were 
upgraded. 

The following items are procured 
to put into use during flight crew 
trainings: 
• 22 Full Flight Simulators (FFS),
• 7 Flight Training Devices (FTD),
• 2 16X2 = 32 trainees-capacity B737/

A320/A330 VSIM class
• 6 Computer Based Trainer (CBT) 

classes are currently available. 

Over a total of 101 thousand hours of 
flight was made at the end of 2019 
with these simulators licensed by 
European Aviation Safety Agency.

Flight Training Center is hosting the 
following training devices for Cabin 
Crew Trainings:
• 2 Mock-Ups (CEET)
• 1 Fire Fighting Training Device 

(RFFT),

• 6 Cabin Door Training Tools 
• 5 Cabin Service Training Tools (CST) 
• Ditching Pool is available. 

Total number of FFS in the Flight 
Training Center will be 29 by 2021, 
while FTD number will be 13.

The Flight Training 
Center can host 
2,620 trainees 
simultaneously.
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With the complete inauguration of 
our Crew Terminal in 2020 where was 
operational since 2019, it is intended 
to enhance pre-flight infrastructure 
provided to employees. 

FLIGHT MANAGEMENT

Turkish Airlines will utilize its current 
A330 pilots to fly new A350 wide-body 
aircraft, which is set to join in March 
2020, without creating separate fleet 
as part of Airbus Common Type 
approach. This will provide operational 
flexibility and cost efficiency. 

The entry into service progress of 
B787, which was joined to Turkish 
Airlines fleet in 2019, was closely 
monitored. Required permissions, 
and authorizations were received 
in a timely manner, thanks to close 
coordination between Turkish Airlines 
departments, authorities as well as 
aircraft manufacturer. Hence, the 
processes have been completed prior 
to scheduled entry into service day. 
Same is planned for the A350.

While closely monitoring Safety 
Performance Indicators of Flight 
Operations, critical works are being 
carried out to increase overall safety 
level of Turkish Airlines. 

Turkish Airlines publishes 
supplementary training documents 
and operational notes/publications to 
enhance experience, awareness and 
know-how of flight crew members. 

Upon completion of 
the new phases of the 
Crew Terminal, which 
was partially relocated 
to Istanbul Airport in 
2019, an enhanced 
infrastructure for 
operational staff is on 
the agenda.
 

With the scheduled opening of 
Operations Building within the 
first half of 2020, inter-department 
communications will be improved, 
boosting productivity and 
cost-savings in operational and 
administrative processes. 

INTEGRATED OPERATION 
CONTROL 

The Great Move was completed in 
2019, the largest relocation of the 
aviation history. Operations at Istanbul 
Airport are now at full capacity.

To keep customer satisfaction at 
peak level and better manage 
operational setbacks, Turkish 
Airlines has upgraded the “Irregular 
Operation Control Module” and it 
has been integrated with the flight 
operation control system “manage 
by exception.” These modifications 
ensure that operational setbacks 
are removed more quickly with early 
warning.

In 2020, Turkish Airlines aims to further 
develop the “manage by exception” 
system in order to update alerts 
automatically by machine learning 
and artificial intelligence (AI) and 
enable automatic troubleshooting 
of the system. Introduction of 
automatic troubleshooting and 
maintenance system aims to boost 
aircraft availability depending on the 
instant operational developments by 
adapting maintenance requirements. 

Flight Operations 

HIGHER PRODUCTIVITY 
AND LOWER COSTS WITH 
INNOVATIONS

Procurement of a new Flight 
Operation Control System is to be 
introduced simultaneously within the 
following period. With the new system, 
potential lags and breakdowns 
will be predicted beforehand by 
machine learning and artificial 
intelligence; subsequently, the issue 
will be addressed automatically. The 
scheduled systems and structural 
changes are designed to render 
operation management more 
efficient and effective. 

CABIN SERVICES

Upon completion of the new phases 
of the Crew Terminal, which was 
partially relocated to Istanbul Airport 
in 2019, an enhanced infrastructure for 
operational staff is on the agenda.
 
Following the move to Istanbul 
Airport, together with the 
introduction of new uniforms 
featuring the flow design, which 
symbolizes Turkish Airlines’ continuous 
service concept, the Company 
launched practical work etiquette, 
personal image and appearance 
trainings for cabin crews, who are 
brand ambassadors. 

Turkish Airlines analyzes customer 
feedbacks and closely monitors 
cabin service innovations as well as 
other initiatives by global airlines to 
improve service standards – especially 
at global hubs, highly competitive 
destinations, and high-potential local 
destinations. 

To enhance customer satisfaction and 
ensure service standardization, Turkish 
Airlines defines “golden sentences” 
to be used at contact points with 
passengers in the cabin. Crews are 
instructed to welcome passengers 
with a corporate greeting and 
establish communication with them 
using these “golden expressions.” This 
effort aims to maintain service quality 
at the highest level on each flight with 
a common language. 

Planning, monitoring and 
improvement efforts are conducted 
in line with scientific research as per 
the Fatigue Risk Management System 
(FRMS) module and in accordance 
with national/international 
regulations.

Turkish Airlines conducts internal 
and external audits to ensure 
smooth and complete adaptation 
of crew planning processes in order 
to fully comply with all applicable 
national and international legal and 
regulatory requirements in addition 
to amendments thereof. 

Effective data analysis and reporting 
are critical to continuously monitoring 
crew planning processes. To this end, 
basic process steps can be monitored 
by smart information displays 
reflecting instantly updated data flow 
and graphics displays.

CREW PLANNING

In line with its growth- and quality-
oriented human resources policy, 
which reflects Turkish Airlines’ 2023 
vision, the Company expanded the 
number of flight crews from 4,848 in 
2018 to 4,970 in 2019. Meanwhile, the 
number of cabin crew staff increased 
from 10,728 in 2018 to 12,408 in 2019.
 
Turkish Airlines, as a flag carrier of 
the Republic of Turkey, aims to raise 
awareness of the other airlines in 
Turkey about Turkish Directorate 
General of Civil Aviation (DGCA) 
Directive called SHT-FTL (Flight Time 
Limitations). With this regard, Turkish 
Airlines plans to publish the SHT-FTL 
e-learning, which was prepared by the 
SVP Crew Planning in 2019, which is 
expected to be on-line in the website 
of DGCA within 2020.
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Classroom and 
on-site training 
were provided to 
15,000 employees 
excluding flight staff; 
trial operations were 
conducted with 5,000 
people and 5 aircraft.

THE GREAT MOVE

The relocation of operations from 
Atatürk Airport to Istanbul Airport 
was planned in accordance with 
official notification from the General 
Directorate of State Airports Authority 
(DHMI) prescribing a 45-hour moving 
schedule, which was dubbed the 
“Great Move” and encompassed 
all public and private sector 
stakeholders.

Airport Transfer Program for Istanbul 
Airport 
• The 45-hour main moving operation 

started on April 5, 2019 at 03:00; 
the operation was scheduled to be 
completed by April 6, 2019 at 23:59.

 • All Turkish Airlines flights continued 
at Atatürk Airport until 02:00 on  
April 6. 

 • From 02:00 on April 6 until 14:00 on 
April 6, Turkish Airlines commercial 
passenger flights at Atatürk 
Airport ceased for 12 hours to 
accommodate shut down and 
moving activities. 

 • On April 6 at 02:59, IATA code for 
Atatürk Airport was switched to ‘ISL’ 
and Istanbul Airport was assigned 
IATA code ‘IST.’

 • From 14:00 on April 6 until 19:00 on 
April 6, only Turkish Airlines flights 
operated to and from Istanbul 
Airport.

 • From 19:00 on April 6 until 23:59 on 
April 6, other airlines that also used 
Atatürk Airport as a base began to 
operate flights to and from Istanbul 
Airport alongside Turkish Airlines. 

 • As of 00:00 on April 7, 2019, all other 
airlines started operating to and 
from Istanbul Airport.

Preparations were made prior to 
the Great Move to help both Turkish 
Airlines staff and stakeholders adapt 
to the new airport and prevent 
passengers from experiencing any 
inconvenience following the airport 
transfer. Classroom and on-site 
training were provided to 15,000 
employees excluding flight staff; trial 
operations were conducted with 5,000 
people and 5 aircraft.

The Great Move of Turkish Airlines, 
which started on April 6 at 03:00 
but also including prior deliveries to 
support Istanbul Airport’s soft opening 
on October 29, 2018, was completed 
with 1,056 truck-loads transported to 
Istanbul Airport. More than 5,000 staff 
took part in the move; over 10,000 
pieces of operational equipment were 
moved to Istanbul Airport during the 
effort. In addition to truck deliveries, 
as part of the Great Move, 620 vehicles 
used strictly in airport ramp service 

29 hours

The Main Moving Operation 
Duration of Turkish Airlines 
and its Subsidiaries

operations and therefore lacking 
traffic registration were driven from 
Atatürk Airport to Istanbul Airport 
in police-escorted convoys during a 
period of road closure. Temporary 
registration documents were 
obtained in advance for each of these 
vehicles ranging from cars to buses 
and minibuses to trucks. The main 
transfer of Turkish Airlines and its 
subsidiaries was completed to a great 
extent in 29 hours on the morning 
of April 6, at 08:00. The transition of 
all stakeholders to Istanbul Airport 
was completed in 33 hours. All told, 
the Great Move was cited globally 
as an exemplary airport transfer for 
having been completed in a safe and 
swift manner with no unforeseen 
disruptions. 

In accordance with the moving plan, 
Atatürk Airport continued serving 
commercial passenger flights 
until April 6, 2019 at 02:00. The last 
commercial passenger aircraft took 
off from Atatürk Airport on April 6, 
2019 at 02:40 to Singapore. The first 
flight at Istanbul Airport following the 
main move was on April 6 at 14:00 to 
Ankara.

Istanbul Airport

TURKEY'S NATIONAL PROJECT, 
THE WORLD’S LARGEST 
AIRPORT TERMINAL BUILDING 
UNDER A SINGLE ROOF
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NUMBER OF SUGGESTIONS 
SHARED ON THE IDEA 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

21,995

FOSTERING AN INNOVATION 
CULTURE AND ENCOURAGING 
EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION 

The Turkish Airlines Corporate 
Innovation System is designed 
to process all internal and open 
innovation sources and yield effective 
outcomes. The system integrates 
various activities that complement 
and complete each other. The 
Idea Management System is the 
core component of the Corporate 
Innovation System. This system was 
launched to activate the creative 
potential of the staff, being the most 
valuable asset of Turkish Airlines, 
and increase their participation in 
innovation activities. Featuring a 
transparent and awarding structure, 
the Idea Management System gives 
the entire workforce a platform to 
convey their valuable ideas and be 
rewarded in return. The platform is 
highly coordinated with corporate 
business units. It is designed to 
seize identified opportunities 
and resolve issues and problems. 
The Idea Management System 
raises awareness about innovation, 
disseminates an innovation 
culture and identifies innovation 
ambassadors among the staff 
at Turkish Airlines. By year-end 
2019, 21,995 suggestions by staff 
members were submitted to the 
Idea Management System. Of these, 
1,100 suggestions were implemented. 
These suggestions yielded Turkish 
Airlines more than USD 132 million.

The Idea 
Management System 
raises awareness 
about innovation, 
disseminates an 
innovation culture 
and identifies 
innovation 
ambassadors among 
the staff at Turkish 
Airlines. 

Customers have 
also become a key 
component driving 
innovation via the 
“Innovation Survey,” 
which is conducted 
through inflight 
entertainment 
systems.

Turkish Airlines organizes various 
training sessions, seminars, and 
workshops to raise employee 
awareness about advanced 
technologies that will shape the 
future and boost the staff's efficiency. 
These activities include “Innovation 
Talks” discussion sessions led by 
experts; the “AirCircle” program, 
carried out to support innovative 
employees by allowing them to share 
knowledge and experience; project 
management and design thinking 
training sessions; and in-house 
workshops. Thanks to these efforts, 
Turkish Airlines receives numerous 
innovative solutions from internal 
and external stakeholders, which 
help Turkish Airlines maintain its 
leadership position at present and in 
the future. Such attempts enrich the 
corporate memory with several novel 
ideas which have not been tested 
in aviation. Moreover, the innovative 
competency of the workforce is taken 
to a higher level with such activities.

Open innovation activities also 
feed Turkish Airlines as a significant 
innovation source. These include 
conducting a wide range of projects 
in collaboration with domestic 
and foreign startups, strong 
entrepreneurial networks, universities, 
technology transfer offices, leading 
corporations and institutions. 
Facilitating open innovation results 
in beneficial initiatives for the related 
business units. 

Corporate Innovation

ACTIVITIES TO FOSTER  
A CULTURE OF INNOVATION 
AMONG EMPLOYEES

Turkish Airlines' environmental-
oriented innovation projects in 
sustainability reflect its corporate 
responsibility toward nature and 
the following generations. In 2019, 
Turkish Airlines redesigned catering 
plates with ecological materials in this 
regard. Additionally, the Zero Waste 
project was expanded across the 
Incorporation and its operations. 

In 2019, major actors in their 
respective fields – such as Keiretsu 
Forum and Draper University – were 
included in Turkish Airlines’ current 
innovation network. Customers have 
also become a key component of 
innovation with crowdsourcing based 
idea competitions and the “Innovation 
Survey,” which is conducted via 
inflight entertainment systems. To 
date, 19,854 feedback responses/
suggestions were obtained from 
customers via the survey; these 
suggestions were transferred to 
the internal assessment processes. 
In addition, Invest on Board – an 
effort that supports not only Turkish 
Airlines but also entire entrepreneurial 
ecosystem, bringing promising 
entrepreneurs and potential 
investors together via the inflight 
entertainment system – is growing 
each day. 
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AnadoluJet – a Turkish Airlines 
brand – utilizes Esenboğa and 
Sabiha Gökçen airports as hubs with 
its fleet composed of 31 Boeing 
737-800 aircraft. Operating flights 
on a total of 80 routes, AnadoluJet 
makes domestic air travel accessible 
with its affordable ticket prices. 
Thanks to its expanding flight 
network, AnadoluJet operated over 
90 thousand flights in 2019. Owing 
to operation improvement efforts, 
AnadoluJet boosted on-time take-off 
performance by six points to 84%. 

2019 FLIGHT HUB

AnadoluJet operates with a low cost 
carrier (LCC) business model and 
offers affordable ticket prices to 
allow more passengers to enjoy the 
practicality of air travel. In 2019, Cyprus 
was added as a new destination while 
direct flights were operated from and 
to Izmir, Adana, Antalya, Gaziantep 
and Hatay. Additionally, AnadoluJet 

further expanded its flight network 
by operating direct flights from 
Diyarbakır and Gaziantep to Erbil, 
from Izmir to Sanlıurfa, and from 
Bursa to Gaziantep. 

DIRECT FLIGHT NETWORK

By effectively controlling the rising 
costs of air transportation, AnadoluJet 
aimed to minimize the impact of cost 
increases on its airline ticket prices. 

Thanks to frequent promotional 
campaigns, over 4.5 million 
passengers bought AnadoluJet airline 
tickets at a discount in 2019. 

AnadoluJet

AIRLINE THAT MAKES DOMESTIC 
AIR TRAVEL ACCESSIBLE WITH 
AFFORDABLE TICKET PRICES 

Committed to offering attractive 
prices to passengers with a wide 
flight network since its inception, 
AnadoluJet completed infrastructure 
work for international flights to be 
launched from Sabiha Gökçen and 
Ankara Esenboğa airports in 2020. 
AnadoluJet plans to maintain its 
growth by further expanding its flight 
network in the coming period. 

In 2019, AnadoluJet completed 
systems upgrades to offer the sales 
of extra services via online channels 
to add convenience to the passenger 
flying experience. AnadoluJet made 
paid seat selection possible during 
online check-in. Extra conveniences 
were also provided to passengers 
who purchased their tickets via online 
channels instead of waiting in line at 
counters. During the year, AnadoluJet 
started to offer ticket sales with 
advantageous packages, including 
both seat selection and excess 
baggage opportunities, in line with 
passenger needs. On social media, 
AnadoluJet conducts communication 
activities that touch the lives of 
passengers and increase customer 
interaction. 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Revenue Passenger (thousand) 10,824 12,008 14,087 15,975 14,529

Available Seat Kilometers (million) 8,615 9,809 11,244 12,388 11,246

Revenue Passenger Kilometers (million) 7,196 8,098 9,459 10,674 9,807

Passenger Load Factor (%) 83.5 82.6 84.1 86.2 87.2

Number of Landings 76,031 81,270 90,634 100,125 90,748

ANADOLUJET TRAFFIC FIGURES

29%
ANADOLUJET DOMESTIC 
PASSENGER MARKET 
SHARE IN 2019*

REVENUE PASSENGERS (THOUSAND)

10,824

12,008

2015

2016

14,087

15,975

14,529

2017

2018

2019

NUMBER OF LANDINGS

76,031

81,270

2015

2016

90,634

100,125

90,748

2017

2018

2019

AnadoluJet have 
made paid seat 
selection a paid 
transaction during 
online check-in 
process. 

*Estimated as per DHMI data. 
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Facilitating flights to 320 destinations 
by the end of 2019, Turkish Airlines 
expanded its flight network with an 
increase of 4% over 2018 in offline 
destinations by signing 53 codeshare 
agreements with major airlines 
of the world. Thanks to numerous 
commercial partnerships, Turkish 
Airlines provide access with its flight 
code to 254 destinations that are not 
operated direct flights from Istanbul. 
So, the passengers can check-
in with a single TK ticket till their 
final destinations and reach there 
comfortably, rapidly and economically 
without the need to do any 
transactions regarding their baggage 
during the transfers. 

In this context, with the development 
of cooperation by leading airlines 
in significant markets in 2019, 
approximately USD 606 million 
Interline contribution is gained. That 
amount constitutes the 6% of the 
revenue of the Company in 2019.

AMERICAS

In North America, Turkish Airlines 
signed a special prorate agreement 
(SPA) with Aeromar (VW), which is 
valid as from June 01, 2019, providing 
access to 15 Mexican domestic 
destinations from Mexico City.

In South America, Colombia’s three 
domestic destinations – Cali, Medellin, 
Barranquilla beyond Bogotá and one 
international destination (Munich-

Thanks to 53 
codeshare 
agreements signed 
with leading global 
airlines, Turkish Airlines 
have expanded its 
network by providing 
access to 254 offline 
destinations with 
an increase of 4% 
compared to previous 
year’s offlines. 

Bogotá) – were added to the 
codeshare agreement with Avianca 
(AV). 
 
Due to the bankruptcy of Avianca 
Brasil on May 06, 2019 all commercial 
cooperations including codeshare 
agreement were terminated with 
that airline. As an alternative to 
the cooperation terminated, to 
reach Brazil domestic destinations 
beyond Sao Paulo Turkish Airlines 
keep negotiating for a codeshare 
agreement with LATAM Airlines Group 
and GOL Airlines (G3) In addition 
to the codeshare agreement with 
Brazil originated Azul Airlines (AD), 
it is aimed to add nine new Brazil 
domestic destinations (Fortaleza, 
Manaus, Salvador, Rio de Janeiro, 
Maceio, Vitória, Brasilia, Juazeiro do 
Norte, Porto Seguro) beyond Sao 
Paulo. 
 
EUROPE

By including Spain's new domestic 
destinations  to the existing 
codeshare agreement with Air Europa 
(UX), the volume of the cooperation 
with UX forecasted to be expanded. 
In addition, Turkish Airlines plans to 
offer passengers even more options 
thanks to Interline and Special 
Prorate Agreement expected to go 
into effect at the beginning of 2020 
with Vueling Airlines (VY), which has 
a wide network in Spain domestic 
destinations.
 

Commercial Partnerships with Airlines, 
Traffic Rights and Expanding Flight Network

COMMERCIAL PARTNERSHIPS 
WITH LEADING AIRLINES  
IN SIGNIFICANT MARKETS

CANADA

RUSIA

CHINA

INDIA

AUSTRALIA

UNITED STATUS

BRASIL

53
Kod Paylaşımı 

Anlaşma

Negotiations for Bilateral Interline 
and Special Prorate Agreement with 
Accessrail (9B), which has numerous 
European train companies under 
its umbrella, were completed; and 
the agreement entered into force in 
the first months of 2019. As a result, 
Turkish Airlines’ passengers have 
the opportunity to travel by train 
from numerous European departure 
destinations to various other arrival 
destinations. 

Thanks to the commercial 
cooperation initiated between Turkish 
Airlines and Monacair, passengers will 
be provided the option for helicopter 
transport to Monaco. 

Turkish Airlines has reached the 
final stage of the Special Prorate 
and Codeshare Agreements 
with SunExpress Airlines (XQ) to 
provide more domestic flights to its 
passengers in the homeland. The first 
phase of the referenced agreement is 
planned to go into effect in 2020. 

Pursuant to the SPA signed with 
Siberia Airlines (S7), effective as from 
July 1, 2019, S7 utilizes six international 
destinations and one domestic 
destination of Turkish Airlines beyond 
Istanbul and Antalya; meanwhile, 
Turkish Airlines utilizes eight domestic 
destinations of S7 beyond Novosibirsk 
and St. Petersburg. Efforts were 
initiated to add 24 new UTair flights 
and four TK flights to the existing 
codeshare agreement with 
UTair (UT).

New sectors were added from Turkey, 
Poland, Middle East and Africa to the 
codeshare agreement with LOT Polish 
(LO) So that more flight alternatives 
are offered to passengers. 

SPA was signed between Air Serbia 
(JU) and Turkish Airlines. Also, a 
codeshare agreement is scheduled to 
be signed in the beginning of 2020 to 
improve current collaborations. 

Following the commencement of a 
codeshare agreement with Belavia 
(B2) for Istanbul-Minsk route, it was 
decided to operate 20 frequencies 
per week as from Summer 2020 
timetable. 

Zagreb – Mostar and Zagreb – Brac 
routes were added to the codeshare 
agreement with Croatia Airlines (OU).

A codeshare agreement was signed 
with Tarom Air (RO) in addition to 
the SPA. With the agreement signed 
in January 2020, Jassy, Temesvár and 
Suceava were also added to the 
offline network.

NUMBER OF CODESHARE 
AGREEMENTS 

53

CANADA

RUSIA

CHINA

INDIA

AUSTRALIA

UNITED STATUS

BRASIL

53
Codeshare 
Agreements
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Commercial Partnerships with Airlines, 
Traffic Rights and Expanding Flight Network

AFRICA

Flights operated to Kinshasa (FIH) 
of Democratic Republic of Congo 
increased from weekly five to weekly 
seven frequencies in March. Also 
Turkish Airlines started to operate 
weekly three flights to Republic of 
Congo, Pointe Noire in July. 

A new special prorate agreement was 
signed with South African Airways 
(SAA). The existing codeshare 
agreement with EgyptAir (MS) was 
updated. Special Prorate Agreements 
were signed with Saudia and Flynas 
Airlines.

In February, weekly three frequencies 
have started to Malabo (SSG) in 
Equatorial Guinea. Zimbabwe, 
Gaborone, Windhoek and Maputo 
destinations were also utilized as 
transit/beyond destinations with 5th 
traffic rights in addition to Lusaka. On 
the Istanbul-Tunisia (TUN) vv. route, 
Turkish Airlines’ weekly 14 frequencies 
were increased to weekly 18 
frequencies. and also to be elevated 
to weekly 21 frequencies in the Winter 
2020/2021 season. 

Marrakech (RAK) flights conducted 
to Morocco as weekly five 
frequencies increased to weekly 
seven frequencies. Furthermore 
negotiations are ongoing under a 
joint business agreement with Royal 
Air Maroc (AT).

Among ICAN 2019 achievements, 
unlimited fifth traffic rights for all 
transit and beyond destinations 
both for passenger and cargo flights 
to Mozambique were defined. 
Meanwhile, weekly 11 frequencies 
for passenger flights were granted 
to Senegal; in addition, Lagos and 
Kano were utilized as transit/beyond 
destinations with 5th traffic rights for 
cargo flights. Nairobi was also utilized 
as beyond destination with 5th traffic 
right for cargo flights. All transit and 
beyond destinations for cargo flights 
were utilized as fifth traffic rights 
destinations for Uganda. Scheduled 

cargo rights for Turkish origin carriers 
to Nigeria, increased from weekly 
seven frequencies to weekly 10 
frequencies. 

ASIA AND FAR EAST

Turkish Airlines carries passengers 
to 24 countries and 38 destinations 
and also operates cargo flights to 
14 countries and 22 destinations in 
Asia. In total, Turkish Airlines provides 
access to 93 destinations in Asia 
together with 55 offline destinations 
added to the network via code 
sharing. The Incorporation further 
expands its commercial cooperation 
to provide new destinations for 
passengers by increasing the 
frequency of current flights and 
forging codeshare agreements. 

Special Prorate Agreements were 
signed between Turkish Airlines 
and Nepal Airlines (RA) on January 
01, 2019, also with Myanmar Airways 
International (8M) on January 15, 2019, 
and with Druk Air (KB) on July 01, 2019. 
Special Prorate Agreements with Fiji 
Airways and Malindo Airways were 
revised within the year. Furthermore 
existing codeshare agreements 
executed with Eva Airways (BR) and 
Garuda Indonesia were revised in 2019.

Bilateral civil aviation negotiations 
were conducted in Turkmenistan 
on February 25-26, 2019 and a 
Record of Discussion, featuring 
additional frequency rights, was 
signed. Additionally, a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) was 
signed between Turkish Airlines and 
Turkmenistan Airlines on July 19, 2019. 

Following the MoU executed with 
Japan in September, Turkish Airlines 
gained the right to operate flights 
to Tokyo-Haneda, which is one of the 
country’s leading airports with great 
strategic importance. As from 2020, 
Turkish Airlines will start operating 
flights to Osaka and Haneda in 
addition to the flights to Tokyo-Narita 
Airport. As a result, Turkish Airlines will 
operate weekly 16 direct flights to 
Japan. 

The codeshare agreement signed 
with Indigo Airline (6E) went into 
effect in March 2019.

A codeshare agreement was 
signed with Bangkok Airways (PG). 
Thanks to the new agreement, 
Cambodia, Myanmar and Laos offline 
destinations became accessible with 
Turkish Airlines code. Also Codeshare 
flights can be operated to all 
Thailand domestic and international 
destinations pursuant to the 
agreement. 

Special Prorate and Codeshare 
Agreements were signed with 
Sichuan Airlines (3U). The Special 
Prorate Agreement took effect on 
October 15, 2019 while the codeshare 
agreement was scheduled to go into 
effect in 2020. When the codeshare 
agreement with Sichuan Airlines takes 
effect, Turkish Airlines can conduct 
sales by placing its code on flights of 
Sichuan Airlines operating flights from 
Chengdu, China. (As flights have not 
yet commenced, it is not included 
in the total number of the relevant 
codeshare agreement.)

MIDDLE EAST

Turkish Airlines' seven weekly flights 
on the Istanbul-Muscat (MCT) route 
increased to 10. Negotiations have 
started with Oman Air (WY) to create 
a joint venture agreement; besides 
the existing codeshare agreement 
was expanded. 

A new special prorate agreement and 
a codeshare agreement comprising 
bilateral destinations were signed 
with Kuwait Airways (KU). Weekly 
seven frequencies from Ordu/Giresun 
(OGU) to Kuwait were obtained for 
Turkish carriers. In addition weekly 
seven frequencies for Trabzon-Kuwait 
route increased to 21.

During 2019 ICAN civil aviation 
negotiations, 21 additional 
frequencies were granted between 
Turkey and Bahrain; consequently, 
weekly 51 frequencies increased to 
weekly 80 frequencies. In addition, the 
existing codeshare agreement was 
expanded between Turkish Airlines 
and Gulf Air (GF) by adding bilateral 
new destinations. 

The existing codeshare agreement 
with Royal Jordanian (RJ) was 
expanded. During 2019 ICAN 
negotiations which was held 
in Amman, the total weekly 61 
frequencies granted to Turkish 
carriers to Jordan was increased to 
weekly 65 frequencies. 

The existing codeshare agreement 
with Middle East Airlines (ME) was 
expanded. 

Codeshare Agreement was signed 
with Malaysia Airlines to take effect 
as of October 15, 2019. Thanks to the 
agreement, carriage is provided to 
12 offline domestic destinations of 
Malaysia (AOR, KBR, JHB, TGG, KUA, 
LGK, PEN, BKI, SDK, TWU, KCH and 
MYY) and six Australia/New Zealand 
destinations (ADL, MEL, PER, SYD, 
AKL, BNE).

REPORTING, ANALYSIS AND 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS

Turkish Airlines generates periodic 
reports featuring various breakdowns 
indicating volume and contribution 
performance of current Interline 
contracted airlines by using the 
method of comparing the datas 
with the same period of the previous 
year. Also adhoc reports and detailed 
analyses are performed including 
studies carried out with the relevant 
units to make necessary revisions in 
the agreements. 

Support was provided by performing 
revenue and contribution analyses 
of forecasted sectors for Bangkok 
Airways and Malaysia Airlines, where 
codeshare agreements were came 
into effect in 2019. Likewise, delivered 
for Myanmar Airways, Fly Nas, 
Accessrail, Nepal Airlines, Transportes 
Aeromar, Siberia Airlines, Druk Air, 
Sichuan Airlines, and Air Serbia, where 
special prorate agreements were 
signed within the year. 

The first phase of the Interline 
Productivity Analysis Report, data 
preparation prior to processing 
and analysis, was completed; the 
second phase has commenced. 
Software is targeted to be developed 
for guidance in strategic decision 
making and providing rapid support 
for numerous purposes. These 
include selection of future SPA and 
Codeshare agreements, airlines to 
cooperate with on a wider basis, 
destinations to be included in 
the offline network and airlines to 
contract with to provide better 
connection and improved product. 
The Interline SPA Web dashboard 
was completed, allowing monitoring 
of tickets sold on the Turkish Airlines 
website pursuant to Special Prorate 
Agreement. 

NUMBER OF OFFLINE 
DESTINATIONS 

254

2018 2019

OFFLINE DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT 
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To render the air transportation 
industry more sustainable, Star 
Alliance has commenced efforts on 
developing Star Alliance Standards 
and in this context started working to 
improve passenger experience with 
member airlines. At the CEB meeting 
held in December, outcomes of the 
following activities were disclosed to 
all Star Alliance members: initiatives 
to decrease the carbon footprint by 
boosting fuel efficiency to protect 
the environment and combat climate 
change and efforts under the zero 
waste project. 

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS

Turkish Airlines participates in events 
and meetings held by international 
aviation organizations such as 
International Air Transport Association 
(IATA), Airlines International 
Representation in Europe (AIRE), 
Arab Air Carriers Organization 
(AACO), Latin American and 
Caribbean Air Transport Association 
(ALTA), and International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) so that, it closely 
monitors the developments in the 
field of aviation.

Under the supervision of ICAO, 
as per the18th protocol of the 
Montreal Protocol amending “Tokyo 
Convention on Offences and other 
certain acts committed on board 
aircraft,” which includes regulations 
on “Unruly Passengers,” is prepared 
and has been signed by 22 countries 
including Turkey, entered into force 
on January 01, 2020. The Protocol 
makes amendments and additions to 
the Tokyo Convention on key matters 
such as jurisdiction; the captain pilot's 
authorities; crimes committed on 
aircraft; authorities and responsibilities 
of air police; and compensation of 
damages from passengers who cause 
the landing of the aircraft. 

“Carbon Offsetting and Reduction 
Scheme for International Aviation 
(CORSIA)” accepted by ICAO in 2016 
for the purpose of reducing carbon 
emissions will take effect as of 2021. 

(Source: http://web.shgm.gov.tr/documents/

sivilhavacilik/files/pdf/kurumsal/faaliyet/2018.

pdf)

STAR ALLIANCE

Star Alliance remains the largest 
global airline alliance, showing 
presence in 98% of the world’s 
countries. Over 700 million passengers 
travel each year with member 
airlines. Star Alliance strives to 
create a unique vision of innovation, 
leading member airlines to deliver 
the highest standards of safety and 
customer service to their passengers. 
Under the strategy of “Digitalization” 
Star Alliance recorded progress on 
projects, such as Unpaid & Paid, 
Seat Selection, Check-in Anywhere, 
Baggage Location Tracking, Contact 
Me and Journey Information. In 
addition to the above-referenced 
completed initiatives, in 2020, Cloud 
Integration is also scheduled for 
completion. 

Star Alliance also initiated efforts to 
enable automatic and fast access 
through various contact points at 
the airports with the Biometric Hub 
project. In conjunction with airport 
operators and governments that 
agree to participate in the project 
in 2020, passengers will be provided 
ultra-fast access. 

ZONAL EMPLOYEE DISCOUNT 
(ZED) AND MULTILATERAL 
INTERLINE BUSINESS AGREEMENT 
(MIBA) AGREEMENTS 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines and Pakistan 
International Airlines (PK) signed ZED 
Agreement covering the vacations 
of TK staff and their families, and 
also MIBA agreement signed with Air 
Astana (KC) covering the business 
trips of the employees. 

Consequently, with the recently 
signed agreements, the number 
of existing ZED (vacation travel) 
agreements have been increased to 
93, and the number of MIBA (business 
trip) agreements have been increased 
to 13. 

acquired additional 57 frequencies for 
passenger flights, 17 frequencies for 
cargo flights and 10 new destinations 
with Fifth Freedom Right as well as 
unlimited rights for some countries.

Turkish Airlines as a “Partner Airline” 
member participated in the 52nd 
General Assembly of the Arab Air 
Carriers Organization (AACO) which 
was held in Kuwait on November 04-
06, 2019. Turkish Airlines, maintaining a 
strategic presence in this organization 
composed of leading Arab airlines, 
also conducted high-level meetings 
with various airlines.

Among IATA’s nine advisory councils 
that follow the developments in civil 
aviation, Turkish Airlines has been 
selected for Cargo; Safety, Flight and 
Ground Operations; Security and 
Sector Relations Committees. 

During the ICAO 12th Air Services 
Negotiation Event, which was held 
in the coordination of International 
Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) 
and hosted by Jordan at Aqaba 
on December 02-06,2019; civil 
aviation negotiations were held 
with 25 countries. As a result of 
these negotiations, Turkish Airlines 

Star Alliance has a 
presence in 98% of 
the world countries.

Commercial Partnerships with Airlines, 
Traffic Rights and Expanding Flight Network Air Services 

Agreements with 

171
Countries
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• Common payment methods 
systems integration work was 
completed and provided to 
customers via sales channels. A 
cost advantage was achieved with 
lower-limit control of the number of 
installments offered to passengers.

• Passengers who purchased an 
economy class ticket with “Business 
Upgrade,” the first commercial 
product of the Offer Management 
System, are provided the 
opportunity to upgrade their tickets 
to the Business cabin in exchange 
for miles or monetary payment. 

• In the event of timetable changes 
and flight cancellations during 
international flights, passengers 
are enabled to execute their 
ticket transactions themselves via 
web and mobile channels as well 
as through sales offices and call 
centers. 

• Istanbul Airport check-in systems 
were readied for operation at full 
capacity before the transition 
with 7 check-in islands, 78 kiosks 
and 34 self-bag drops. Counters 

were made available to provide 
additional service to passengers 
alongside the sales office. 

• In conformity with the “Quiet 
Terminal” concept implemented at 
Istanbul Airport, 28 flight info and 
16 boarding gate info displays were 
set up in Domestic Terminal Special 
Passenger Lounges. The Special 
Passenger Follow-up application 
was launched to more effectively 
plan and monitor services provided 
to passengers who request special 
services, such as a wheelchair. 

• The Interactive APIS application was 
launched on flights departing from 
and arriving in China. 

• All necessary precautions were 
taken during the move to Istanbul 
Airport. Passengers were contacted 
because of changes to the flight 
timetable and all processes were 
handled without incident. 

 
 

Corporate Development and Information Technologies

RAPID AND EFFECTIVE 
SOLUTIONS FOR CUSTOMER 
ISSUES

In the event 
of timetable 
changes and flight 
cancellations during 
international flights, 
passengers are able 
to execute their 
ticket transactions 
themselves via web 
and mobile channels 
as well as through 
sales offices and call 
centers. 

CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS 
APPLICATIONS

• Live chat was launched to rapidly 
resolve issues that passengers 
encounter during online 
transactions.

• Projects were conducted to take 
passenger satisfaction to the 
highest level, such as developing 
instant notification about flights, 
introducing teacher discounts, and 
the like.

• As of September 22, 2019, the 
Domestic Product Segmentation 
project was launched across all sales 
channels, targeted at the corporate 
web site and mobile channels. As 
a result, Turkish Airlines provided a 
wider product range in domestic 
fees and generated additional 
revenue. 

All necessary 
precautions were 
taken during the 
move to Istanbul 
Airport. Passengers 
were contacted 
because of changes 
to the flight timetable 
and all processes 
were handled without 
a major incident. 

• Sales channel applications were 
improved; New Distribution 
Competency (NDC) efforts started 
to adapt to new retail distribution 
strategies. 

• The Agency Staff Loyalty project 
was developed for agency 
personnel to facilitate special 
motivational programs and 
campaigns. 

• Sales of exit row and extra leg-room 
seats commenced over Global 
Distribution Systems (GDS).

• The sales network was expanded 
by adding a new GDS to Turkish 
Airlines partners. Guarantee limits of 
large-scale domestic agencies were 
expanded. Paper ticket limitations 
were lifted when arranging an 
electronic ticket and a productive 
system was launched. 
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Corporate Development and Information Technologies

the activity system for submission 
to training coordinators and senior 
managers. The credit sales process 
was improved via akademi.thy.com. 
Flight crew exams were digitalized. 

• The Atom Mobile application was 
developed, improving the operation 
monitoring process and boosting 
employee productivity. Effective 
monitoring of activities related to 
new upgrades in the Atom De-icing 
module was provided. 

• An IT systems infrastructure was set 
up under the Airbus A350 Entry Into 
Service project. 

• The Boeing 787 e-Enabling project 
was completed and the aircraft 
joined the fleet smoothly.

• The Cargo Portal and Cargo Smart 
projects went live during the year. 
The Fee Claim Portal and Cargo 
Safety Monitoring and Reporting 
projects were launched. 

• The first phase of the TK Freight 
and Online Payment projects was 
launched. The Electronic AWB 
project was launched during the 
year. 

• Turkish Airlines introduced the MINT 
Training Management System to 
manage all training activities of the 
flight crews. More efficient resource 
utilization facilitated productive 
planning of costly resources, such 
as simulator, class, trainer and flying 
crews. 

DIGITAL INNOVATION EFFORTS

Following the organizational change 
in 2019, Turkish Airlines integrated 
business units focused on data, 
digitalization and innovation under 
the same department. As a result, 
innovative business models were 
formulated to create added value 
with advanced technology. This new 
arrangement was organized to obtain 
insight for decision making processes 
by utilizing data and creating business 
opportunities with new generation 
analytics. Business opportunities 
created by digital transformation 
were analyzed and materialized 
with simple methodologies. Cultural 
transformation is taking place with 
the help of an ecosystem formed to 
derive maximum benefit from new 

• Planning duties of Inspection, 
Examination and Investigation, 
monitoring finding and 
discrepancies provided acceleration 
in solution processes. 

• Instant notification, in-house lottery, 
and frequently asked questions 
sections were completed for the 
UP Interactive mobile application. 
The Feedy Second Phase project 
introduced adding and following-up 
target functionality in the feedback 
system.

• The CIP Lounge Portal Project 
accelerated passenger transaction 
speed and avoided detected 
frauds. 

• Turkish Airlines staff can share 
their experiences with brands and 
give feedback via the Delightful 
Memories portal. 

• The Annual Leave Planning System, 
which optimizes annual leave plans 
of flight crews, was launched. The 
Boeing system, which had been 
utilized for the same purpose, 
was discontinued, saving USD 500 
thousand annually. 

• The Hotel Assignment project 
facilitates making reservations 
at the most suitable hotels for 
overnight stay crews in accordance 
with contracts. Thanks to the portal, 
overnight stay information of 
users became instantly accessible 
and transparency increased in the 
process. 

• BRS extension at domestic 
stations is ongoing for baggage 
matching operations. The Bag-
Globe BRS mobile application was 
developed; testing was completed 
for executing baggage matching 
operations during loading at 
stations abroad. This application 
increases the traceability of the 
process and decreases manual 
operations. 

• The loading plans reporting 
application automates the control 
process of loading plan data from 
the catering company. To facilitate 
in-flight equipment management, 
the planning and reporting 
module for amenity kit loadings by 
passenger gender was launched.

• The training participation 
performance report was added to 

CORPORATE AND OPERATIONAL 
PRACTICES

• The Financial Risk Management 
project developed and introduced 
software that enables monitoring, 
reporting and market analysis of 
hedge transactions. 

• Swift infrastructure is set up for 
SAP-Corporate Swift systems 
integration; installations were 
completed during the year. 

• Software that enables handling of 
insurance processes – inventory, 
insurance policy, damage – carried 
out by the Insurance Management 
System was launched. 

• The Passenger Network Profitability 
project was implemented and an 
O&D based passenger network 
profitability structure was 
established. 

• Installation of staff attendance 
monitoring systems and card entry 
doors at Istanbul Airport were 
completed. 

• The new employee recruitment 
portal was launched and the new 
competency-based management 
application was rolled out in the 
control of the Assessment Center.

• By uploading the checkout of PNR 
data to the control system, error-
free monitoring of settlement and 
reporting processes was provided 
with minimal user effort.

• Detection of deviations of the 
commission from the correct 
amount to be paid to the credit 
card issuer, the party that receives 
the payment and Visa/Mastercard 
prevented loss to Turkish Airlines. 

ideas. To this end, some R&D initiatives 
and pilot projects were carried out 
on new emerging technologies in 
2019, including artificial intelligence, 
augmented/virtual reality, Internet of 
Things and blockchain. 

Actively using Facebook Messenger, 
BiP and Telegram beta version, the 
Turkish Airlines Chatbot which is 
named Boti was also made available 
for passengers via the WhatsApp 
platform. 

During the 48-hour Travel Datathon 
2019, organized as part of TeknoFest, 
teams composed of data scientists 
competed to develop projects for two 
cases. These cases had to be solved 
with a data set of over 90 million 
lines that Turkish Airlines provided 
using advanced technologies such 
as machine learning and artificial 
intelligence. 

During the year, Turkish Airlines 
entered into new collaborations 
to boost the efficiency of its 
entrepreneurship ecosystem, 
explore technology initiatives and 
develop projects related to new 

business models. Turkish Airlines 
became a stakeholder of Big 
Bang 2019, one of Turkey’s most 
effective entrepreneurship events. 
A collaboration was also forged 
with Voyager HQ, a New York based 
venture program. The Invest on 
Board program supported 68 new 
ventures by featuring their investor 
presentation videos on Turkish Airlines 
in-flight entertainment (IFE) screens. 
 
Interactive airport terminal maps 
were provided for the Turkish Airlines 
Mobile application. 

The Turkish Airlines R&D center 
conducted 49 R&D projects and filed 
10 patent applications. Forty-five R&D 
staff took 201 work-days for academic 
leave. 

Targeted marketing campaigns 
were created by developing 
advanced analytics projects, such as 
churn, value-based and behavioral 
segmentation. 

Passenger feedback received from 
various channels and categorization 
of comments by machine learning 

model facilitated effective sentiment 
analysis and measurement. 

All user transaction logs from the 
main reservation system were 
transferred to and maintained on a 
big data platform. As a result, warning 
alerts are developed by detecting 
fraud and misconduct from the 
agency and office transaction details. 

Turkish Airlines' existing data 
governance infrastructure helps make 
its data – one of the Company’s most 
valuable assets – transparent and 
easily accessible. 

Rolled out in 2019, the Customer 360 
application enables Turkish Airlines 
business units that are in direct 
contact with passengers to access a 
comprehensive transaction history via 
a single platform. 

By organizing business intelligence 
reports around key concepts, senior 
management and business units can 
benefit from data in their decision 
making processes effectively and 
quickly. 

Actively using 
Facebook Messenger, 
BiP and Telegram beta 
version, the Turkish 
Airlines Chatbot 
named Boti was also 
made available for 
passengers via the 
WhatsApp platform. 

The CIP Lounge Portal 
project accelerated 
passenger transaction 
speed and avoided 
detected fraud. 
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operation were installed and made 
ready for use. In addition, a radio 
infrastructure as well as radio towers 
were built to expand the coverage 
area of VHF radio which enables 
operation of multiple frequencies in 
open areas. Network infrastructure 
and end user devices, which remained 
idle at Atatürk Airport after the move, 
were removed. 

Turkish Airlines conducted upgrades 
to effectively manage operating 
systems of end user devices. 
Remote controllability was enabled 
by eliminating the need to send 
personnel to offices abroad to 
update their operating systems. This 
effort reduced operational costs and 
improved customer satisfaction. 

Under the project to standardize 
IT infrastructure services provided 
for offices abroad, standards were 
determined for internet connection, 
network infrastructure, end user 
devices and device images to 
facilitate management and tracking. 

Turkish Airlines used robotics process 
automation (RPA), one of the most 
important advanced technologies 
today, to automate certain 
operational processes within IT. As a 
result, the Company recorded savings 
on labor and eliminated human-
driven errors. 

New processes were added to the 
Turuncu Hat v2.0 application which 
was developed in 2018 based on 
ITIL processes. Key performance 
indicator (KPI)s were completed to 
measure the processes. In addition, 
Turkish Airlines identified all provided 
IT Services and collected other 
necessary information related to 
support models and services along 
with information regarding owners 
of these services and domain/
dependency models. In the end, 
a service based IT management 
perspective was adopted. As a result, 
Turkish Airlines made IT performance 
visible. IT support provided for 
the Company was upgraded and 
productivity increased. 

INFRASTRUCTURE AND OPERATION 
WORKS

In 2019, Turkish Airlines carried out 
consolidation efforts to provide cost 
savings in technological upgrades 
and operational IT support for servers, 
storage and backup units, databases 
and other infrastructure components 
used in information technologies. 

During the preparation and post-
support phases for the move to 
Istanbul Airport, wired and wireless 
network access infrastructure was 
enabled end-to-end in Turkish Airlines 
locations within the airport. End user 
devices required for the relocation 

Migrations between Yeşilköy and 
Florya Data Centers were automated 
with the work conducted in 
mainframe environments. This effort 
boosted operational continuity. 

Technical assessments were 
conducted in Turkish Airlines data 
centers in line with an earthquake-
proof and security perspective. 
Upgrades were carried out where 
deemed necessary. 

The file server shared by business 
units was moved onto a new systems 
infrastructure as a technological 
upgrade. Unnecessary and unused 
data were cleared; actively used data 
were migrated on the new server 
pursuant to determined standards. 
Significant improvements were 
completed in data security and 
management thanks to the new 
systems infrastructure and standards.

IN-HOUSE ACTIVITIES

Turkish Airlines demonstrated its 
commitment to information security 
with its successful performance in 
national and international audits. 
Significant advances were made 
in cyber security with tools and 
processes to prevent data leakage. 
Turkish Airlines also took measures to 
protect the confidentiality, integrity 
and accessibility of all kinds of data 
collected, processed and stored by 
the organization. 

In 2019, a new, specialized title 
structure was defined for IT personnel. 
In addition, the first job performance 
based measurement results were 
applied. For the first time at Turkish 
Airlines, individual performance 
targets were assigned to employees. 
Achievement of these targets was 
measured at year’s end. Trainings 
were administered to part-time IT 
staff who joined the organization 
by the Employment Department. 
Proficiency measurements were 
made from these trainings. Activities 
to expand in-house communication 
and orientation for newly recruited 
personnel were conducted 
throughout the year. 

Turkish Airlines redefined the main 
performance criteria of critical 
Information Technologies processes in 
accordance with IT strategic priorities. 
The monthly performance of each 
IT department was measured and 
analyzed over seven main domains 
and 27 KPIs focused on continuous 
improvement. Efforts were carried out 
to digitalize these processes.

Financial benefit, cost saving and 
income generation were prioritized 
within the Demand Management 
Process. Portfolio Performance 
Measurement, Effort Analyses for 
the Following Period, Project and 
the Analysis Assessment System 
with operated process flows were 
digitalized. Operational processes 
were automated via RPA. 
 
During the year, Turkish Airlines 
determined architectural 
transformation initiatives; assessed 
enterprise data bus products and 
services; reviewed various products, 
software and platforms; and 
continued No-Show Estimation 
project efforts. Work to ensure 
updated and consistent service, 
conduct application and product 

inventories, and detect service 
criticality is conducted simultaneously. 
Efforts were carried out to provide 
process automation required in many 
business areas. 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines expanded 
capabilities to integrate SDLC 
tools, which are used by its software 
development teams. CI/CD 
standards were identified for the 
use of these tools. An automated 
UAT environment installation was 
designed based on these standards; 
the installation was successfully 
tested in pilot projects. The Company 
designed and developed automation 
standards to conduct building, 
testing and deploying operations of 
all applications. This effort aimed to 
provide a more controlled structure 
for testing and going live. 

Analysis work was completed for 
the Turkish Airlines ITFinancial 
Management Portal. This platform 
was designed to provide traceability 
in many areas such as IT purchasing, 
contract, budget management. The 
portal is scheduled to launch in first 
quarter 2020. 

Efforts were made 
to better manage 
operating systems of 
end-user devices. 

Corporate Development and Information Technologies
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In addition, all Turkish Airlines 
personnel are obliged to comply with 
applicable laws, rules, and regulations, 
under the scope of their job 
description within the organizational 
structure.

PERSONNEL EXPERIENCE
In 2019, Turkish Airlines established 
the Personnel Relations Department 
in order to make employees feel 
valued and positively transform 
their work experiences. New staff 
members are welcomed with kits 
specifically prepared for them on 
their first day of work. Orientation and 
adaptation processes are redesigned 
based on conducted interviews. 
The employee experience map was 
formulated to improve the work-life 
experience of the workforce. The 
map enables feedback collection for 
each communication point. Career 
development plans are also created 
in collaboration with employees. With 
this map, Turkish Airlines aims to 
accompany its employees during the 
entire process, from day one on the 
job to their retirement day and even 
beyond.
 
Turkish Airlines also conducted 
the employee commitment and 
satisfaction survey to identify aspects 
open for improvement. Topics related 
to employees are determined and 
discussed at senior management 
level periodically with the Employee 
Commitment Executive Board under 
the Chairmanship of the General 
Manager. Next generation human 
resources applications are discussed 
and implemented using both 
feedback from employees and topic 
areas brought forward by department 
representatives. Staff members 
are offered convenient employee 
support channels for fast and direct 
access to the information related 
to human resource applications. 
Turkish Airlines’ appreciation and 
acknowledgement platform enable 
employees to interact with one 
another; instantly share their work 
priorities and development plans 
with their managers over the mobile 
application; and boost the visibility 
of cooperation and skills among 
employees via their talents defined 
on the app. 

AVERAGE YEARS OF 
SENIORITY OF EMPLOYEES

6.77

The mobile application also aims 
to make Turkish Airlines employees 
feel privileged with brand 
agreements, surprise gifts, activity 
announcements for clubs, and 
internal communications. 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND 
SAFETY
In the area of occupational health 
and safety, Turkish Airlines acts in 
compliance with national, legal 
and other regulatory requirements 
and international rules of the 
aviation industry. While planning 
new investments in relation to its 
area of activity, enlarging its fleet, 
and upgrading its technological 
infrastructure, the Company prefers 
the equipment and organizations 
with the lowest risk, considering the 
health and safety of its employees. 
The Company takes measures to 
minimize noise created by the aircraft 
in its fleet and conducts efforts to 
raise the occupational health and 
safety awareness of its employees 
and other stakeholders. In order to 
improve the occupational health and 
safety performance, the participation 
of each level of the organization and 
the stakeholders is ensured. An open 
dialogue on occupational health and 
safety is established with employees, 
suppliers and the local community as 
regards current and future activities. 
The necessary corrective measures 
are taken in line with the concerns of 
customers, employees, suppliers and 
the general public.

Turkish Airlines identifies occupational 
health and safety risks in all its 
activities, developing action plans 
to prevent occupational accidents 
and diseases. The Company also 
ensures ongoing supervision of the 
working environment, and preventive 
medicine; providing the necessary 
infrastructure to ensure a healthy 
and safe working environment 
for employees, subcontractors 
and visitors. Turkish Airlines makes 
sure that employees involved in 
critical functions are physically and 
medically ready for the operations 
they will perform. The Company is 
in continuous contact with National 
Emergency Response Units in the 
event of an emergency.

Human Resources

SERVICE-FRIENDLINESS 
WITH AROUND 30 THOUSAND 
EMPLOYEES

Turkish Airlines acts 
in compliance with 
national, legal and 
other regulatory 
requirements and 
international rules of 
the aviation industry 
in occupational health 
and safety.

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

29,491

In 2019, Turkish Airlines recruited 
a total of 3,942 employees – 2,103 
cabin crew, 810 flight crew, 701 
domestic ground personnel, 14 
overseas employees appointed by 
headquarters and 314 overseas local 
staff – to meet its human resources 
requirements. As of year-end 2019, a 
total of 29,491 persons were employed 
by Turkish Airlines; 15,914 are male 
(53.96%) and 13,577 are female 
(46.04%). Turkish Airlines employees 
have an average seniority of 6.77 years 
and an average age of 34.46. 38.67% 
of the Incorporation's employees are 
ground personnel, 19.80% are flight 
crew and 41.53% are cabin crew. As 
of year-end 2019, Turkish Airlines had 
a total of 350 aircraft, cargo planes 
included. The average number of 
employees per aircraft is 84.26. 

As of year-end 2019, 
Turkish Airlines 
had a total of 350 
aircraft, cargo planes 
included. The average 
number of employees 
per aircraft is 84.26. 

EFFICIENT AND PRODUCTIVE 
HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

Turkish Airlines' human resources 
policy is designed to ensure the 
employment and sustainability of 
qualified personnel who are capable 
of performing their duties effectively 
and productively, in line with the 
strategic plans and objectives of 
Turkish Airlines and in compliance with 
professional and ethical regulations. 

The human resources policy covers 
key areas, including human resources 
planning, determination of job 
descriptions, shaping corporate 
culture and awareness, staff 
employment, feedback system, 
training and development, personnel 
affairs, social and economic rights, 
ensuring employee satisfaction, and 
establishing work order, discipline and 
awards. 
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Compliance Management and Sustainability

HIGH QUALITY STANDARD 
PROVIDED BY OPERATION AND 
PROCESS AUDITS

COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT AND 
SUSTAINABILITY

Turkish Airlines with its expanding 
flight network every year, rapidly 
increasing fleet and increasing 
passenger number, is one of leading 
airlines in the aviation industry. Turkish 
Airlines considers a sense of quality 
beyond customer expectations 
while planning and managing its 
developments and changes in its 
activity area and scope; acts with an 
environmentally friendly approach 
and takes into account its life cycle.

The Company’s effective compliance 
monitoring system holds an 
important place among the factors 
that have enabled the steady 
commercial, financial and operational 
rise achieved and the success 
maintained by Turkish Airlines.

Turkish Airlines Compliance 
Monitoring System aims to:
• Assure continuous compliance and 

conformity of all activities carried 
out with all applicable laws, national 
and international civil aviation 
regulations as well as requirements 
of Turkish Airlines,

• Ensure that aviation operations 
are performed in compliance with 
the highest level of safety and 
security requirements of national 
and international civil aviation 
authorities; 

Turkish Airlines 
performs all its 
activities by making 
no concessions to 
customer satisfaction 
by utilizing 
environmentally-
friendly technologies 
and methods in 
conformity with 
the national and 
international civil 
aviation requirements. 

• Establish and continuously control a 
service quality that aims to exceed 
the expectations of customers 
rather than merely satisfying them; 

• Sustain its wide and strong business 
network, and create a difference 
with its employees.

Turkish Airlines does not discriminate 
between products and services 
procured from suppliers and 
subcontractors for customers and 
those it directly offers to customers 
and the Company includes all related 
activities into the Compliance 
Monitoring System. 

In 2019, products and services 
delivered in each operational 
area were audited to ensure that 
they meet Turkish Airlines' quality 
standards. Audits are conducted 
by 64 auditors trained and certified 
by national and internationally 
recognized institutions. Turkish 
Airlines auditors perform the following 
audits to other aviation organizations 
on behalf of International Aviation 
Transportation Association (IATA): 
• IATA DAQPC (De/Anti-Icing Quality 

Control Pool), 
• IOSA (IATA Operational Safety 

Audit), 
• IATA ISAGO (Safety Audit for 

Ground Operations).
 

QUALITY AND CUSTOMER 
SATISFACTION 

Turkish Airlines verifies the maturity 
of its business processes and the 
robustness of its management 
system with TS EN ISO 9001 Quality 
Management System Certification, 
which it has held since 2006. 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines included 
cargo transport service to the TS EN 
ISO 10002 Customer Satisfaction 
Management System which has 
been implementing for passenger 
transport service since 2015, and 
started to handle cargo customers’ 
complaints in addition to passenger 
complaints, more systematically, 
effectively and productively. 

Turkish Airlines maintains the validity 
of its Customer Management System 
Certification as a result of an audit 
performed in 2019 by an independent 
audit firm. Turkish Airlines improves 
products and services and ensures 
their continuity by utilizing information 
obtained from customer feedbacks.

INFORMATION SECURITY 

With the TS ISO/IEC 27001 
Information Security Management 
System which has been run since 
2017, Turkish Airlines keeps all 
information of its customers, suppliers 
and employees confidential within 
the framework of national and 
international laws, regulations and 
contracts; provides security; destroys 
and anonymizes when necessary.

As a result of the audit conducted by 
an independent audit firm in 2019, 
Turkish Airlines continues to plan 
training and audit activities in order 
to ensure the information security 
awareness of its employees and 
stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENT AND 
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND 
SAFETY 

In order to protect the environment; 
Turkish Airlines determines the 
environmental aspects of its 
activities, products and services; 
control measures and takes actions 
to minimize the environmental 
impacts that may arise from these 
environmental dimensions and 
eliminate them if possible.

Turkish Airlines establishes the 
necessary infrastructure to ensure 
a healthy and safe environment 
for its employees, subcontractors 
and visitors to avoid occupational 
accidents and disease by bringing 
under control any dangers that 
employees may be exposed to and 
by managing risks effectively. Turkish 
Airlines implements TS EN ISO 14001 
Environmental Management System 
and TS 18001 Occupational Health 
and Safety Management System 
with a keen awareness of its social 
responsibility since 2013, and conducts 
its activities with the regard of these 
standards’ obligations. Turkish Airlines 
extended both certifications this year 
as a result of an audit performed by 
an independent audit firm. 

COMBATING CLIMATE CHANGE 

Turkish Airlines actively struggles 
with climate change, which is one of 
the most important environmental 
problems of today, as undertaken 
in environmental policy. To boost 
fuel efficiency, Turkish Airlines takes 
measures to mitigate greenhouse gas 
emissions by optimizing its business 
operations, investing in new advanced 
technologies and continuously 
improving its infrastructure. 

As a result of targeted efforts in fuel 
efficiency, Turkish Airlines’ flights 
are 20% more fuel efficient today 
compared to a decade earlier, and in 
2019, Turkish Airlines conserved 55,492 
tons of fuel and prevented 174,800 
tons of carbon emissions into the 
atmosphere. 

Having one of the world's youngest 
aircraft fleets, Turkish Airlines aims 
to maintain its leadership position in 
fleet age and further decrease carbon 
and noise emissions with the more 
fuel-efficient next generation aircraft 
it plans to add to its fleet by 2023. 

Turkish Airlines added Airbus A321 
NEO aircraft to its fleet, yielding 
15% fuel savings compared to its 
counterparts. By adding this next 
generation aircraft to its fleet, 
the Company demonstrated its 
commitment to an environmentally 
oriented approach. 
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Compliance Management and Sustainability

business activities within its domestic 
work sites. Greenhouse gases are 
calculated, monitored and reported 
pursuant to the TS EN ISO 14064-
1 Standard with Guidance at the 
Organization Level for Quantification 
and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions and Removal, also these 
calculations and reports have been 
reviewed by third party verification 
bodies since 2016. 

Turkish Airlines monitors, reports 
and verifies its emissions originating 
from its flights within Europe as 
part of European Union Emission 
Trading System (EU-ETS). The 
Company implements the necessary 
applications to offset the generated 
emissions. In addition to EU-ETS, 
Turkish Airlines has voluntarily 
agreed to conform in the Pilot 
Phase of the Carbon Offsetting and 
Reduction Scheme for International 
Aviation (CORSIA), implemented 
by International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO), and as of 2019, 
Turkish Airlines has started to monitor 
emissions generated by all its flights 
with the purpose of reducing the 
impacts of CO2 emissions originating 
from the aviation industry. In the near 
future, emissions originating from 
flights between member states which 
agreed to implement CORSIA, will be 
offset. 

IOSA

IATA Operational Safety Audit (IOSA) 
Certificate that has been obtained 
by Turkish Airlines in 2005 for the 
first time and is renewed every two 
years indicates that IATA registers 
Turkish Airlines as a safe airline in the 
international arena. Beyond holding 
the IOSA Certificate, the fact that 
Turkish Airlines carries out safe and 
secure operations capable of meeting 
the requirements of IOSA is one of 
the most important anchor points 
underlying its sustainable success. 
Turkish Airlines renewed its IOSA 
Certificate in 2019 and maintained its 
continuity.

SAFA 

As a result of audits conducted in 
countries included in the Safety 
Assessment of Foreign Aircraft (SAFA) 
program executed by European 
Aviation Safety Agency (EASA), 
Turkish Airlines capped 2019 with a 
SAFA rating of 0.18. This strong rating 
– highly successful compared to 
European countries' operators whose 
SAFA average is 0.43–results from 
national and international relations 
that are managed more effectively. 
In addition, the Safety Assessment 
of Incorporation Aircraft (SACA) 
program applied on Turkish Airlines' 
aircraft by our SACA team uses the 
same methodology as the SAFA 
program, helping to boost our SAFA 
rating. 

Turkish Airlines maintains flight safety 
with a decrease in number of findings 
in last 3 years and successful and 
stable SAFA rating graphics among 
the leading operators of Europe. 

This success was recognized with the 
Certificate of Appreciation granted 
to the Company by the Directorate 
General of Civil Aviation.

Turkish Airlines plays an active role on 
the sustainability committees of key 
associations, supporting sustainability 
efforts on national and international 
platforms as part of its corporate 
responsibility. As one of the leading 
companies in the area of sustainability 
in the aviation industry, Turkish 
Airlines will systematically conduct its 
sustainability efforts in 2020, as well.

MANAGEMENT OF GREEN HOUSE 
GAS EMISSIONS
 
Turkish Airlines calculates, monitors 
and reports greenhouse gas 
emissions generated as a result 
of its flight operations and other 

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

In today's societies, the uncontrolled 
use of natural resources to meet the 
increasing needs of people in line with 
their welfare levels may cause disaster 
in ecological balances and create a 
potential danger for the environment. 
In order to meet the needs of the 
society and to maintain the ecological 
balance, it is an absolute requirement 
for organizations to evaluate their 
activities within the framework of 
“sustainability” to keep this potential 
danger under control.

TCO

A holder of European Aviation 
Safety Agency (EASA) Third Country 
Operator (TCO) Certification, 
Turkish Airlines is authorized to carry 
passengers and cargo to EASA-
member countries. Continuity of its 
EASA TCO Certificate – which Turkish 
Airlines first obtained in 2015 – is the 
most important confirmation that 
the Company is a safe and secure 
airline that upholds the rules of EASA. 
Turkish Airlines maintained its EASA 
TCO Certification in 2019, as well. 

ACTIVE PARTICIPATION IN 
NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL 
WORKING GROUPS 

By sharing successful 
implementations of its compliance 
monitoring efforts in the international 
arena, Turkish Airlines further 
improves its compliance monitoring 
system each day, rendering it more 
effective and productive. 

SAFA RATING

0.18

Turkish Airlines employees who 
are charged with implementing, 
maintaining and improving the 
compliance monitoring system, were 
selected in consideration of their 
competencies and experiences by 
national and international aviation 
authorities to actively taking part to 
the following working groups:
• IATA EOC (Environmental Oversight 

Council) Group, 
• IATA Sustainability Environmental 

Advisory Council,
• TIACA (The International Air Cargo 

Association) Sustainability Working 
Group,

• Star Alliance Sustainability Virtual 
Expert Community, 

• TSHA (Turkish Civil Aviation 
Academy),

• CAA INg Consultant/intervenant,
• DGCA (General Directorate of Civil 

Aviation), Cabin Safety Group,
• ICAO (International Civil Aviation 

Organization), Cabin Safety Group.

SAFA RATING PARAMETERS CHANGE 
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EXCEPTIONAL BRAND VALUE 
WIDELY RECOGNIZED WITH 
INTERNATIONAL AWARDS 

TURKISH AIRLINES BRAND

As the national flag carrier airline 
with many accomplishments, Turkish 
Airlines was once again named 
"Turkey's Most Valuable Brand" by 
Brand Finance in 2019, as in previous 
years. 

According to Global Brand Health 
research conducted by Nielsen, an 
independent research firm, in 55 
countries across the globe, Turkish 
Airlines is the "World’s Second Best 
Known Airline" and the "World's Most 
Preferred Airline." 

As the airline flying to the most 
countries worldwide, Turkish Airlines 
also recorded exceptional success at 
the Campaign Agency & Brand of the 
Year by being recognized as “Brand 
of the Year” in the “Transportation & 
Accommodation” category.

RIDLEY SCOTT CAMPAIGN 

Turkish Airlines teamed with 
acclaimed filmmaker Ridley Scott 
for a cinematic short film project 
reflecting its rich brand identity. This 
30-second commercial premiered 
during the Super Bowl on February 
3, 2019 while the six-minute 
cinematic short film version launched 
simultaneously on Turkish Airlines’ 
YouTube channel.

The film campaign presented the 
leap forward provided by Istanbul 
Airport – the home of Turkish Airlines 

Turkish Airlines 
recorded exceptional 
success at the 
Campaign Agency & 
Brand of the Year by 
being recognized as 
“Brand of the Year” in 
the “Transportation 
& Accommodation” 
category.

and hub to Turkish and global aviation 
– redesigned apparel and in-flight 
designs created in accordance with 
the new visual identity. As a result, the 
high profile campaign introducing the 
reimagined brand highlighted Turkey, 
its diverse tourism industry as well as 
Turkish Airlines. 

The short film launched in open air 
and movie theaters in 25 countries; 
additionally, it aired on global media 
channels. The commercial was 
broadcast at more than 3,000 cinemas 
reaching a total audience of around 
30 million. 

Post-launch, the Ridley Scott 
campaign has featured in 1,291 news 
stories in total around the world 
since February 4, 2019: 122 articles 
in Turkey and 1,169 articles in 45 
countries globally in 22 languages. 
The high-profile campaign received 
the most coverage in the US with 899 
news stories, while appearing in 46 
news articles in the United Kingdom 
and 40 in Canada. 1,261 of the news 
stories were published online while 
30 appeared in print media. These 
news articles resulted in 1.5 billion 
total views globally. 228 of the news 
stories about the commercial which 
premiered during the Super Bowl 
were published on major media 
platforms, including Adweek, Just 
Jared, USA Today, The Playlist, 
UPROXX, Yahoo, CBS, NFL, Chicago 
Tribune, ComicBook.com and  
Movies.com. 

TURKISH AIRLINES EUROLEAGUE 
CAMPAIGN 

The ad campaign for Turkish Airlines 
EuroLeague sponsorship garnered 
two prizes at the Crystal Apple Awards 
Turkey in the “Sponsorship Exercise” 
and “Creativity Born from Data” 
categories. In addition, the innovative 
campaign garnered four awards in the 
following categories at Felis Awards: 
"Creative Utilization of the Data,” 
“Brand Experience at Sports Events,” 
“Product and Brand Placement at 
Sports Events” and “Creativity in 
Data Collection.” The EuroLeague ad 
campaign was featured in television, 
cinema, print media and billboards in 
Spain, Italy, France, Greece, and Russia.
 
In total, 11,495 news stories on the 
campaign were published and 27 
billion total views were recorded 
during the season. 4,664 news stories 
appeared in Spain, 2,622 in Greece, 
1,287 in Turkey, 385 in Germany, 280 
in Russia, and 200 in the United 
Kingdom. The news articles were 
published in 39 languages via media 
outlets in 79 countries. A total of 11,003 
of the news stories were published 
online while 461 appeared in print 
media. 

TURKISH AIRLINES OPEN 
CAMPAIGN 

During September, Turkish Airlines 
ran TV and magazine advertising 
campaigns for the Turkish Airlines 
Open Golf Tournament. The ads 
appeared in the US, UK, Japan, Korea, 
Africa, Sweden, Italy, Spain and 
Germany markets. 

The digital advertising campaign 
appeared in 12 different media during 
the tournament and display ads 
received 26,000 clicks in total while 
social media posts garnered 49,000 
clicks. Ads were broadcast by dynamic 
banner advertising in campaign 
channels. 

A total of 6,943 new stories about the 
tournament were published in 25 
languages in 59 countries around the 
world. 1,652 news stories appeared in 
the US, 1,644 in the United Kingdom, 
1,266 in Ireland, 289 in Australia, 151 in 
France, 126 in Germany, 154 in South 
Africa, 121 in Canada, and 129 in India. 

In addition, 647 news stories appeared 
in Turkey. Of these news stories; 4,844 
were published online, 819 appeared 
in print, and 1,280 were broadcast on 
TV and radio. These published news 
articles resulted in 16 billion total 
views. 

TURKISH AIRLINES WORLD 
GOLF CUP 

Organized since 2013, the Turkish 
Airlines World Golf Cup Amateur 
Series was held in different 100 
destinations in 71 countries around 
the world in 2019. Thanks to this 
tournament, Turkish Airlines develops 
business relations on both regionally 
and globally. This platform also allows 
Turkish Airlines to promote its unique 
products and services, such as Flying 
Chef and in-flight catering, as well as 
its extensive flight network. 

TURKISH AIRLINES BOWLING

Turkish Airlines Bowling – the 
world's largest corporate bowling 
tournament – launched in 2012 in 
order to reach out to travel agencies, 
which figure among the Company’s 
most important sales channels. As a 
tournament organized by a corporate 
entity for its business partners, the 
event is a first in the world. Over the 

last eight years since its launch, the 
tournament has recorded significant 
organic growth. In recognition of 
its excellence, the Turkish Airlines 
Bowling Tournament received a Felis 
Award. 
 
TURKISH AIRLINES PORSCHE 
TENNIS GRAND PRIX

The Porsche Tennis Grand Prix, 
sponsored by Turkish Airlines for 
the last six years, has been held in 
Germany since 1978. A major women’s 
tennis tournament, the event is 
attended by tennis players in the top 
10 of world women's tennis rankings. 
At the Turkish Airlines Tiebreak 
Showdown, which launched in April 
this year and is name-sponsored by 
Turkish Airlines, the world’s leading 
tennis players competed against one 
other. The winner was awarded  
1 million Turkish Airlines miles. 

RIDLEY SCOTT CAMPAIGN 
NUMBER OF VIEWERS 

30
MILLION 
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The film tells the story of the 
determination of Necdet Turhan, the 
first visually challenged mountain 
climber and national athlete in Turkey 
to have climbed five summits on five 
continents. 

ISTANBUL AIRPORT CAMPAIGN
 
Travelers had the opportunity to 
experience Istanbul via a 360° 
interactive video at Istanbul Airport. 
One million people in total took part 
in this unique interactive experience. 
The video was featured in premium 
media, such as The Sun. Click bars 
were placed at key locations within 
the video for viewers. Travel lovers 
were able to tour Istanbul Airport, 
Çırağan Palace and Süleymaniye 
Mosque with a 360° experience by 
clicking on these bars. The campaign 
launched simultaneously in nine 
different world regions, primarily on 
news and travel sites. This effort was 
mainly a sales-oriented campaign. 
The innovative campaign was highly 
successful, recording 98 million ad 
views, 23 million video views, 35 million 
unique user accesses and 463,000 
clicks.

Turkish Airlines conducted ongoing 
communications via social media 
accounts before and after the Great 
Move to Istanbul Airport. A social 
media plan was developed to respond 
to any crisis notification arising from 
any social media channel. In addition, 
a communication plan was in place 
to inform and respond to any and 
all questions at any given moment 
related to the Great Move.

1,114 news articles featured in global 
media about the process of moving 
to Istanbul Airport. A total of 3 billion 
page views were achieved with these 
news stories. Germany and Singapore 
recorded the highest number of 
featured articles about the move, with 
260 and 244 stories, respectively. 1,050 
of the featured news articles around 
the world were published in online 
media while 58 stories appeared in 
print media. News of the “Great Move" 

TURKEY'S “THE SUMMIT” FILM 
CAMPAIGN 

The filming of the movie “The 
Summit,” Turkey's Image Film, took 
place on Mont Blanc, the highest 
mountain in Europe, located on 
the border of Italy and France. The 
film was shot by Renan Öztürk, a 
National Geographic director and 
professional mountain climber. Renan 
Öztürk is the first mountain climber 
to have climbed Meru Mountain, the 
most challenging peak to climb in 
the world. Jonathan Griffith, world 
renowned director of photography 
and professional mountain climber, 
was the film's assistant director of 
photography. 

A total of 1,114 
news stories were 
published in the 
global media 
regarding the “Great 
Move" to Istanbul 
Airport. As a result 
of these published 
news stories, Turkish 
Airlines achieved 3 
billion total viewings. 

featured on major global media 
platforms, including Yahoo, CNN, 
MSN, The New York Times, Mail Online 
UK, Fox News, The Independent, 
Telegraph, Bloomberg, Reuters, Le 
Figaro and Al Jazeera. 

LEGO® FLIGHT SAFETY FILM 

Turkish Airlines used program TV in 
its LEGO® Safety Movie 2 campaign 
launched in March 2019. The video 
was broadcast on the online tool/app 
found in Smart TVs. The completion 
rate for video viewings was 80.25% 
while the visibility rate was 65%. 
 
TURKISH CARGO MISSION RESCUE 
– CIRCUS LIONS

Live animal transport was placed 
on the communication agenda to 
boost the brand awareness score 
of Turkish Cargo and promote its 
operational strength. The strategy 
was based on receiving an emotional 
response from the target group in 
B2C communication for the premise 
of Turkish Cargo transporting living 
beings and not merely “cargo.” 

The effort consisted of working on 
the idea of restoring the natural lives 
of four circus lions which were saved 
by an animal rights organization from 
a circus in Ukraine. Video was also 
posted on Turkish Cargo’s LinkedIn 
page and Turkish Airlines’ social 
media accounts. The video achieved a 
completion rate of 82.8% on YouTube 
and outperformed the channel 
average by receiving 98.6% likes. 
Turkish Cargo entered the trending 
topic list on Twitter with 2,703 
mentions without any media support. 

PINK CAP – BREAST CANCER 
AWARENESS MONTH

In 2019, 7,522 posts were shared, 
including retweets and likes from 
7,245 accounts, in relation to the 
Instagram Pink Cap AR filter, 
specifically developed by Turkish 
Airlines for Breast Cancer Awareness 
Month. In addition, a special video 
was filmed with Captain Bilge Derin. 
277 of the shared content involved 
news content. Potential views of the 
Facebook, Instagram and Twitter 

posts were 103,462,865. The AR filter 
was used in 8,230 shots; 600,000 
views were achieved as a result of 
the shared posts. Views of the GIFs 
totaled 2.5 million. 

COOPERATION WITH AVEDA AND 
BOBBI BROWN 

Turkish Airlines cooperated with 
Bobbi Brown, one of the world’s 
leading beauty brands, in order to 
provide a standardized appearance 
for the whole cabin crew. As part of 
the cooperation with Bobbi Brown, 
which introduced the concept of 
natural makeup to the fashion sector, 
makeup application videos were shot 
to enable a standard appearance for 
the cabin crew.

Turkish Airlines also entered into 
a cooperation with Aveda, the 
world renowned natural and 
environmentally friendly hair 
care brand, to create hair styles in 
harmony with the new cabin crew 
outfits and that would consolidate 
the professional look. Thanks to the 
collaboration, Turkish Airlines cabin 
crews were presented with new hair 
styles by Aveda. The crew’s new styles 
were finished with high performing, 
natural Aveda products. 
 

DIGITAL ADVERTISING CAMPAIGNS 

During the year, Turkish Airlines 
conducted communication activities 
to boost regional sales; to highlight 
product/service offerings for primary 
target markets that will feature in 
global media channels; to announce 
and promote newly opened lines; 
and to raise the Company’s profile via 
sponsorships in line with corporate 
strategies. 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines recorded: 
• 3,786,841,101 ad displays,
• 19,172,674 ad clicks,
• 284,688,634 video views.

Turkish Airlines conducted 180 
overseas promotional campaigns in 
2019, up from 116 in 2018, an increase 
of 55% year-on-year. 

A breakdown of campaigns follows:
• 71 “Go Beyond” Sales Campaigns, 
 • 56 Brand Image Campaigns, 
 • 41 Turkey Sales Campaigns, 
 • 12 Other Campaigns.
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agreements. A total plural outreach 
of over 130 billion was achieved via 
media coverage of these news stories. 
In 2019, 245 PR media collaborations 
were made with editors, presenters 
and writers of major global media 
outlets, including the New York 
Times, Forbes, Business Traveler, 
CNBC, Glamour, The Sun, National 
Geographic, Le Monde, La Stampa, El 
Mundo, Vogue, Cosmopolitan, GQ, and 
Conde Nast Traveler.

During the year, a total of 141 PR 
collaborations were made with the 
following well-known and influential 
persons around the world: Former 
celebrated Brazilian footballer 
Kaka Leite; one of the world's 
most followed aviation bloggers 
and influencers, Sam Chui; famed 
American actress, singer and social 
media influencer Victoria Justice; 
renowned Brazilian actress, model 
and social media influencer Deborah 
Secco; celebrated South African R&B 
singer Kiernan Jarryd Forbes "AKA;” 
leading actress of the thriller series 
Shadow – the first Netflix production 
of South Africa – Amanda Du Pont; 
and famous Italian alpinist Danilo 
Callegari.
 
COMMUNICATION AWARDS

• Webby Awards (2019): Webby 
Honoree Award – “The Journey” film 

• PR Week (2019): Best 
Communication Campaign of 
February Award – Lego Safety 
Movie 

• Felis: Creative Utilization of Data 
(Felis Grand Award) – Turkish 
Airlines EuroLeague Flight Time 
Project 

• Felis: Branded Beverage and Brand 
Experience in Entertainment/Sports 
Activities 

• Felis: Branded Beverage and 
Product/Brand Placement in 
Entertainment/Sports Activities 

• Felis: Creative Utilization of Data/
Creativity in Data Collection 

• Crystal Apple/Crystal Award: Media 
Coverage/Sponsorship Exercise 

• Crystal Apple/Silver Award: Social 
Media and Activation/Creative 
Utilization of Data – Creativity Born 
from Data 

GLOBAL MEDIA INVESTMENTS

Turkish Airlines sponsored various 
television programs with "Presented 
by Turkish Airlines" on the following 
global platforms:
 • BBC (Travel Show),
 • CNN (Richard Quest – Quest’s 

World of Wonder),
 • Eurosport (Daily News),
 • Euronews Meteo Airport,
 • Bloomberg (Markets Close),
 • TRT World (Showcase and Beyond 

The Game),
 • Anews Sport News.

GLOBAL PR DATA

In 2019, a total of 40,584 news stories 
were published – with a mix of 45% 
positive, 47% objective, 8% negative 
– about the following events and 
activities: Great Move to Istanbul 
Airport; new cabin uniforms; Super 
Bowl – “The Journey” commercial 
film directed by Ridley Scott; Turkish 
Airlines Open Golf Tournament; New 
Boeing 787-9 Dreamliner aircraft; 
Turkish Airlines EuroLeague Final Four; 
Sharjah, Marrakech, Strasbourg, Port 
Harcourt, Bali, Pointe-Noire, Mexico 
City, Cancun, Luxor, Rovaniemi and 
Xi’an new destination launches; new 
Versace amenity kits; and codeshare 

In 2019, Turkish Airlines 
conducted 141 PR 
collaborations 
in total. 

MOROCCO

The airline that flies to more countries than any other
now flies to one more destination.

WELCOME ON BOARD:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
TARGETING HEALTHY CASH 
FLOW AND LIQUIDITY

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
PRACTICES

The financial risk management 
policy of the Company basically aims 
to ensure a healthy cash flow and 
liquidity in the future. 

Cash flow risk: The disruption of 
Company activities due to a possible 
mismatch between short, medium 
and long-term cash flows, resulting 
from operational activities and 
non-operational activities such as 
investment and financing. 

Fuel price risk: The effect of 
fluctuations in jet fuel prices on cash 
and profitability.

Interest rate risk: The effect of 
changes in interest rates on financing 
cost and portfolio returns. 

Foreign exchange risk: The effect 
of fluctuations in the value of 
different currencies that make up the 
Company’s revenues and expenses on 
cash flow and profitability.

Counterparty risk: Losses that may 
arise due to a possible default of the 
financial institutions which constitute 
counterparties to the Company’s 
financial transactions. 

Turkish Airlines's 
forward-looking cash 
flow is forecasted 
regularly, on monthly 
basis.

Swaps and options-
based derivative 
products are used 
for risk hedging 
transactions.

CASH FLOW RISK MANAGEMENT

The establishment and 
implementation of a sound cash 
management policy is one of 
the most prioritized issues of the 
Incorporation. Prospective cash flow 
of the Incorporation is forecasted 
regularly on monthly basis, in order 
to provide an effective cash flow risk 
management. 

Furthermore, the minimum cash level 
required for corporate continuity has 
been determined as well. Current 
and forecasted cash amounts are 
monitored with respect to this 
minimum level, and all necessary 
precautions are taken in order to 
prevent falling below this threshold.

FUEL PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT

Possible fluctuations in fuel price may 
potentially generate a huge volatility 
in the cash flow and corporate 
profitability. In order to keep this 
effect at the minimum level, the 
Incorporation has developed a fuel 
price risk hedging strategy. 

In line with the strategy, hedging 
transactions are done for the tenor 
of at most the next 24 months and 
up to 60% of the forecasted fuel 
consumption of the following month. 
Swaps and options-with/without 
premium are used for these purposes. 
 

In fuel price risk hedging transactions, 
derivative products designed on 
crude oil, as the underlying asset, are 
used since the crude oil and jet fuel 
prices are strongly correlated, besides, 
crude oil has much more market 
depth with respect to jet fuel. 

INTEREST RATE RISK 
MANAGEMENT

The Incorporation has a long-term 
debt liability due to the financing of 
its investments, especially the aircraft 
financing. In order to keep interest 
risk at a reasonable level, hedging 
transactions are executed by using 
swap and option-based derivative 
instruments. 

On the other hand, the Incorporation 
prioritizes cash flow planning, and 
manages the interest rate risk arising 
from the return of cash portfolio 
by focusing on the tenor-return 
relationship at an optimum level. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Since Turkish Airlines generates 
a large portion of its revenues in 
EUR, and its expenses are mainly in 
USD and TRY, fluctuations in these 
exchange rates cause the exchange 
rate risk. 

In the management of exchange rate 
risk, the first objective is to provide 
natural hedging. In this context, the 
basis currency of the contracts to 
be signed by the Incorporation is 
determined as to ensure the balance 
between revenue and expense 
currencies.

In line with the exchange rate risk 
management strategy, a cumulative 
and layered hedging methodology 
is applied. In this context, in order 
to hedge the projected short USD 
position with long EUR position, 
hedging transactions are executed 
for the tenor of at most the next 24 
months and up to at most 60% of 
the forecasted short position for the 
next month. Forward and option-
based zero-cost derivatives are used 
for these transactions. Likewise, in 
order to hedge the projected short 
TRY position with long EUR position, 
hedging transactions are executed 
for the tenor of at most the next 
18 months and up to at most 50% 
of the forecasted short position for 
the next month. Forward derivative 
instruments are used for these 
transactions. 

COUNTERPARTY RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Various measures are taken in order 
to minimize the losses that may arise 
as a result of possible problems of the 
financial institutions which are parties 
to the financial transactions that are 
performed by the Company. 

For deposit and derivative 
transactions, credit rating of 
counterparties that are given by 
international credit rating agencies 
are taken into consideration and 
it is preferred not to deal with 
the institutions that are below 
the threshold credit risk rating. 
Companies that are above threshold 
rating are assigned a risk level and 
transaction limit with respect to the 
credit risk evaluation methods. 

Moreover, "Derivative Framework 
Agreement" is signed with 
domestic financial institutions, and 
“International Swaps and Derivatives 
Association (ISDA)” and "Credit 
Support Annex” (CSA) agreements 
are signed with foreign financial 
institutions.
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1. Statement of Compliance with 
Corporate Governance Principles
The Incorporation, which aims at 
promoting and representing Turkey 
and Turkish Aviation industry in 
international arena in the best 
possible manner and which has 
adopted the transparency, fairness, 
responsibility and accountability as 
a principle, complies with any and all 
mandatory principles set out in the 
Corporate Governance Principles 
attached to the Capital Market 
Board (CMB) Corporate Governance 
Communique n: II-17.1 and pays 
utmost attention to abide by non-
mandatory principles thereof. 

Pursuant to the Capital Market Board 
Corporate Governance Communique 
n: II-17.1 dated on 10.01.2019 and 
numbered 2/49, corporations are 
subject to disclose Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report on 
the Public Disclosure Platform. Non-
mandatory Corporate Governance 
Principles disclosed on Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report 
template and current corporate 
governance applications disclosed on 
Corporate Governance Information 
Form template. Templates of the 
Incorporation are available on the 
following website https://www.kap.
org.tr/en/sirket-bilgileri/ozet/1107-
turk-hava-yollari-a-o under the titles 
of Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Report and Corporate 
Governance. 

Non-mandatory Corporate 
Governance Principles, which are 
not observed by the Incorporation 
and the reasons thereof, are given 
in the templates and the relevant 
parts of the report. The Incorporation 
keeps carrying out activities for 
continuous development of 
Corporate Governance approach 
and for enhancement of the level 
of compliance with the Corporate 
Governance Principles. 

PART I – SHAREHOLDERS

2. Investor Relations Department 
There is an Investor Relations 
Management, directly reporting to 
Assoc. Prof. Murat Şeker, Ph.D., Chief 
Financial Officer, which has been 
established in order to operate with 
respect to informing any domestic 

and foreign investors in a correct, 
consistent and timely manner and 
ensuring the communication and 
information exchange between 
the Board of Directors and the 
regulators and participants of the 
capital markets and observing the 
compliance with the regulations and 
Articles of Association with respect 
to exercise of shareholding rights 
and also fulfilling the obligations for 
disclosure in compliance with any 
and all kinds of regulations, within the 
organization of Turkish Airlines.

In 2019, Investor Relations Department 
participated in 6 investor conferences 
and roadshows, performed 60 
teleconferences and held more than 
80 individual/corporate investor 
meetings, in order to share any 
financial, operational and strategical 
developments in relation to the 
Incorporation with investors and 
analysts. During these conferences, 
and teleconferences, it was convened 
with the 273 investors/analysts from 
140 corporates and funds, at the 
head office of the Incorporation and 
at the offices of the investors. All 
analysts who issued a report about 
our Incorporation were contacted and 
accurate and proper information was 
conveyed preparation of the reports 
and feedback related to their reports 
were delivered. 3 teleconferences 
were organized about financial 
statements results and their records 
were published on the Investor 
Relations website. Approximately 
2.300 applications were received by 
the Incorporation by e-mail within the 
activity period 2019 for the purpose 
of obtaining information. Besides the 
applications received by e-mail, many 
investors and shareholders were also 
informed by phone.

In 2015, Sustainability Reporting was 
carried out for the first time within 
the organization of the Incorporation 
and any improvable matters with 
respect to all stakeholders were 
identified during such process. 
Accordingly, any and all Incorporation 
policies, systems, procedures and 
documents such as "Code of Conduct 
Manual," which are included in the 
subjects of Corporate Governance, 
have been reviewed, and any actions 
for revision thereof have been started 
to be taken for such purpose. In 

2019, Turkish Airlines stuck at the 
studies and investments it has carried 
out for a sustainable future, and 
has released its 2018 Sustainability 
Report, comprised of four pillars, 
each of which includes a number of 
material aspects, namely Governance, 
Economy, Environment and Social. 
With its sustainability practices and 
policies in 2019, Turkish Airlines, 
strongly committed to contributing 
to sustainable development by 
conducting its business in a socially, 
economically and environmentally 
responsible manner, has been entitled 
to place in the BIST Sustainability 
Index, as it has been in the past years. 
BIST Sustainability Index, is composed 
of companies traded at Borsa İstanbul 
that boast high level of corporate 
sustainability performance. 

Aiming to further improve the 
transparent communication it 
established with its stakeholders, 
Investor Relations Department has 
an Investor Relations Application 
compatible with iPad, iPhone and 
Android devices to the service of 
the users. Thanks to the application, 
domestic and foreign investors as 
well as all Turkish Airlines stakeholders 
got the opportunity to have access to 
up-to-date developments, material 
disclosures, operational and financial 
statements, investor presentations, 
activity reports and many other 
documents regarding Turkish Airlines, 
via 3 different digital platforms and in 
2 languages. 

Investor Relations Department 
submitted the report for activities it 
conducted in 2019, to the information 
of the Board of Directors of the 
Incorporation. Contact info of the 
Investor Relations staff is provided 
below:

Kadir Coşkun
Investor Relations Manager
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 13630
E-mail: kadirc@thy.com

Özge Şahin
Investor Relations Supervisor
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 11841
E-mail: ozges@thy.com

Hilal Özmen
Engineer
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 12976
E-mail: hozmen@thy.com

Nazire Şahan Korkmaz
Investor Relations Specialist 
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 12195
E-mail: nazirekorkmaz@thy.com

Burak Tavukçuoğlu
Investor Relations Specialist 
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 19832
E-mail: b.tavukcuoglu@thy.com

Çağatay Kaan Türkoğlu
Investor Relations Specialist 
Tel: +90 212 463 63 63 Ext: 16104
E-mail: cturkoglu@thy.com

3. Exercise of Right to Information 
by Shareholders
The Investor Relations Department 
of our Incorporation replies any 
requests of information and any 
inquiries, delivered thereto by 
either the stakeholders or any 
other shareholders by means of 
different communication channels, 
by using the most efficient means 
of communication as soon as 
possible. On the other hand, there 
is an Investor Relations web page 
(investor.turkishairlines.com), which 
is accessible through the corporate 
web site of the Incorporation, in order 
for ensuring the efficient exercise of 
the rights of shareholders to obtain 
information and any investors and 
any other stakeholders may access 
any public financial and operational 
data, material disclosures and any 
and all announcements for exercise 
of the shareholding rights through 
such web site. Besides, any persons/
organizations, signing up for the 
distribution list, may be informed 
about any up-to-date operational and 
financial disclosures by e-mail.

No regulation on request for 
assignment of a special auditor 
is available under the Articles of 
Association; and no request was made 
to assign a special auditor in 2019.

4. General Meetings 
The regulations as regards the 
General Assembly Meetings of 
our Incorporation are set out in 
the Articles of Association, publicly 
available on the Investor Relations 
web site of the Incorporation.

Ordinary General Assembly Meeting, 
during which the accounting and 
activities of 2018 were discussed, was 
held on 28.06.2019 at VIP Meeting Hall 
at the General Management Building 
situated at Yeşilköy Mh. Havaalanı Cad. 
No: 3/1 Bakırköy/Istanbul, the principal 
office address of the Incorporation. 

The shareholders, representing 
TL 943,139,813.07 (68%) of TL 
1,380,000,000, which was the issued 
capital of the Incorporation, attended 
the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting and The Meeting was held 
open to the public including the 
stakeholders, without having the right 
to speak. There is no special demand 
from media to the General Assembly 
Meeting. The General Assembly 
Meeting was held physically and 
electronically as per the legislation of 
Turkish Commercial Code No: 6102 
and the regulations of the CMB.

The announcement and invitation 
to the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting was published in Trade 
Registry Gazette (TTSG), nr. 
03.06.2019/9842, in Sabah newspaper 
dated 10.06.2019 and on the 
Electronic General Assembly 
System, which is available within the 
organization of Central Registration 
Agency and Public Disclosure 
Platform as well as on the website 
of investor relations three weeks 
before the date of the meeting, 
along with the notifications and 
disclosures required to be made by 
the Incorporation in accordance with 
the relevant regulations. As per the 
article no: 437 of Turkish Commercial 
Code (TCC), financial statements, 
consolidated financial statements, 
annual activity report of the board 
of directors, audit reports and profit 
distribution proposal of the Board 
of Directors were uploaded on the 
website of the Incorporation before 
the date of General Assembly 
Meeting in accordance with the 
periods specified by the regulations 
and submitted to the examination 
of the shareholders at the principal 
office and branches of the 
Incorporation.

It was ensured that the Members of 
the Board, other related persons and 
other authorized persons in charge 
of preparing the financial statements 
as well as the auditors were present 
at the General Assembly Meeting in 
order to provide required information 
and respond to any inquiries with 
respect to any specific matters in the 
agenda. 

The subjects on the agenda were 
submitted objectively and in detail 
through a clear and understandable 
method during the General Assembly 
Meeting of the Incorporation and 
the shareholders were provided 
with an opportunity to convey their 
opinions and ask questions under 

equal circumstances. Although the 
practice for replying the questions 
of the shareholders verbally and for 
replying the comprehensive questions 
in writing was available during the 
General Assembly Meeting, no 
question which required to be replied 
in writing was asked in this meeting. 
The questions asked during the 
meeting were replied verbally and 
such replies were added into the 
minutes of the meeting. 

The minutes of meeting, which 
included the questions asked in 
the meeting and replies thereof 
are available on the website of 
the Investor Relations of our 
Incorporation. No agenda suggestion 
was proposed by the stakeholders 
during this meeting. The minutes of 
the General Assembly Meeting and 
the list of participants are disclosed 
publicly on the same day via the 
Public Disclosure Platform and 
submitted to the information of the 
shareholders on the website of the 
Investor Relations of the Incorporation 
and on the Electronic General 
Assembly System. The minutes of 
the General Assembly Meetings of 
the previous years and any other 
documents are also available on the 
web site of the Investor Relations of 
the Incorporation. The Minutes of the 
General Assembly Meeting, dated 
28.06.2019, was published in the TTSG, 
dated 23.07.2019 and no: 9874.

Since there was no process where 
favorable vote of the majority of 
the Independent Members of the 
Board was sought for adoption of a 
resolution in the Meeting of the Board 
of Directors and where the General 
Assembly Meeting was consulted 
to adopt a resolution due to the 
dissenting votes of the Members, 
such an agenda was not available in 
the General Assembly Meeting.

Information about the charitable 
donations incurred within the period 
in accordance with our Donation 
Policy adopted by the General 
Assembly is provided through a 
separate agenda item during the 
General Assembly Meeting. Total 
amount of donation granted by 
our Incorporation in 2018 for the 
purpose of social aid was TL 434,783 
and no other donation was available. 
Donation Policy of the Incorporation 
is submitted to the information of 
the shareholders via the website 
of the Investor Relations of the 
Incorporation.
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5. Voting Rights and Minority Rights 
Voting right is regulated in the article 
no: 31 of the Articles of Association, as 
specified below:

‘’Each shareholder or proxy attending 
the ordinary or extraordinary 
Shareholders Assembly Meetings 
will be vested with one vote for each 
share, provided that the provisions 
of Article 6/d of this Articles of 
Association are reserved.’’

As per the subparagraph 5 of the 
article no: 14 of the Articles of 
Association;

It is required for the Board member 
representing Group C share to attend 
the meeting and his affirmative vote 
is required for the effectiveness of the 
resolutions of the Board of Directors 
regarding the followings issues: 

• Resolutions which will clearly 
adversely affect the mission of the 
Incorporations as indicated in Article 
3.1 of this Articles of Association;

• Any suggestion to be made to 
the General Assembly for any 
modification in the Articles of 
Association;

• Increase of the share capital;
• Approval of transfer of registered 

shares and registration of the 
transfer in the Share Register;

• Any transaction, based on each 
contract, which exceeds 5 % of the 
total assets of the Incorporation 
as indicated in the latest balance 
sheet submitted to the Capital 
Market Board and which is directly 
or indirectly binding for the 
Incorporation, any resolution which 
will bring the Incorporation under 
any commitment, (provided that in 
case the share of the public in the 
Incorporation has decreased below 
20 % of the Incorporation’s share 
capital, then the provisions of this 
clause will automatically terminate); 

• Merger, termination or liquidation of 
the Incorporation; 

• Any resolution about the 
cancellation of any flight route or 
for a remarkable decrease in the 
number of flights, excluding the 
routes which do not even have a 
revenue to meet its own operating 
costs based on exclusive market 
conditions or through other sources.

The privileges of group C share may 
only be limited by the Privatization 
High Council or any other public 
institution, which will take over such 
duties. 

Our Incorporation pays utmost 
attention to ensure the exercise of 
minority rights. In accordance with 
the Article no: 10 of the Articles of 
Association, any shareholder holding 
the public group A shares may only be 
nominated to the Board of Directors 
provided that they are represented at 
the rate of minimum 2% of the total 
issued capital in the Ordinary General 
Assembly Meeting during which the 
Members of the Board are elected.

The shareholders submitted no 
request for representation of the 
minority in the management during 
the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting held in 2019, where the 
accounting and activities for 2018 
were discussed. Also, there is no 
company, with which no relationship 
based on mutual interests is available 
and cumulative voting method is 
not specified under the Articles of 
Association.

6. Right of Dividend 
The principles for determination 
and distribution of the distributable 
profit within the organization of 
the Incorporation are regulated in 
the article no: 36 of the Articles of 
Association. There is no privilege in 
respect of participation to the profit.

General Assembly determines the 
time and method of payment of 
the profit, by taking into account 
the communiques of the CMB. 
Accordingly, profit distribution 
policy of the Incorporation has 
been determined by taking into 
account the strategical targets, 
growth trend and financial needs 
of the Incorporation as well as the 
expectations of the shareholders 
in accordance with the Turkish 
Commercial Code, the Capital 
Market Law, relevant legal regulations 
and the provisions set out in the 
Articles of Association and such 
policy is available on the website 
of the Investor Relations of the 
Incorporation and in the annual 
report of the Board of Directors. Profit 
distribution policy includes clearly any 

minimum details in such a manner 
that will enable the shareholders 
to estimate the procedures and 
principles for distribution of the profit 
to be obtained by the Incorporation 
in the following periods and is based 
upon the adoption of a balanced 
policy between the interests of 
the shareholders and that of the 
Incorporation.

The proposal of the Board of Directors 
of the Incorporation, as regards the 
revision of the Profit Distribution 
Policy of the Incorporation, was 
approved by the General Assembly 
at the Ordinary General Assembly 
Meeting, dated 04.04.2016 and the 
updated policy is available on the 
web site of Investor Relations of the 
Incorporation.

According to the consolidated 
financial statements belonging to 
the accounting period of 01.01.2018-
31.12.2018 prepared in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards within the framework of 
the provisions of the Communiqué 
of the CMB Serial: II, and Number: 
14.1 and audited by KPMG Bağımsız 
Denetim ve Serbest Muhasebeci 
Mali Müşavirlik A.Ş., net profit for the 
period is TL 4,045,000,000. On the 
other hand, according to the legal 
books (under the provisions of Turkish 
Tax Procedure Law) the net loss of the 
period is TL 8,115,218,355 and previous 
years' loss account has a balance 
of TL 10,055,207,776. Accordingly, it 
has been decided, in the Ordinary 
General Assembly Meeting dated 
28.06.2019, the loss amount according 
to the legal books will be transferred 
to previous years' loss account. As 
there will not be any distributable 
profit (according to the legal books), 
the net profit of TL 4,045,000,000 
(according to IFRS) will be transferred 
to the previous years' profit account 
and that no profit distribution to the 
shareholders of the Incorporation 
shall be distributed for the year of 
2018.

7. Transfer of Shares 
The shares held by the foreign 
shareholders may not exceed 40% 
of the total issued capital of the 
Incorporation, as per the Article 
6 of the Articles of Association 
of our Incorporation, regarding 

“Shareholders Nature’’. In calculating 
the rates of the shares held by the 
foreigner shareholders, the rate of 
foreign shareholding in the shares 
held by the shareholder holding 
Group A shares which are not open for 
public will be taken into consideration 
as well.

As per the Article No: 7 of the Articles 
of Association, as regards the transfer 
of shares, the transfer of shares shall 
be subject to the provisions set out 
in TCC, Capital Market Regulations 
and Civil Aviation Regulations and 
no provision, which would obstruct 
the free transfer of shares by the 
shareholders, is available in the Articles 
of Association of our Incorporation. 

The nature of shareholding and any 
matters concerning the transfer of 
shares are specified in the relevant 
sections of the Articles of Association, 
along with the implementation 
principles and the reasons thereof 
and are available on the website 
of Investor Relations of the 
Incorporation.

PART II – PUBLIC DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY

8. Disclosure Policy
A Disclosure Policy was established 
by the Board of Directors of 
the Incorporation in an effort to 
determine the general principles 
and procedures as regards any 
information to be shared with 
the shareholders, investors, other 
participants of the capital markets 
and any other relevant stakeholders 
and as regards the method, 
frequency and means to be used, 
while sharing such information as well 
as regarding any public disclosures, in 
accordance with the Material Events 
Communique of CMB and Corporate 
Governance Communique, the 
relevant provisions of TCC and the 
regulations of Borsa Istanbul (BIST). 

In respect of implementation of 
the disclosure policy, it is essential 
to inform all stakeholders, including 
the shareholders, investors, 
employees and customers, about 
any information, events and 
developments, which might affect the 
investment decisions of the investors, 
on equal terms in a timely, accurate, 
complete, understandable and readily 
manner, so as to be accessible at the 
lowest cost.

In this context, 46 Material Disclosures 
were made by our Incorporation in 
2019 and no request for additional 
disclosures for such Material 
Disclosures was submitted by CMB 
and BIST. Our Incorporation paid 
attention to deliver any material 
disclosures to investors, savers, 
institutions and organizations in a 
simultaneous, timely, understandable 
accurate, interpretable and full 
manner.

The power and responsibility 
for monitoring, supervising and 
improving the disclosure policy of our 
Incorporation belongs to the Board 
of Directors. Any amendments to be 
made in the disclosure policy shall 
take effect upon the approval of the 
Board of Directors and be published 
on the website of the Incorporation.

9. Corporate Website and  
Its Contents 
Corporate website of our 
Incorporation is www.turkishairlines.
com and the website of Investor 
Relations, which is also accessible 
through the corporate website, is 
investor.turkishairlines.com and both 
websites have English versions. Any 
information on the corporate and 
Investor Relations website of the 
Incorporation is identical to and/
or consistent with the disclosures 
made in accordance with the 
relevant provisions of the legislation 
and contains no contradictory or 
incomplete information. 

The website of Investor Relations 
contains current Shareholding 
Structure, last version of the Articles 
of Association along with the TTSG 
on which any amendments were 
published, the agenda of the General 
Assembly, the form for voting by 
proxy, the list of the participants, 
additional/supplementary 
information and minutes of the 
meeting, annual reports, financial 
statements, business activity 
data, Incorporation presentations, 
Corporate Governance Principles 
Compliance Reports, information 
about the Board of Directors and 
Committees, Material Disclosures, 
Press Releases, Code of Ethics, Policies 
(Profit Distribution Policy, Disclosure 
Policy, Pricing Policy, Donation Policy), 
details of the transaction with the 
associated parties, share details, 
analyst details, independent auditor 
details, Trade Registry Gazette details, 
contact details and frequently asked 
questions, including any matters 
specified under the Corporate 
Governance Policies.

Any information available on the 
website of Investor Relations are also 
prepared in English, in such a way to 
be exactly the same as the Turkish 
version, for the purpose of enabling 
international investors to benefit 
from such information. Investors are 
able to convey their opinions and 
suggestions to the Investor Relations 
Department via the relevant form 
under the heading “Opinions and 
Suggestions” available on the website 
of Turkish Airlines Investor Relations. 
The investors are redirected to the 
e-mail address “ir@thy.com” in order 
to deliver any inquiries under the 
heading “Contact.” In addition, any 
persons/institutions, signing up the 
distribution list through the website, 
can be informed of any up-to-date 
operational and financial disclosures 
by e-mail.

The content, which is required to 
be available on the website in a 
dedicated way pursuant to the 
“Regulation on the Websites to be 
Established by Equity Companies,” 
dated 31.05.2013, of the Ministry of 
Customs and Trade, is accessible 
through the link “Information Society 
Services” available on the home page 
of the website of the Incorporation.

10. Activity Report
The activity report of our 
Incorporation is prepared in 
such a way to allow the public 
access to complete and accurate 
information about the activities of 
the Incorporation and contains all 
information specified under the 
relevant regulations and Corporate 
Governance Principles.

PART III – STAKEHOLDERS

11. Disclosures to Stakeholders 
In addition to those specified under 
the statutory regulation and material 
disclosures, any other information 
and disclosures in relation to the 
Incorporation, which are considered 
to concern any other stakeholders, 
are also disclosed in a timely and 
explanatory manner through 
the most appropriate means of 
communication. Shareholders 
and participant of capital markets 
as well as the suppliers, financial 
institutions and all other stakeholders 
are informed continuously through 
the press releases, annual reports, 
sustainability reports, website and 
the applications available under the 
Disclosure Policy of the Incorporation. 

Corporate Governance Principles Compliance Report
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Announcements are made through 
the internal arrangements in order 
to inform the employees about the 
general practices and activities of 
the Incorporation and the Intranet 
of the Incorporation is actively used 
and also the periodical “Empathy,” 
which is an internal communication 
publication, is published on a monthly 
basis. Communication channels of the 
Incorporation have been established 
in a way to be accessed by any and all 
stakeholders and the contact details 
were also published on the website of 
the Incorporation.

“UP” mobile application developed 
in order to ease the employees’ daily 
lives, is the most active channel used 
in our Incorporation, and currently 
has 39.000 users. Thanks to the 
application, the employees can access 
information of passenger load factor 
of any flight, discounted brands 
special to employees, transportation 
services and food menu, smart 
address book, employees’ birthdays, 
surveys, opinions and suggestions 
delivery through their mobile devices.

Stakeholders may, at all times, 
contact the Corporate Governance 
Committee or Audit Committee via 
the Department of Investor Relations 
or directly via the channels such as 
e-mail, mail, phone, etc. In case of 
conflicts of interest between the 
stakeholders or in case of inclusion 
of any stakeholder in more than one 
interest group, a balanced policy is 
followed in order to protect the rights 
possessed as much as possible and 
it is aimed at protecting each right 
independently.

12. Stakeholders’ Participation in 
Management
Management meetings, in which 
domestic and international 
managers and senior executives of 
the Incorporation participate, are 
held within the organization of the 
Incorporation on regular basis every 
year, in addition to the meetings in 
which the suppliers, domestic and 
international sales agencies, sales 
organizations of the Incorporation 
and personnel holding various 
positions participate regularly and an 
exchange of opinions in relation to 
the workshops and panels is achieved 
during such meetings.

Moreover, a suggestion system 
is implemented within the 
Incorporation and the employees 
submit their suggestions for 
improvement and development 
with respect to any matter in relation 
to the Incorporation through such 
system and any suggestions deemed 
appropriate are implemented. Also, 
the Incorporation pays attention to 
the opinions and suggestions of all 
stakeholders as well as the surveys for 
customer satisfaction.

13. Human Resources Policy
The Incorporation has in place a 
Human Resources Policy, which has 
been determined by the Board of 
Directors and any and all actions for 
sub-departments and all personnel, 
which are organized based on 
the processes, are carried out in 
accordance with the regulations. The 
principle for equal opportunities for 
the persons with equal requirements 
is adopted during recruitment 
and career planning processes. 
The procedures and principles 
of recruitment processes of our 
Incorporation are specified under 
the General Employment Procedure 
of the Incorporation and in the 
employment process charts. The 
processes vary according to the 
work groups as cockpit crew, cabin 
crew, internal staff and external 
staff. The procedure outlines the 
information about the departments 
having responsibilities at each stage, 
the announcement criteria, process 
flows and management of personnel 
records. 

The relations with the employees are 
carried out through the Employee 
Relations Management department. 
This department is responsible 
for improving the communication 
with the employees, measuring 
the employee loyalty/satisfaction 
on a yearly basis, and reporting on 
department basis, taking actions to 
increase employee satisfaction and 
motivation, following the trends that 
boost the motivation with benchmark 
studies and implementing them 
within the Incorporation and carrying 
out any announcements in relation to 
the employees. All measures are taken 
in order not to discriminate based on 
race, religion, nationality and gender 

and in order to protect the employees 
against any physical, mental and 
emotional abuses. The task definitions 
of the employees of our Incorporation 
are regularly published on the intranet 
page of Turkish Airlines. All employees 
can access the task definition via the 
intranet page of Turkish Airlines.

On the other hand, most of the 
employees of our Incorporation is 
a member of the labor union. The 
relations between the employees 
and the employer, at each level, with 
respect to the Collective Bargaining 
Agreement and any matter 
concerning the staff, are conducted 
in the most efficient manner and in 
a manner to obtain result, through 
the agency of the representatives 
and union executives assigned by 
the labor union, in numbers and 
proportions specified in the legal 
legislation. All employees get fair 
treatment in terms of the rights 
granted and also training programs 
are conducted to improve their skills, 
knowledge and experience. The 
employees are provided with a safe 
working environment and conditions, 
both in Turkey and overseas.
 
14. Code of Ethics and Social 
Responsibility 
Carrying on its activities in accordance 
with its identity as the flag carrier, our 
Incorporation pays utmost attention 
to act sensitively towards its social 
responsibilities while performing its 
activities and guides and encourages 
its subsidiaries accordingly. Code of 
Conduct Manual of the Incorporation 
was created by the Board of Directors 
in accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Principles and published 
on the website of the Incorporation. 
In addition, The Ethic Committee 
procedure coded as PR.10.32.084 
has been updated and gone into 
operation on 08.05.2019. The Code of 
Conduct of the Incorporation covers 
fundamental principles and values of 
ours as well as various matters such 
as compliance with the regulations, 
anti-bribery, anti-corruption and 
anti-competition, etc. Our employees 
learn about the Code of Conduct and 
are informed about the Corporate 
Code of Conduct Manual of the 
Incorporation as they commence 

to work within the Incorporation. 
Therefore, it is ensured that the 
employees act respectfully towards 
the laws, ethical values, social norms 
and environment in terms of their 
words and behaviors in line with the 
generally-recognized principles in 
business life. For this purpose, The 
Code of Conduct and The Ethic 
Committee trainings are assigned to 
Incorporation employees to enhance 
their awareness about The Code of 
Conduct. 

In addition, the Ethical Way, which is 
an Ethical Reporting Line, established 
within the Incorporation, is a 
reporting system created in order to 
ensure that all kinds of acts that are 
contrary to the corporate principles, 
with respect to the discrimination, 
bribery, conflict of interests and anti-
competitive practices, are reported 
by the employees of Turkish Airlines, 
on anonymous way. The Ethical Way, 
managed by a fully independent 
third party company, is a line specific 
to the questions and/or reports of 
the employees of Turkish Airlines, 
as regards to the ethical issues. The 
Ethic Committee, consisting of four 
board members and one chairman, 
which is in charge of dealing with such 
applications, hears each personnel 
in relation to the application 
submitted to the Ethical Way and 
receives the opinions of the relevant 
departments in the light of studies 
that is carried out by members of 
the Subcommittee before it submits 
its advisory decisions or proceeds 
administrative act about the 
personnel. In 2019, 278 reports were 
received from the employees of our 
Incorporation through the Ethical 
Way. These reports included the 
matters such as employee-employee, 
employee-manager communication 
problems and criticism about the 
general practices of the organization 
and working conditions.

Our Incorporation carries on its 
domestic and international activities 
by taking into account both its 
climatic and environmental as well 
as social responsibilities. There is 
no legal action filed against the 
Incorporation, due to any damage to 
the environment. The Sustainability 
Report, which includes all activities 
performed by the Incorporation with 
respect to its relevant responsibilities, 
is accessible through the website of 
the Investor Relations.

Our Incorporation carried out various 
activities in the fields of humanitarian 
aid, sport, science-technology and 
culture in 2019. With the agreement 
between United Nations Alliance of 
Civilizations and us, we announced a 
social responsibility project which will 
use sport’s unifying power to recover 
social inequalities. The project called 
sports for peace will maintain during 
2020. 

Having sponsored sporting events 
all over the world, Turkish Airlines 
is carrying out various activities to 
integrate disabled individuals into 
sports activities more. In this context, 
the sponsorship agreement with the 
“Physically Disabled Sports Federation” 
continues.

To improve the interest towards 
scientific research of the young and 
the children in our country, Turkish 
Airlines is supporting various NGOs 
operating activities in fields of science, 
technology and innovation. Our 
sponsorship for Teknofest Aeorspace 
and Technology Festival took place 
in Ataturk Airport in September, and 
ended with a huge participation of 
guests interested in aviation. 

Turkish Airlines 7th Science 
Ambassadors Summit occurred with 
the participation of various scientists. 
We provided equality in opportunities 
to hundreds of university students. 
With the Turkish Airlines Science 
Expo sponsorship, we supported the 
developments in technology, aviation 
and science regionally.

TOSIDO, the project considers aviation 
and cultural tours to our Flight 
Training Center (Simulator), Tour 
Istanbul and Do&Co. In the year of 
2019 we hosted many disadvantaged 
people of child, young and elderly 
from various NGOs. Our supports for 
Zero Waste Summit is in progress.

All kinds of actions are taken in order 
to ensure customer satisfaction with 
respect to the marketing and selling 
the services of the Incorporation. And 
any requests from the customers as 
regards the services they purchase 
are satisfied rapidly. The Incorporation 
complies with the quality standards 
with respect to the services it 
renders. Attention is paid for the 
confidentiality of any details about 
the customers and suppliers, within 
the framework of trade secrets.

PART IV – BOARD OF DIRECTORS

15. Structure and Composition of 
the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of our 
Incorporation manages and 
represents the Incorporation, primarily 
by observing the long-term interest 
of the Incorporation and optimizing 
the risk, growth and yield balance 
with the decisions it takes, with a 
rational and tactical risk management 
approach. Our Board of Directors sets 
strategic targets of the Incorporation, 
determines the required work force 
and financial resources and audits the 
performance of the management.

Board of Directors consists of 
nine members appointed by the 
General Assembly. It is obligatory to 
appoint 8 members of the Board 
of Directors, by electing amongst 
the candidates nominated by 
the Group A shareholders having 
highest votes, and to appoint one 
member by electing amongst the 
candidates nominated by the Group 
C shareholder. Minimum six members 
of the Board, including the member 
representing the Group C shares, 
must be Turkish Citizens. The term 
of office for the Board Members is 
two (2) years as per the Article 10 
of the Articles of Association. The 
General Assembly may discharge 
the Members of the Board before 
the expiry of their term of office. The 
Members of the Board, whose term of 
office is expired, may be reappointed.

Three members of the Board are 
assigned to serve in the Executive 
Committee while other six members 
are non-executive members. Three 
of the non-executive members serve 
as Independent Board Members, as 
set out in the Corporate Governance 
Principles of CMB. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the aviation 
industry, it would be more favorable in 
terms of uniformity, if the Chairman 
of the Board and the Executive 
Committee is the same person. 
Therefore, the Chairman of the Board 
and the Executive Committee of our 
Incorporation is the same person. 
General Manager is not the Chairman 
of the Board. No individual member 
has unlimited decision-making power 
at the Incorporation since all strategic 
and managerial decisions are taken 
by the Executive Board by majority of 
votes. 
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Although the Board of Directors does 
not have a specific target in terms 
of the ratio of female members, the 
Board of Directors had one female 
member as of 2019. Significant 
changes made in the structure of our 
Board of Directors in 2019, are listed 
below.
• Mr. İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu resigned 

from his office as the Member 
of the Board of Directors at the 
Ordinary General Assembly dated 
28.06.2019.

• Due to the resignation of Ms. Arzu 
Akalın from the Independent 
Member of the Board on 04.05.2018, 
the appointment of Ms. Fatmanur 
Altun as the Independent Member 
of the Board was submitted to the 
approval of the General Assembly 
dated 28.06.2019 and was approved 
by majority votes of the attendees. 

• Due to the resignation of Mr. 
İsmail Gerçek from the Member 
of the Board on 04.05.2018, the 
appointment of Mr. Mithat Görkem 

The resumes of the Members of 
the Board and other roles they 
assume outside the Incorporation 
are available in the section “Board of 
Directors” of the Activity Report and 
under the Corporate Governance 
section of the website of Investor 
Relations of our Incorporation. The 
Statements of Independence of 
the Independent Members were 
submitted to the Public Disclosure 
Platform and given in the appendices. 
No circumstance, which would remove 
the independency, occurred as of the 
relevant activity period.

16. Principles of Operation of the 
Board of Directors 
The activities of the Board of 
Directors of our Incorporation are 
regulated in the article no: 14 of the 
Articles of Association and;

The Board of Directors convenes 
as required by the business and in 
any case at least once a month. The 
venue of the meeting is the head 
office of the Incorporation. Meeting 
can be held anywhere else upon the 
decision of the Board of Directors. 
The activities to be discussed at the 
meetings should be determined 
as an agenda and the members of 
the board should be informed of 
such agenda prior to the meeting. 
The Chairman of the Board sets 
the agenda of the meetings of the 
Board of Directors in consultation 
with other board members and the 
General Manager. The Members pay 
utmost attention to attend each 
meeting and submit opinions during 
the meetings. Invitation for the 
meetings of the Board of Directors 
and any information and documents 
in relation to the agenda items are 
submitted to the members at least 
three days before the date of the 
meeting, for the purpose of ensuring 
the equal flow and distribution 
of information. Opinions of any 
members who cannot attend the 
meetings, but present their opinions 
to the Board of Directors in writing, 
are submitted to the information of 
other members.

Aksoy as the Member of the Board 
was submitted to the approval 
of the General Assembly dated 
28.06.2019 and was approved by 
majority votes of the attendees. 

• At the Turkish Airlines Ordinary 
General Assembly dated 28.06.2019, 
it was resolved by majority of votes 
that Mr. Mehmet İlker Aycı be 
elected the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors representing group C 
shares; Mr. Mecit Eş as the Deputy 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
Mr. Bilal Ekşi, Mr. Orhan Birdal,  
Mr. Mithat Görkem Aksoy, Mr. 
Salim Arda Ermut, as Members 
of the Board of Directors; and Ms. 
Fatmanur Altun, Mr. Ogün Şanlıer 
and Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar 
as Independent Members of the 
Board of Directors.

• Independent Board Member Mr. 
Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar has been 
assigned as the Chairman and Mr. 
Ogün Şanlıer as the Member of the 
Audit Committee; Independent 

The Board of Directors convenes 
upon the attendance of at least six 
members. The Board of Directors 
takes its resolutions with the favorable 
vote of at least five members. Any 
member, who fails to attend four 
consecutive meetings or six meetings 
in total within a period of one year, 
without being deemed to be on 
leave by the Board of Directors or 
without any justified reason, shall be 
considered to have resigned.

Each Member of the Board is entitled 
to one vote. Any matters to be valid, 
provided that the Members of the 
Board of Directors, representing the 
group C shares, attend the meeting 
and cast a favorable vote, are provided 
in “5th Voting Rights and Minority 
Rights” of this report.

Agenda items are discussed explicitly 
and in all aspects during the 
Meetings of the Board of Directors. 
The Chairman of the Board makes 
his/her own best efforts to ensure 
the efficient participation of non-
executive members to the Meetings 
of the Board of Directors. Any 
opposing votes cast by the Members 
of the Board of Directors are also 
recorded in the resolution book 
with their reasonable and detailed 
justifications.

The Members of the Board spares 
sufficient time for the activities of 
the Incorporation. In the event that 
any Member of the Board serves as 
an executive or a Member of the 
Board at any other company or that 
he/she provides any other company 
with a consultancy service, then such 
situation will not lead to a conflict of 
interest nor will it hinder his/her duty 
within the Incorporation. Therefore, 
the fact that the Members of the 
Board carry out any duty or duties 
outside the Incorporation is not 
subject to certain prescribed rules or 
otherwise restricted.

Board Member Ms. Fatmanur 
Altun as the Committee Chairman, 
Board Members Mr. Mithat Görkem 
and Mr. Orhan Birdal and Investor 
Relations Manager Mr. Kadir Coşkun, 
in compliance with the Capital 
Market Board's Communique on 
Corporate Governance (II-17.1), 
as the members of the Corporate 
Governance Committee; 
Independent Board Member Mr. 
Ogün Şanlıer as the Chairman and 
Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar, as the 
Member of the Early Identification 
of Risks Committee; Chairman of 
the Board Mr. Mehmet İlker Aycı 
as the Chairman of the Executive 
Committee, Deputy Chairman 
of the Board Mr. Mecit Eş as the 
Deputy Chairman of the Executive 
Committee, Mr. Salim Arda Ermut 
as the Member of the Executive 
Committee.

In 2019, 53 Meetings of the Board 
of Directors were held and 288 
resolutions were taken. In respect 
of such meetings, there are no 
associated party transactions or 
any material transactions, which 
were discussed in these meetings 
and not approved by Independent 
Board Members and required to be 
submitted to the approval of the 
General Assembly.

The Board of Directors plays a 
leading role in establishing an 
effective communication between 
the Incorporation and shareholders 
and in settling and resolving the 
disputes, which might be experienced 
and collaborates closely with the 
Corporate Governance Committee 
and Investor Relations Department 
for such purposes.

An Executive Liability Insurance, 
covering any damages/losses 
requested from the executives due 
to any failure in fulfillment of their 
responsibilities by paying utmost 
attention and care as expected 
from them, and due to any error, 
negligence or failure during the 
performance of their duties, has been 
maintained by the Incorporation and 
the amount of insurance coverage is 
USD 25 million.

17. The Number, Organization and 
Independency of Committees of 
the Board of Directors
Following committees were 
established within the Board of 
directors in accordance with TCC and 
CMB regulations in order to ensure 
that Board of Directors fulfills its 
duties and responsibilities properly.

Also a Nomination Committee or 
Remuneration Committee were not 
established in 2019 and Corporate 
Governance Committee was adopted 
to carry out such duties, as well. The 
Members of the Audit Committee, 
Corporate Governance Committee 
and Early Identification of Risks 
Committee were determined by the 

Name Position Start of Office Status Other Committee Roles

M. İlker Aycı
Chairman of the 

Board of Directors
04.04.2014 Non-Independent Executive Committee/Chairman

Prof. Dr. Mecit Eş
Deputy Chairman 

of the Board of 
Directors 

29.03.2013 Non-Independent
Executive Committee/ 

Deputy Chairman

Salim Arda Ermut
Member of the 

Board
28.06.2019 Non-Independent Executive Committee/Member

Bilal Ekşi
General Manager 

and Member of 
the Board

21.10.2016 Non-Independent

Orhan Birdal
Member of the 

Board
09.06.2017 Non-Independent

Corporate Governance 
Committee/Member

Mithat Görkem Aksoy
Member of the 

Board
04.05.2018 Non-Independent

Corporate Governance 
Committee/Member

Ogün Şanlıer
Member of the 

Board
06.04.2015 Independent

Early Identification of Risks 
Committee/Chairman, Audit 

Committee/Member 

M. Muzaffer Akpınar
Member of the 

Board
24.04.2007 Independent

Audit Committee/Chairman, 
Early Identification of Risks 

Committee/Member

Dr. Fatmanur Altun
Member of the 

Board
04.05.2018 Independent

Corporate Governance 
Committee/Chairman

Name Position Start of Office Status Other Committee Roles

İsmail Cenk Dilberoğlu
Member of the 

Board
06.04.2015 Non-Independent Executive Committee/Member

Information, regarding the executives who held office as a Member of the Board in 2019, but are no longer in office as of 
31.12.2019, are given below.

Information regarding the Members of the Board as of 31.12.2019 is given below and the majority of the Members of the 
Board are non-executive members, in accordance with the Corporate Governance Principles of CMB:
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Board of Directors and disclosed 
to the public. The fields of duty 
and working principles of such 
committees were also determined 
by the Board of Directors. All kinds 
of sources and supports, required 
for the performance of duties by 
the committees, are provided by the 
Board of Directors.

The Chairman of the Executive 
Committee and the General Manager 
do not assume any duty at the 
committees at our Incorporation. 
Although attention is paid not to 
assign any Member of the Board in 
more than one committee, Mr. Ogun 
Şanlıer, one of the members of the 
Board of Directors, serves as both the 
Chairman of the Early Identification 
of Risks and as a Member of the Audit 
Committee and Mr. Mehmet Muzaffer 
Akpınar, one of the Members of the 
Board of Directors, serves as both a 
member of the Early Identification 
of Risks and as the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee, since the chairmen 
of three committees which were 
established within the Board of 
Directors and the Members of the 
Audit Committee are required to be 
elected among the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors.

Turkish Airlines, Inc.
Corporate Governance Committee
Chairman: Dr. Fatmanur Altun
Members: Orhan Birdal, Mithat 
Görkem Aksoy, Kadir Çoşkun (Investor 
Relations Manager)

Corporate Governance Committee, 
reporting directly to the Board of 
Directors, supports and assists the 
Board of Directors by carrying out 
activities for compliance of the 
Incorporation with the internationally 
recognized Corporate Governance 
Principles and determination of 
the Members of the Board of 
Directors and senior executives and 
for assessment of remuneration, 
reward and performance and career 
planning as well as for investor 
relations and public disclosures. 
Corporate Governance Committee 
reviews and assesses the systems 
and processes established or to be 
established by the with respect to the 
implementation of the managerial 
practices ensuring the increase of 

Within the scope of the financial risk 
management strategy, the Company 
started to implement its fuel price 
hedging strategy in 2009, in order to 
control the possible cash flow effect 
that may arise from the fluctuation 
in the oil market. Fuel price risk 
management strategy was updated 
several times over the years with 
the experience gained. In line with 
market conditions, Turkish Airlines 
chooses the most suitable derivative 
instrument among swap, zero-cost 
collars and premium-paid options in 
order to minimize the fuel price risk.

In order to minimize the foreign 
exchange risk, Turkish Airlines gives 
priority to the natural hedging 
methods by contract management. 
In this regard, the basis currency 
for all contracts are determined to 
equilibrate the income and expense 
in each currency. In addition to natural 
hedging strategy, Turkish Airlines 
developed and started to implement 
a FX risk management strategy in 
2013. This strategy was updated in 
2015 and 2018, in line with the market 
developments and experienced 
gained. 

In accordance with the FX risk 
management strategy, Turkish Airlines 
aimed to hedge its short USD and 
TL position by using its long EUR 
position. Such that, Turkish Airlines 
currently uses the most convenient 
derivative instrument based on the 
market conditions among forward 
and zero-cost option collars to 
manage the fluctuations in FX rates. 
Furthermore, in order to increase the 
effectiveness of natural hedging, the 
ticketing currency of international 
flights originated from domestic 
airports was changed from EUR to 
USD in 2015, so the need for derivative 
products was reduced.

Turkish Airlines is exposed to financial 
risk arising from the fluctuations in 
the interest rates, by nature of the 
aviation industry and its operations. 
Monitoring and analysis of the 
interest rate market, preparation of 
indebtedness structure, sensitivity to 
changes in interest rates, weighted 
average maturity analysis and follow-
up of possible cost changes due 
to interest rates are carried out on 
a regular basis within the scope 
of interest rate risk management. 
Besides, derivative instruments are 
used for a portion of the debt, to 
either by fully fixing the interest rate 
liabilities at a certain level or keeping 
it within a certain band until the 
maturity.

performance of the Incorporation and 
submits its opinions in this respect 
and also observes the activities of 
the Investor Relations Department. 
Corporate Governance Committee 
submitted one written report to the 
Board of Directors, in 2019.

Turkish Airlines, Inc.
Audit Committee
Chairman: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar
Member: Ogün Şanlıer

The Audit Committee, directly 
reporting to the Board of Directors, 
assists the Board of Directors 
by coordinating the activities to 
be carried out for ensuring the 
compliance of the Incorporation 
practices with the national and 
international laws and regulations, 
improving the work processes 
through regular audits and ensuring 
transparency of information. The 
Audit Committee is responsible for 
taking all necessary measures to 
ensure conduct of any internal and 
independent audits in a proper and 
transparent manner and carrying 
out any duty assigned by the Capital 
Market Regulations. The members 
of the Audit Committee are elected 
among the Independent Members 
of the Board of Directors and both 
members have five-year experience 
in audit/accounting and finance. 
The committee convenes at least 
quarterly, before the announcement 
of the quarterly financial results. In 
2019, the Audit Committee presented 
six written reports to the Board of 
Directors.

Turkish Airlines, Inc.
Early Identification of Risks 
Committee
Chairman: Ogün Şanlıer
Members: Mehmet Muzaffer Akpınar

Early Identification of Risks 
Committee was formed and 
authorized by the Board of Directors 
in April 2014. The Committee is 
made up of two members and 
the Chairman of the Committee is 
selected among the Independent 
Members of the Board.

Also, sustaining a healthy liquidity 
structure and cash management 
is so critical issue for airlines due to 
nature of the sector. For that purpose, 
Turkish Airlines prepares prospective 
cash flow projections on monthly 
basis and the required minimum 
cash amount is determined based on 
this analysis. By the help of monthly 
projections, necessary action plans 
are scheduled in order to prevent the 
cash amount falls below this level. 
Realized and forecasted cash flows 
are strictly tracked and analyzed by 
the Treasury and Risk Management 
Commission. 

Various measures are also taken in 
order to minimize the possible loss 
that will come up in case of default 
of the financial counterparties. In 
this context, main practice of Turkish 
Airlines is to apply a fair methodology 
to evaluate all counterparties in 
deposit and derivative transactions 
with equal and objective criteria and 
to reduce the long-term counterparty 
risk. In particular, specific agreements 
are signed with the counterparties 
against the credit risk that may 
arise as a result of the derivative 
transactions. All transactions are 
made within certain limits with each 
counterparty and these limits are 
monitored and updated dynamically.

Internal Control Mechanism:
Our Incorporation has an Inspection 
Board to inspect the Incorporation’s 
activities and efficiency of the 
corporate governance, risk and 
control processes in a systematic 
and disciplined approach, to advise 
and provide assurance on the 
efficiency and effectiveness of such 
processes and submit opinions and 
recommendations in this respect.

To that end, the Audit Board reports 
to and advises senior management to 
ensure;
• The conduct of the Incorporation’s 

activities in accordance with the 
statutory and internal regulations 
of the Incorporation, agreements 
and defined strategies, policies and 
targets,

• Good governance, effective 
management of internal control 
and risk processes,

• Effective and efficient use of the 
resources of the Incorporation,

Early Identification of Risks 
Committee;

a) carries out activities in relation 
to early identification of the risks 
threatening the existence, growth and 
continuity of the Incorporation as well 
as implementation of the relevant 
measures against any risks detected 
and management of such risks.

b) reviews the risk management 
systems at least once a year.

The Committee documents and 
keeps records of all its activities and 
submits an assessment report on 
current developments along with 
its opinions and recommendations 
to the Board of Directors every two 
months. The Committee convened 
six times in 2019 and submitted risk 
assessment reports to the Board of 
Directors.

18. Risk Management and Internal 
Control Mechanism 

Risk Management Mechanism
In order to control potential risks 
in the highly competitive aviation 
industry and to establish sustainable 
growth, executing an effective risk 
management strategy is crucial for 
Turkish Airlines. The Company aims to 
provide reasonable assurance against 
possible shocks and to minimize the 
effects of fluctuating fuel prices, 
interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates on its cash flow together with 
any other possible risks resulting from 
its financial counterparties. 

In order to determine the financial 
risk management strategy of the 
Company and to carry out the 
necessary actions in the scope of 
financial risk management, the 
Treasury and Risk Management 
Commission has been established. 
The Commission holds meetings on 
regular basis under the chairmanship 
of CFO and participation of SVP 
Finance, SVP Accounting and Financial 
Control, VP Treasury and all other 
related managers. 

• Provision of reliable, consistent and 
updated data,

• Continuous improvement of the 
divisions and processes,

• Improvement of the quality of the 
Incorporation’s services to ensure 
highest customer satisfaction level,

• Effective communication of the 
information obtained during the 
audits to the relevant units of the 
organization,

• Ensuring coherence and 
coordination between the divisions,

• Detection of any faults, frauds and 
misconducts which might lead to 
a loss of income and assets of the 
organization and implementation 
of necessary actions,

and follows up whether the findings 
and recommendations in the report 
are fulfilled.

19. Strategic Targets of 
the Incorporation 
An Operating Budget, covering 
the operational and financial plans 
regarding the next 1-year activity 
period and a Business Plan, covering 
the 10-year operational and financial 
plans, that give detailed information 
about the first five years, while giving 
macro information about the second 
five years, are prepared within the 
participation of all units and discussed 
in detail, finalized and approved 
during the budget meetings in which 
the top management and the Board 
of Directors attends.

In addition, the Strategic Targets, 
which include the off-budget, long-
term targets of the Incorporation, 
such as the market share, customer 
satisfaction and brand equity as well 
as the annual Corporate Objectives, 
which will help to achieve these 
targets, are determined according to 
the Target management Procedure. 
The responsible persons/managers 
are assigned to the relevant units 
in accordance with the General 
Instruction On Responsible Units 
Of Company Objectives and target 
achievements are monitored regularly 
through the Corporate Performance 
Monitoring System and reported to 
the Board of Objectives’ Status that 
convene quarterly. Chaired by the 
General Manager, this Board reviews 
the level of accomplishment of the 
targets, by taking the performance of 
previous periods into account, as well, 
and therefore the deviations in the 
objectives, if any, are identified and 
necessary actions are taken.
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The Board of Directors approves the 
strategic targets set by the managers 
of our Incorporation and continuously 
and effectively reviews the level of 
accomplishment in such targets as 
well as the activities and previous 
performance of the Incorporation. 
In doing so, the Board always strives 
to ensure compliance with the 
international standards and takes 
immediate and proactive actions, 
where necessary. In order to monitor 
the strategic targets and previous 
performance of the Incorporation, 
reports are submitted to the Board of 
Directors, including:

i) A summary as regards the up-to-
date financial and operational status 
of the Incorporation and budget 
deviations, at every Board Meeting 
and,

ii) Informative presentations on the 
assessments of the performance of 
the Incorporation for the previous 
period, the rate of accomplishment 
of its annual corporate targets, the 
reasons for deviations, if any, and cost 
analyses, following the announcement 
of quarterly financial results.

Necessary measures and actions 
are determined based on these 
assessments and the budget and 
business plan are revised, if necessary.

The Corporate Governance 
Committee, the Audit Committee 
and the Early Identification of Risks 
Committee, which exist within 
the Board of Directors of the 
Incorporation, carry out activities 
within the framework of the relevant 
legislation and the duties and working 
principles set forth by the Board 
of Directors. In 2019, the specified 
committees continued to carry out 
their duties in the fields they were 
assigned and reported to the Board 
of Directors. 

The duties of the Corporate 
Governance Committee are set 
out in the Corporate Governance 
Communiqué No: II-17.1 of the 
Capital Markets Board. To this end, 
the Committee determines whether 
the Incorporation complies with the 
Corporate Governance Principles 
and, if not, to identify the reasons 
thereof and the conflicts of interest 
caused by such incompliance, to give 
advice to the Board of Directors on 
improving the Corporate Governance 
Practices, and to oversee the activities 
carried out by the Investor Relations 
department. Besides, since no 
separate Nomination Committee 
and Remuneration Committee have 
been established within the Board of 
Directors, the Corporate Governance 
Committee fulfills the duties of these 
committees as well. 

The Corporate Governance 
Committee, which also fulfills 
the duties of the Nomination 
Committee, convened in 2019 in 
order to nominate the candidates 
for independent board members 
and evaluated whether the said 
candidates meet the independence 
criteria stipulated in the Corporate 
Governance Principles within the 
annex of the Corporate Governance 
Communiqué of the Capital Markets 
Law. As a result of the evaluations and 
assessments made, The Committee 
informed the Board that the there 
is no obstacle to the independence 
of the candidates for independent 
board membership. Following the 
approval of the Capital Markets Board 
regarding the issue, the election of 

20. Financial Rights 
Any rights, benefits and remuneration 
provided to the members of the 
Board and senior management of our 
Incorporation as well as the criteria 
used to determine such rights, are set 
out in our Corporate Remuneration 
Policy, which is published on the 
website of the Investor Relations, as 
well.

The remuneration of the Members 
of the Board of Directors is discussed 
as a separate item on the agenda of 
the General Assembly Meeting. No 
payment plan based on dividends, 
stock options or the performance 
of the Incorporation is used for the 
remuneration of the Independent 
Members of the Board of Directors. 
The Incorporation may not lend 
money or extend credit to any 
member of the Board of Directors. 

Net wage is paid to the members of 
the Executive Committee and the 
Board of Directors. Bonus payment 
is paid but honorarium is not given. 
Moreover, a gross bonus payment, 
equivalent of their net monthly 
wages, is made quarterly. In 2019, the 
sum of all financial benefits, including 
remuneration and bonus paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors, 
General Manager and Chief Officers, 
was TL 25,224,200. 

the candidates to Independent Board 
Members was submitted for approval 
of and accepted by the General 
Assembly at the Ordinary General 
Assembly dated June 28, 2019. 

The Audit Committee convened prior 
to the disclosure of the quarterly 
financial results and assured that 
the publicly disclosed consolidated 
financial results disclosed to the 
public are sufficiently transparent 
and comprehensible, and that all 
the necessary precautions have 
been taken to conduct independent 
external audits transparently and 
efficiently. The Committee has 
also supervised the operation and 
effectiveness of the internal control 
and internal audit system of the 
Incorporation. The Audit Committee 
presented six written reports to the 
Board of Directors in 2019. 

The Early Detection of Risk 
Committee convened every two 
months in 2019 to identify risks in 
the areas in which the Incorporation 
operates and to review the risk 
management systems by informing 
the Board of Directors in writing. 
In addition to evaluations of the 
Incorporation's 2019 budget, 
the Committee assessed the 
impacts of the geopolitical risks 
and the capacity increase and the 
regional capacity planning in the 
sector. Financial and operational 
results were reviewed within the 
framework of the sustainability of 
the Incorporation's stable growth 
strategy. In line with that purpose, 
findings and suggestions regarding 
the cash projections and prepayment 
amounts were presented to the 
Board of Directors, by considering the 
financing need and debt services of 
the aircraft. 

As a result of the mentioned 
activities, the Committees fulfilled 
their fundamental tasks by paying 
utmost attention and contributed 
significantly to the activities of the 
Board of Directors, ensuring that 
the Board can display an effective 
management. 

Assessment of the Board of Directors on 
the Effectiveness of Board Committees
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Assessment of the Board of 
Directors on 2019 Results 

Legal Disclosures 
and Documents

In 2019, Turkish Airlines relocated to 
Istanbul Airport in an unprecedented 
history-making mega-operation. In 
addition, the Incorporation had to 
ground 24 Boeing 737 Max aircraft due 
to the global Max issue. Nevertheless, 
Turkish Airlines successfully ended 
fiscal year 2019 with profit from main 
operations of USD 876 million and net 
profit of USD 788 million. 

The aviation industry was adversely 
affected by trade wars between the 
USA and China as well as slowing 
global economic growth. In addition, 
the sector had to combat squeezed 
profit margins brought about from 
ongoing intense competition. 
The relocation to Istanbul Airport, 
grounding of Max aircraft and delayed 
deliveries of Airbus Neo resulted in 
revenue losses. Nevertheless, Turkish 
Airlines boosted total revenue by 3% 
to USD 13.2 billion in 2019.

In this challenging environment, 
Turkish Airlines increased its number 
of passengers carried to 74.3 million in 
2019. The Incorporation continued to 
record the highest annual passenger 
load factor in its history in 2019, as 
in the prior year and reached 82% 
passenger load factor. Turkish Airlines 
remains committed to operating with 
the same exceptional service quality, 
which makes it the first choice of 
passengers. The Incorporation aims 
to maintain passenger satisfaction at 
the highest level, a factor central to its 
success. 

The growth of Turkish Cargo and 
its contribution to the success of 
our Incorporation continued in 2019 
also with an increase. Continuing its 
services to customers in 126 countries 
of the world at Turkish Airlines quality, 
Turkish Cargo transported 1.5 million 
tons of cargo in 2019, in an increase 
of 9.2% over the previous year. Turkish 
Cargo, which is the fastest growing 
air cargo carrier in the world with its 
carried cargo, new flight destinations, 
and freighters added to its fleet, 
continues to deliver services to 

The following information is also 
included in our Annual Report in 
addition to the issues stipulated in 
the other sections of the Corporate 
Governance Principles listed in the 
annex of the CMB Communiqué On 
Corporate Governance (II-17.1): 

Information on major legal 
actions/lawsuits filed against the 
Incorporation and their potential 
consequences 
None. 

Information on any amendments 
in the regulations that might have 
significant impacts on the activities 
of the Incorporation 
None. 

Conflicts of interest between 
the Incorporation and its service 
providers that provide investment 
consulting and rating services, 
etc.; and actions taken by the 
Incorporation to avoid such conflicts 
of interest 
None.

customers in 126 countries of the 
world at Turkish Airlines quality and 
to increase its share in the world air 
cargo market. Turkish Cargo, which 
opens up a wide corridor from Asia to 
Africa, Europe to Latin America with 
its flight routes, has set its eyes on 
becoming one of the top 5 air cargo 
companies in the world.

Yet another year has passed in the 
86 year old history of our Company, 
in which we made our citizens 
proud with the services we provide 
to both our passengers and to the 
civil aviation sector as the National 
Flag Carrier Airline, and as the most 
valuable brand of our country we 
contributed greatly to its economy. 
Moving to our new home, Istanbul 
Airport, was, without a doubt, the 
most important event in 2019, not 
only for our country and civil aviation 
but also for global civil aviation. 
The growth of Turkish Airlines will 
accelerate further thanks to Istanbul 
Airport. This state-of-the-art facility 
will breathe new life into the entire 
aviation sector, as well as to the new 
generation aircraft it will receive. 
With this mega investment, Turkish 
Airlines will take its customers' brand 
experience to the highest level and 
continue its steep ascent toward 
global leadership. 

Turkish Airlines, which has left 
behind a successful year in spite of 
the problems in aircraft deliveries, 
continues to be one of the most 
preferred airlines today with its wide 
flight network and high-quality 
service it provides to its customers, 
and takes firm steps towards its 
sustainable growth path. Being 
the most valuable brand of Turkey 
according to Brand Finance, Turkish 
Airlines will continue its rise on this 
growth path and contribute to 
Turkey’s growth in line with its 2023 
vision.

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of 
Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated by applicable 
regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any 
substantive duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between 
the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant 
influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the 
control of the management of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the 
Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management of such 
shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 
5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Incorporation, either 
collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting 
activities for the Incorporation (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal 
inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any 
employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and 
responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the Board of Directors, of any such 
incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or products or 
to which the Incorporation has sold any services or products to a material extent in 
accordance with the agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly 
and duly fulfill my duties as an independent member of the Board of Directors, and also 
that;

d) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected 
as a member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in 
compliance with the applicable regulations,

e) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 
31/12/1960,

f) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and 
experience to positively contribute to the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my 
impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the 
Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and 
benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

g) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that 
I would be able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, 
and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the Incorporation, and 
also that;

h) I have not held the office of a member of the Board of Directors at the Board of 
Directors of the Incorporation for a period longer than six years within the last decade, and 
also that;

i) I have not held office as an independent member of the Board of Directors of more than 
three of the companies which hold the control of management of the Incorporation or the 
shareholders who hold the control of management of the same, and at more than five of 
the listed companies in total; and also that;

j) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected 
as a member of the Board of Directors. 

Respectfully,

OGÜN ŞANLIER

Statement of Independency
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Statement of Independency

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of 
Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated by applicable 
regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and within that context, pursuant to the Capital Markets Board’s 
article no. 29833736-1181 dated May 21, 2015; It is resolved that exception stated in the 
second paragraph of 6th clause of Corporate Governance Communiqué shall be applied to 
myself. Accordingly, by being exempted from article (g) of the clause 4.3.6 of the related 
Communiqué:

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any 
substantive duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between 
the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant 
influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the 
control of the management of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the 
Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management of such 
shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 
5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Incorporation, either 
collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting 
activities for the Incorporation (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal 
inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any 
employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and 
responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the Board of Directors, of any such 
incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or products or 
to which the Incorporation has sold any services or products to a material extent in 
accordance with the agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly 
and duly fulfill my duties as an independent member of the Board of Directors, and also 
that;

d) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected 
as a member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in 
compliance with the applicable regulations,

e) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 
31/12/1960,

f) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and 
experience to positively contribute to the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my 
impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the 
Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and 
benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

g) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that 
I would be able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, 
and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the Incorporation, and 
also that;

h) I have not held the office of a member of the Board of Directors at the Board of 
Directors of the Incorporation for a period longer than six years within the last decade, and 
also that;

i) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected 
as a member of the Board of Directors. 

Respectfully,

MEHMET MUZAFFER AKPINAR 

I hereby declare that I run for the office of “Independent Member” of the Board of 
Directors of Turkish Airlines Inc. in accordance with the criteria stipulated by applicable 
regulations, the Articles of Association and the Capital Markets Board’s Corporate 
Governance Principles, and accordingly that;

a) no employment-related relationship in respect of any managerial position, whereby any 
substantive duties and responsibilities may be assumed, has been established between 
the Incorporation and any affiliates, who either hold the control of or have any significant 
influence on the management of the Incorporation, or any shareholders who hold the 
control of the management of the Incorporation, or have a significant influence on the 
Incorporation, or any legal persons, who hold the control of the management of such 
shareholders, and myself, my spouse and any of my relatives by blood and by marriage up 
to the second degree, within the last five years; and also that I have not held more than 
5% of the capital or the voting rights or the privileged shares of the Incorporation, either 
collectively or individually, or any commercial relationship which is of substantial nature has 
not been established; and also that;

b) within the last five years, particularly in respect of the auditing, rating and consulting 
activities for the Incorporation (including tax inspection, legal inspections and internal 
inspections); I have not been a shareholder (holding 5% or more of the shares), or any 
employee serving at any managerial positions whereby any substantial duties and 
responsibilities may be assumed, or a member of the Board of Directors, of any such 
incorporation, from which the Incorporation has procured any services or products or 
to which the Incorporation has sold any services or products to a material extent in 
accordance with the agreements executed for such purpose; and also that;

c) I enjoy the professional educational background, knowledge and experience to properly 
and duly fulfill my duties as an independent member of the Board of Directors, and also 
that;

d) I will not hold any full time roles at any public institutions or agencies after I was elected 
as a member, excluding as a faculty member at a university to the extent that it is in 
compliance with the applicable regulations,

e) I am resident in Turkey according to the Income Tax Law numbered 193 dated 
31/12/1960,

f) I am strongly bound by ethical standards, and enjoy the professional reputation and 
experience to positively contribute to the operations of the Incorporation, maintain my 
impartiality in any potential case of conflict of interest amongst the shareholders of the 
Incorporation, and to make decisions freely with due consideration of the rights and 
benefits of the stakeholders, and also that;

g) I will be able to allocate time for the affairs of the Incorporation to such an extent that 
I would be able to fully perform and carry out the duties and tasks which I have assumed, 
and to follow up the functioning of the activities and operations of the Incorporation, and 
also that;

h) I have not held the office of a member of the Board of Directors at the Board of 
Directors of the Incorporation for a period longer than six years within the last decade, and 
also that;

i) I have not held office as an independent member of the Board of Directors of more than 
three of the companies which hold the control of management of the Incorporation or the 
shareholders who hold the control of management of the same, and at more than five of 
the listed companies in total; and also that;

j) I have not been registered and announced for the legal person which has been elected 
as a member of the Board of Directors. 

Respectfully,

FATMANUR ALTUN
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Statement of Responsibility

RESOLUTION NUMBER  :  TK2020039428

SUBJECT  : Statement of Responsibility Prepared in 
   Accordance with Article 9 of the II-14.1. Principles 
   of Financial Reporting in Capital Markets 
   Communique by the Capital Markets Board 
 

BORSA ISTANBUL
34467 Emirgan/Istanbul

The consolidated financial statement, the board of directors’ annual report, Corporate 
Governance Compliance Report and Corporate Governance Information Form dated December 
31, 2019 approved by the Board’s resolution dated 05.03.2020, numbered 41 are provided 
attached. Accordingly, we hereby declare that: 

a) The financial statements, Annual Report, Corporate Governance Compliance Report and 
Corporate Governance Information Form were reviewed by us, 

b) The financial statements and the annual report of the board of directors do not contain 
any misrepresentation on material issues or any material deficiency as of the date on which 
such representation is made, which might cause the report to be misleading, to the best of our 
knowledge with respect to our duties and responsibilities;

c) The consolidated financial statements, drawn up in accordance with the financial reporting 
standards, that are currently in force, reflect the truth with respect to the assets and liabilities 
of the Incorporation as well as its financial state and profits and losses honestly and that the 
annual report, together with consolidated statements, truthfully reflect the course of progress 
and performance of the business of the Incorporation as well as the financial state of the 
Incorporation, including significant risks and uncertainties encountered by the Incorporation, to 
the best of our knowledge with respect to our duties and responsibilities; 

Sincerely,

TURKISH AIRLINES A.O.

     
 ZEKERİYA DEMİR, Ph.D. ASSOC. PROF.  MURAT ŞEKER, Ph.D. BİLAL EKŞİ
 SVP, Accounting and Chief Financial Officer General Manager  
 Financial Control

ISTANBUL 
05.03.2020

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI  
ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Financial Statements As at and for 
The Year Ended 31 December 2019 with  
Independent Auditor’s Report 

This report includes 9 pages of 
Independent Auditors’ Report and 
91 pages of financial statements 
together with their explanatory 
notes.
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019 
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 
 

1 
 

ASSETS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Non-Current Assets
Financial Investments 6  90  86
Other Receivables

-Third Parties 12  1,276  1,004
Investments Accounted by Using Equity Method 3  369  358
Property and Equipment 15  17,261  13,918
Intangible Assets

- Other Intangible Assets 16  82  82
- Goodwill 17  12  12

Prepaid Expenses 14  864  767

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  19,954  16,227

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 5  2,075  1,636
Financial Investments 6  400  519
Trade Receivables

-Related Parties 9 -                                 2
-Third Parties 10  540  568

Other Receivables
-Related Parties 9  28  3
-Third Parties 12  1,053  1,178

Derivative Financial Instruments 34  52  57
Inventories 13  290  190
Prepaid Expenses 14  149  192
Current Income Tax Assets 32  43  61
Other Current Assets 24  140  99
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  4,770  4,505

TOTAL ASSETS  24,724  20,732

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019   
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

2 
 

LIABILITIES  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Equity  
Share Capital 25  1,597  1,597
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified to 
  Profit or Loss

-Actuarial (Losses) on Retirement Pay Obligation 25 ( 38) ( 35)
Items That Are or May Be Reclassified to 
  Profit or Loss

-Foreign Currency Translation Differences 25 ( 184) ( 160)
-Fair Value Gains on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges 25  171 -                               
-Gains on Remeasuring FVOCI 25 ( 1) ( 6)

Restricted Profit Reserves 25  67  36
Previous Years Profit 25  4,463  3,760
Net Profit for the Year  788  753
Equity of the Parent  6,863  5,945
Non-Controlling Interests (*)  1 -                               
TOTAL EQUITY  6,864  5,945
Non- Current Liabilities
Long-Term Borrowings 7 and 18  8,995  8,239
Long Term Lease Liabilities 7 and 18  1,271 -                               
Other Payables
    -Third Parties 12  37  36
Deferred Income 14  120  65
Long-Term Provisions

-Provisions for Employee Benefits 22  135  130
-Other Provisions  45 -                               

Deferred Tax Liability 32  1,293  1,138
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  11,896  9,608
Current Liabilities
Short Term Borrowings 7  1,241  1,099
Short-Term Portion of Long-Term Borrowings 7 and 18  1,609  1,270
Short Term Portion of Lease Liabilities 7 and 18  256 -                               
Other Financial Liabilities 8  19  6
Trade Payables
    -Related Parties 9  172  231
    -Third Parties 10  958  791
Payables Related to Employee Benefits 11  160  199
Other Payables
    -Third Parties 12  98  78
Derivative Financial Instruments 34  70  196
Deferred Income 14  1,071  1,047
Short-Term Provisions
    -Provisions for Employee Benefits 20  39  39
    -Other Provisions 20  13  16
Other Current Liabilities 24  258  207
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  5,964  5,179

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  24,724  20,732
(*) The non-controlling share in the assets and results of subsidiaries for the year are separately classified as “non-controlling 
interest” in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
                                    
                               The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

3 
 

PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Revenue 26  13,229  12,855
Cost of Sales (-) 27 ( 10,928) ( 10,136)
GROSS PROFIT  2,301  2,719
General Administrative Expenses (-) 28 ( 299) ( 260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 28 ( 1,417) ( 1,290)
Other Operating Income 29  355  161
Other Operating Expenses (-) 29 ( 64) ( 139)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE 
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  876  1,191
Income from Investment Activities 30  169  101
Expenses from Investment Activities 30 ( 80) ( 2)
Share of Investments' Profit Accounted 
  by Using The Equity Method 3  82  123
OPERATING PROFIT  1,047  1,413
Financial Income 31  139  129
Financial Expenses (-) 31 ( 310) ( 588)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  876  954
Tax Income Expense ( 88) ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 32 -                                ( 40)
Deferred Tax Expense 32 ( 88) ( 161)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  788  753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To 
  Profit or Loss  152 ( 120)
Currency Translation Adjustment ( 24) ( 52)
Gains / (Losses) on Remeasuring FVOCI  7 ( 9)
Fair Value Gains / (Losses) on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  212 ( 86)
Fair Value Gains Hedging Instruments of 
  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  6  3
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income ( 49)  24
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently 
  To Profit or Loss ( 3) ( 20)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation ( 4) ( 25)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income  1  5

 149 ( 140)

 937  613

Basic Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55
Diluted Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)
  FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  FOR THE YEAR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

3 
 

PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Revenue 26  13,229  12,855
Cost of Sales (-) 27 ( 10,928) ( 10,136)
GROSS PROFIT  2,301  2,719
General Administrative Expenses (-) 28 ( 299) ( 260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 28 ( 1,417) ( 1,290)
Other Operating Income 29  355  161
Other Operating Expenses (-) 29 ( 64) ( 139)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE 
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  876  1,191
Income from Investment Activities 30  169  101
Expenses from Investment Activities 30 ( 80) ( 2)
Share of Investments' Profit Accounted 
  by Using The Equity Method 3  82  123
OPERATING PROFIT  1,047  1,413
Financial Income 31  139  129
Financial Expenses (-) 31 ( 310) ( 588)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  876  954
Tax Income Expense ( 88) ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 32 -                                ( 40)
Deferred Tax Expense 32 ( 88) ( 161)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  788  753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To 
  Profit or Loss  152 ( 120)
Currency Translation Adjustment ( 24) ( 52)
Gains / (Losses) on Remeasuring FVOCI  7 ( 9)
Fair Value Gains / (Losses) on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  212 ( 86)
Fair Value Gains Hedging Instruments of 
  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  6  3
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income ( 49)  24
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently 
  To Profit or Loss ( 3) ( 20)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation ( 4) ( 25)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income  1  5

 149 ( 140)

 937  613

Basic Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55
Diluted Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)
  FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  FOR THE YEAR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

3 
 

PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Revenue 26  13,229  12,855
Cost of Sales (-) 27 ( 10,928) ( 10,136)
GROSS PROFIT  2,301  2,719
General Administrative Expenses (-) 28 ( 299) ( 260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 28 ( 1,417) ( 1,290)
Other Operating Income 29  355  161
Other Operating Expenses (-) 29 ( 64) ( 139)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE 
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  876  1,191
Income from Investment Activities 30  169  101
Expenses from Investment Activities 30 ( 80) ( 2)
Share of Investments' Profit Accounted 
  by Using The Equity Method 3  82  123
OPERATING PROFIT  1,047  1,413
Financial Income 31  139  129
Financial Expenses (-) 31 ( 310) ( 588)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  876  954
Tax Income Expense ( 88) ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 32 -                                ( 40)
Deferred Tax Expense 32 ( 88) ( 161)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  788  753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To 
  Profit or Loss  152 ( 120)
Currency Translation Adjustment ( 24) ( 52)
Gains / (Losses) on Remeasuring FVOCI  7 ( 9)
Fair Value Gains / (Losses) on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  212 ( 86)
Fair Value Gains Hedging Instruments of 
  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  6  3
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income ( 49)  24
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently 
  To Profit or Loss ( 3) ( 20)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation ( 4) ( 25)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income  1  5

 149 ( 140)

 937  613

Basic Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55
Diluted Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)
  FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  FOR THE YEAR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. T
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

3 
 

PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Revenue 26  13,229  12,855
Cost of Sales (-) 27 ( 10,928) ( 10,136)
GROSS PROFIT  2,301  2,719
General Administrative Expenses (-) 28 ( 299) ( 260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 28 ( 1,417) ( 1,290)
Other Operating Income 29  355  161
Other Operating Expenses (-) 29 ( 64) ( 139)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE 
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  876  1,191
Income from Investment Activities 30  169  101
Expenses from Investment Activities 30 ( 80) ( 2)
Share of Investments' Profit Accounted 
  by Using The Equity Method 3  82  123
OPERATING PROFIT  1,047  1,413
Financial Income 31  139  129
Financial Expenses (-) 31 ( 310) ( 588)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  876  954
Tax Income Expense ( 88) ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 32 -                                ( 40)
Deferred Tax Expense 32 ( 88) ( 161)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  788  753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To 
  Profit or Loss  152 ( 120)
Currency Translation Adjustment ( 24) ( 52)
Gains / (Losses) on Remeasuring FVOCI  7 ( 9)
Fair Value Gains / (Losses) on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  212 ( 86)
Fair Value Gains Hedging Instruments of 
  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  6  3
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income ( 49)  24
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently 
  To Profit or Loss ( 3) ( 20)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation ( 4) ( 25)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income  1  5

 149 ( 140)

 937  613

Basic Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55
Diluted Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)
  FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  FOR THE YEAR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
 (All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

6 
 

 
 Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

788 753

Adjustments for Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 15 and 16 1.521 1.087
Adjustments for Provisions  Related with Employee Benefits 20 and 22 22 23
Adjustments for Provisions for Payables 20 (2)   2 
Adjustments for Reversal of Probable Risks 35 20 (7)
Adjustments for Interest Income 30 and 31 (97) (123)
Adjustments for Interest Expense 22 and 31 257 265
Adjustments For Unrealised Foreign Exchange Gains (802) (98)
Adjustments for Manufacturers' Credits 14 - 1
Adjustments for Fair Value Losses / (Gains) on Derivative 
  Financial Instruments 31 23 (36)
Adjustments for Undistributed Profits of Associates 3 (82) (123)
Adjustments for Tax Income 32 88 201
Adjustments for Losses / (Gains) Arised From Sale of Tangible Assets 30 74 (5)
Adjustments for Losses Arised from Sale of 
  Other Non-Current Assets 15 39 29

  1.849   1.969 
Increase in Trade Receivables from Non Related Parties 10 15 27
Decrease / (Increase) in Other Non-Related Party Receivables 
  Related with Operations 12 66 (272)
Adjustments for (Increase) / Decrease in Inventories 13 (100) 3
Adjustments for Increase in Prepaid Expenses 14 (54) (344)
(Decrease) / Increase in Trade Payables to Related Parties 9 (59) 63
Increase in Trade Payables to Non-Related Parties 10 167 104
Adjustments for Decrease in Payables Due to 
  Employee Benefits 11 (39) (1)
Increase / (Decrease) in Other Operating Payables to 
  Non-Related Parties 12 160 (42)
Increase in Deferred Income 14 175 53
Increase in Other Assets Related with Operations 24 (41) (12)
Cash Flows From Operations   2.139   1.548 
Payments for Provisions  Related with Employee Benefits 22 (10) (10)
Income taxes (paid) 32 (18) (81)

  2.111   1.457 

Cash Receipts Proceed From Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 17 13
Cash Payments From Purchasing of Property, Plant and Equipment (*) 15 and 16 (1.068) (1.242)

Cash Receipts / (Payments) From Purchasing of Other Long-term Assets 6 115 (359)
Other Cash Advances and Loans 12 (225) (969)
Dividends Received                                         61 31
Interest Received 30 and 31 84 123

( 1.016) ( 2.403)

Proceeds From Loans 7 3.161 3.055
Payments of Loans                                  (2.268) (1.228)
Payments of Finance Lease Liabilities ( 974) (906)
Payments of Lease Liabilities ( 341)                                            - 
Interest Paid ( 247) (220)
Other Cash Inflows/ (Outflows) 8 13 (10)

( 656)   691 
  439 ( 255)

  1.636   1.891 

5   2.075   1.636 

CASH FLOWS FROM / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Net Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

Net Profit for the year
Adjustments to Reconcile Profit / (Loss)

Net Cash From Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Operating Profit Before Changes in Working Capital

 
(*) USD 2,289 portion of property and equipment and intangible assets purchases in total of USD 3,357 for the year ended 31 
December 2019 was acquired through leases. (31 December 2018: USD 817 portion of property and equipment and intangible assets 
purchases in total of USD 2,059 was acquired through leases.) 
 
                                           The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 
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PROFIT OR LOSS  Notes 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Revenue 26  13,229  12,855
Cost of Sales (-) 27 ( 10,928) ( 10,136)
GROSS PROFIT  2,301  2,719
General Administrative Expenses (-) 28 ( 299) ( 260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) 28 ( 1,417) ( 1,290)
Other Operating Income 29  355  161
Other Operating Expenses (-) 29 ( 64) ( 139)
OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE 
  INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES  876  1,191
Income from Investment Activities 30  169  101
Expenses from Investment Activities 30 ( 80) ( 2)
Share of Investments' Profit Accounted 
  by Using The Equity Method 3  82  123
OPERATING PROFIT  1,047  1,413
Financial Income 31  139  129
Financial Expenses (-) 31 ( 310) ( 588)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX  876  954
Tax Income Expense ( 88) ( 201)
Current Tax Expense 32 -                                ( 40)
Deferred Tax Expense 32 ( 88) ( 161)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  788  753

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items That May Be Reclassified Subsequently To 
  Profit or Loss  152 ( 120)
Currency Translation Adjustment ( 24) ( 52)
Gains / (Losses) on Remeasuring FVOCI  7 ( 9)
Fair Value Gains / (Losses) on Hedging Instruments 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  212 ( 86)
Fair Value Gains Hedging Instruments of 
  Investment Accounted by Using the Equity Method 
  Entered into for Cash Flow Hedges  6  3
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income ( 49)  24
Items That Will Not Be Reclassified Subsequently 
  To Profit or Loss ( 3) ( 20)
Actuarial Losses on Retirement Pay Obligation ( 4) ( 25)
Related Tax of Other Comprehensive Income  1  5

 149 ( 140)

 937  613

Basic Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55
Diluted Gain Per Share (Full US Cents) 33  0.57  0.55

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (EXPENSE)
  FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  FOR THE YEAR

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 
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1. GROUP ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS 

Türk Hava Yolları Anonim Ortaklığı (the “Company” or “THY”) was incorporated in Turkey in 1933. As 
of 31 December 2019 and 2018, the shareholders and their respective shareholdings in the Company are as 
follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Turkey Wealth Fund 49.12 % 49.12 %
Republic of Turkey Treasury and Finance 
 Ministry Privatization Administration                               -                                    -      
Other (publicly held) 50.88 % 50.88 %
Total 100.00 % 100.00 %

 
 
The number of employees working for the Group as of 31 December 2019 is 38,849 (31 December 2018: 
35,205). The average number of employees working for the Group for the years ended 31 December 2019 
and 2018 are 37,670 and 33,347 respectively. The Group is registered in İstanbul, Turkey and its head 
office address is as follows: 

Türk Hava Yolları A.O. Genel Yönetim Binası, Yeşilköy Mahallesi, Havaalanı Caddesi No: 3/1  
34149 Yeşilköy İSTANBUL. 

The Company’s shares have been traded on Borsa İstanbul (BIST) since 1990. 
 
Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures 
 
The table below sets out the consolidated subsidiaries of the Group as of 31 December 2019 and 2018:  
 

Country of
Name of the Company Principal Activity 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 Registration
THY Teknik A.Ş. 
(THY Teknik)

Aircraft Maintenance 
Services 100% 100% Turkey

THY Uçuş Eğitim ve 
Havalimanı İşletme A.Ş.

Training & Airport 
Operations 100% 100% Turkey

THY Havaalanı 
Gayrimenkul Yatırım ve 
İşletme A.Ş. Airport Investment 100% 100% Turkey
THY Uluslararası 
Yatırım ve Taşımacılık 
A.Ş. 

Cargo and Courier 
Transportation 100% 100% Turkey

Cornea Havacılık 
Sistemleri San. Ve Tic. 
A.Ş. 

Software System 
Maintenance Services 80% 80% Turkey

Ownership Rate
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1. GROUP ORGANIZATION AND ITS OPERATIONS (cont’d) 

 
Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures (cont’d) 
 
The table below sets out joint ventures of the Group as of 31 December 2019 and 2018: 
 

Company Name

Country of 
Registration and 

Operations 31 December 2019 31 December 2018 Principal Activity

Güneş Ekspres Havacılık A.Ş. 
(Sun Express)  Turkey 50% 50%

Aircraft 
Transportation

THY DO&CO İkram Hizmetleri A.Ş.
(Turkish DO&CO) Turkey 50% 50% Catering 

Services

P&W T.T. Uçak Bakım Merkezi Ltd. Şti. (TEC)
 Turkey 49% 49%
Maintenance 

Services
TGS Yer Hizmetleri A.Ş. (TGS) Turkey 50% 50% Ground Services

THY OPET Havacılık Yakıtları A.Ş.  (THY Opet)
  Turkey 50% 50%
Aviation Fuel 

Services
Goodrich Thy Teknik Servis Merkezi 
Ltd. Şti. (Goodrich) Turkey 40% 40%

Maintenance 
Services

Uçak Koltuk Sanayi ve Ticaret A.Ş 
(Uçak Koltuk)  Turkey 50% 50%

Cabin Interior 
Products

TCI Kabin İçi Sistemleri San ve Tic. A.Ş.   (TCI) Turkey 50% 50%
Cabin Interior 

Products

Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. Turkey 30% 30%
VAT Return and 

Consultancy

Air Albania Albania 49% 49%
Aircraft 

Transportation

We World Express Ltd. Hong Kong 45% -
Cargo and 

Courier 

Ownership Share and Voting Power

 
The Group owns 49%, 49%, 45%, 40% and 30% equity shares of TEC, Air Albania, We World Express 
Ltd., Goodrich and Vergi İade Aracılık A.Ş. respectively. However, based on the contractual arrangements 
between the Group and the other respective investors, decisions about the relevant activities of the 
arrangements require both the Group and the other respective investor agreement. Thus, the Group 
concluded that it has joint control over TEC, Air Albania, We World Express, Goodrich and Vergi İade 
Aracılık A.Ş.. 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
2.1 Basis of Presentation 
 
Statement of Compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2019 on 5 March 
2020. General Assembly and the related regulatory bodies have the authority to modify the statutory 
financial statements. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d) 
 
Basis of Preparation  

The consolidated financial statements, except for derivative financial instruments, have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for goods or services. 
 
Adjustment of Financial Statements in Hyperinflationary Periods 

As of 1 January 2005, “IAS 29: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” was no longer 
applied henceforward. 
 
Functional and Reporting Currency  
 
Functional currency 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in US Dollars, which is the functional 
currency of the Group. 
 
Although the currency of the country in which the Group is domiciled is Turkish Lira (TL), the Group’s 
functional currency is determined as US Dollar. US Dollar is used to a significant extent in, and has a 
significant impact on the operations of the Group and reflects the economic substance of the underlying 
events and circumstances relevant to the Group. Therefore, the Group uses the US Dollar in measuring 
items in its financial statements and as the functional currency. All currencies other than the currency 
selected for measuring items in the consolidated financial statements are treated as foreign currencies. 
Accordingly, transactions and balances not already measured in US Dollar have been remeasured in US 
Dollar in accordance with the relevant provisions of IAS 21 the Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 
Rates. 
 
Except where otherwise indicated, all values are rounded the nearest million (US Dollar 000,000). 

Basis of Consolidation 
 
a. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent company, THY, its subsidiaries 

and its joint ventures on the basis set out in sections (b) below. Financial statements of the subsidiaries 
and joint ventures are adjusted where applicable in order to apply the same accounting policies. All 
transactions, balances, profit and loss within the Group are eliminated during consolidation. 
 

b. The Group has eleven joint ventures (Note: 1). These joint ventures are economical activities whereby 
decisions about strategic finance and operating policy are jointly made by the consensus of the Group 
and other investors. The joint ventures are controlled by the Group jointly, and are accounted for 
by.using.the.equity.method. Under the equity method, joint ventures are initially recognized at cost and 
adjusted to recognize any distributions received impairments in the joint ventures and the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss after the date of acquisition. Joint ventures’ losses that exceed the Group’s share are 
not recognized, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations on behalf of the joint 
venture.  

 
c. The non-controlling share in the assets and results of subsidiaries for the year are separately classified as 

“non-controlling interest” in the consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated 
statements of profit or loss. 
 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.1 Basis of Presentation (cont’d) 
 
Business Combinations  
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control occurs when the investor is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential 
voting rights that currently are exercisable. 
 
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 
- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 
- the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus 

 
- if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the 

acquire; less 
 

- the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts generally are recognized in profit or loss. Transaction costs, other than those 
associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination are expensed as incurred. 
 
2.2 Changes and Errors in Accounting Policies Estimates 

Transition to IFRS 16: 

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. The Group elected to apply the 
standard to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Group 
therefore did not apply the standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

The Group elected to use the exemptions applicable to the standard on lease contracts for which the lease 
terms ends within 12 months as of the date of initial application and lease contracts for which the 
underlying asset is of low value. The Group has leases of certain office equipment (i.e., personal 
computers, printing and photocopying machines) that are considered of low value.  
 

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position (increase/(decrease)) as at 1 January 2019: 

Assets
Property, plant and equipment (Right-of-use assets) 1,638
Prepaid expenses (13)
Total assets 1,625
Liabilities
Lease liabilities 1,595
Redelivery maintenance liabilities 30
Deferred tax liabilities 8
Total liabilities 1,633
Net impact on equity (8)
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.2 Changes and Errors in Accounting Policies Estimates (cont’d) 
 
Transition to IFRS 16 (cont’d): 
 
The standard is applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 
 

1 January 2019
Lease commitments 1,915
-Discounted amount (-) (299)
-Short term and low value leases (-) (21)
Total lease liability 1,595

 
 
Also in relation to those leases under IFRS 16, the Group has recognized depreciation and interest costs, 
instead of operating lease expense. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognized USD 
315 depreciation charges and USD 57 interest costs from these leases.  
 
The financial statements of the Group are prepared comparatively with the prior period in order to enable 
the determination of the financial situation and performance trends. In order to comply with the 
presentation of the current period financial statements, comparative information is reclassified when 
necessary and significant differences are disclosed. The Group has made the following reclassifications in 
the prior period financial statements in order to comply with the presentation of the current period financial 
statements. 
 

- Short term deferred income amounting to USD 5 included for the year 1 January- 31 December 
2018 is classified to long term deferred income. 

 
- Other operating income amounting to USD 4 included for the year 1 January- 31 December 2018 is 

classified to other operating expense. 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
2.3.1 Revenue 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognized. It replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretation. The 
Company has adopted IFRS 15 with a date of initial application of 1 January 2018. As a result, the 
Company has changed its accounting policy for revenue recognition as detailed below.  
 
The Company has applied IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method – by recognizing the cumulative 
effect of initially applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018.  
 
General model for revenue recognition 
 
TFRS 15 requires revenue recognition for all contracts with customers to follow the five-step approach to 
revenue recognition. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.1 Revenue (cont’d) 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d) 
Step 1: Identifying the contract 

A contract exists only if it is legally enforceable, the collection of the consideration is probable, the rights 
to goods and services and payment terms can be identified, the contract has commercial substance; and the 
contract is approved and the parties are committed to their obligations. 
 
If either contracts were negotiated as a single commercial package, or consideration in one contract 
depends on the other contract or goods or services (or some of the goods or services) are a single 
performance obligation the Company accounts the contracts as a single contract. 
 
Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations 
 
The Company defines ‘performance obligation’ as a unit of account for revenue recognition. The 
Company assesses the goods or services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a 
performance obligation either a good or service that is distinct; or a series of distinct goods or services that 
are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer. A contract may contain 
promises to deliver a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same. At contract 
inception, an entity determines whether the series of goods or services is a single performance obligation. 
 
Step 3: Determining the transaction price 
 
In order to determine the transaction price, the Company assesses how much consideration it expects to be 
entitled to by fulfilling the contract. In arriving at the assessment, the Company considers variable 
elements of consideration, as well as the existence of a significant financing component. 

Significant financing component 

The Company revises the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a significant financing 
component to the amount that reflects what the cash selling price of the promised good or service.  
 
As a practical expedient, the Company does not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant 
financing component if, at contract inception, the entity expects the period between customer payment and 
the transfer of goods or services to be one year or less. In cases where advance for the services are 
received and the payment scheme is broadly aligned with the Company’s performance throughout the 
period, the Company concludes that the period between performance and payment is never more than 12 
months, therefore the expedient is applied. 

Variable consideration 

The Company’s identifies items such as price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, price 
adjustment clauses, penalties, discounts, credits, or similar items may result in variable consideration if 
there is any in a customer contract. 
 
Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations 
 
If distinct goods or services are delivered under a single arrangement, then the consideration is 
allocated based on relative stand-alone selling prices of the distinct goods or services (performance 
obligations). If directly observable stand-alone selling prices are not available, the total consideration in 
the service contracts is allocated based on their expected cost plus a margin. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.1 Revenue (cont’d) 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (cont’d) 
 
Step 5: Recognition of revenue 
 
The Company recognises revenue over-time if any of the following conditions is met: 
 
- Customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits as the entity performs, or 

- The customer controls the asset as the entity creates or enhances it, or 

- Company’s performance does not create an asset for which the entity has a use; and alternative there is a 
right to payment for performance to date. 
 
For each performance obligation that is satisfied over time, an entity selects a single measure of progress, 
which depicts the transfer of control of the goods or services to the customer. The Company uses a 
method that measures the work performed reliably. The Company uses cost incurred to measure the 
progress towards to completion of the project where the input method is used and uses units transferred to 
measure the progress towards to completion of the project where the output method is used. If a 
performance obligation is not satisfied over time, then the Company recognise revenue at the point in time 
at which it transfers control of the good or service to the customer. 
 
The Company recognises a provision in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets” when the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under a contract exceed the 
economic benefits.  
 
Rendering of services: 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or to be received. Passenger fares and 
cargo revenues are recognized as operating revenue when the transportation service is provided. Tickets 
sold but not used (unflown) yet are recognized as passenger flight liabilities in deferred income as a 
contract liability in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 does not 
have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements and accounting policies. 
 
The Group develops estimates using historical statistics and data for unredeemed tickets. Total estimated 
unredeemed tickets are recognized as operating revenue. Agency commissions relating to the passenger 
revenue are recognized as expense when the transportation service is provided. 

Aircraft maintenance and infrastructure support services are recognized on accrual basis at the fair value of 
the amount obtained or to be obtained based on the assumptions that delivery is realized, the income can be 
reliably determined and the inflow of the economic benefits related with the transaction to the Group is 
probable. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.1 Revenue (cont’d) 
 
Rendering of services (cont’d): 
 
a) Expired Ticket Revenue 

Tickets for which the passenger is not expected to exercise their rights under the ticket contract with the 
Group will expire. Tickets that expire unused represent unexercised passenger rights and are often referred 
to as passenger ticket breakage. The Group recognizes breakage (or unexercised rights) as revenue. Since 
the break date of these specific tickets can not be identified ultimately, the Group estimates and recognizes 
the expected breakage amount by using historical data and trends. The data used for the estimation for the 
amount of unredeemed tickets is revised under the IFRS 15 and provisional ticket breakage revenue is 
calculated with the tickets not flown on their scheduled flight date. The impacts of the changes over the 
breakage calculation method are an increase in the liabilities and a decrease in the revenue and equity.  
 
b) Ticket Reissue Revenue 

Each fare type that the Group issues will have its own conditions attached, which may include it being 
restricted, non-upgradeable or non-refundable. This means that if passengers need to make a change to their 
booking, cancel flights or buy replacement tickets then a change fee may apply. Under previous standards 
the Group recognize change fees as revenue when a passenger request a change and pays the fee. With the 
adoption of IFRS 15 the change service is not considered distinctly because the customer cannot benefit 
from it without taking the flight. Although the change service is provided in advance of the flight, the 
benefit from it is not provided until the customer takes the flight. As a result, the change fee is recognized 
as revenue together with the original ticket sale on the date of travel. The impacts of the changes are an 
increase in the liabilities and a decrease in the revenue and equity. 
 
Dividend and interest income: 
 
Dividend income generated from equity investments is recognized as shareholders gain the dividend rights. 
 
Interest income is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. 
 
2.3.2 Inventories 
 
Inventories consist of non-repairable spare parts, consumables and supplies such as flight equipment and 
purchased merchandises.  
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of inventories is the sum of all 
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition.  
 
Average cost method is applied in the calculation of cost of inventories. Net realizable value represents the 
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make a sale. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.3 Property and Equipment 
 
Tangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Legal fees are also included in cost. Borrowing costs are capitalized for assets that need substantial time to 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. As the similar depreciation method used for other fixed assets, 
depreciation of such assets begins when they are available for use. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties 
under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. Expected useful life, 
residual value and depreciation method are reviewed each year for the possible effects of changes in 
estimates, and they are recognized prospectively if there are any changes in estimates. 
 
The Group has classified the cost of assets that are acquired directly or through finance leases into the 
following parts, by considering the renewal of significant parts of the aircrafts identified during the 
overhaul maintenance and overhaul of aircraft fuselage and engine; a) fuselage, b) overhaul maintenance 
for the fuselage, c) engine and d) overhaul maintenance for the engines. Overhaul maintenance for the 
fuselage and overhaul engine repair parts are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining period to the 
next maintenance or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life.  
 
They are capitalized subsequent to overhaul maintenance for the fuselage and engines and are depreciated 
over the shorter of the next maintenance period or the remaining period of the aircraft’s useful life. 
 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or 
loss. 
 
The useful lives and residual values used for property and equipment are as follows:  
 
 Useful Life (Years) Residual Value 
  

 - Buildings 25 and 50 - 
 - Aircrafts and Engines 25 10% 
 - Cargo Aircraft and Engines 25 10% 
 - Overhaul Maintenance for Airframe  6 - 

- Overhaul Maintenance for Engines 3-8 - 
- Overhaul Maintenance for Spare Engines 3-13 - 
- Components 7 - 

 - Repairable Spare Parts 3 and 7 - 
 - Simulators 25 10% 
 - Machinery and Equipment 3-15 - 
 - Furniture and Fixtures 3-15 - 
 - Motor Vehicles 4-7 - 
 - Other Equipment 4-15 - 
 - Leasehold Improvements Lease period/5 years - 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

16 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.4 Leases 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 
 
The new standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective as at January 1, 2019 are as 
follows: 
 
On 13 January 2016, IASB issued the new leasing standard which will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, and SIC 
27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease and consequently 
changes to IAS 40 Investment Properties. IFRS 16 Leases eliminates the current dual accounting model for 
lessees, which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating 
leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease 
accounting. Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice. 
 
Lessees have recognition exemptions to applying this standard in case of short-term leases (i.e., leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers, office 
equipment, etc.). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee measures the lease liability at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date (i.e., the lease liability), at the same date 
recognises an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset (i.e., the right-of-use asset) and 
depreciates it during the lease term. The lease payments shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall 
use the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Lessees are required to recognise the interest expense on the 
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset separately. 
 
Lessees are required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g. a change in 
the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to 
determine those payments). Under these circumstances, the lessee recognises the amount of the 
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  
 
Set out below are the new accounting policies of the Group upon adoption of IFRS 16: 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.  
 
Group applies the depreciation policy mentioned in IAS 16 for the depreciation of the right of use assets. If 
the lessor transfers the ownership of the leased asset to the Group at the end of the lease term or the right of 
use asset cost indicates that the Group will use a purchase option, the recognized right-of-use assets are 
depreciated from the commencement of the lease until the end of underlying asset’s useful life. In other 
cases, the right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis beginning from the commencement date 
over the shorter of its estimated useful life or the lease term. 
 
Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.4 Leases (cont’d) 
 

IFRS 16 Leases (cont’d) 
 
Right-of-use assets (cont’d) 
 
Aircraft; 

For the aircraft operating lease agreements, the lease term corresponds to the non-cancellable duration of 
the agreements signed except in cases where the Group is reasonably certain of exercising either an 
extension option or an early termination option which is included in the agreement. For each currency, 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate is used to determine the lease liability. IFRS 16 requires including 
maintenance costs in the right of use asset. According to that, the Group decides whether the maintenance 
cost is capitalized to the right of use asset by analyzing whether the maintenance cost is avoidable or 
unavoidable. The Group is obliged to return leased aircraft and their engines according to the redelivery 
condition which is set in the lease agreement. The Group needs to either maintain the aircraft so that it 
meets the agreed redelivery condition or settle the difference in cash to the lessor if the condition of the 
aircraft and its engines differs from the agreed redelivery condition. Maintenance costs can be divided into 
two groups; costs that incur independent of the usage of the aircraft / leasing period and costs that incur 
dependent on the usage of the aircraft / leasing period. Costs depending on the usage of the aircraft are not 
included as part of the right of use asset cost. 

Real estate and other leases; 

For lease agreements, the lease term corresponds to the non-cancellable duration of the agreements signed 
except in cases where the Group is reasonably certain of exercising either an extension option or an early 
termination option which is included in the agreement. For each currency Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate is used to determine the lease liability. Service agreements which relate to the usage of airports and 
terminals do not qualify as lease arrangements under IFRS 16. In the agreements, the lessor has the right to 
substitute the leased area with another area, meaning that these agreements do not qualify as leasing 
contract under IFRS 16. As an exception to this, there are specific lounge areas which are dedicated for the 
use of the Group and therefore, these are included in the lease agreements. 
 
Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value 
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on 
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments 
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and 
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expense 
in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a 
change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.4 Leases (cont’d) 
 
IFRS 16 Leases (cont’d) 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and 
equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and 
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to 
leases of office equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The following table summarizes the impact, deferred tax, of transition to IFRS 16 on retained earnings at 1 
January 2019: 
 
Redelivery maintenance prior year affect
Redelivery maintenance liabilities 23
Deferred tax liabilities (5)
Retained earnings 18

 
2.3.5 Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets include rights, information systems and software. Intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Rights and other intangible assets are 
depreciated over their useful life of 3 and 5 years, on a straight-line basis. Slot rights are assessed as 
intangible assets with indefinite useful life, as there are no time restrictions on them. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill that arises upon acquisition of subsidiaries is presented in intangible assets. For the measurement 
of goodwill at initial recognition, refer to Note 2.1. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
2.3.6 Impairment on Assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date and (for assets with 
indefinite useful lives, whenever there is an indication of impairment) to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows 
resulting from continuing use of an asset and from disposal at the end of its useful life. Impairment losses 
are accounted in profit or loss. 
 
An impairment loss recognized in prior periods for an asset is reversed if the subsequent increase in the 
asset’s recoverable amount is caused by a specific event since the last impairment loss was recognized. 
Such a reversal amount is recognized as income in the consolidated financial statements and cannot exceed 
the previously recognized impairment loss and shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of amortization or depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
prior years. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.6 Impairment on Assets (cont’d) 
 
Group considers aircrafts, spare engines and simulators together (“Aircrafts”) as cash generating unit 
subject to impairment and impairment calculation was performed for Aircrafts collectively. In the 
examination of whether net book values of aircrafts, spare engines and simulators exceed their recoverable 
amounts, the higher value between value in use and sale expenses deducted net selling prices in US Dollars 
is used for determination of recoverable amounts. Net selling price for the aircrafts is determined according 
to second hand prices in international price guides. The differences between net book values of these assets 
and recoverable amounts are recognized as impairment gains or losses under income and expenses from 
investment activities. 
 
2.3.7  Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial assets 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when the Group is a 
legal party to these financial instruments. Financial investments are recognized on a trade date where the 
purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within 
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which are 
initially measured at fair value. 
 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. 
Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a 
separate asset or liability. 
 
Investments are recorded or deleted from records on the date of trading activity based on an agreement 
providing a requirement for investment instrument delivery in compliance with the duration determined by 
related market. 
 
A financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL (fair value through profit or 
loss). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which 
a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. Derivatives embedded in 
contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the 
hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(a) Financial assets (cont’d) 

 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
A debt investment is measured FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
at FVTPL:  

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets; and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect 
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an 
investment-by-investment basis.  
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized for the FVOCI as described above are measured 
at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized for the at 
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise.  

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially 
measured at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition. 
 
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.  

Financial assets at  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at 
amortized cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognized in profit or loss. 

Debt investments at These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income 
FVOCI calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and 

 
losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and 

 

losses are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Equity investments at  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
FVOCI recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents   

 

a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses 
are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(a) Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
The corporate debt securities categorized as available-for-sale under IAS 39 are held by the Group’s 
treasury unit in a separate portfolio to provide interest income, but may be sold to meet liquidity 
requirements arising in the normal course of business. The Group considers that these securities are held 
within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and by 
selling securities. The corporate debt securities mature in one to two years and the contractual terms of 
these financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. These assets have therefore been classified as financial assets 
at FVOCI under IFRS 9.  
 
Trade and other receivables that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are now classified at 
amortized cost. An increase of USD 7 in the allowance for impairment over these receivables was 
recognized in opening retained earnings at 1 January 2018 on transition to IFRS 9. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with their maturities equal or less than three months from date of acquisition that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. The 
carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value. 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Trade, loan and other receivables are initially recorded at fair value less any transaction costs. At 
subsequent periods, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets  
 
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new 
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, contract assets and debt 
investments at FVOCI, but not to investments in equity instruments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are 
recognized earlier than under IAS 39.  
 
The financial assets at amortized cost consist of trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and corporate 
debt securities.  
 
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:  
 
- 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the 

reporting date; and  
        
- Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 

financial instrument.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(a) Financial assets (cont’d) 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The Group has elected to 
measure loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information. The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
  
- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group 

to actions such as realizing security (if any is held). 
 
The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the 
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The maximum period considered when estimating 
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
  
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value 
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).  
 
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.  
 
Credit-impaired financial assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt 
securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  
 
Presentation of impairment  
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of the assets.  
 
For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognized in OCI, instead of reducing the carrying 
amount of the asset. 
 



173172 Consolidated Financial Results Turkish Airlines Annual Report 2019

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

23 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial liabilities 

 
The Group’s financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified in accordance with the contractual 
arrangements and recognition principles of a financial liability and equity instrument. An equity instrument 
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
The significant accounting policies for financial liabilities and equity instruments are described below. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or loans, 
borrowings and payables. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value, and at each 
reporting period revalued at fair value as of balance sheet date. Changes in fair value are recognized in 
profit and loss. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a 
method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 
 
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
 
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates.  
 
The major source of interest rate risk is finance lease liabilities. The Group’s policy is to convert some 
financial liabilities with fixed interest rates into financial liabilities with floating interest rates, and some 
financial liabilities denominated in EUR into financial liabilities denominated in USD. The derivative 
financial instruments obtained for this purpose are not subject to hedge accounting and profit/loss arising 
from the changes in the fair values of those instruments is directly accounted in profit or loss. The Group 
converted some of the floating-rate loans into fixed-rate loans through derivative financial instruments. 
 
The Group applies hedge accounting since 2009 to these transactions, as they are designated to hedge 
against cash flow risks arising from fluctuations in interest rates. The Group also enters into derivative 
financial instruments to hedge against jet fuel price risks. The Group applies hedge accounting to these 
transactions, as they are designated to hedge against cash flow risks arising from fluctuations in jet fuel 
prices. 
 
As of 2019, financial lease liabilities for investment financing are designated as cash flow hedge against 
exchange rate risk due to highly probable future same foreign currency revenues. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.8 Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial liabilities (cont’d) 
 
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d) 
 
Use of derivative financial instruments is managed according to the Group policy approved by the Board of 
Directors and compliant with the risk management strategy. 
 
The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.  
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, 
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, for forecast transactions, any cumulative gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction 
occurs. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognized in 
equity is transferred to profit or loss for the period.  
 
Derivative financial instruments are calculated according to the fair value at contract date and again are 
calculated in the following reporting period at fair value base. The effective portions of changes in the fair 
value of derivatives which are designated as cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivatives is recognized in profit or 
loss. 
 
2.3.9 Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into US Dollar at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated the rates prevailing at the date when fair value 
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. 
Gains and losses arising on settlement and translation of foreign currency items are included in profit or 
loss. 
The closing and average US Dollar-TL  and US Dollar-EUR exchange rates as at 31 December 2019, 2018 
and 2017 are as follows: 

 Closing Rate Average Rate 

Year ended 31 December 2019     5.9402     5.6712 

Year ended 31 December 2018 

Year ended 31 December 2017 

    5.2609 

    3.7719 

    4.8301 

    3.6445 

 

 Closing Rate Average Rate 

Year ended 31 December 2019       1/ 1.1196     1/ 1.1194 

Year ended 31 December 2018      1/ 1.1458     1/ 1.1757 

Year ended 31 December 2017      1/ 1.1971 1/ 1.1294 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.10 Earnings per Share 
 
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit by weighted average number of shares outstanding 
in the relevant period. In Turkey, companies are allowed to increase their capital by distributing free shares 
to shareholders from accumulated profits. In calculation of earnings per share, such free shares are 
considered as issued shares. Therefore, weighted average number of shares in the calculation of earnings 
per share is found by applying distribution of free shares retrospectively. 
 
2.3.11 Events After the Reporting Date 
 
Events after the balance sheet date are those events, which occur between the balance sheet date and the 
date when the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue. 
 
If adjustment is necessary for such events, the Group’s consolidated financial statements are adjusted to 
reflect such events. 
 
2.3.12   Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, Contingent Assets  
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. 
 
Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if 
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably. 
 
Onerous Contracts   
 
Present liabilities arising from onerous contracts are calculated and accounted for as provision. It is 
assumed that an onerous contract exists if Group has a contract which unavoidable costs to be incurred to 
settle obligations of the contract exceed the expected economic benefits of the contract.  
 
2.3.13 Segmental Information 
 
There are two main operating segments of the Group, air transportation and aircraft technical maintenance 
operations; these include information for determination of performance evaluation and allocation of 
resources by the management. The Group management uses the operating profit calculated according to 
IFRS while evaluating the performance of the segments. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.14 Investment Property 
 
Investment properties, which are properties, held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are 
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market 
conditions at the balance sheet date.  
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the profit or 
loss in the year in which they arise.  
 
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in profit or loss 
in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
When an investment property is transferred from investment property measured at fair value (whether to 
own-use properties or to inventories), the transfer is accounted for at fair value. The fair value at the date of 
transfer is then deemed to be the property's cost for subsequent accounting under IAS 2 or IAS 16. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the property before transfer and its fair value on the date of 
transfer is recognized in profit or loss in the same way as any other change in the fair value of investment 
property. 
 
2.3.15 Taxation and Deferred Tax  
 
Turkish tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiary to file a consolidated tax return. 
Therefore, provisions for taxes, as reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, have 
been calculated on a separate-entity basis.  
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses.  
 
Current tax  
 
The current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. 
 
Deferred Tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases which is used in the computation of taxable profit, and 
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets 
and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.15  Taxation and Deferred Tax (cont’d)  
 
Deferred Tax (cont’d) 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and affiliates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseable future.  
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Current and deferred tax for the year 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate 
to items credited or debited directly to equity, where the tax is also recognized directly in equity, or where 
they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the 
tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest 
in the net fair value of the acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost. 
 
2.3.16 Government Grants 
 
Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are recognized in 
profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses the related 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.  
 
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or 
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognized as deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of 
the related assets. 
 
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3.17 Employee Benefits / Retirement Pay Provision 
 
Under Turkish law and union agreements, lump sum payments are made to employees retiring or 
involuntarily leaving the Group. Such payments are considered as being part of defined retirement benefit 
plan as per International Accounting Standard 19 (revised) “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19”).  
 
The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses. Actuarial gains and losses are 
accounted as other comprehensive income. 
 
2.3.18   Share Capital and Dividends 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Dividends on common shares are recognized in equity in the 
period in which they are approved and declared. 

 
2.3.19   Manufacturers’ Credits 
 
Manufacturers' credits are received against acquisition or lease of aircraft and engines. The Group records 
these credits as a reduction to the cost of the owned and amortizes them over the related asset’s remaining 
economic life. Manufacturers’ credits related to operating leases are recorded as deferred revenue and 
amortized over the lease term. 
 
2.3.20   Maintenance and Repair Cost 
 
Regular maintenance and repair costs for owned and leased assets are charged to operating expense as 
incurred. Aircraft and engine overhaul maintenance checks for owned and leased aircrafts are capitalized 
and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining period to the following overhaul maintenance checks or 
the remaining useful life of the aircraft. For aircraft held under operating leases the Group is contractually 
committed to either return the aircraft in a certain condition or to compensate the lessor upon return of the 
aircraft. The estimated airframes and engine maintenance costs are accrued and charges to profit or loss 
over the lease term, based on the present value of the estimated future cost of the major airframe overhaul, 
engine maintenance calculated by reference to hours or order operated during the year. 
 
2.3.21  Frequent Flyer Program 
 
The Group provides a frequent flyer program (FFP) named “Miles and Smiles” in the form of free travel 
award to its members on accumulated mileage. Miles earned by flights are recognized as a separately 
identifiable component of the sales transaction(s).  
 
The amount deferred as a liability is measured based on the fair value of the awarded miles. The fair value 
is measured on the basis of the value of the awards for which they could be redeemed. The amount deferred 
is recognized as revenue on redemption of the points including a portion of the points that the Group does 
not expect to be redeemed by the customers (“breakage”). 
 
The Group also sells mileage credits to participating partners in “Miles and Smiles” program. Revenue is 
recognized when transportation is provided. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgements 
 
Preparation of the financial statements requires the amounts of assets and liabilities being reported, 
explanations of contingent liabilities and assets and the uses of accounting estimates and assumptions 
which would affect revenue and expense accounts reported during the accounting period. Group makes 
estimates and assumptions about the future periods. Actual results could differ from those estimations. 
 
Accounting estimates and assumptions which might cause material adjustments on the book values of 
assets and liabilities in future financial reporting period are given below: 
 
The Determination of Impairment on Long Term Assets: 
 
Basic assumptions and calculation methods of the Group relating to impairment on assets are explained in 
Note 2.3.6. 
 
Calculation of the Liability for Frequent Flyer Program: 
 
As explained in Note 2.3.21, Group has a FFP program called “Miles and Smiles” for its members. In the 
calculation of the liability historical statistics are used for miles earned from flights.  
 
Useful Lives and Salvage Values of Tangible Assets: 
 
Group has allocated depreciation over tangible assets by taking into consideration the useful lives and 
residual values explained in Note 2.3.3. 
 
Deferred Tax:  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded using substantially enacted tax rates for the effect of 
temporary differences between book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. There are deferred tax assets 
resulting from tax loss carry-forwards and deductible temporary differences, all of which could reduce 
taxable income in the future in the Group. Based on available evidence, it is determined whether it is 
probable that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will be realized. 
 
Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” 
by the Council of Ministers: 
 
An incentive standard that reconstitutes government assistance for investments initiated effective from 28 
February 2009 with the clause 32/A of the Corporate Tax Law by the 9th article of the 5838 numbered Law 
in order to support investments through taxes on income.  
 
The new investment system becomes effective upon the issuance of the Council of Ministers’ resolution 
“Government Assistance for Investments” No: 2009/15199 on 14 July 2009. Apart from the previous 
“investment incentive” application, which provides the deduction of certain portion of investment 
expenditures against corporate tax base, the new support system aims to provide incentive support to 
companies by deducting “contribution amount”, which is calculated by applying the “contribution rate” 
prescribed in the Council of Ministers’ resolution over the related investment expenditure, against the 
corporate tax imposed on the related investment to the extent the amount reaches to the corresponding 
“contribution amount”.  
 
 
 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

30 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.4 Important Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Key Accounting Judgements (cont’d) 
 
Corporate Tax Law 32/A and the effects of Resolution issued on “Government Assistance for Investments” 
by the Council of Ministers (cont’d): 
 
The Group has right to benefit from some incentives in “Investment Incentive System” due to airline cargo 
and passenger transportation activities. As a result of the applications within this scope, Investment 
Incentive Certificates are obtained for supply of aircraft and ground handling services. The information on 
the Investment Incentive Certificates that may have an impact on the current or future financial reports of 
the Incorporation and the incentives utilized are listed below: 
 
Date of 
Cabinet 
Decree

Number of 
Cabinet 
Decree

Date of Inv. 
Incentive 
Certificate

Investment 
Status Tax Reduction Total Amount of 

Investment USD: (*)

Utilized 
Contribution 
Amount of 
Investment USD: (**)

20.01.2018 2017/11133 9.08.2018 Continue
Tax Reduction %90 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %50

4,190  -

15.06.2012 2012/3305 18.12.2014 Completed
Tax Reduction %50 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %15

2,857  -

14.07.2009 2009/15199 28.12.2010 Completed
Tax Reduction %50 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %20

2,234 3

20.01.2018 2017/11133 11.09.2018 Continue
Tax Reduction %50 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %25

424  -

15.06.2012 2012/3305 1.03.2018 Continue
Tax Reduction %50 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %15

141  25

15.06.2012 2012/3305 11.07.2017 Continue
Tax Reduction %50 / 
Contribution rate to 
Investment %15

 -  -

15.06.2012 2012/3305 18.09.2017 Continue General Investment 
Incentive  -  -

 
(*) Because the investments are realized in foreign currency and revisions made on investments, the amount of 
investment at the time of application and the amount of investment at the time of completion may vary. 
 
(**)The contribution amount of investment, which is not utilizable when there is no tax base, is transferrable by 
indexing with revaluation rate in accordance with the provisions of the relevant legislation. 
 
There is no clear guidance in regards to the accounting for government tax incentives on investments in 
IAS 12 “Income Tax” and IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance”. Since the use of “contribution amount” depends on future earnings from the related 
investment for aircrafts over many years, the Group management considers that the accounting for the 
related investment contribution will be more appropriate if the grant is classified as profit or loss on a 
systematic and rational basis over the useful life of the related assets. In addition, investments on other 
tangible assets, the Group management considers that the accounting of grant contribution in a shorter 
period of time and as profit or loss will be more appropriate for the nature of investment support in the 
period when it is possible to benefit from the incentive. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted  
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are issued but not yet effective up to 
the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  
 
On 18 May 2017, IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts. This first truly globally accepted standard for 
insurance contracts will help investors and others better understand insurers’ risk exposure, profitability 
and financial position. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which was brought in as an interim Standard in 2004. 
IFRS 4 has given companies dispensation to carry on accounting for insurance contracts using national 
accounting standards, resulting in a multitude of different approaches. As a consequence, it is difficult for 
investors to compare and contrast the financial performance of otherwise similar companies. IFRS 17 
solves the comparison problems created by IFRS 4 by requiring all insurance contracts to be accounted for 
in a consistent manner, benefiting both investors and insurance companies. Insurance obligations will be 
accounted for using current values – instead of historical cost. The information will be updated regularly, 
providing more useful information to users of financial statements. IFRS 17 has an effective date of 1 
January 2021 but companies can apply it earlier. The Group is assessing the potential impact on its 
consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of IFRS 17. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 
 
IFRS 4 has been amended by IASB to reduce the impact of the differing effective dates of the new 
insurance contracts standard and IFRS 9. These amendments to IFRS 4 provide two optional solutions for 
insurers to reduce concerns about implementations: i) when applying IFRS 9 by insurers to its financial 
assets, an insurer will be permitted to reclassify the difference between profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and the amounts recognised in profit or loss under IFRS 9 and those that would 
have been reported under IAS 39; or ii) an optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 for 
companies whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance before January 1, 2021. These 
companies will be permitted to continue to apply existing requirements for financial instruments in IAS 39. 
The Group is assessing the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the 
application of the amendments to IFRS 4. 
 
The revised Conceptual Framework (Version 2018) 
 
The revised Conceptual Framework issued on 28 March 2018 by the IASB. The Conceptual Framework 
sets out the fundamental concepts for financial reporting that guide the Board in developing IFRS 
Standards. It helps to ensure that the Standards are conceptually consistent and that similar transactions are 
treated the same way, so as to provide useful information for investors, lenders and other creditors. The 
Conceptual Framework also assists companies in developing accounting policies when no IFRS Standard 
applies to a particular transaction, and more broadly, helps stakeholders to understand and interpret the 
Standards. The revised Framework is more comprehensive than the old one – its aim is to provide the 
Board with the full set of tools for standard setting. It covers all aspects of standard setting from the 
objective of financial reporting, to presentation and disclosures. For companies that use the Conceptual 
Framework to develop accounting policies when no IFRS Standard applies to a particular transaction, the 
revised Conceptual Framework is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2020, with earlier application permitted. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)  
 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material 
 
In October 2018 the IASB issued Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8). The 
amendments clarify and align the definition of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency 
in the application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards. The amended “definition of 
material “was added to the important definition and it was stated that this expression could lead to similar 
results by not giving and giving misstating information. In addition, with this amendment, the terminology 
used in its definition of material has been aligned with the terminology used in the Conceptual Framework 
for Financial Reporting (Version 2018). Those amendments are prospectively effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. The Group is assessing the 
potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of the amendments 
to IAS 1 and IAS 8. 
 
Amendments to IFRS 3 - Definition of a Business 
 
Determining whether a transaction results in an asset or a business acquisition has long been a challenging 
but important area of judgement. IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations to make 
it easier for companies to decide whether activities and assets they acquire are a business or merely a group 
of assets. With this amendments confirmed that a business must include inputs and a process, and clarified 
that the process shall be substantive and the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to 
creating outputs. It narrowed the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs on goods 
and services provided to customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on providing 
dividends or other economic benefits directly to investors or lowering costs and added a concentration test 
that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than a business, if the 
value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group of similar assets. This 
is a simplified assessment that results in an asset acquisition of substantially all of the fair value of the 
gross assets is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. If a 
preparer chooses not to apply the concentration test, or the test is failed, then the assessment focuses on the 
existence of a substantive process.  The amendment applies to businesses acquired in annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020; with earlier application permitted. The Group is assessing the 
potential impact on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the application of the amendments 
to IFRS 3. 
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) 
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, which amended IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 issued in September 2019, 
added Section 6.8 and amended paragraph 7.2.26. About this issue, IASB identified two groups of 
accounting issues that could affect financial reporting. These are: 
 
• pre-replacement issues—issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the reform; and 
• replacement issues—issues that might affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark 
is either reformed or replaced. 
 
IASB considered the pre-replacement issues to be more urgent and decided to address the following hedge 
accounting requirements as a priority in the first phase of the project: 
 
(a) The highly probable requirement; 
(b) Prospective assessments; 
(c) IAS 39 retrospective assessment; and 
(d) Separately identifiable risk components. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d) 
 
2.5 New and Revised Standards and Interpretations (cont’d)  
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) (cont’d) 
 
All other hedge accounting requirements remain unchanged. A company shall apply the exceptions to all 
hedging relationships directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. The Group shall apply these 
amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application permitted. 
 
2.6 Determination of Fair Values 
 
Various accounting policies and explanations of the Group necessitate to determinate the fair value of both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. If applicable, additional information about assumptions 
used for determination of fair value are presented in notes particular to assets and liabilities. 
Evaluation methods in terms of levels are described as follows: 
 
- Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations. 

 
- Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are 

observable for similar assets and liabilities other than quoted prices mentioned in Level 1.  
 

- Level 3: Variables, which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities 
(unobservable variables). 

 
3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

 
The joint ventures accounted for using the equity method are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Sun Express  166  136
TEC  59  62
Turkish DO&CO  55  53
TGS  40  39
THY Opet  33  58
Uçak Koltuk  6  5
TCI  6  3
Goodrich  3  2
We World Express  1  -

369 358
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d) 
 
Share of investments’ profit / (loss) accounted by using the equity method are as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Sun Express 31 33
TGS 22 21
THY Opet 16 45
Turkish DO&CO 13 12
Uçak Koltuk 2 1
Goodrich 1 -
We World Express - -
TEC (3) 11

82 123
 

 
Financial information for Sun Express as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 1,865 1,350
Total liabilities 1,533 1,079
Shareholders'equity 332 271
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 166 136

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 1,567 1,479
Profit for the year 62 67
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit for 
  the year 31 33
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d) 
 
Financial information for THY Opet as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 315 621
Total liabilities 248 504
Shareholders'equity 67 117
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 33 58

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 977 2,291
Profit for the year 32 90
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year 16 45

 
 
Financial information for TEC as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 219 189
Total liabilities 99 62
Shareholders'equity 120 127
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 59 62

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 399 542
(Loss) / Profit for 
  the year (6) 22
Group's share in joint 
 venture's (loss) / 
 profit for the year (3) 11

 
 
Financial information for Turkish DO&CO as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 190 168
Total liabilities 80 62
Shareholders'equity 110 106
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 55 53
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d) 
 
Financial information for Turkish DO&CO as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows (cont’d): 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 344 285
Profit for the year 26 24
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit for 
  the year 13 12

 
 
Financial information for TGS as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 172 130
Total liabilities 93 52
Shareholders'equity 79 78
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 40 39

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 358 286
Profit for the year 45 42
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year 22 21

 
 
Financial information for Uçak Koltuk as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 29 25
Total liabilities 18 15
Shareholders'equity 11 10
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 6 5

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 30 14
Profit for the year 3 1
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year 2 1
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3. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED BY USING THE EQUITY METHOD (cont’d) 
Financial information for TCI as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 19 17
Total liabilities 8 11
Shareholders'equity 11 6
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 6 3

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 13 9
Profit for the year 1 -
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year - -

 
Financial information for Goodrich as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 12 10
Total liabilities 4 5
Shareholders'equity 8 5
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 3 2

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 24 18
Profit for the year 3 1
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year 1 -

 
Financial information for We World Express as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total assets 4 -
Total liabilities 1 -
Shareholders'equity 3 -
Group's share in joint 
 venture's shareholders' 
 equity 1 -

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Revenue 3 -
Profit for the year - -
Group's share in joint 
 venture's profit 
  for the year - -  
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING  
 
Group management makes decisions regarding resource allocation to segments based upon the results and 
the activities of its air transport and aircraft technical maintenance services segments for the purpose of 
segments’ performance evaluation. The Group’s main activities can be summarized as follows: 

Air Transport (“Aviation”) 
 
The Group’s aviation activities consist of mainly domestic and international passenger and cargo air 
transportation. 
 
Technical Maintenance Services (“Technical”) 
 
The Group’s technical activities consist of mainly aircraft repair and maintenance services and providing 
technical and infrastructure support related to aviation sector. The detailed information about the revenue 
of the Group is given in Note 26. 
 
4.1 Total Assets and Liabilities 
 
Total Assets 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Aviation 24,490 20,638
Technical 1,568 1,326
Total 26,058 21,964
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (1,334) (1,232)
Total assets in consolidated 
financial statements 24,724 20,732

Total Liabilitites 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Aviation 17,825 14,883
Technical 386 291
Total 18,211 15,174
Less: Eliminations due to consolidation (351) (387)
Total liabilitites in consolidated 
financial statements 17,860 14,787
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d) 
 
4.2 Profit / (Loss) before Tax  
 
Segment Results: 

1 January - 31 December 2019 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 12,924 305 -             13,229    
Inter-Segment Sales 51 1,016 (1,067)                   -      
Revenue 12,975 1,321 (1,067) 13,229
Cost of Sales (-) (10,988) (1,007) 1,067 (10,928)
Gross Profit 1,987 314 -   2,301
Administrative Expenses (-) (207) (96)                    4    (299)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1,411) (7)                       1 (1,417)
Other Operating Income 330 31 (6)                355    
Other Operating Expenses (-) (45) (20) 1 (64)
Operating Profit Before 
  Investment Activities 654 222 -   876
Income from Investment Activities 168                       1 -                  169    
Expenses from Investment Activities                   (79)                     (1) -                     (80)
Share of Investments' Profit / (Loss)
  Accounted by Using 
  The Equity Method                     84                     (2) -   82
Operating Profit 827 220 -   1,047
Financial Income 139                       2                     (2)                139    
Financial Expense (-) (307) (5)                       2 (310)
Profit Before Tax   659 217 -   876

 
 

1 January - 31 December 2018 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Sales to External Customers 12,629 226                   -                12,855    
Inter-Segment Sales 49 991 (1,040)                   -      
Revenue 12,678 1,217 (1,040) 12,855
Cost of Sales (-) (10,238) (938) 1,040 (10,136)
Gross Profit 2,440 279                   -      2,719
Administrative Expenses (-) (181) (82)                    3    (260)
Marketing and Sales Expenses (-) (1,283) (9)                    2    (1,290)
Other Operating Income 185 10 (34)                161    
Other Operating Expenses (-) (155) (13)                  29    (139)
Operating Profit Before 
  Investment Activities 1,006                185                      -      1,191
Income from Investment Activities 101                   -                        -                     101    
Expenses from Investment Activities                     (2)                   -                        -      (2)
Share of Investments' Loss 
  Accounted by Using 
  The Equity Method 112                  11                      -      123
Operating Profit 1,217 196                   -      1,413
Financial Income 132                   -      (3)                129    
Financial Expense (-) (614) 23 3 (588)
Profit Before Tax  735 219                   -      954
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d) 
 
4.3 Investment Operations 

1 January - 31 December 2019 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Purchase of property and equipment 
  and intangible assets 3,003 354                     -      3,357
Current period depreciation
  and amortization charge              1,385 136                     -      1,521
Investments accounted 
  by using equity method 304 65                     -      369  
 

1 January - 31 December 2018 Aviation Technic
Inter-segment 

elimination Total
Purchase of property and equipment 
  and intangible assets 1,827 232                     -      2,059
Current period depreciation
  and amortization charge              939 148                     -      1,087
Investments accounted 
  by using equity method 293 65                     -      358  
 

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Cash 1 2
Banks – Time deposits 2,000 1,570
Banks – Demand deposits 74 64

2,075 1,636
 

Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019

January 2020
January 2020

March 2020

March 2020
2,000

1,196 EUR 0.36% - 0.80% 1,340

354,185 DZD 1.98% - 3.15%

2,387 TL 9.35% - 11.60% 402
223 USD 1.50% - 1.60% 223

 
 
Details of the time deposits as of 31 December 2018 are as follows: 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018

March 2019

January 2019

March 2019
1,570
1,002871 EUR 2.54% - 3.62%

232 USD 2333.57% - 5.92%

1,718 TL 33519.98% - 24.70%
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6. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
 
Short-term financial investments are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Fair value through other comprehensive income 
  (FVOCI)
   - Governmet debt securities - 90
   - Corporate debt securities 9 26
Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
   - Equity securities 15 17
Time deposits with maturity more than 3 months 376 386

400 519
 

 
Time deposit with maturity more than 3 months as of 31 December 2019 is as follows: 
 
Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019

336 EUR 0.24% - 0.40% April 2020 376
 

 
Time deposit with maturity more than 3 months as of 31 December 2018 is as follows: 
 
Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018

500 TL 23.28% - 23.99% April 2019 98
251 EUR 3.08% - 3.28% May 2019 288

386
 

 
Long-term financial investments are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
FVOCI
   - Governmet debt securities 49 45
   - Corporate debt securities 40 40
Other 1 1

90 86
 

 
Period remaining to contractual maturity dates for FVOCI as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Less than 1 year 9 116
1 to 5 years 3 8
Over 5 years 86 77

98 201
 

 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

FVTPL
   - Equity securities 15 17
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7. BORROWINGS 
 
Short-term borrowings are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Bank borrowings 1,241   1,099 

 
Short-term portions of long-term borrowings are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Finance lease obligations (Note: 18) 1,118 980
Lease liabilities (Note: 18) (*) 256 -
Bank borrowings 491 290

1,865 1,270
 

Long-term borrowings are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Finance lease obligations (Note: 18) 7,274 7,006
Lease liabilities (Note: 18) (*) 1,271 -
Bank borrowings 1,721 1,233

10,266 8,239
 

 
(*) According to IFRS 16, these amounts are lease liabilities. 
 
Details of bank borrowings as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Less than 1 year                         1,732    1,389
Between 1 – 5 years                         1,721    1,233

3,453 2,622  
 

Amount Currency
Interest Rate 

Type Effective Interest Rate Payment Period
31 December 

2019

2,243 EUR Fixed 0.30% -  4.93%
February 2020 - 
December 2024 2,511

841 EUR Floating Euribor + 2.03% - Euribor + 3.77%
February 2020 - 

July 2024 942
3,453

 
 

Amount Currency
Interest Rate 

Type Effective Interest Rate Payment Period
31 December 

2018

1,582 EUR Fixed 4.00% -  4.60%
May 2019 - 
June 2023 1,813

706 EUR Floating Euribor + 2.45% - Euribor + 3.50%
January 2019 - July 

2023 809
2,622
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7. BORROWINGS (cont’d) 
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: 

31 December 
2018 Payment Non-cash Changes

New 
Leases

31 December 
2019

Lease Liabilities 7,986 (1,149) 115   1,440 8,392
 

31 December 
2017 Payment Non-cash Changes

New 
Leases

31 December 
2018

Lease Liabilities 8,213 (1,086) 43   816 7,986
 

31 December 
2018 Payment Non-cash Changes Cash-in

31 December 
2019

Bank Borrowings 2,622 (2,340) 10   3,161 3,453
 

31 December 
2017 Payment Non-cash Changes Cash-in

31 December 
2018

Bank Borrowings 853 (1,268) (20)   3,057 2,622
 

In accordance to IFRS 16 reconciliation of lease liabilities: 
1 January 

2019 Payment Non-cash Changes
New 

Leases
31 December 

2019
Aircraft 1,534 (325) 52   205 1,466
Property 55 (13) 2   14 58
Other 6 (3) -   - 3

1,595 (341) 54 219 1,527
 

8. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Short-term other financial liabilities of the Group are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Other financial liabilities 19 6  
Other financial liabilities consist of overnight interest-free borrowings from banks obtained for settlement 
of monthly tax and social security premium payments. 

9. RELATED PARTIES 

Short-term trade receivables from related parties are as follows:  
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Posta ve Telgraf Teşkilatı A.Ş (PTT)   -   1 
Other (*)   -   1 

  - 2
 

(*) Related parties of which amounts are less than USD 1 are classified as other.  

Other short-term receivables from related parties are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
TGS   28   - 
Turkish DO&CO   -   2 
TCI   -   1 

  28   3 
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9. RELATED PARTIES (cont’d) 
Short-term trade payables to related parties that are accounted by using the equity method are as follows:  

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
TEC   55   60 
THY Opet   38   95 
TGS   37   19 
Turkish DO&CO   21   35 
Sun Express   19   19 
Goodrich   2   2 
TCI   -   1 

172 231
 

 
Transactions with related parties for the period ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 
a) Sales to related parties: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Sun Express   40   42 
TEC   40   27 
PTT   6   9 
TGS   5   4 
Air Albania   5   - 
Goodrich   2   1 
TCI   1   - 
Uçak Koltuk   1   2 
We World Express Ltd.   1   - 
Turkish DO&CO   -   1 

101 86
 

b) Purchases from related parties: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

THY Opet   752   1,889 
TGS   329   266 
Turkish DO&CO   314   274 
TEC   275   317 
Sun Express   170   169 
Goodrich   20   14 
Uçak Koltuk   7   3 
PTT   -   2 
TCI   1   2 
Türk Telekomünikasyon A.Ş. (Türk Telekom)   1   1 

1,869 2,937
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9. RELATED PARTIES (cont’d) 
Details of the financial assets and liabilities for related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Financial investments 275 322
Banks - Time deposits 1,435 1,207
Banks - Demand deposits 8 2
Financial assets 104 223
Equity share - 4
Bank borrowing (312) (115)

1,510 1,643
 

 
As of 31 December 2019, the amount of letters of guarantee given to the related parties is USD 886. (31 
December 2018: USD 862) 
 
Details of the financial investments at related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019
246 EUR 0.28% - 0.40% April 2020 275

 
Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018

140 TL 23.28% April 2019 32
252 EUR 3.08% - 3.28% May 2019 290

322
 

Details of the time deposits at related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019
2,381 TL 9.35% - 10.00% January 2020 401
922 EUR 0.36% - 0.56% March 2020 1,033
1 USD 1.50% January 2020 1

1,435
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018
1,170 TL 23.28% - 24.70% March 2019 265
820 EUR 2.54% - 3.62% March 2020 942

1,207
 

 
Details of the financial assets at related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019

104 USD 3.875% - 8.5%
February 2020 - 

June 2020 104
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018

123 USD 3.88% - 8.5%
April 2019 - June 

2019 123
4 EUR 3.50% June 2019 5

450 TRY 13.00% November 2019 95
223
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9. RELATED PARTIES (cont’d) 
 
Details of the bank borrowings at related parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2019
279 EUR 2.94% - 4.00% December 2024 312

 
 

Amount Currency Effective Interest Rate Maturity 31 December 2018
100 EUR 4.00% December 2023 115

 
Interest income from related parties: 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Türkiye Halk Bankası A.Ş.   54   57 
Ziraat Bankası A.Ş.   1   3 

55 60
 

Interest expense to related parties: 
1 January - 1 January -

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Ziraat Bankası A.Ş.   3   4 

 
 
Transactions between the Group and THY Opet are related to the supply of aircraft fuel; transactions 
between the Group and Turkish DO&CO are related to catering services; transactions between the Group 
and Sun Express are related to wet lease, seat sales operations and maintenance services; transactions 
between the Group and TGS are related to ground services; transactions between the Group and TEC are 
related to engine maintenance services; transactions between the Group and PTT are related to cargo 
transportation; transactions between the Group and Halk Bankası and Ziraat Bankası are related to banking 
services and transactions between the Group and Türk Telekom are related to advertising and 
telecommunication services. Receivables from related parties are not collateralized and maturity of trade 
receivables is 30 days. 

The total amount of salaries and other short-term benefits provided for the Board Members, General 
Manager and  Deputy General Managers are USD 4 (1 January- 31 December 2018: USD 4). 
 

10. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

Trade receivables from third parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Trade receivables 625 638
Allowance for doubtful receivables (85) (70)

540 568
 

Provision for doubtful receivables has been determined based on past experience for uncollectible 
receivables, and also ECL calculation in accordance with IFRS 9. Details for credit risk, foreign currency 
risk and impairment for trade receivables are explained in Note 35. 
 
Trade payables to third parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Trade payables 958 791

 
The Group currency risk assessment has been explained in Note 35. 
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11. PAYABLES RELATED TO EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Payables related to employee benefits as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Salary accruals 124 115
Social security premiums payable 36   43 
Bonus accruals -   33 
Due to Personnel   -   8 

160 199
 

Changes in the provisions for bonus for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set out below: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provisions at the beginning of the year 33   41 
Provisions for the current year -   33 
Provisions released (33)   (41)
Provisions at the end of the year - 33

 
 

12. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
Other short-term receivables from third parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
 Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 778 809
 Receivables from technical purchases 168 118
 Value added tax receivables 42 134
 Bank deposits with transfer limitations (*) 36 90
Receivables from pilots for flight training 24 19
Others 5 8

1,053 1,178
 

(*)As of 31 December 2019, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Ethiopia, Bangladesh, Algeria, 
Nigeria, Senegal, Niger, Mali, Republic of Cote D’ivoire, Burkina Faso, Eritrea, Mozambique,  Bolivarian Republic 
of Venezuela, Republic of Angola, Republic of Cameroon, Republic of Chad, Republic of Sudan, Gabon, Somalia, 
Benin, Republic of Zimbabwe, Argentina, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Republic of Cuba, Republic of 
Lebanon and Iran. (As of 31 December 2018, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Morocco, Ethiopia, 
Bangladesh, Egypt, Algeria, Nigeria, Senegal, Niger, Mali, Republic of Cote D’ivoire, Burkina Faso, Eritrea, 
Mozambique, Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Republic of Cameroon, Republic of Chad, Republic of Sudan, 
Gabon, Somalia, Republic of Kenya, Republic of Zimbabwe, Iran and Benin.) 
 
Other long-term receivables from third parties as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:  
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
 Predelivery payments made for aircrafts 761 505
Receivables related to investment certificates 313 238
Receivables from pilots for flight training 154 114
Deposits and guarentees given 42 141

 Bank deposits with transfer limitations (**) 6 6
1,276 1,004

 
(**) As of 31 December 2019, the balance of this account includes bank deposits in Syria. 
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12. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (cont’d) 
 
Other short-term payables to third parties are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Taxes and funds payable 62 52
Payables to lessors 11 10
Deposits and guarantees received 10 12
Payables to insurance companies 7                               -      
Other liabilities 8 4

98 78
 

Other long-term payables to third parties are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Deposits and guarantees received 19 16
Payables to lessors 9 20
Interest and commodity swap agreement deposits 9 -

37 36
 

 
13. INVENTORIES 

 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Spare parts 221 139
Other inventories 81 73

302 212
Provision for impairment (-) (12) (22)

290 190  
 
The change in the value of provision for impairment for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as 
follows: 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provision at the beginning of the year 22 25
Release during the year (10) (3)
Provision at the end of the year 12 22

 
 

14. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME  
 
Short-term prepaid expenses are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Advances given for purchases 76 79
Prepaid sales commissions 14 15
Prepaid operating lease expenses 10 20
Prepaid advertising expenses 9 19
Other prepaid expenses 40 59

149 192
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14. PREPAID EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME (cont’d)  
 
Long-term prepaid expenses are as follows:  
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Prepaid engine maintenance expenses 659 609
Advances given for property and 
equipment purchases 138 109
Prepaid aircraft financing expenses 55 43
Other prepaid expenses 12   6 

864 767
 

Deferred income is as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Passenger flight liabilites 1,032 1,002
Other short-term deferred income 39 45

1,071 1,047
 

 
Passenger flight liability is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Flight liability generating from ticket sales 797 741
Flight liability generating from 
  frequent flyer program 235 261

1,032 1,002  
 
Other short-term deferred income is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Advances received 18 24
Deferred finance income 11 11
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals 10 10

39 45
 

 
Long-term deferred income is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Deferred finance income 118 52
Gross manufacturer’s credits 31 31
Accumulated depreciation of 
  manufacturer’s credit (31) (30)
Unearned bank protocol revenue accruals 2 12

120 65
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15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d) 
Right of use assets are as follows: 

Aircraft Spare engines Real Estate Vehicles Total
Cost
Opening balance at 1 January  2019   15,749   148   56   6   15,959 
Additions   2,300   25   18   -   2,343 
Disposals   (131)   (8)   -   -   (139)
Transfers between the accounts (*)   (271)   -   -   -   (271)
Closing balance at 31 December 2019   17,647   165   74   6   17,892 

Aircraft Spare engines Real Estate Vehicles Total
Accumulated Depreciation
Opening balance at 1 January  2019   3,394   36   -   -   3,430 
Depreciation charge   1,097   11   10   3   1,121 
Disposals   (131)   (8)   -   -   (139)
Transfers between the account (*)   (138)   -   -   -   (138)
Closing balance at 31 December 2019   4,222   39   10   3   4,274 
Net book value at 31 December 2019   13,425   126   64   3   13,618 

 
(*) Transfers are mainly consists of aircraft and spare engines that lease payments have been acquired 
and ownership has been transferred to the Group. 
 
The Group is still carrying out negotiations with the airport operator company (İGA Havalimanı 
İşletmesi A.Ş.) regarding the rental areas, rental fee, renting conditions and period for İstanbul Airport. 
Yet, no agreement is signed and there is no Board Decision about the above mentioned rental matters. 
Despite the fact that there is a PPP tariff issued by State Airports Authority (DHMİ), it does not 
eliminate the uncertainties regarding rental areas, rental fee, renting conditions and period which are 
considered as material terms of a contract. Thus, it is not considered as appropriate to consider them 
under IFRS16 scope and no calculations for assets or liabilities are made concerning the İstanbul 
Airport rentals at 2019 financial statements. However, the payments for the areas used at İstanbul 
Airport are made with reservation according to PPP tariff and they are recorded under expense 
accounts for the period. 
 

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Cost
Opening balance at 1 January 2019 44 175 5 224
Additions  - 16  - 16
Transfers  - 2  - 2
Closing balance at 31 December 2019 44 193 5 242

Accumulated Amortization
Opening balance at 1 January 2019  - 141 1 142
Amortization charge  - 16 2 18
Closing balance at 31 December 2019  - 157 3 160
Net book value at 31 December 2019 44 36 2 82
Net book value at 31 December 2018 44 34 4 82

 Slot rights 
and acquired 

technical 
licenses (*) 

 
Rights 

 Other 
intangible 

assets   Total 
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d) 
 

Cost
Opening balance at 1 January 2018 44 148  5 197
Additions - 25  - 25
Transfers - 2  - 2
Closing balance at 31 December 2018 44 175  5 224

Accumulated Amortization
Opening balance at 1 January 2018  - 130  1 131
Amortization charge  - 11  - 11
Closing balance at 31 December 2018  - 141  1 142
Net book value at 31 December 2018 44 34  4 82
Net book value at 31 December 2017 44 18  4 66

 Slot rights 
and acquired 

technical 
licenses (*) 

 
Rights  Total 

 Other 
intangible 

assets  

 
(*) The Group considers slot rights and licenses received throught the acquisition of MNG Teknik and 
accounted such assets as intangible assets at an amount of USD 10 with indefinite useful lives as these 
assets do not have any expiry date and are usable in the foreseeable future. 
 

17. GOODWILL 
 
The goodwill amounting to USD 12 has been recognized due to acquisition of MNG Teknik. 
 

18. LEASING TRANSACTIONS 

Resulting from IFRS16, maturities of lease obligations are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2019 31 December 2019
Less than 1 year 308 (52) 256
Between 1 – 5 years 891 (129) 762
Over 5 years 597 (88) 509

1,796 (269) 1,527

Present Values of 
Minimum 

Lease Payments

Future Minimum 
Lease Payments Interest

 
Maturities of finance lease obligations are as follows: 

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

31 December 
2019

31 December 
2018

Less than 1 year 1,257 1,127 (139) (147) 1,118 980
Between 1 – 5 years 4,738 3,741 (370) (359) 4,368 3,382
Over 5 years 2,991 3,733 (85) (109) 2,906 3,624

8,986 8,601 (594) (615) 8,392 7,986

Future Minimum 
Lease Payments Interest

Present Values of 
Minimum 

Lease Payments
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18. LEASING TRANSACTIONS (cont’d) 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Interest Range:
Floating rate obligations 5,394 5,020
Fixed rate obligations 2,998 2,966

8,392 7,986

 
The Group acquired certain portion of its aircrafts and spare engines through finance leases. The lease 
terms are between 10 to 12 years. The Group has options to purchase related assets for an insignificant 
amount at the end of lease terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ 
title to the leased asset. 
 
Lease term of Group’s contracts under IFRS 16 is 1-45 years. As of 31 December 2019 the US Dollars, 
Euro, JPY and Swiss Franc denominated lease obligations’ weighted average interest rates are 5.41%. 
 
As of 31 December 2019, the US Dollars, Euro, JPY and Swiss Franc denominated lease obligations’ 
weighted average interest rates are  2.37% ( 31 December 2018: 2.66%) for the fixed rate obligations and 
1.29% (31 December 2018: 1.56% ) for the floating rate obligations. 
 

19. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INCENTIVES 
 
Incentive certificates dated, 28 December 2010, 18 December 2014, 11 July 2017, 18 September 2017, 1 
March 2018, 09 August 2018 and 11 September 2018 were obtained from Ministry of Industry and 
Technology for investment of aircrafts. These certificates provide the Group with certain advantages on 
reduction of corporate tax, customs duty exemption and support for insurance premium of employers. 
Please refer to Note: 2.3.16 for the accounting of corporate tax effect of these investment certificates. 
 

20. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Short-term provisions as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 
Short-term provision for employee benefits is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Provisions for unused vacation 39 39

 
 
Changes in the provisions for the period ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set out below: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provisions at the beginning of the year 39 41
Provisions for the current year 320   98 
Provisions released (315) (88)
Foreign currency translation differences (5)   (12)
Provisions at the end of the year 39 39

 
 
The Group recognizes an obligation for unused vacation days based on salaries of employees at the end of 
each reporting period. 
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20. PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d) 
 
Other short-term provision is as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Provisions for legal claims 13 16

 
 
Changes in the provisions for legal claims for the period ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are set out 
below: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provisions at the beginning of the year 16 22
Provisions for the current year 4 4
Provisions released  (6)  (2)
Foreign currency translation differences (1)  (8)
Provisions at the end of the year 13 16

 
 
The Group provides with provisions for lawsuits initiated against itself due to its operations. The lawsuits 
initiated against the Group are usually reemployment lawsuits by former employees or related to damaged 
luggage or cargo. The estimates have been made on the basis of the legal advices.  
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21. COMMITMENTS 
 
a) Guarantees/Pledges/Mortgages (“GPM”) given by the Group:  
 
Amount of letters of guarantees given as of 31 December 2019 is USD 1,334 (31 December 2018: USD 
1,179). 
 
As of 31 December 2019, the letters of guarantee are given to various authorities (i.e. various banks and 
vendors.) 

 

Original 
currency 
amount

USD
equivalent

Original 
currency 
amount

USD
equivalent

A. Total amounts of GPM given on
      the behalf of its own legal entity  - 1,334  - 1,179

    -Collaterals
           TL  52 9  38 7
           EUR  1,131 1,266  976 1,118
           USD  49 49  45 45
           Other  - 10  - 9
B. Total amounts of GPM given on the 
     behalf of subsidiaries that are included 
     in full consolidation - - - -
C. Total amounts of GPM given in order 
     to guarantee third party debts for 
     routine trade operations - - - -
D. Total amounts of other GPM given - - - -
     i. Total amount of GPM given on 
     behalf of the Parent - - - -
     ii. Total amount of GPM given on 
     behalf of other group companies not 
     covered in B and C - - - -
     iii. Total amount of GPM given on 
     behalf of third parties not covered in C - - - -

1,334 1,179

31 December 201831 December 2019

 
 
The ratio of other GPM (“D”) given by the group to its equity is 0% as of 31 December 2019 (31 
December 2018: 0%) 
 
b) Aircraft purchase commitments: 
 
To be delivered between the years 2020-2023, the Group signed an agreement for 197 aircrafts, (187 of 
aircrafts are contractual and 10 of them are optional) with a list price value of 28,230 US Dollars. The 
Group has made a predelivery payment of 1,562 US Dollars relevant to these purchases as of 31 December 
2019. 
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
Provisions for retirement pay liability as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 is comprised of the following: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Provision for retirement pay liability 135 130

 
 
Under Labor Law effective in Turkey, it is an obligation to make legal retirement pay to employees whose 
employment is terminated in certain ways. Also, according to Article 60 of Social Security Law numbered 
506 which was revised by the laws 2422, dated 6 March 1981 and numbered 4447, dated 25 August 1999, 
it is an obligation to make legal retirement pay to those who entitled to receive retirement pay when leaving 
their work. Some transfer provisions related to employment conditions prior to retirement are removed 
from the Law by the revise made on 23 May 2002. Retirement pay liability assumptions and calculations 
are changed in line with the revise made on 8 May 2008, which altered age of retirement. 
 
Retirement pay liability is subject to an upper limit of monthly US Dollar 1,133 (full) (equivalent of TL 6,730 
(full)) as of 31 December 2019. (31 December 2018: US Dollar 1,144 (full) equivalent of TL 6,018 (full)).  
 
Retirement pay liability is not subject to any funding legally. Provisions for retirement pay liability are 
calculated by estimating the present value of probable liability that will arise due to retirement of employees. 
 
IAS 19 (“Employee Benefits”) stipulates the progress of the Group’s liabilities by use of actuarial valuation 
methods under defined benefit plans. Actuarial assumptions used in calculation of total liabilities are described 
as follows: 
 
The key assumption is that maximum liability amount increases in accordance with the inflation rate for every 
service year. Provisions in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2019 are 
calculated by estimating present value of liabilities due to retirement of employees. Provisions in the relevant 
balance sheet dates are calculated with the assumptions of 7.65% annual inflation rate (31 December 2018: 
10.00%) and 12.00% interest rate (31 December 2018: 14.00%). Estimated amount of non-paid retirement pay 
retained in the Group due to voluntary leaves is assumed as 2.62% (31 December 2018: 2.63%). Ceiling for 
retirement pay is revised semi-annually. Ceiling amount of US Dollar 1,133 (full) which is in effect since 1 
January 2020 is used in the calculation of Group’s provision for retirement pay liability. 
 
Movement in the provisions for retirement pay liability is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provision at the beginning of the year 130 128
Interest charges 16 11
Service charge for the year 13 13
Actuarial loss 4 25
Payments  (10)  (10)
Foreign currency translation difference  (18)  (37)
Provision at the end of the year 135 130
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23. EXPENSES BY NATURE 
 
Expenses by nature for the period ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Fuel expenses 3,873 3,768
Personnel expenses 2,067 1,772
Depreciation and amortisation charges 1,521 1,087
Ground services expenses 815 733
Aircraft maintenance expenses 791 804
Passenger services and catering expenses 622 560
Airport expenses 623 514
Air traffic control expenses 553 542
Commissions and incentives 504 401
Wet lease expenses 284 259
Reservation systems expenses 267 255
Advertisement and promotion expenses 175 189
Rents 85 68
Service expenses 83 73
Insurance expenses 54 47
Taxes and duties 52 41
IT & communication expenses 41 42
Transportation expenses 44 37
Aircraft rent expenses 27 336
Consultancy expenses 21 27
Systems use and associateship expenses 9 11
Other expenses 133 120

12,644 11,686
 

 
24. OTHER ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 
Other current assets as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Deffered VAT 131 92
Personnel and business advances 9 7

140 99

 
Other current liabilities as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Accruals for maintenance expenses of aircraft 
  under operating lease 234 198
Accruals for other expenses 19 7
Other liabilities 5 2

258 207
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25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
The ownership structure of the Company’s share capital is as follows: 
 

(Millions of TL) Class %
31 December 

2019 %
31 December 

2018
Turkey Wealth Fund (*) A 49.12 678 49.12 678
Republic of Turkey Treasury and 
  Finance Ministry Privatization 
  Administration (*)

C - - - -

Other (publicly held) A 50.88 702 50.88 702
Paid-in capital (Turkish Lira) 1,380 1,380
Inflation adjustment on share capital 
  (Turkish Lira) (**) 1,124 1,124
Share capital (Turkish Lira) 2,504 2,504

Share capital (USD Equivalent) 1,597 1,597
 

(*) 1,644 (full) shares belonging to various private shareholders were not taken into consideration when the 
Group was included to the privatization program in 1984. Subsequently, these shares were registered on 
behalf of Privatization Administration according to Articles of Association of the Company, approved by 
the decision of the Turkish Republic High Planning Board on 30 October 1990. 
 
 

(**) Inflation adjustment on share capital represents inflation uplift of historical capital payments based on 
inflation indices until 31 December 2004. 
 
As of 31 December 2019, Registered paid-in share capital of the Company comprised 137,999,999,999 
Class A shares and 1 Class C share, all with a par value of Kr 1 each. The Class C share belongs to the 
Republic of Turkey Treasury and Finance Ministry Privatization Administration and has the following 
privileges: 
 

 Articles of Association 7: Positive vote of the board member representing class C share with 
Board’s approval is necessary for transfer of shares issued to the name. 

 
 Articles of Association 10: The Board of Directors consists of nine members of which one member 

has to be nominated by the class C shareholder  and the rest eight members has to be elected by 
class A shareholders. 

 
 Articles of Association 14: The following decisions of the Board of Directors are subject to the 

positive vote of the class C Shareholder: 
 
a) Decisions that will negatively affect the Group’s mission Defined in Article 3.1. of the Articles of 

Association, 
 

b) Suggesting change in the Articles of Association at General Assembly, 
 
c) Increasing share capital, 
 
d) Approval of transfer of the shares issued to the name and their registration to the “Share Registry”, 
 
e) Every decision or action which directly or indirectly put the Group under commitment over 5% of its 

total assets of the latest annual financial statements prepared for Capital Market Board. (This sentence 
will expire when the Group’s shares held by Turkish State decrease under 20%.) 
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25. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (cont’d) 
 

 Articles of Association 14: The following decisions of the Board of Directors are subject to the 
positive vote of the class C Shareholder (cont’d): 

 
f) Decisions relating to merges and liquidation, 

 
g) Decisions cancelling flight routes or significantly decreasing frequency of flight routes, not including 

the ones that cannot even recover their operational expenses, subject to the market conditions.  
 

Restricted Profit Reserves 

Turkish Commercial Code (TCC) stipulates that the general legal reserve is appropriated out of statutory 
profits at the rate of 5% per annum, until the total reserve reaches 20% of the Group’s paid-in share capital. 
Additionally, not limited with 20% of paid-in share capital, the general legal reserve is appropriated at the 
rate of 10% per annum of all cash dividends in excess of 5% of the paid-in share capital. Under TCC, the 
legal reserves can only be used to offset losses, to sustain business when conditions get worse, to prevent 
unemployment and are not available for any other usage unless they exceed 50% of paid-in share capital. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation Differences 
 
Currency translation differences under equity arise from Group’s joint ventures, provisions for unused 
vacation, legal claims and retirement pay liability accounted under equity method which have functional 
currencies other than USD. 
 
Distribution of Dividends 
 
Listed companies distribute dividend in accordance with the Communiqué No. II-19.1 issued by the CMB 
which is effective from 1 February 2014. 
 
Companies distribute dividends in accordance with their dividend payment policies settled and dividend 
payment decision taken in general assembly in accordance with relevant legislations. The communiqué 
does not constitute a minimum dividend rate. Companies distribute dividend in accordance with their 
dividend policy or articles of associations. In addition, dividend can be distributed by fixed or variable 
installments and advance dividend can be paid in accordance with profit on financial statements of the 
Group. 

Actuarial Differences on Defined Benefit Plans 
 
As a result of the adoption of IAS 19, all actuarial differences are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Gains/Losses from Cash Flow Hedges 
 
Hedge gain/losses against cash flow risk arise from the accounting of the changes in the fair values of 
effective derivative financial instruments designated against financial risks of future cash flows under 
equity. Total of deferred gain/loss arising from hedging against financial risk are accounted in profit or loss 
when the hedged item impacts profit or loss. 
 
As of 2019, financial lease liabilities in Japanese Yen, Swiss Frank and Euro for investment financing are 
designated as cash flow hedge against exchange rate risk due to highly probable future same foreign 
currency revenues. Group’s revenue denominated in Euro and Swiss Frank covered borrowings of such 
foreign currency, Japanese Yen revenue covered %49 of borrowings. In this context, exchange differences 
arising from such these loans repayment are taken to equity and recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 
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26. REVENUE 
 
Breakdown of gross profit is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Passenger revenue
Scheduled 11,100 10,854
Unscheduled 67 64

Total passenger revenue 11,167 10,918
Cargo revenue

Carried by passenger aircraft 760 829
Carried by cargo aircraft 928 818

Total cargo revenue 1,688 1,647
Total passenger and cargo revenue 12,855 12,565
Technical revenue 305 226
Other revenue 69 64
Net sales 13,229 12,855
Cost of sales (-) (10,928) (10,136)
Gross profit 2,301 2,719

 
 
Breakdown of total passenger and cargo revenue by geography is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
International flights 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

- Europe 3,711 3,730
- Far East 3,191 2,908
- America 1,946 1,797
- Middle East 1,467 1,549
- Africa 1,276 1,230
Total 11,591 11,214
Domestic flights 1,264 1,351
Total passenger and cargo revenue 12,855 12,565
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27. COST OF SALES 
 
Breakdown of the cost of sales is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Fuel expenses 3,873 3,768
Personnel expenses 1,624 1,379
Depreciation and amortisation charges 1,462 1,038
Ground services expenses 815 733
Aircraft maintenance expenses 791 804
Airport expenses 623 514
Passenger services and catering expenses 622 560
Air traffic control expenses 553 542
Wet lease expenses 284 259
Rents 66 36
Insurance expenses 52 45
Transportation expenses 44 37
Service expenses 33 30
Operating lease expenses 27 336
Taxes and duties 18 15
Other expenses 41 40

10,928 10,136
 

 
28. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES 

 
Breakdown of general administrative expenses is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Personnel expenses 134 95
Depreciation and amortisation charges 52 43
Service expenses 35 30
IT & communication expenses 32 35
Consultancy expenses 13 19
Systems use and associateship expenses 9 11
Insurance expenses 2   2 
Taxes and duties 2   2 
Rents 1 10
Other general administrative expenses 19 13

299 260
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28. GENERAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES AND MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES 
(cont’d) 
Breakdown of marketing and sales expenses is as follows: 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Commissions and incentives 504 401
Personnel expenses 309 298
Reservation systems expenses 267 255
Advertisement and promotion expenses 175 189
Taxes and duties 32 24
Rents 18 22
Service expenses 15 13
IT & communication expenses 9 7
Consultancy expenses 8 8
Depreciation and amortisation charges 7 6
Other marketing and sales expenses 73 67

1,417 1,290
 

 
29. OTHER OPERATING INCOME / EXPENSES 

Breakdown of other operating income is as follows: 
1 January - 1 January -

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Insurance, indemnities, penalties income 184 34
Manufacturers' credits 86 79
Foreign exchange gains from operational 
  activities, net   14   - 
Provisions released 13 10
Non- interest income from banks 11 10
Rent income 10 3
Turnover premium from suppliers 5 11
Rediscount interest income 2 5
Delay interest income 2   1 
Other operating income 28 8

355 161
 

 
Breakdown of other operating expenses is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Provisions 27 9
Indemnity and penalty expenses 8 6
IFRS 9 Adjustment 5 (4)
Foreign exchange losses from 
  operational activities, net - 109
Other operating expenses 24 19

64 139
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30. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 
 
Breakdown of income from investment activities is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Income from investment incentives 110 62
Interest income from financial investment 39 30
Gain on sale of financial investments 14   2 
Gain on sale of fixed assets 6 7

169 101
 

 
Breakdown of expense from investment activities is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Loss on sale of fixed assets 80   1 
Fair value losses -   1 

80 2
 

 
31. FINANCIAL INCOME/ EXPENSES 

 
Breakdown of financial income is as follows: 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Foreign exchange gains from financial 
  activities, net   79   - 
Interest income 45   93 
Rediscount interest income from 
  repayments of aircrafts   13   - 
Fair value gains on derivative financial 
  instruments, net   -   36 
Other financial incomes   2   - 

139 129
 

 
Breakdown of financial expenses is as follows: 

1 January - 1 January -
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Interest expense from financial activities 184 235
Interest expense from leasing liabilities 57 -
Aircraft financing expenses 23 21
Fair value losses on derivative financial 
  instruments, net 23 -
Interest expenses on employee benefits 16 11
Foreign exchange losses on financial 
  activities, net - 282
Rediscount interest expense from
  repayments of aircrafts - 19
Other financial expenses 7 20

310 588
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Breakdown of assets related to current tax is as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Prepaid taxes 43 61

 
 
Tax expense is as follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Current year tax expense  - 40
Deferred tax expense 88 161
Tax expense 88 201

 
 
Tax effect related to other comprehensive income is as follows: 
 

Amount Tax Amount Amount Tax Amount
before tax expense after tax before tax expense after tax

Change in cash flow 
  hedge reserve  218 ( 47)  171 ( 83)  22 ( 61)
Gains on Remeasuring 
FVOCI  7 ( 2)  5 ( 9)  2 ( 7)
Change in actuarial 
  losses from retirement 
  pay obligation ( 4)  1 ( 3) ( 25)  5 ( 20)
Changes in foreign 
  currency translation 
  difference ( 24)  - ( 24) ( 52) -                  ( 52)
Other comprehensive 
  income  197 ( 48)  149 ( 169)  29 ( 140)

1 January - 31 December 20181 January - 31 December 2019

 
 
There is no taxation effect for the changes in foreign currency translation difference that is included in 
other comprehensive income. 
 
Corporate Tax  
 
The effective tax rate is 22%. In accordance with the Article 91 of regulation numbered 7061, published in 
Official Gazette on 5 December 2017,"Legislation on Amendment of Certain Tax Legislation and Other 
Certain Legislation”, corporate tax rate for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 has increased from 20% to 22%. 
Therefore, deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2019 are calculated with 22% tax rate for 
the temporary differences which will be realized in 2018, 2019 and 2020, and with 20% tax for those which 
will be realized after 2021 and onwards. 
 
The tax legislation provides for a temporary tax of 22% (2018: 22%) to be calculated and paid based on 
earnings generated for each quarter for the period ended 31 December 2019. The amounts thus calculated 
and paid are offset against the final corporate tax liability for the year. With the amendment to the Law, tax 
rate for temporary tax is set to 22% for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020. 
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d) 
 
Corporate Tax (cont’d) 
 
In Turkey, the tax legislation does not permit a parent company and its subsidiaries to file a consolidated 
tax return. Therefore, provision for taxes, as reflected in the consolidated financial statements, has been 
calculated on a separate-entity basis. 
  
Corporate tax losses can be carried forward for a maximum period of five years following the year in which 
the losses were incurred. However, losses cannot be carried back for offset against profits from previous 
periods. The tax authorities can inspect tax returns and the related accounting records for a retrospective 
maximum period of five years. 
 
According to the Corporate Tax Law, 75% of the capital gains arising from the sale of immoveable 
properties and participation shares owned for at least two years are exempted from corporate tax on the 
condition that such gains are reflected in the equity until the end of the fifth year following the sale. The 
remaining 25% of such capital gains are subject to corporate tax. However, according to the amendments 
by Law numbered 7061, this rate is reduced from 75% to 50% with regard to immovable properties and tax 
declarations starting from 2018 will be calculated using 50% for immovable properties. 
 
Furthermore, there is no procedure for a final and definitive agreement on tax assessments. Companies file 
their corporate tax returns between 1-25 April following the close of the accounting year. Tax authorities 
may, however, examine such returns and the underlying accounting records and may revise assessments 
within five years. 
 
Income Withholding Tax 
 
In addition to corporate taxes, companies should also calculate income withholding taxes and funds 
surcharge on any dividends distributed, except for dividend receiving companies who are Turkish residents 
and Turkish branches of foreign companies. Income withholding tax rate is 15%. Undistributed dividends 
incorporated in share capital are not subject to income withholding tax. 
 
Deferred Tax 
  
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon temporary differences arising between 
its financial statements as reported for IFRS purposes and its statutory tax financial statements. These 
differences usually result in the recognition of revenue and expenses in different reporting periods for IFRS 
and tax purposes and they are given below. For calculation of deferred tax asset and liabilities, the 
corporate tax rate of 22% is used. 
 
In Turkey, the companies cannot declare a consolidated tax return; therefore, subsidiaries that have 
deferred tax assets position were not netted off against subsidiaries that have deferred tax liabilities position 
and they are disclosed separately. 
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d) 
 
Deferred Tax (cont’d) 
 
Breakdown of the deferred tax assets / (liabilities) is as follows: 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Fixed assets (1,910) (1,910)
Right of use asset (310) -
Adjustments for passenger flight liabilities (171) (150)
Tax loss carried forward 528 674
Lease obligations 311 -
Income and expense for future years 104 92
Accruals for expenses 69 48
Miles accruals 30 35
Provisions for employee benefits 28 27
Incentives 17 -
Provisions for unused vacation 9 8
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 4 31
Other (2) 7
Deferred tax liabilities (1,293) (1,138)

 
 
The changes of deferred tax liability for the period ended 1 January – 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Opening balance at 1 January 1,138 962
Adjustments for changes in accounting policies (5)  (4)
Restated deferred tax liabilitity 
  at the beginning of the year 1,133 958
Deferred tax expense 88 161
Tax expense / (income) from hedging reserves 45 (22)
Foreign currency translation difference 25 48
Tax expense / (income) from FVOCI 2 (1)
Tax income of actuarial losses on 
  retirement pay obligation - (6)
Deferred tax liability at the end of the period 1,293 1,138  
 

The redemption schedule of carry forward tax losses, which are considered in deferred tax calculation, is as 
follows: 

 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Expired as of 2020                               -      75
Expired as of 2021 881 1,225
Expired as of 2022 513                            579    
Expired as of 2023 1,247                         1,488    

2,641 3,367
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32. TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (cont’d) 
 
Deferred Tax (cont’d) 
 
Reconciliation with current tax charge for the period 1 January – 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
Reconciliation of effective tax charge 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Profit from operations before tax 876 954

Domestic expense tax rate of 22% (193) (210)

Taxation effects on:
- foreign currency translation difference 59 (15)
- investment incentive 29 4
- expense from investment certificates 22 12
- investments accounted by using 
    the equity method 16 25
- deduction  - 26
- exception  - (10)
- others  - (21)
- non deductible expenses (7) (15)
- adjustment for prior year loss (14) 3
Tax charge in statement of loss (88) (201)

 
 

33. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Earnings per share disclosed in the consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income is 
determined by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of shares that have been 
outstanding during the relevant period. 

In Turkey, companies can increase their share capital by making a pro-rata distribution of shares (“bonus 
interest”) to existing shareholders from retained earnings. For the purpose of earnings per share 
computations, such bonus shares are regarded as issued shares. Accordingly, the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding during the years has been adjusted in respect of bonus shares issued without a 
corresponding change in resources, by giving them retroactive effect for the period in which they were 
issued and for each earlier year.  

Number of total shares and calculation of earnings per share at 1 January – 31 December 2019 and 2018: 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Number of shares outstanding at 1 January 
  (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000
Number of shares outstanding at 31 December
  (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year (in full) 138,000,000,000 138,000,000,000
Net profit for the year 788 753
Basic profit per share (Full US Cents) (*) 0.57 0.55
Diluted profit per share (Full US Cents) (*) 0.57 0.55

 
(*) Basic and diluted (losses) per share are the same as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Breakdown of derivative financial assets and liabilities of the Group as of 31 December 2019 and 2018 are 
as follows: 
 
Derivative financial assets 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Derivative instruments for fuel prices 
  cash flow hedge 31 34

Derivative instruments not subject to hedge 
accounting 17 17

Derivative instruments for cross currency rate 
  cash flow hedge 4 6

52 57
 

 
Derivative financial liabilities 31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Derivative instruments for interest rate 
  cash flow hedge 35 34

Derivative instruments not subject to hedge 
accounting 18 8

Derivative instruments for fuel prices 
  cash flow hedge 14 118

Derivative instruments for cross currency rate 
  cash flow hedge 3 36

70 196
 

35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 
(a) Capital risk management 
  
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity 
balance. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 7, cash 
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, 
reserves and retained earnings.  
 
The Board of Directors of the Group periodically reviews the capital structure. During these analyses, the 
Board assesses the risks associated with each class of capital along with cost of capital. Based on the 
review of the Board of Directors, the Group aims to balance its overall capital structure through the issue of 
new debt or the redemption of existing debt. The overall strategy of the Group has not changed compared 
to 2018. 

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
Total debts 11,864 10,614
Lease liabilities 1,527  -
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits 
  with maturity of more than three months

(2,565) (2,241)

Net debt (A) 10,826 8,373
Total shareholders' equity (B) 6,864 5,945
Total capital stock (A+B) 17,690 14,318
Net debt/total capital stock ratio 0.61 0.58  
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)  
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors 

 
The risks of the Group, resulting from operations, include market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management program 
generally seeks to minimize the potential negative effects of uncertainty in financial markets on financial 
performance of the Group. The Group uses a small portion of derivative financial instruments in order to 
safeguard itself from different financial risks. 
 
Risk management is carried out in line with policies approved by the Board of Directors. According to risk 
policy, financial risk is identified and assessed. Working together with Group’s operational units, relevant 
instruments are used to reduce the risk. 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 

 
b.1) Credit risk management (cont’d) 

 
The aging of financial assets as of 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 

Equivalent to External 
Credit Rating

Weighted Average 
Lost Rate

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Impairment Loss 
Allowance 

AA2 0.02% 1,827 -
BA3 0.05% 2,085 1
B2 1.5% 178 3

4,090 4
 

Maturity Ranges 
  As of 31.12.2019

Weighted Average 
Lost Rate

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Impairment Loss 
Allowance 

Current 0.15% 517 1
1-30 days past due 1.24% 88 1
30-90 days past due 3.42% 34 1

90-360 days past due 5.73% 25 1
More than 1 year past due 40.77% 4 2

668 6
 

 
The aging of financial assets as of 31 December 2018 are as follows: 
 

Equivalent to External 
Credit Rating

Weighted Average 
Lost Rate

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Impairment Loss 
Allowance 

AA2 0.02% 1,673 -
BA3 0.05% 2,105 1
B2 1.5% 132 2

3,910 3
 

Maturity Ranges 
  As of 31.12.2018

Weighted Average 
Lost Rate

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Impairment Loss 
Allowance 

Current 0.12% 514 1
1-30 days past due 0.53% 55 -

30-90 days past due 5.89% 3 -
90-360 days past due 2.56% 19 -

More than 1 year past due 59.21% 2 1
593 2

 
 
As of balance sheet date, total amount of cash collateral and letter of guarantee received by Group for past 
due and not impaired receivable is 117 USD (31 December 2018: 25 USD). 
 
As of the balance sheet date, the Group has no guarantee for past due receivables for which provisions were 
recognized. 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

76 
 

35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 
 

b.2) Impairment 
 

Provisions for doubtful trade receivables consist of provisions for receivables in legal dispute and 
provisions calculated based on experiences on uncollectible receivables. 
 
Changes in provisions for doubtful receivables for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as 
follows: 
 

1 January - 1 January - 
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Opening Balance 70 75
Charge for the year 23   5 
Collections during the year (7) (8)
Ifrs 9 adjustment 4 (4)
Currency translation adjustment   (5)   2 
Closing Balance 85 70

 
 

b.3) Liquidity risk management 
 
The main responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board 
designed an appropriate risk management policy for short, medium and long term funding and liquidity 
necessities of the Group management. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, 
banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
The tables below demonstrate the maturity distribution of nonderivative financial liabilities and are 
prepared based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The interests that will be 
paid on the future liabilities are included in the related maturities. 
 
Group manages liquidity risk by keeping under control estimated and actual cash flows and by maintaining 
adequate funds and borrowing reserves through matching the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 
 

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d) 
 

Liquidity risk table: 

31 December 2019

Due date on the 
contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to the 
contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 months 
(II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank borrowings 3,453  (3,675)  (399)  (1,408)  (1,868)  -
Finance lease 
  obligations 8,392  (8,986)  (338)  (916)  (4,739)  (2,993)
Lease liabilities 1,527  (1,796)  (82)  (226)  (892)  (596)
Trade payables 1,130  (1,130)  (1,130)
Other payables 20  (20)  (3)  (7)  (10)
Other financial 
  liabilities 19  (19)  (19)  -  -  -
Total 14,541  (15,626)  (1,971)  (2,557)  (7,509)  (3,589)

 
 
31 December 2018

Due date on the 
contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to the 
contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 months 
(II) 1-5 years   (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank borrowings 2,622 (2,744) (308) (1,126)  (1,310)  -
Finance lease 
  obligations 7,986 (8,601)  (280)  (847)  (3,741)  (3,733)
Trade payables 1,022 (1,022)  (1,022)  -  -  -
Other payables 30 (30)  (3)  (7)  (20)  -
Other financial 
  liabilities 6 (6)  (6)  -  -  -
Total 11,666  (12,403)  (1,619)  (1,980)  (5,071)  (3,733)

 
 
31 December 2019

Due date on the 
contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to the 
contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 months 
(II) 1-5 years (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / assets, net

Derivative cash 
  inflows 52 53 14 36 3 -
Derivative cash 
  outflows (70) (70) (18) (17) (13) (22)
Derivative cash 
  inflows/outflows,net (18) (17)  (4)  19  (10)  (22)

 

TÜRK HAVA YOLLARI ANONİM ORTAKLIĞI AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES   
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019  
(All amounts are expressed in Million US Dollars (USD) unless otherwise stated.) 

78 
 

35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 
 

b.3) Liquidity risk management (cont’d) 
 
31 December 2018

Due date on the 
contract Book value

Total cash 
outflow 

according to the 
contract 

(I+II+III+IV)
Less than 3 
months (I)

3-12 months 
(II) 1-5 years (III)

More than 5 
years (IV)

Derivative financial (liabilities) / assets, net

Derivative cash 
  inflows 57 27 8 6 13 -
Derivative cash 
  outflows (196) (167) (33) (77) (30) (27)
Derivative cash 
  inflows/outflows,net (139) (140) (25) (71) (17) (27)

 
 

b.4) Market risk management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates and interest rates. Market risk exposures of the Group are evaluated using sensitivity analysis. There 
has been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risk. 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 
 

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d) 
 

b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management  
 

Transactions in foreign currencies expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The foreign currency 
denominated assets and liabilities as monetary and non-monetary items are below: 

USD 
EQUIVALENT TL EUR JPY CHF OTHER

1.Trade Receivables  459  33  108  4  7  307
2a.Monetary Financial Assets  2,239  419  1,724  2  3  91
2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
3.Other  407  178  101  -  5  123

4.Current Assets  (1+2+3)  3,105  630  1,933  6  15  521
5.Trade Receivables  -  -  -  -  -  -
6a.Monetary Financial Assets  272  272  -  -  -  -
6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
7.Other  505  313  181  -  -  11

8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7)  777  585  181  -  -  11

9.Total Assets (4+8)  3,882  1,215  2,114  6  15  532
10.Trade Payables  799  474  245  -  4  76
11.Financial Liabilities (*)  2,590  14  2,323  232  21  -
12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary  186  139  43  1  -  3
12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary  52  52  -  -  -  -

13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12)  3,627  679  2,611  233  25  79
14.Trade Payables  -  -  -  -  -  -
15.Financial Liabilities (*)  7,767  -  5,901  1,727  139  -
16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary  31  23  6  -  -  2
16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary  135  135  -  -  -  -
17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16)  7,933  158  5,907  1,727  139  2

18.Total Liabilities (13+17)  11,560  837  8,518  1,960  164  81
19.Net asset / liability position of off-
balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           -  -  -  -  -  -
19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency 
  derivative assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
19b.Off-balance sheet foreign currency 
  derivative liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -
20.Net foreign currency 
  asset/(liability) position (9-18+19)  (7,678)  378  (6,404)  (1,954)  (149)  451

21.Net foreign currency asset / 
  liability position of monetary items 
  (IFRS 7.B23) (=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a
  -14-15-16a)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

 (8,403)  74  (6,686)  (1,954)  (154)  317

22.Fair value of foreign currency 
  hedged financial assets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        -  -  -  -  -  -

23.Hedged foreign currency assets  924  -  924  -  -  -
24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -

31 December 2019

 
 
(*) Net foreign exchange position of Group is mainly due to long term foreign currency borrowings denominated in 
Euro, Japanese Yen, Swiss Frank to funds its investments. Group uses these long term foreign currency borrowings to 
manage the risk of exchange differences with highly probable future foreign currency revenues. The USD equivalent 
of these borrowings amount to 7,385 USD as of 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: USD 6,853). 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 
 

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d) 
  
b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d) 

 

USD 
EQUIVALENT TL EUR JPY CHF OTHER

1.Trade Receivables  485  70  122  4  9  280
2a.Monetary Financial Assets  1,903  540  1,313  2  2  46
2b.Non Monetary Financial Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
3.Other  567  225  158  10  6  168

4.Current Assets  (1+2+3)  2,955  835  1,593  16  17  494
5.Trade Receivables  -  -  -  -  -  -
6a.Monetary Financial Assets  302  302  -  -  -  -
6b.Non Monetary Financial Assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
7.Other 461  238  212  -  -  11

8.Non Current Assets (5+6+7) 763  540  212  -  -  11

9.Total Assets (4+8) 3,718  1,375  1,805  16  17  505
10.Trade Payables 678  458  164  -  2  54
11.Financial Liabilities 2,209  1  1,956  232  20  -
12a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 109  67  39  1  -  2
12b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 89  89  -  -  -  -

13.Current Liabilities (10+11+12) 3,085  615  2,159  233  22  56
14.Trade Payables -  -  -  -  -  -
15.Financial Liabilities 6,966  -  4,882  1,926  158  -
16a.Other Liabilities, Monetary 12  6  4  -  -  2
16b.Other Liabilities, Non Monetary 130  130  -  -  -  -

17.Non Current Liabilities (14+15+16) 7,108  136  4,886  1,926  158  2

18.Total Liabilities (13+17) 10,193  751  7,045  2,159  180  58

19.Net asset / liability position of off-
balance sheet derivatives (19a-19b)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           -  -  -  -  -  -
19a.Off-balance sheet foreign currency 
derivative assets  -  -  -  -  -  -
19b.Off-balance sheet foreign currency 
derivative liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -
20.Net foreign currency asset/(liability) 
position (9-18+19) (6,475)  624  (5,240)  (2,143)  (163)  447

21.Net foreign currency asset / liability 
position of monetary items (IFRS 7.B23) 
(=1+2a+5+6a-10-11-12a-14-15-16a)

(7,284)  380  (5,610)  (2,153)  (169)  268

22.Fair value of foreign currency hedged 
financial assets                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        -  -  -  -  -  -

23.Hedged foreign currency assets  168  -  168  -  -  -
24.Hedged foreign currency liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -

31 December 2018
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d) 
  
b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d) 

 
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily from TL, EURO, JPY and CHF. The following 
table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in TL,EURO, JPY and CHF.10% is the 
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management and represents 
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis include 
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period 
end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as 
loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than 
the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss with a 
same effect on equity. The Group accounted investment loans and aircraft financial liabilities in scope of 
cash flow hedge accounting and foreign exchange income/expense arising from these loans and liabilities 
are recognized in equity. 10% increase and decrease effect of foreign exchange rates are calculated with the 
same method and the calculated foreign exchange gains/losses are presented as hedged portion in the 
foreign exchange sensitivity table. Furthermore, the hedged portion of foreign exchange gains/losses via 
forwards and cross currency swap transactions is classified as the amount hedged against USD in the 
statement of exchange rate sensitivity analysis. 
 

 If foreign 
currency 

appreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

depreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

appreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

depreciated 
10 %

1- TL net asset / liability 38 (38)  -  -
2- Part hedged from TL risk (-)  -  -  -  -
3- TL net effect (1+2) 38 (38)  -  -

4- Euro net asset / liability 59 (59)  (699) 699
5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-) (92)  92  -  -
6- Euro net effect (4+5)  (33)  33 (699) 699

7- JPY net asset / liability (101) 101 (94) 94
8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-)  -  -
9- JPY net effect (7+8) (101) 101 (94) 94

10- CHF net asset / liability 1 (1)  (16) 16
11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-)  -  -  -  -
12- CHF net effect (10+11) 1 (1)  (16)  16

13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 45 (45)  -  -
14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-)  -  -  -  -
15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 45 (45)  -  -

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) (50) 50 (809) 809

Profit / (Loss) Equity 
31 December 2019
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d) 
  
b.4.1) Foreign currency risk management (cont’d) 

 

 If foreign 
currency 

appreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

depreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

appreciated 
10 %

 If foreign 
currency 

depreciated 
10 %

1- TL net asset / liability 62  (62)  -  -
2- Part hedged from TL risk (-)  -  -  -  -
3- TL net effect (1+2) 62 (62)  -  -

4- Euro net asset / liability  44 (44)  (568)  568
5- Part hedged from Euro risk (-)  (17)  17  -  -
6- Euro net effect (4+5) 27 (27)  (568)  568

7- JPY net asset / liability (114) 114  (100)  100
8- Part hedged from JPY risk (-)  -  -  -  -
9- JPY net effect (7+8) (114) 114  (100)  100

10- CHF net asset / liability 2 (2)  (18)  18
11- Part hedged from CHF risk (-)  -  -  -  -
12- CHF net effect (10+11) 2 (2)  (18)  18

13- Other foreign currency net asset / liability 45 (45)  -  -
14- Part hedged other foreign currency risk (-)  -  -  -  -
15- Other foreign currency net effect (13+14) 45 (45)  -  -

TOTAL (3 + 6 + 9 + 12 + 15) 22 (22) (686) 686

Profit / (Loss) Equity 
31 December 2018

 
 

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management 
 

The Group has been borrowing at both fixed and variable interest rates. Considering the interest conditions 
of the current borrowings, the majority of the borrowings are at variable interest rates. In addition to this; 
under the condition that the cost of financing of aircraft purchases are reasonable, the Group has been 
trying to increase the amount of the fixed interest rate borrowings in order to create a partial balance 
between the fixed and variable interest rate borrowings. Due to the fact that the variable interest rates of the 
Group are dependent on Libor and Euribor, exposure to local interest rate is low. 
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35. NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISKS DERIVING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
(b) Financial Risk Factors (cont’d) 

b.4) Market risk management (cont’d) 
 

b.4.2) Interest rate risk management (cont’d) 
 

Interest Rate Position Table
31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Instruments with fixed interest rate
Financial Liabilities  2,998 2,966

Financial Instruments with Variable Interest Rate
Financial Liabilities 5,394 5,020
Interest Swap Agreements Not Subject to 
  Hedge Accounting (Net)  (2)  (5)
Interest Swap Agreements Subject to 
  Hedge Accounting (Net)  (35)  (34)

 
As indicated in Note 36, the Group fixed the interest rate for 2,556 USD of floating–interest-rated financial 
liabilities via an interest rate swap contracts as of 31 December 2019. 

Interest rate sensitivity 
 
The following sensitivity analysis are done considering the interest rate exposure in the reporting date and 
possible changes on this rate and are fixed during all reporting period. Group management checks out 
possible effects that may arise when Libor and Euribor rates, which are the basis for variable interest rates, 
fluctuate 0.5% and reports the effects to the top management. 
 
Assuming that there is a 0.5% increase in Libor and Euribor interest rates and all other variables are kept 
constant: 
 
Current profit before tax of the Group for the year will decrease by USD 38 (For the year ended 31 
December 2018 profit before tax will decrease by USD 33).  In contrast, if Libor and Euribor interest rate 
decrease by 0.5%, profit before tax will increase by the same amounts.  
 
Moreover, as a result of the interest rate swap contracts against cash flow risks, in the event of a 0.5% 
increase in the Libor and Euribor interest rates, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by USD 
25, excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2018 the shareholders’ equity of the 
Group will increase by USD 34, excluding the deferred tax effect.) In the event of a 0.5% decrease in the 
Libor and Euribor interest rates, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by the same amounts, 
excluding the deferred tax effect. 
 

b.4.3) Fuel prices sensitivity 
 

As explained in Note 36, Group has entered into forward fuel purchase contracts in order to hedge cash 
flow risks arising from fuel purchases. Due to forward fuel purchase contracts subject to hedge accounting, 
as a result of a 10% increase in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will increase by USD 76, 
excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2018, the shareholders’ equity of the 
Group will increase by USD 60 excluding deferred tax effect.) 
 
In case of a 10% decrease in fuel prices, the shareholders’ equity of the Group will decrease by USD 72, 
excluding the deferred tax effect. (For the year ended 31 December 2018, the shareholders’ equity of the 
Group will decrease by USD 56, excluding deferred tax effect.) 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments  
 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 
 
      Under standard maturities and conditions, fair values of financial assets and liabilities traded in an 

active market are determined using quoted market prices. 

      Fair values of derivative instruments: 

-         Fixed-paid/floating received interest swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is 
performed by using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward interest rates (from observable yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and contract 
interest rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. 

-         Forward fuel purchase contracts and fuel collar contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation 
is performed by using discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on 
forward fuel prices (from observable forward fuel prices at the end of the reporting period) and 
contract fuel prices, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. 

-         Forward currency contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using 
discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward exchange rates 
(from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period) and contract forward 
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. 

-         Cross-currency swap contracts: Fair value hierarchy is level 2. Valuation is performed by using 
discounted cash flow technique. Future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates 
and forward exchange rates (from observable yield curves and forward exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period) and contract interest rates and forward exchange rates, discounted at a rate 
that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d) 
 
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 
 
 Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets and obligations. 

 
 Level 2: Variables obtained directly (via prices) or indirectly (by deriving from prices) which are 

observable for similar assets and liabilities other than quoted prices mentioned in Level 1.  
 
 Level 3: Variables which are not related to observable market variable for assets and liabilities 

(unobservable variables). 
 
Financial assets and liabilities, measured at their fair values are classified as below: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets 31 December 2019 USD USD USD

Financial assets on 
  remeasuring FVOCI 98 98  -  -

Financial assets on 
  remeasuring FVTPL 15 15  -  -

Derivative instruments at 
  fair value through profit or loss 
   
Derivative instruments accounted
  for hedge accounting
Total 165 113 52  -

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments at 
  fair value through profit or loss 

Derivative instruments accounted
  for hedge accounting
Total 70  - 70  -

Fair value level
as of the reporting date

17  - 17  -

35  - 35  -

18  - 18  -

52  - 52  -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments (cont’d) 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets 31 December 2018 USD USD USD

Financial assets on 
  remeasuring FVOCI

Financial assets on 
  remeasuring FVTPL

Derivative instruments at 
  fair value through profit or loss 

Derivative instruments accounted
  for hedge accounting
Total 275 218 57  -

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments at 
  fair value through profit or loss 

Derivative instruments accounted
  for hedge accounting
Total 196  - 196  -

as of the reporting date
Fair value level

201 201  -  -

17  - 17  -

17 17  -  -

188  - 188  -

40  - 40  -

8  - 8  -

 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions 

The financial risk management strategy of the Group aims to ensure a healthy cash flow and liquidity in the 
future. For this purpose, derivative financial instruments such as currency forwards, currency options, 
interest rate swaps, interest rate options, oil options and oil swaps are used to protect against the financial 
risks arising from the fluctuation of exchange rates, interest rates and jet fuel price. 

The floating-rate financial liabilities of the Group are explained in Note 35 b.4.2. In order to keep interest 
costs at an affordable level, the Group has hedged approximately 47% of floating rate USD, JPY and Euro 
denominated liabilities arising from financial leasing activities. Effective part of the change in the fair 
values of those derivative instruments for cash flows risks of floating-rate finance lease liabilities are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the 
shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge accounting. 

Within the scope of the financial risk management strategy, the Group started fuel price risk hedging in 
2009, in order to manage the cash flow effect that may arise from the fluctuation of the fuel price. Fuel 
price risk management strategy was updated several times over the years with the experience gained. In 
accordance with the Group’s latest BOD resolution issued on 14 July 2017, hedging transactions are 
executed for the tenor of at most 24 months and up to 60% of the forecasted fuel consumption of the 
following month. Also with this resolution, premium paid options have been included to the instrument list 
for the first time, in addition to formerly used swap and zero-cost option structures. The tenor, ratio and 
instrument to-be-used are chosen based on the current market conditions and future expectations. As a 
result of these changes, hedging strategy has become more flexible and accommodative to fuel market 
conditions. It is aimed to either fix the fuel price or keep it in a restrained range. The effective portion of 
fair value of fuel hedge contracts for cash flow hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income and 
presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge accounting.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d) 
 
The mismatch between Group’s income and expense currencies causes to the exchange rate risk. In order to 
manage this risk resulted from the fluctuations of the FX market, the Group started to implement exchange 
rate risk hedging in 2013. Exchange rate risk management strategy of the Group was updated in 2015 and 
2018 as a result of the gained experience and the needs. Since the Group is long in EUR and short in USD 
and TRY, strategy mainly aims to decrease the amount of short position in USD and TRY with the long 
position in EUR via the derivative instruments. In this context, on EURUSD currency hedging, it is decided 
to execute the transactions in at most 24 months and up to 60% of the forecasted short position of the next 
month by using forward and zero-cost option structures. Likewise, on EURTRY maximum tenor and hedge 
ratio are 18 months and 50%, respectively. Only forwards are used for these transactions. In accordance 
with the strategy, current market conditions and future expectations are analyzed dynamically, and the 
hedge tenor, ratio and instrument to be used are determined accordingly. With these transactions, the 
Company aims to fix the exchange rate at a single level or to keep it within a certain range. The effective 
portion of fair value of currency hedge contracts for cash flow hedge is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and presented in cash flow hedge reserve under the shareholders’ equity, in accordance with hedge 
accounting. 
 
As of 2018, financial lease liabilities in Japanese Yen, Swiss Frank and Euro for investment financing are 
designated as cash flow hedge against exchange rate risk due to highly probable future same foreign 
currency revenues. Group’s revenue denominated in Euro and Swiss Frank covered borrowings of such 
foreign currency, Japanese Yen revenue covered %49 of borrowings. In this context, exchange differences 
arising from such these loans repayment are taken to equity and recognized in other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 
2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 

Derivative Instruments Stated in Assets and Liabilities

31 December 2019
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value Total
Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap 
  contracts for hedging against cash flow risks of  
  interest rate  -  (35)  (35)
Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against 
  cash flow risk of fuel prices  -  -  -
Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of 
  fuel prices  31  (14)  17
Forward currency contracts  for hedging purposes  4  (3)  1
Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging 
  purposes  35  (52)  (17)
Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge 
  accounting  16  -  16
Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge 
  accounting  1  (3)  (2)
Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes  -  (15)  (15)
Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging 
  purposes  17  (18)  (1)
Total  52  (70)  (18)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d) 
 
Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 
2019 and 2018 are as follows (cont’d): 
 
Derivative Instruments Stated in Assets and Liabilities

31 December 2018
Positive fair 

value
Negative fair 

value Total
Fixed-paid/floating received interest rate swap 
  contracts for hedging against cash flow risks of  
  interest rate  -  (34)  (34)
Forward fuel purchase contracts for hedging against 
  cash flow risk of fuel prices  -  -  -
Collar contracts for hedging against cash flow risk of 
  fuel prices  34  (118)  (84)
Forward currency contracts  for hedging purposes  6  (36)  (30)
Fair values of derivative instruments for hedging 
  purposes 40 (188) (148)
Cross-currency swap contracts not subject to hedge 
  accounting  11  -  11
Interest rate swap contracts not subject to hedge 
  accounting  2  (7)  (5)
Forward currency contracts not for hedging purposes  4  (1)  3
Fair values of derivative instruments not for hedging 
  purposes 17  (8)  9
Total 57  (196)  (139)

 
 
Derivative Instruments Stated in the Equity

31 December 2019
Hedging 

against fuel 
risk

Hedging 
against interest 

risk

Hedging 
against 

currency risk Total
Fair values of derivative instruments for 
  hedging purposes  17  (35)  4  (14)
The amount of financial expenses inside 
  hedge funds  -  1  -  1
Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of 
  fair value of hedging gains of fuel 
  hedging derivative instrument to financial 
  revenues  (7)  -  -  (7)
Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of 
  fair value of hedging gains of currency 
  hedging derivative instrument to financial 
  revenues  -  -  234  234
Total  10  (34)  238  214
Deferred tax  (2)  7  (48)  (43)
Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2019  8  (27)  190  171
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions (cont’d) 
 
Group’s derivative instruments arising from transactions stated above and their balances as of 31 December 
2019 and 2018 are as follows (cont’d): 
 
Derivative Instruments Stated in the Equity

31 December 2018
Hedging 

against fuel 
risk

Hedging 
against interest 

risk

Hedging 
against 

currency risk Total
Fair values of derivative instruments for 
  hedging purposes  (84)  (34)  (33)  (151)
The amount of financial expenses inside 
  hedge funds  -  1  -  1
Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of 
  fair value of hedging gains of fuel 
  hedging derivative instrument to 
  financial revenues  (20)  -  -  (20)
Ineffecient part  in the risk elimination of 
  fair value of hedging gains of currency 
  hedging derivative instrument to 
  financial revenues  -  -  166  166
Total  (104)  (33)  133  (4)
Deferred tax  23  7  (26)  4
Hedge reserve as of 31 December 2018  (81)  (26)  107  -

 
 

37. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 

- Within the scope of fuel activities carried out at Istanbul Airport, agreement was signed on 
February 2020 for IGA Istanbul Havalimanı Akaryakıt Hizmetleri A.Ş., which is responsible for 
the operation of fuel supply facilities, to become a 25% shareholder through capital increase. 

 
- Due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak in Iran, Iraq, Italy and South Korea, flights to/from 

these countries are cancelled until 10 March 2020. Additinonally flights to China’s Xi’an, 
Guangzhou and Shanghai cities are cancelled until 29 March 2020. Flights to Beijing are cancelled 
until 9 March 2020 and further actions will be determined after talks with related authorities. 
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